

Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology

Volume 13, Issue 2 April 2014

Prof. Dr. Aytekin İşman Editor-in-Chief

Prof. Dr. Jerry WILLIS - ST John Fisher University in Rochester, USA Prof. Dr. J. Ana Donaldson - AECT President Editors

Assist.Prof.Dr. Fahme DABAJ - Eastern Mediterranean University, TRNC Associate Editor

Assoc.Prof.Dr. Eric Zhi - Feng Liu - National Central University, Taiwan Assistant Editor





THE TURKISH ONLINE JOURNAL OF EDUCATIONAL TECHNOLOGY

April 2014 Volume 13 - Issue 2

volume 15 - Issue 2

Prof. Dr. Aytekin İşman Editor-in-Chief

Editors **Prof. Dr. Jerry Willis Prof. Dr. J. Ana Donaldson**

Assist. Prof. Dr. Fahme Dabaj Associate Editor

Assoc. Prof. Dr. Eric Zhi - Feng Liu Assistant Editor

ISSN: 2146 - 7242

Indexed by Education Resources Information Center - ERIC



Copyright © THE TURKISH ONLINE JOURNAL OF EDUCATIONAL TECHNOLOGY

All rights reserved. No part of TOJET's articles may be reproduced or utilized in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, recording, or by any information storage and retrival system, without permission in writing from the publisher.

Published in TURKEY

Contact Address: Prof. Dr. Aytekin İŞMAN TOJET, Editor in Chief Sakarya-Turkey



Message from the Editor-in-Chief

Dear Colleagues,

We are proud to say that TOJET publishes April, 2014 issue. This issue has international different papers from various fields are shared with professionals. It is a free online journal and offeres free Access to all articles. When the journals are free to access all published articles, it increases the level of impact factor.

TOJET is a multidisciplinary peer-reviewed journal in the field of educational technology. TOJET welcomes the submission of manuscripts that meets the general criteria. TOJET is dedicated to increasing the depth of the subject across disciplines with the ultimate aim of expanding knowledge of educational technology. TOJET is seeking for qualified and high profile researchers to join its editorial team as editors or reviewers.

Our guest editor is Prof.Dr. Steve (Stephen) Harmon from Georgia State University, Atlanta, USA. He currently serves as professor and chair of the Learning Technologies Division in the College of Education at Georgia State University. He is the president of the Association of Educational Communications and Technology (AECT), an international professional association of thousands of educators and others whose activities are directed toward improving instruction through technology. TOJET thanks and appreciate the guest editor and the editorial board members who have acted as reviewers for one or more submissions of this issue for their valuable contributions. As always, issue v.13 i.2 - 2014 features contributions from many countries. Any views expressed in these publications are the views of the authors and are not the views of the Editor and TOJET.

TOJET will organize IETC-2014 (<u>www.iet-c.net</u>) in Chicago, USA. IETC series is an international educational activity for academics, teachers and educators. This conference is now a well known educational technology event. It promotes the development and dissemination of theoretical knowledge, conceptual research, and professional knowledge through conference activities. Its focus is to create and disseminate knowledge about the use of instructional technology for learning and teaching in education.

Call for Papers

TOJET invites article contributions. Submitted articles should be about all aspects of educational technology. The articles should be original, unpublished, and not in consideration for publication elsewhere at the time of submission to TOJET. Manuscripts must be submitted in English.

TOJET is guided by it's editors, guest editors and advisory boards. If you are interested in contributing to TOJET as an author, guest editor or reviewer, please send your cv to tojet.editor@gmail.com.

April 01, 2014 Editors, Prof. Dr. Aytekin İŞMAN Sakarya University Prof. Dr. Jerry WILLIS Manhattanville College



Editorial Board

Editors

Prof. Dr. Aytekin İŞMAN - Sakarya University, Turkey Prof. Dr. Jerry WILLIS - ST John Fisher University in Rochester, USA Prof. Dr. J. Ana Donaldson - AECT President

Associate Editor

Assist.Prof.Dr. Fahme DABAJ - Eastern Mediterranean University, TRNC

Assistant Editor

Assoc.Prof.Dr. Eric Zhi - Feng Liu - National Central University, Taiwan

Editorial Board

Prof.Dr. Adnan Baki - Karadeniz Teknik University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Ahmet Pehlivan - Cyprus International University, TRNC Prof.Dr. Ahmet Zeki Saka - Karadeniz Technical University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Akif Ergin - Başkent University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Ali Al Mazari - Alfaisal University, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia Prof.Dr. Ali Ekrem Özkul - Anadolu University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Ali Paşa Ayas - Karadeniz Teknik University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Ali Rıza Akadeniz - Karadeniz Teknik University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Antoinette J. Muntjewerff - University of Amsterdam Prof.Dr. Arif Altun - Hacettepe University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Arvind Singhal - University of Texas, USA Prof.Dr. Asaf Varol - Fırat University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Aytekin İşman - Sakarya University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Brent G. Wilson - University of Colorado at Denver, USA Prof.Dr. Buket Akkovunlu - Hacettepe University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Cengiz Hakan Aydın - Anadolu University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Chang-Shing Lee - National University of Tainan, Taiwan Prof.Dr. Charlotte N. (Lani) Gunawardena - University of New Mexico, USA Prof.Dr. Chi - Jui Lien - National Taipei University of Education, Taiwan Prof.Dr. Chih - Kai Chang - National University of Taiwan, Taiwan Prof.Dr. Chin-Min Hsiung - National pingtung university, Taiwan Prof.Dr. Colin Latchem - Open Learning Consultant, Australia Prof.Dr. Colleen Sexton - Governor State University, USA Prof.Dr. Demetrios G. Sampson - University of Piraeus, Greece Prof.Dr. Dimiter G. Velev - University of National and World Economy, Bulgaria Prof.Dr. Don M. Flournoy - Ohio University, USA Prof.Dr. Dongsik Kim - Hanyang University, South Korea Prof.Dr. Enver Tahir Rıza - Dokuz Eylül University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Eralp Altun - Ege University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Feng-chiao Chung - National pingtung university, Taiwan Prof.Dr. Ferhan Odabaşı - Anadolu University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Finland Cheng - National pingtung university, Taiwan Prof.Dr. Fong Soon Fook - Uniiversiti Sains Malaysia, Malaysia Prof.Dr. Francine Shuchat Shaw - New York University, USA Prof.Dr. Galip Akaydın - Hacettepe University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Gianni Viardo Vercelli - University of Genova, Italy Prof.Dr. Gwo - Dong Chen - National Central University Chung - Li, Taiwan Prof.Dr. Hafize Keser - Ankara University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Halil İbrahim Yalın - Gazi University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Hasan Amca - Eastern Mediterranean University, TRNC Prof.Dr. Heli Ruokamo - University of Lapland, Finland Prof.Dr. Henry H.H. Chen - National pingtung university, Taiwan Prof.Dr. Hüseyin Ekiz - Sakarya University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Hüseyin Uzunboylu - Near East University, TRNC Prof.Dr. Ing. Giovanni Adorni - University of Genova, Italy Prof.Dr. J. Ana Donaldson - AECT President



Prof.Dr. J. Michael Spector - University of North Texas, USA Prof.Dr. Jerry Willis - ST John Fisher University in Rochester, USA Prof.Dr. Jie-Chi Yang - National central university, Taiwan Prof.Dr. Kinshuk - Athabasca University, Canada Prof.Dr. Kiyoshi Nakabayashi - Chiba Institute of Technology, Japan Prof.Dr. Kumiko Aoki - The Open University of Japan, Japan Prof.Dr. Kuo - En Chang - National Taiwan Normal University, Taiwan Prof.Dr. Kuo - Hung Tseng - Meiho Institute of Technology, Taiwan Prof.Dr. Kuo - Robert Lai - Yuan - Ze University, Taiwan Prof.Dr. Liu Meifeng - Beijing Normal University, China Prof.Dr. Marina Stock Mcisaac - Arizona State University, USA Prof.Dr. Mehmet Ali Dikermen - Middlesex University, UK Prof.Dr. Mehmet Çağlar - Near East University, TRNC Prof.Dr. Mehmet Gürol - Fırat University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Mehmet Kesim - Anadolu University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Mei-Mei Chang - National pingtung university, Taiwan Prof.Dr. Melissa Hui-Mei Fan - National central university, Taiwan Prof.Dr. Min Jou - National Taiwan Normal University, Taiwan Prof.Dr. Ming - Puu Chen - National Taiwan Normal University, Taiwan Prof.Dr. Murat Barkan - Yaşar University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Mustafa Murat Inceoğlu - Ege University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Mustafa Şahin Dündar - Sakarya University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Nabi Bux Jumani - International Islamic University, Pakistan Prof.Dr. Nian - Shing Chen - National Sun Yat - Sen University, Taiwan Prof.Dr. Paul Gibbs - Middlesex University, UK Prof.Dr. Petek Aşkar - Hacettepe University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Ramdane Younsi - Ecole polytechnique de Montreal, Canada Prof.Dr. Rauf Yıldız - Çanakkale 19 Mart University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Roger Hartley - University of Leeds, UK Prof.Dr. Rozhan Hj. Mohammed Idrus - Universiti Sains Malaysia, Malaysia Prof.Dr. Saedah Siraj - University of Malaya, Malaysia Prof.Dr. Salih Çepni - Karadeniz Teknik University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Selahattin Gelbal - Hacettepe University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Sello Mokoena - University of South Africa, South Africa Prof.Dr. Servet Bayram - Marmara University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Shan - Ju Lin - National Taiwan University, Taiwan Prof.Dr. Sheng Quan Yu - Beijing Normal University, China Prof.Dr. Shi-Jer Lou - National pingtung university, Taiwan Prof.Dr. Shu - Sheng Liaw - China Medical University, Taiwan Prof.Dr. Shu-Hsuan Chang - National Changhua University of Education, Taiwan Prof.Dr. Stefan Aufenanger - University of Mainz, Germany Prof.Dr. Stephen Harmon - Georgia State University, USA Prof.Dr. Stephen J.H. Yang - National Central University, Taiwan Prof.Dr. Sun Fuwan - China Open University, China Prof.Dr. Sunny S.J. Lin - National Chiao Tung University, Taiwan Prof.Dr. Teressa Franklin - Ohio University, USA Prof.Dr. Toshio Okamoto - University of Electro - Communications, Japan Prof.Dr. Toshiyuki Yamamoto - Japan Prof.Dr. Tzu - Chien Liu - National Central University, Taiwan Prof.Dr. Uğur Demiray - Anadolu University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Ülkü Köymen - Lefke European University, TRNC Prof.Dr. Vaseudev D.Kulkarni - Hutatma Rajjguru College, Rajguruunagar(Pune),(M.S.) INDIA Prof.Dr. Xibin Han - Tsinghua University, China Prof.Dr. Yau Hon Keung - City University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong Prof.Dr. Yavuz Akpinar - Boğaziçi University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Yen-Hsyang Chu - National central university, Taiwan Prof.Dr. Yuan - Chen Liu - National Taipei University of Education, Taiwan Prof.Dr. Yuan-Kuang Guu - National pingtung university, Taiwan

Prof.Dr. Zeki Kaya - Gazi University, Turkey



Assoc.Prof.Dr. Abdullah Kuzu - Anadolu University, Turkey Assoc.Prof.Dr. Adile Aşkım Kurt - Anadolu University, Turkey Assoc.Prof.Dr. Chen - Chung Liu - National Central University, Taiwan Assoc.Prof.Dr. Cheng - Huang Yen - National Open University, Taiwan Assoc.Prof.Dr. Ching - fan Chen - Tamkang University, Taiwan Assoc.Prof.Dr. Ching Hui Alice Chen - Ming Chuan University, Taiwan Assoc.Prof.Dr. Chiung - sui Chang - Tamkang University, Taiwan Assoc.Prof.Dr. Danguole Rutkauskiene - Kauno Technology University, Lietvenia Assoc.Prof.Dr. David Tawei Ku - Tamkang University, Taiwan Assoc.Prof.Dr. Eric Meng - National pingtung university, Taiwan Assoc.Prof.Dr. Eric Zhi Feng Liu - National central university, Taiwan Assoc.Prof.Dr. Erkan Tekinarslan - Bolu Abant İzzet Baysal University, Turkey Assoc.Prof.Dr. Ezendu Ariwa - London Metropolitan University, U.K. Assoc.Prof.Dr. Fahad N. AlFahad - King Saud University Assoc.Prof.Dr. Fahriye Altinay - Near East University, TRNC Assoc.Prof.Dr. Gurnam Kaur Sidhu - Universiti Teknologi MARA, Malaysia Assoc.Prof.Dr. Hao - Chiang Lin - National University of Tainan, Taiwan Assoc.Prof.Dr. Hasan Calıskan - Anadolu University, Turkey Assoc.Prof.Dr. Hasan KARAL - Karadeniz Technical University, Turkey Assoc.Prof.Dr. Hsin - Chih Lin - National University of Tainan, Taiwan Assoc.Prof.Dr. Huey - Ching Jih - National Hsinchu University of Education, Taiwan Assoc.Prof.Dr. Hüseyin Yaratan - Eastern Mediterranean University, TRNC Assoc.Prof.Dr. I - Wen Huang - National University of Tainan, Taiwan Assoc.Prof.Dr. I Tsun Chiang - National Changhua University of Education, Taiwan Assoc.Prof.Dr. Ian Sanders - University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg Assoc.Prof.Dr. Işıl Kabakcı - Anadolu University, Turkey Assoc.Prof.Dr. Jie - Chi Yang - National Central University, Taiwan Assoc.Prof.Dr. John I-Tsun Chiang - National Changhua University of Education, Taiwan Assoc.Prof.Dr. Ju - Ling Shih - National University of Taiwan, Taiwan Assoc.Prof.Dr. Koong Lin - National University of Tainan, Taiwan Assoc.Prof.Dr. Kuo - Chang Ting - Ming - HSIN University of Science and Technology, Taiwan Assoc.Prof.Dr. Kuo - Liang Ou - National Hsinchu University of Education, Taiwan Assoc.Prof.Dr. Larysa M. Mytsyk - Gogol State University, Ukraine Assoc.Prof.Dr. Li - An Ho - Tamkang University, Taiwan Assoc.Prof.Dr. Li Yawan - China Open University, China Assoc.Prof.Dr. Manoj Kumar Saxena - Central University of Himachal Pradesh, Dharamshala, Kangra, India Assoc.Prof.Dr. Mike Joy - University of Warwick, UK Assoc.Prof.Dr. Ming-Charng Jeng - National pingtung university, Taiwan Assoc.Prof.Dr. Murat Ataizi - Anadolu University, Turkey Assoc.Prof.Dr. Nergüz Serin - Cyprus International University, TRNC Assoc.Prof.Dr. Norazah Mohd Suki - Universiti Malaysia Sabah, Malaysia Assoc.Prof.Dr. Normaliza Abd Rahim - Universiti Putra Malaysia, Malaysia Assoc.Prof.Dr. Oğuz Serin - Cyprus International University, TRNC Assoc.Prof.Dr. Ping - Kuen Chen - National Defense University, Taiwan Assoc.Prof.Dr. Popat S. Tambade - Prof. Ramkrishna More College, India Assoc.Prof.Dr. Prakash Khanale - Dnyanopasak College, INDIA Assoc.Prof.Dr. Pramela Krish - Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia, Malaysia Assoc.Prof.Dr. Tzu - Hua Wang - National Hsinchu University of Education, Taiwan Assoc.Prof.Dr. Vincent Ru-Chu Shih - National Pingtung University of Science and Technology, Taiwan Assoc.Prof.Dr. Wu - Yuin Hwang - National Central University, Taiwan Assoc.Prof.Dr. Ya-Ling Wu - National pingtung university, Taiwan Assoc.Prof Dr. Yahya O Mohamed Elhadj - AL Imam Muhammad Ibn Saud University, Saudi Arabia Assoc.Prof Dr. Yavuz Akbulut - Anadolu University Assoc.Prof.Dr. Zehra Altınay - Near East University, TRNC Assoc.Prof.Dr. Zhi - Feng Liu - National Central University, Taiwan Assist.Prof.Dr. Aaron L. Davenport - Grand View College, USA

Assist.Prof.Dr. Andreja Istenic Starcic - University of Primorska, Slovenija

Assist.Prof.Dr. Anita G. Welch - North Dakota State University, USA

Assist.Prof.Dr. Betül Özkan - University of Arizona, USA



Assist.Prof.Dr. Burçin Kısa Işık - Gaziantep University, Turkey Assist.Prof.Dr. Chiu - Pin Lin - National Hsinchu University of Education, Taiwan Assist.Prof.Dr. Chun - Ping Wu - Tamkang University, Taiwan Assist.Prof.Dr. Chun - Yi Shen - Tamkang University, Taiwan Assist.Prof.Dr. Chung-Yuan Hsu - National pingtung university, Taiwan Assist.Prof.Dr. Dale Havill - Dhofar University, Sultanate of Oman Assist.Prof.Dr. Ferman Konukman - The College of Brockport, State University of New York, USA Assist.Prof.Dr. Filiz Varol - Fırat University, Turkey Assist.Prof.Dr. Guan - Ze Liao - National Hsinchu University of Education, Taiwan Assist.Prof.Dr. Hsiang chin - hsiao - Shih - Chien University, Taiwan Assist.Prof.Dr. Huei - Tse Hou - National Taiwan University of Science and Technology, Taiwan Assist.Prof.Dr. Hüseyin Ünlü - Aksaray University, Turkey Assist.Prof.Dr. Jagannath. K Dange - Kuvempu University, India Assist.Prof.Dr. K. B. Praveena - University of Mysore, India Assist.Prof.Dr. Kanvaria Vinod Kumar - University of Delhi, India Assist.Prof.Dr. Marko Radovan - University of Ljubljana, Slovenia Assist.Prof.Dr. Min-Hsien Lee - National central university, Taiwan Assist.Prof.Dr. Mohammad Akram Mohammad Al-Zu'bi - Jordan Al Balga Applied University, Jordan Assist.Prof.Dr. Muhammet Demirbilek - Süleyman Demirel University, Turkey Assist.Prof.Dr. Mübin Kıyıcı - Sakarya University, Turkey Assist.Prof.Dr. Pamela Ewell - Central College of IOWA, USA Assist.Prof.Dr. Pei-Hsuan Hsieh - National Cheng Kung University, Taiwan Assist.Prof.Dr. Pey-Yan Liou - National central university, Taiwan Assist.Prof.Dr. Phaik Kin, Cheah - Universiti Tunku Abdul Rahman, Kampar, Perak Assist.Prof.Dr. Ping - Yeh Tsai - Tamkang University, Taiwan Assist.Prof.Dr. S. Arulchelvan - Anna University, India Assist.Prof.Dr. Seçil Kaya - Anadolu University, Turkey Assist.Prof.Dr. Selma Koc Vonderwell - Cleveland State University, Cleveland Assist.Prof.Dr. Tsung - Yen Chuang - National University of Taiwan, Taiwan Assist.Prof.Dr. Vahid Motamedi - Tarbiat Moallem University, Iran Assist.Prof.Dr. Yalın Kılıç Türel - Fırat University, Turkey Assist.Prof.Dr. Yu - Ju Lan - National Taipei University of Education, Taiwan Assist.Prof.Dr. Zehra Alakoç Burma - Mersin University, Turkey Assist.Prof.Dr. Zerrin Ayvaz Reis - İstanbul University, Turkey Assist.Prof.Dr. Zülfü Genç - Fırat University, Turkey Dr. Arnaud P. Prevot - Forest Ridge School of the Sacred Heart, USA Dr. Avtac Göğüs - Sabancı University, Turkey Dr. Balakrishnan Muniandy - Universiti Sains Malaysia, Malaysia Dr. Brendan Tangney - Trinity College, Ireland Dr. Chen Haishan - China Open University, China Dr. Chin Hai Leng - University of Malaya, Malaysia Dr. Chin - Yeh Wang - National Central University, Taiwan Dr. Chun - Hsiang Chen - National Central University, Taiwan Dr. Chun Hung Lin - National central university, Taiwan Dr. Farrah Dina Yusop - University of Malaya, Malaysia Dr. Hj. Issham Ismail - Universiti Sains Malaysia, Malaysia Dr. Hj. Mohd Arif Hj. Ismail - National University of Malaysia, Malaysia Dr. I-Hen Tsai - National University of Tainan, Taiwan Dr. İsmail İpek - Bilkent University, Turkey Dr. Jarkko Suhonen - University of Eastern Finland, Finland Dr. Li Ying - China Open University, China Dr. Norlidah Alias - University of Malaya, Malaysia Dr. Rosnaini Mahmud - Universiti Putra Malaysia, Malaysia Dr. Sachin Sharma - Faridabad Institute of Technology, Faridabad Dr. Seetharam Chittoor Jhansi - Pushpa Navnit Shah Centre for Lifelong Learning, India Dr. Tam Shu Sim - University of Malaya, Malaysia Dr. Tiong Goh - Victoria University of Wellington, New Zealand Dr. Vikrant Mishra - Shivalik College of Education, India

Dr. Zahra Naimie - University of Malaya, Malaysia



Table of Contents

A Study on Information Search and Commitment Strategies on Web Environment and Internet Usage Self-Efficacy Beliefs of University Students' <i>Aynur Kolburan GEÇER</i>	1
Assistive Technology in Special Education and the Universal Design for Learning <i>Ghaleb ALNAHDI</i>	18
Collaboration Factors and Quality of Learning Experience on Interactive Mobile Assisted Social E-Learning Shengmei WANG	24
Developing of Indicators of an E-Learning Benchmarking Model for Higher Education Institutions Jirasak Sae-KHOW	35
Development of a Responsive Literacy Pedagogy Incorporating Technology for the Indigenous Learners in Malaysia <i>T. Vanitha THANABALAN, Saedah SIRAJ, Norlidah ALIAS</i>	44
Development of the Information Society and its Impact on the Education Sector in The EU: Efficiency at the Regional (NUTS 2) Level <i>Aleksander ARISTOVNIK</i>	54
Development of Visual Literacy Levels Scale in Higher Education Rumiye ARSLAN, Gülbin ZEREN	61
Evaluation of Computer Based Foreign Language Learning Software by Teachers and Students <i>Fatih Çağatay BAZ, Mehmet TEKDAL</i>	71
Gifted' Teachers Stages of Concerns for Integrating E-Learning in the Gifted Schools in Jordan <i>Ahmad Mohammad AL-SHABATAT</i>	79
Impact of Collaborative Tools Utilization on Group Performance in University Students Achmad Nizar HIDAYANTO, Stella Tantra SETYADY	88
Interactive Multimedia Learning: Innovating Classroom Education in a Malaysian University <i>Fui-Theng LEOW, Mai NEO</i>	99
Management Trainee Program of Turkish Airlines: Global Distance Education Sahin KARASAR, Ömer Faruk ÖZTÜRK	111
Pre-Service Social Studies Teachers' Perspectives towards Netizenship E. Özlem YIĞIT	121
Preservice Teachers' Views about E-Book and their Levels of Use of E-Books <i>Murat YALMAN</i>	138
The Effects of Collaborative Writing Activity Using Google Docs on Students' Writing Abilities Ornprapat SUWANTARATHIP, Saovapa WICHADEE	148
The Relationship between Attitudes of Prospective Physical Education Teachers towards Education Technologies and Computer Self-Efficacy Beliefs <i>Yaprak KALEMOĞLU VAROL</i>	157
The Study of Learners' Preference for Visual Complexity on Small Screens of Mobile Computers Using Neural Networks <i>Lan-Ting WANG, Kun-Chou LEE</i>	168



Usage of Thin-Client / Server Architecture in Computer Aided Education Caghan CIMEN, Yusuf KAVURUCU, Halit AYDIN	181
Use of ICT Technologies and Factors Affecting Pre-Service ELT Teachers' Perceived ICT Self- Efficacy Derya BOZDOĞAN, Raşit ÖZEN	186
Use of Instructional Technologies in Science Classrooms: Teachers' Perspectives <i>Funda SAVAŞCI AÇIKALIN</i>	197
Using Facebook as a LMS? <i>Taner ARABACIOGLU, Ruken AKAR-VURAL</i>	202



A STUDY ON INFORMATION SEARCH AND COMMITMENT STRATEGIES ON WEB ENVIRONMENT AND INTERNET USAGE SELF-EFFICACY BELIEFS OF UNIVERSITY STUDENTS'

Aynur Kolburan Geçer Kocaeli University, Faculty of Education 41300, "Kocaeli", Turkey akolburan@kocaeli.edu.tr

ABSTRACT

This study addresses university students' information search and commitment strategies on web environment and internet usage self-efficacy beliefs in terms of such variables as gender, department, grade level and frequency of internet use; and whether there is a significant relation between these beliefs. Descriptive method was used in the study. Study group is composed of students attending the first and fourth degrees in several departments at Kocaeli University. Data collected regarding university students' information search and commitment strategies on web environment and internet usage self-efficacy beliefs were analyzed using descriptive statistics, t test and pearson correlation coefficient. The research results indicate that students' scores on "elaboration" strategy in the Web environment and scores of self-efficacy regarding Internet use were at the intermediate level. Students' educational Internet use self-efficacy beliefs are moderate according to the highest and lowest points of the survey. The analyses found that there was a relation between Internet use self-efficacy beliefs and information search and commitments strategies within the Web environment. A positive, although low-level, relationship was found between the "elaboration" factor, which is one of the one sub-factors of search and commitment among the information strategies in a Web environment, and self-efficacy with respect to Internet use.

Keywords: evaluative standards, information commitment, information searching strategy, self-efficacy beliefs in Internet use

1. INTRODUCTION

The Internet has recently become one of the most important tools in our lives with rapid developments in the field of information and communication technologies. The Internet is now used extensively in many areas, especially in the field of education. Owing to Internet the computer assisted education, web based training, online learning, blended learning some think like that, today these applications frequently heard and these applications that are on web environments alternative to traditional education, and are applied to various institutions and organizations as a supplementary. According to Boldt, Gustafson and Johnson (1995), the Internet is a great tool that can be used to enrich students' learning habits and experiences. When analyzed in terms of students' learning, the Internet provides a host of advantages such as a rich and flexible learning environment, inexpensive and easy access to information, a variety of different animations, videos, and hypertexts. While technology, however, has increased the ease by which one can gain access to information, it has also created certain problems. One of those problems revolves around the validity, reliability, and accuracy of the information accessed on the Internet. While scientific organizations, business associations and institutions are often known for their publicly available published print, such as professional and scientific journals, there is no overarching mechanism that controls the information that is published on the Internet. In other words, while most journals and books that are published by commercial institutions are first evaluated for the accuracy and validity of their content, information posted in the Internet undergoes no such evaluation - no editor or jury reviews the print before it is posted and made public. As everyone who wants to publish on the Internet and because there are numerous technology stations that allow people to post or "publish" their information, it is virtually impossible to control or monitor what is posted. These technology stations cause serious problems because, while the information is easily accessible on the Web, issues regarding accuracy, neutrality, and timeliness are many (Cebeci & Bek, 2003; cited by Tavsanci, 2004; Kurulgan & Argan, 2007). Most scientific knowledge is still, for the most part, published through traditional methods such as scientific journals, books, etc. It is exceptionally challenging, on an individual basis, for the user of the Internet to monitor all texts, images, and data due to the uncontrolled flow of information. As a result, when creating or using a world-wide Internet library, the user is faced with "information pollution" overload. (Yolal & Kozak, 2008).

According to the research, students of the 21st century perceive the Internet as a unique main source of information (Akdag & Karahan, 2004; Akkoyunlu & Yilmaz, 2005; Kurbanoglu, 2002; Oliver & Goerke, 2007; Tsai, 2008; Yalcinalp & Askar, 2003). These students do, however, express doubt about the reliability and validity of the information on the Internet, especially that which is free (Jean-Francois 2003; Kuechler 1999; McDowell 2002; Yolal & Kozak, 2008). Because most students who are accessing the Internet generally research a subject for information without using any form of filter to evaluate the credibility of the information, the student is left to evaluate the reliability of the information. Accordingly, some of the information taken from



a Web environment may be inaccurate or biased (Brandt 1996; Flanagin & Metzger, 2000). Therefore, students need to develop a strategy that will facilitate their ability to evaluate and determine the accuracy and usefulness of the information. Researchers, as a consequence, are interested in assessing student thoughs and feelings about the process of searching for information on the Web (Bilal, 2001; Hess, 1999; Lazonder et al., 2000; Rouet, 2003; Whitmire, 2003, 2004) and interested in determine the factors that influence their thoughts and feelings (Beaufils 2000; Hill 1999; Tsai & Tsai 2003). To date, however, information about the nature of students' search strategies on the Internet have not been fully revealed. Strategies for students to interpret the literature on webbased information search and commitment that more research is needed (Wu & Tsai, 2005). Study results show that the Internet cannot be used effectively during the teaching and learning process (Akkoyunlu, 2002; Olkun & Cakiroglu, 2000). Students should be instructed about how they effectively benefits from the knowledge for educational purpose on the Web, what kind of knowledge is reliable etc. (Olkun & Cakiroglu, 2000).

Students use different search strategies as they look for appropriate and relevant information on the Internet needed to complete a task (obtain information about a topic, prepare homework, create a project, etc.). Wu and Tsai (2005) found that as students search for knowledge and resources within the Web environment, they basically applied two different strategies. In the first strategy, they search for information that they need, while the second strategy involves searching for comments about the research and the information they obtained from the Web. Wu and Tsai (2005) posit that information search strategies in the Web environment that are associated with students learning is one of the most important factors affecting student performance. Tsai (2004) has developed a theoretical framework about the knowledge search on the Web and commitment strategies of students. It is explained in the following section comprehensively.

1.1. Theoretical Framework

According to Tsai, students who have individual differentials and different levels of commitment to learning use different standards to commitment the information they have accessed through the Web environment. Standards in Web-based learning environments include the usefulness of the information and the degree of student commitment. At the same time, the standards that guide a student's search strategy are impacted by the student's current knowledge of the researched topic. While the standards guiding a student's commitments of Web-based materials are implicit, their information search strategies are, for the most part, explicit. Accordingly, students' research strategies and their commitments of information cover two different components. While the former involves more intrinsic behaviors such as evaluating the information and being committed to enhancing one's knowledge as a result of the research, the latter involves identifying the strategies used by students to obtain information from the Web. To understand the commitment of Web users who are seeking information, Tsai (2004) developed a theoretical framework. According to this theoretical framework, students are categorized or defined according to three aspects with respect to their search strategies for and their commitment to accessing valid information in the Web environment.

- 1. Standards for Accuracy: These are the standards used to evaluate the reliability and accuracy of the Web information. The possible orientation of the standard is "multiple sources". In this strategy, when the students see information about the researched topic on the Web, they can discuss with their teacher or friends or they can research using books and other printed materials to determine the accuracy of the information. "Multiple sources" of the opposite opinion constitute "authority". Using this strategy, students can assess the accuracy and validity of the information based on the actual resource. That is, if the source is a site that is well-known for publishing valid information, if the source is an official institution (government agency, educational institutions, etc.), if the source is an occupational Web site, or if the source is one that was recommended by experts, the information can be considered reliable (Tsai, 2004).
- 2. Standards for Usefulness: These are the standards students apply to evaluate the relevancy of the information accessed on the Web. The possible orientation of this standard is "content". "Content" means that the Web site has information that is appropriate and applicable to the research aim. When applying this strategy, students may consider the Web site more to be suitable if the information content addresses the specific aim of their search, provides information links to other sites, promotes their learning and research of the topic, provides a high level of information, offers animations or visuals to help students better comprehend and examine the information in the Web environment. "Content" of the opposite opinion constitute "technical". With respect to this component, one must consider the ease with which one can navigate the site as well as the functional aspects and physical aesthetics of the Web site. For example, ease of access is determined by how quickly one can access the site and have access to the required information. Those sites that require passwords or registration are not considered as user-friendly as those that can be accessed with one or two clicks of the mouse. (Tsai, 2004).



3. Search Strategy: Students use research strategies when searching for an appropriate Web environment. One possible orientation of this strategy is "elaboration". This strategy allows students to quickly summarize found information and to easily conduct a more advanced search through different search engines to find more suitable information for their purpose based on information gained from an initial search. This strategy also involves the integration of information derived from various Web sites, thus facilitating their intended purpose during their research in the Web environment. The opposite of the elaboration strategy is the match strategy, where students usually use only one search engine to find the most suitable Web site. If they find a suitable Web site that meets their research needs in the first stage, they may not search the other sites or access other search engines (Tsai, 2004).

Within the aforementioned three aspects of Tsai's framework, the first two items contain standards for student commitment to obtaining reliable and readily available information ("multiple sources", "authority", "content", "technical") when using the Web environment for their research. These standards are referred to as implicit components. The third item contains searching strategies (elaboration, match), which are considered explicit components.

Wu and Tsai (2005) ascribe specific names to three factors, "content", "elaboration" and "multiple sources," and consider these to be "advanced sophisticated" that contribute to and facilitate the students' access to reliable and valid information.

On the other hand, they ascribe specific names to three other factors, "authority", "technical" and "match", and consider these to be "simple information search strategies", that is, they are less sophisticated, because they do not require that the student put forth much effort when searching for information. A scale was developed by Wu and Tsai (2005) based on Tsai's (2004) theoretical framework and used to evaluate college students when they were searching for information on the Web. The visual information related to the scale is displayed in Figure 1.



Figure 1. The scale and its sub factors as developed by Wu and Tsai(2005)

The causal relationship between explicit and implicit components in the scale developed by Wu and Tsai (2005) with respect to students' information search and commitment strategies is examined. Reliability and validity studies are conducted, and the scale is used to analyze 610 students in Taiwan. The results of the studies indicate that students' standards of evaluation of Web materials have a significant impact on their information searches in the Web-based learning environments.

Moon (2004) who stated one of the factors that affects students' information search strategies is the specific features of the Web site. Web sites that offer users more detailed, useful, accurate, reliable, current and timely information induce users to use the site and to stay longer on the site (Moon, 2004). Opening speed, design, and ease of use are technical features of the site that may influence student attitudes about the site and their inclination to use the site. Many studies have been conducted regarding the evaluation of the information



obtained on the Internet (e.g., Brandt 1996; Flanagin & Metzger, 2000). Few of these studies, however, relate to the feasibility and usefulness of materials found in a specific Web environment. Thus, this is an area where research needs to be conducted. Studies on this subject are summarized below.

1.2. Related Research

Wu and Tsai (2007) conducted a study of 1220 university and graduate students who use online environments in Taiwan. Using the scope and scale developed in their previous studies, they found that students' information search and commitments strategies on the Web differ significantly according to gender and grade level. Male students use the "match" strategy, which is the less sophisticated strategy, more often than do girls. It was also determined that university graduate students are more oriented to multiple sources than are university undergraduate students when evaluating the accuracy of information accessed on the Web.

Kurulgan and Argan (2007) examined the behavior of students' information searches on the Web. The results of the research indicate that gender, academic department and competency level regarding Internet use were found to have statistically significant effects on Web information seeking behavior. The results also show that students' gender, their average spending level and the status of their academic department all have a significant impact on the frequency with which they use the Internet.

Yalcinalp and Askar (2003) examined student usage of the Internet as an information search tool and as a communication environment in terms of specific student characteristics. The results suggest that there is a relationship between student information search style and information search strategy. The students preferred the Internet to the library or other sources when specific conditions were met.

Additional research findings support (Usluel, 2006) the conclusion that students encounter difficulties accessing information and indicate that there should be emphasis placed on Web-based information search strategies.

As previously mentioned, information overload on Web-based environments often leads to problems related to reliability and impartiality of information. Therefore, students must be awareness of this problem and must be able to evaluate the accuracy of the information they access. Debowski (2001), in his research on college students, found that students who lack experience using the Internet and navigating Web environments may put for the tremendous effort in their studies but they lack effective search strategies to conduct the necessary research. As a result of Debowski's (2001) study, emphasis was placed on the need for educational programs that facilitate students' development of effective search strategy skills.

The use of Internet-based technologies requires that students be familiar with the Internet. Moon (2004) found that students who increased their level of knowledge regarding the use of Internet information search strategies consciously increased the importance they ascribe to this environment. Similarly, as the student's ability to use the Internet evolves, the student will search for more detailed information on the Internet (Yolal & Kozak, 2008). Students' knowledge, skills and attitudes related to Internet technologies are based on their belief that the Internet provides valuable research resources and that they, as users, possess the requisite skills to access the information on the Internet. In other words, student self-efficacy or confidence in their ability to successfully access information on the Internet is essential for student success. For the first time the concept of self-efficacy, Bandura (1997) used by the. Bandura (1997) addressed the concept of self-efficacy in relation to behavioral, environmental, and individual factors and identified three basic levels. The concept of self-efficacy regarding an individual's capacity to perform a task is expressed in the form of Internet self-efficacy beliefs. While today's students have numerous opportunities to benefit from Web-based learning environments, learning in these environments is thought to influence their level of self-efficacy and their competence regarding their use of the Internet, an important area of interest to many researchers. Tsai and Tsai (2003) further define Internet selfefficacy beliefs as the students' perceptions and beliefs about their abilities and skills to efficiently navigate the Internet. Internet self-efficacy beliefs is based on the basic computer skills that are required to effectively and efficiently access the Internet, thereby creating a different set of behaviors (Eastin & LaRose, 2000). A high level of self-efficacy suggests that the individual believes he/she can succeed and accomplish something (Tsai & Tsai, 2003). Thus, Internet self-efficacy beliefs suggests that the individual possesses not only computer skills, but the skills necessary to efficiently use e-mail, access Web addresses, scan information, etc. No doubt hear the performance capabilities of individuals against the negative influence and that the more trust, more performances for doing a job that leads to (Bandura, 1989, cited by: Montcalm, 1999). Similarly, students' level of self-efficacy and Internet competence is necessary for those with low Internet self-efficacy beliefs as they strive to increase confidence their Internet self-efficacy beliefs.

In addition to effective strategies to search and commitments for information, a high level of Internet access competencies can be beneficial as students search for the appropriate information within the environment. Tsai



and Tsai (2003), for example, posited that having a strong sense of self-efficacy when using the Internet facilitates students as they seek to identify effective information searching and commitment strategies for science lessons within Web-based learning environments.

Similarly, there is a positive relation between information search strategies based on Web-based learning and the level of the student Internet self-efficacy beliefs (Hill & Hannafin, 1997; Joo, Bong & Choi, 2000). Wu and Tsai (2006) noted the importance of research regarding the relationship between students' Internet self efficacy and their ability to navigate within the Web environment. It is important that students be able to effectively evaluate the information they obtain from the Web environment and that they develop effective information research strategies when accessing Web-based learning environments. There are few researches about the determination of students' knowledge search strategies on web-based learning environments in the literature.

In the process of information searching, the searching strategies students employ may guide their searching behavior on the Internet. However, when searching information in web-based learning environments, students with expert Internet experience demonstrate better searching strategies than those with novice Internet experience (Tsai & Tsai, 2003). The different searching strategies used by expert and novice users may lead to different search results, which can be viewed as an important indicator of learners' performance and outcomes derived from web-based learning environments (Wu&Tsai, 2007). Tsai and Tsai (2003) have concluded that Internet self-efficacy can foster better information searching and commitments strategy on web environment and their Internet self efficacy may be illuminate studies which will be organized in the future in this subject. In addition, is there a significant relationship between information search and commitments strategies within the Web environment and Internet self-efficacy beliefs? Can a student who has a high degree of competence in using the Internet self-efficacy beliefs regarding the Web environment determine effective information search and commitments strategies to gain access to appropriate, valid information? A research is needed to be done for the answers and it is covered in the study thoroughly.

1.3. Purpose

The purpose of this research is to investigate the student's information search and commitments strategy on the web environments and to determine the relationship between their Internet self-efficacy beliefs beliefs. The sub-objectives developed for this purpose are as follows:

1. What is the level of the students' information search and commitments strategy on the Web and the students' Internet self-efficacy beliefs?

2. Is there a significant difference between a students' information search and commitments strategies in a Web environment and their Internet self-efficacy beliefs when considering other variables such as department, grade, gender, frequency of Internet use?

3. Is there a relationship between the students' information search and commitments strategies on the Web and Internet self-efficacy beliefs?

2. METHODS

2.1. Model of research

A descriptive model was used in this study.

2.2. Participants

Participants in the study included 565 formal education students in either 1st or 4th grade at Kocaeli University in the academic year 2011-2012. As some surveys were eliminated because of incomplete information, the final number of valid surveys used for data collection was 557. Three verbal and three numeric department were selected for the study because the numerical and verbal departments indicated whether students employed different information search and commitments strategies. Whitmire (2002) has determined that students demonstrate different information search behaviors according to their various education disciplines.

2.3. Tools of Data Collection

Data were collected and processed as either "Information Search and Commitments Strategies on the Web Environment Scale" or "Internet self-efficacy beliefs Scale".

2.3.1. Information Search and Commitments Scale in the Web Environment: This scale was developed in 2005 by Wu and Tsai, and the students were assessed using confirmatory factor analysis and structural alignment (Wu & Tsai, 2005). Necessary permission for use of the scale was obtained from Wu and Tsai by e-mail. The scale consists of 24 items and six sub-factors. The first sub-factor of the scale is "multiple sources", which



consists of affirmation commitment strategy information. (İtem 3 in the scale adaptation of this was factor eliminated). The second sub-factor is "authority", which consists of information related to information commitment strategies on the Web environment. The third sub-factor is "content", which consists of information related to the utility of the information accessed on the Web as related to the purpose of the research. The fourth sub-factor is "technical", which refers to the ease of accessing information and navigating Web sites on the Internet. The fifth sub-factor of the scale is "elaboration", which contains research about information search strategies within the Web-based learning environment. The sixth sub-factor is "match", which consists of information related to student search strategies. These first four elements of each of these dimensions comprise the sub-dimension referred to as the implicit component factor and the last two elements comprise the sub-dimension referred to as the explicit component factor.

2.3.2.

Responses to statements range on a six-point Likert scale from "Strongly Agree(1)" to "Strongly Disagree(6)". In the final version of the scale, however, the statements are evaluated using a five-point Likert scale (Hsieh & Tsai, 2011). The adaptation of the scale to a five-point Likert scale for our culture was performed by Gecer and Ira (2012). A factor analysis is obtained for the six sub-factors, and the eigenvalue is over 1.00, thus explaining 53.80% of the total variance. Because item (3)'s factor loading value is below .40, the scale's analysis required the elimination of 23 items. The factor loading of items ranges between .544 and .799. The alpha internal consistency of the coefficients of all scale points is α =.75. Scale items in the study were analyzed using a five point Likert form. Taking into account the scale's breadth of range calculations with "series width/number of groups to be performed" formulation (Tekin, 1996), the width of arithmetic average is basic for evaluating research findings. Accordingly, "1.00 to 1.80 = Strongly disagree", "1.81 to 2.60 = Disagree", "2.61 to 3.40 = Somewhat agree", "3, 41 to 4.20 = Agree" and "4.21 to 5.00 = Strongly agree".

2.3.3. Internet self-efficacy beliefs Scale: The scale is taken from the research of Sahin (2009) titled "Validity and Reliability of Educational Internet Use Self-Efficacy Beliefs". The scale is used to measure university students' self-efficacy regarding Internet usage. Response expressions were as follows: "Insufficient (1)", "Partially had enough", "Had enough", "Enough", "Completely had enough (5)". There are 28 items in the scale. Considering the scale's breadth of range calculations with "series width/number of groups to be performed" formulation (Tekin, 1996), the width of arithmetic average applied is basic for evaluating research findings. Accordingly, "1.00 to 1.80 = Insufficient", "1.81 to 2.60 = Partially had enough", "2.61 to 3.40 = Had enough", "3, 41 to 4.20 = Enough" and "4.21 to 5.00 = Completely had enough". Scores range between 1.00 and 5.00. It is assumed that students have a high level of Internet use self-efficacy when their points approach 5.00 and students have a low level of Internet use self-efficacy as their points approach 1.00. The necessary permission to use the scale was obtained from Sahin (2009) via e-mail. The scale was developed as a one-factor scale with item factor loadings of the 28-items ranging between 0.52 and 0.81. The Cronbach's alpha reliability coefficient is $\alpha = 0.96$.

2.4. Analysis of Data

The SPSS 17.0 program was used to analyze the data, and an acceptable significance level of 0.5 was achieved. Furthermore, methods of frequency (f), percentage (%), arithmetic average (\overline{x}), t-test, variance analysis with a single factor, multiplying of Pearson moments and technique of correlation were used in the study.

3. RESULTS

The data were analyzed in accordance with purpose and sub-purpose, and the data were supported by related results.

3.1. Results related to students' demographic features

Findings related to students' demographic features are displayed in Table 1.

Table 1. Findings related with demographic features of students					
Department	Ν	%			
Verbal (Turkish Language	269	48.3			
and Letter, Philosophy,					
Psychological Counseling					
and Guidance)					
Numeric (Physics,	288	51.7			
Metallurgical Engineering,					
Science Teacher)					
Grade	n	%			
1st grade	278	49.9			



4th grade	279	50.1
Gender	n	%
Female	341	61.2
Male	216	38.8
Frequency of using	n	%
Internet everyday		
Less than 1 hour	124	22.3
1 hour	116	20.8
2 hours	123	22.1
3 hours	92	16.5
4 hours or more	102	18.3

According to the results displayed in Table 1, students who participated in the survey included 48.3% from the verbal department, 51.7% from the numeric department. Students enrolled in the 1st grade account for 49.9% of the participant population, while the remaining 50.1% are in their 4th year of study. Females (61.2%) outnumber the males (38.8%). With respect to student Internet frequency use, 22.3% of the students use the Internet less than 1 hour a day, 22.1% access the Internet two hours a day, and 18.3% are on the Internet four or more hours a day.

3.1.1. The level of the students' information search and commitments strategy on the Web environments and the student's Internet self-efficacy beliefs beliefs

The values related to students' information search and commitments strategy on the Web environments and the student's Internet self-efficacy beliefs are provided in Table 2.

Table 2. The level of the students' information search and commitments strategies within the Web environment and their Internet use self-efficacy beliefs

Strategies for information searches and commitments within the Web environment	N	\overline{x}	Ss
1. factor: multiple sources		3.76	1.58
2. factor: authority	- 22/	3.89	2.39
3. factors: content	-	3.87	3.19
4. factors: technical	-	2.68	2.48
5. factor: elaboration	-	3.92	2.57
6. factor: match	-	2.93	2.75
Internet use self-efficacy beliefs	N	\overline{x}	SS
	557	3.33	2.92

When Table 2 is examined, it is seen that highest value strategy is the fifth factor which is "elaboration" (\overline{x} =3.92) related with students' information search and commitments strategies on the web environment. This is followed by "authority" (\overline{x} =3.89), "content" (\overline{x} =3.87), and multiple sources (\overline{x} =3.76). Students expressed that they "agree" substances in this category. Students expressed that they "somewhat agree" about the sixth factor, "match" (\overline{x} =2.93), and the fourth factor, "technical" (\overline{x} =2.68). When assessing students self-efficacy as related to Internet use, students feel that they possess adequate Internet self-efficacy beliefs (\overline{x} =3.33).



3.1.2. Is there a significant difference students' information search and commitments strategies on a Web environment and Internet use self-efficacy beliefs according to their department, grade, gender, frequency of using Internet everyday?

The impact of various demographic variables, such as department, grade, gender, frequency of using Internet everyday on information search and commitments strategies on a Web environment and on Internet use self-efficacy beliefs as well as findings are presented in below.

Table 3. The difference between students' information search and commitments strate	gies within the Web
environment according to their academic department	

The scale of information search and commitments strategies within the Web environment	Department	x	Ss	t	р
	Verbal	3.86	1.45		
multiple sources	department			3.01	.003
	Numeric	3.66	1.67		
	department				
	Verbal	3.90	2.48		
authority	department			0.56	.574
	Numeric	3.87	2.30		
	department				
	Verbal	3.88	3.24		
content	department			0.37	.709
	Numeric	3.87	3.14		
	department				
	Verbal	2.56	2.48		
technical	department			3.44	.001
	Numeric	2.80	2.43		
	department				
	Verbal	3.92	2.46		
elaboration	department			0.03	.974
	Numeric	3.92	2.67		
	department				
	Verbal	2.84	2.71		
match	department			2.11	.035
	Numeric	3.01	2.77		
	department				

An independent t-test was applied to determine the difference between students' information search strategies within the Web environment according to their academic department. A significant difference was found between departments with respect to the "multiple sources" factor [t(557) = 3.01, p < .01]. The arithmetic average of the verbal departments with respect to "multiple sources" strategies on the Web is higher than that of the numeric departments. A significant difference was found between departments regarding strategies [t(557) = 3.44; p < .001]. The arithmetic average for the factor "technical" regarding Web environment strategies is higher for those students in the numeric departments than for those in the verbal departments. A significant difference was also found between departments with respect to the "match" factor [t(557)=2.11; p < .05]. The arithmetic average of regarding the "match" factor as a strategy is higher for those students enrolled in numeric departments.



Table 4. The relationship between grade level and students' information search and commitments strategies
within the Web environment.

The scale of information search and commitments strategies within the Web environment	Grade	x	Ss	t	р
multiple	1st grade	3.76	1.52	_	
sources	4th grade	3.76	1.64	0.03	.969
authority	1st grade	3.87	2.19		
	4th grade	3.90	2.57	0.50	.615
	1st grade	3.81	3.48		
content	4th grade	3.94	2.81	2.85	.005
	1st grade	2.67	2.49		
technical	4th grade	2.69	2.47	0.35	.721
	1st grade	3.91	2.47	_	
elaboration	4th grade	3.93	2.66	0.45	.652
	1st grade	2.95	2.65		
match	4th grade	2.91	2.85	0.47	.636

An independent t-test was applied to determine the difference between students' information search and commitments strategies within the Web environment according to their grade level. No significant difference was found for any factor other than "content" strategy with respect to grade level [t(557)=2.85; p<.01]. The arithmetic average of "content" strategy when using the Web to access information is higher for students who are studying at grade 4 than for students studying at grade 1.

 Table 5. The relationship between gender and students' information search and commitments strategies within the Web environment

The scale of information search and commitments	Gender	x	Ss	t	р
strategies within the Web environment					
multiple sources	Female	3.81	1.52	_	
	Male	3.68	1.67	1.81	.070
authority	Female	3.89	2.28		
	Male	3.88	2.55	0.18	.852
	Female	3.85	3.12		
content	Male	3.91	3.29	1.13	.259
	Female	2.61	2.40		
technical	Male	2.78	2.57	2.35	.019
	Female	3.96	2.32		
elaboration	Male	3.87	2.90	1.98	.048
	Female	2.87	2.62		
match	Male	3.01	2.94	1.74	.082

An independent t-test was applied to determine the difference between students' information search and commitments strategies within the Web environment and their gender. A significant difference was found between their gender and strategies related to "technical" factor [t(557)=2.35; p<.01]. The arithmetic average with respect to "technical" strategies within the Web environment was higher among males than among females. A significant difference was also found between the genders with respect to "elaboration"[t(557)=1.98; p<.05]. The arithmetic average for female students with respect to elaboration within the Web environment is higher than that for male students.



The scale of information search strategies within the Web environment	The frequency of using the Internet	x	Ss	F	р
multiple	Less than a	3.76	1.64		
sources	nour 1 haar	2.01	1.50	0.71	590
	1 nour	3.81	1.59	0.71	.380
	2 hours	3.82	1.23		
	<u>3 liouis</u>	2.71	1.70	-	
	4 nours or more	3./1	1.09		
authority	Less than a	3.73	2.39		
autionty	1 hour	3.92	2.09	4.15	.003
	2 hours	3.84	2.44	-	
	3 hours	3.95	2.44		
	4 hours or more	4.07	2.18		
	Less than a	3.82	3 31		
content	hour	5.62	5.51		
content	1 hour	3.85	3.03	0.83	.506
	2 hours	3.91	3.07		1000
	3 hours	3.86	3.29		
	4 hours or more	3.93	3.24		
	Less than a	2.51	2.40		
technical	hour				
	1 hour	2.57	2.43	3.64	.006
	2 hours	1.72	2.59	-	
	3 hours	2.71	2.41	-	
	4 hours or more	2.78	2.43	-	
	Less than a	3.83	2.78		
elaboration	hour			_	
	1 hour	3.90	2.39	2.01	.091
	2 hours	3.95	2.36		
	3 hours	3.94	2.86		
	4 hours or more	4.01	2.39		
	Less than a	2.79	2.64		
match	hour			<u>.</u>	
	1 hour	2.91	2.73	1.34	.251
	2 hours	2.98	2.70	<u>.</u>	
	3 hours	2.92	2.82	<u>.</u>	
	4 hours or more	3.06	2.88		

Table 6. The relationship between the frequency of using the Internet and students' information search and commitments strategies within the Web environment.

A one-way analysis of variance and an LSD test were applied to determine the difference between of students' information search and commitment strategies within the Web environment according to their daily Internet frequency use. A significant difference was found between daily Internet use and the "authority" factor [F(557)=4.15; p<.01]. The arithmetic average for those students who use the Internet for 4 hours or more with respect to the "authority" factor is higher than it is for students who use the Internet "for less than 4 hours a day. A significant difference was also found between daily Internet use and the strategies related to the "technical" factor [F(557)=3.64; p<.01]. The arithmetic average for students who use the Internet 4 hours or more per day with respect to the "technical" factor is higher than it is for students who use the Internet 4 hours or more per day. No significant differences were found for other factors regarding the daily frequency of student Internet use. Findings related to significant differences between students' levels of Internet self-efficacy beliefs according to students' department, grade, gender, frequency of daily Internet use are displayed in Table 7.



The students'					
Internet self-efficacy l	oeliefs	\overline{x}	Ss	t	р
Demortuniont	Verbal	3.15	21.70	5 20	000
Department	Numeric	3.49	21.39	5.28	.000
The students'					
Internet self-efficacy l	oeliefs	\overline{x}	Ss	t	р
	1st grade	3.18	21.21	4.20	000
Grade	4th grade	3.47	22.19	4.38	.000
The students'					
Internet self-efficacy beliefs		\overline{x}	Ss	t	р
Condon	Female	3.18	21.77		
Gender	Male	3.56	20.98	5.67	.000
The students'					
Internet self-efficacy l	oeliefs	\overline{x}	Ss	F	р
	Less than 1	2.95	19.84		
Frequency of daily	hour				
Internet use	1 hour	3.14	19.32	17.17	.000
	2 hours	3.43	21.52		
	3 hours	3.60	20.66		
	4 hours or	3.61	23.12		
	more				

Table 7. Th	he relationship betwe	en various variable	s and students'	levels of Internet	self-efficacy beliefs
-------------	-----------------------	---------------------	-----------------	--------------------	-----------------------

An independent t-test was applied to determine differentiation between students' level of Internet self-efficacy beliefs and their department of study. As a result of the t-test, there were significant differences between the verbal and numeric departments with respect to students' levels of Internet self-efficacy beliefs [t(513)=5.28; p<.001]. The arithmetic average of those students who are studying in numeric departments is higher than it is for students who are studying in verbal departments with respect to students' levels of Internet self-efficacy beliefs.

An independent t-test was applied to determine differentiation between students' levels of Internet self efficacy and their grade. As a result of the t-test, significant differences were found between the two grade levels (1st grade and 4th grade) with respect to students' level of Internet self-efficacy beliefs [t(513)=4.38; p<.001]. The arithmetic average of those students who are studying at grade of 4 is higher than it is for students at the 1st grade with respect to the students' levels of Internet self-efficacy beliefs.

An independent t-test was applied to determine the degree of differentiation between students' levels of Internet self efficacy and student gender. As a result of the t-test, there were significant difference as between females and males with respect to to students' levels of Internet self-efficacy beliefs [t(513)=5.67; p<.001]. The arithmetic average of the male students is higher than that of the female students with respect to students' levels of Internet self-efficacy beliefs.

A one-way analysis of variance and LSD test were applied to determine differentiation between students' level of Internet self-efficacy beliefs according and their daily frequency of Internet use. A significant difference was found between students' level of Internet self-efficacy beliefs and their daily frequency of Internet use [F(557)=17.17; p<.001]. The arithmetic average of those students who are using the Internet 4 hours or more per day is higher than it is for students who use the Internet less than 4 hours per day with respect to to students' levels of Internet self-efficacy beliefs.

3.1.3. The relationship between students' information search and commitments strategies and Internet use self-efficacy beliefs

A correlation analysis was performed to determine whether there is a significant relationship between students' information search and commitments strategies within the Web environment and their educational Internet use self-efficacy beliefs. The results of the analysis were displayed in Table 8.



Table 8. The relationship between students' information search and commitment strategies and their educational Internet use self-efficacy beliefs

Variables	Ν	r	р
multiple sources educational Internet use self-efficacy beliefs		.004	.928
authority educational Internet use self-efficacy beliefs		.003	.942
content educational Internet use self-efficacy beliefs	557	019	.652
Technical educational Internet use self-efficacy beliefs		.017	.695
elaboration educational Internet use self-efficacy beliefs		.181**	.000
match educational Internet use self-efficacy beliefs		071	.096

**p<.01

The absolute value of the correlation coefficient is at its highest between 1.00 and .70; it is medium between .70 and .30; and it is low between .30 and .00 (Buyukozturk, 2002). As shown in Table 8, there is a low-level positive and significant correlation (r = 0.18) between students' level of educational Internet use self-efficacy beliefs and "elaboration", which is sub factor of students information search and commitment strategies within the Web environment. The relationship is significant at the p<.001 level. There were no other significant relationships between other factors and students' level of Internet use self-efficacy beliefs and their information search and commitment strategies.

4. DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

In this study, university students' information search and commitments strategies and Internet use self-efficacy beliefs were examined in terms of variables such as department, grade, gender, and daily frequency of Internet use. The analyses found that there was a relation between Internet use self-efficacy beliefs and information search and commitments strategies within the Web environment. It was determined that 22.3% of the students use the Internet less than 1 hour per day, 20.8% use it 1 hour per day, 22.1% use it 2 hours per day, 16.5% use it three hours per day and 18.3% use the Internet 4 hours or more per day. This finding shows that all of students use the Internet daily for at least some period of time. This result is similar to conclusions presented in the literature with respect to this issue. In a survey administered to the student participants, the students replied to the question, "How much do you use the Internet on a daily basis?" The responses to this question indicate that 21.87% of the students use the Internet two hours per day, while 7.72% of the students use the Internet for 4 or more hours per day (Dursun, 2004). According to Unal's study (2012), the students enrolled in the Department of Computer Education and Instructional Technology spend between 1 and 4 hours on the Internet per day (67.3%). Asemi (2005) stated that the 40% of the students who study on the Internet spend 2 hours per day, 29% spend 1 hour per day on the Internet and 15% spend 4 hours per day on the Internet.

When examining factors related to students' information search and commitment strategies within the Web environment, it is noted that fifth factor is the highest value, and it is, accordingly, attached to the factor "elaboration" (\bar{x} =3.92). This factor appears in "advanced sophisticated" (Wu & Tsai, 2005). Students have stated that when they need to search for information, they summarize the information they have accessed and then use "advanced sophisticated" options to find the most relevant information, thus elaborating on information accessed from various sites, while focusing on their purpose when engaging in the information search and commitments process. They then compare information from various sites, a process which is known as the "elaboration" factor. Also the students included in a study by Wu and Tsai (2007) had the same strategy (elaboration), one of the information searching and commitment strategies.

"Authority" receives the second the highest value after "elaboration" factor. This factor occurs in "less information search strategy" (Wu & Tsai, 2005). According to the "authority" factor, students who attended to the survey believe the accuracy and reliability of the information is high if the information was published on a



well-known Web site, on the site of an official institutions', a professional Web site or a Web site that is recommended by experts in the context of "authority".

It appears to be a contradiction when considering students' views related to their information search and commitments strategies, that "elaboration" had the highest value and "authority" had the second highest value with respect to searching the Web environment. Strategies in a web environment for students to search for information and commitment of researches are needed to generalize the results can be expressed as more healthy. The highest value within the scope of this research area is the third factor, "content", while the highest value was the fourth factor "multiple sources". When considering which of the first four factors has the maximum value, it can be concluded that students who participated in the survey used an "advanced information search strategy" when searching for information and when verifying the actuality of the information within the Web environment. It is important to note that in this survey, "match" (\overline{x} = 2.93), which is sixth factor, and "technical" (\overline{x} = 2.68), which is the fourth factor have lower arithmetic averages. When considering that they occur as part of a "lessadvanced information search strategy", it is possible to say that this situation is pleasing. Liang and Tsai (2009) examined students' information search and commitment strategies in Taiwan. As a result of their study, it was found that "content", which is the third factor (\bar{x} =4.96), has the highest value. "Content" was then followed by the fifth factor, "elaboration" (\bar{x} =4.78). The first factor is "multiple sources" (\bar{x} =4.65); the second factor is "authority" (\bar{x} = 4.62); the fourth factor is "technical" (\bar{x} = 4.36) and the sixth factor is "match" (\bar{x} = 2.93). According to conducted this researches' results "elaboration" strategy is the most participated factor and in Liang and Tsai's study (2009) found that "content" is the most participated in factor among university students. In the conducted this study, "technical" received the lowest score, while in Liang and Tsai's study (2009), "match" is the lowest score factor.

Students' educational Internet use self-efficacy is moderate according to the highest and lowest points of the survey. Students see themselves as adequate (\bar{x} =3.33) with respect to Internet use self-efficacy. Throughout this study, the increased opportunities for students to access the Internet, to explore the Internet network and to increase their use of the educational databases can be expressed through the increase in the rate of use of the Internet and the self-efficacy regarding educational use of the Internet. Similar results are found in the literature. In studies, Kilic and Coskun (2010) and Yenilmez et al. (2011) consider the teacher candidate's educational self-efficacy regarding Internet use and find it to be only moderate. On the other hand, in a study by Bozkurt et al. (2010) self-efficacy regarding Internet use is higher among physics prospective teachers. Wu and Tsai (2006) demonstrate in their research that the university students' level of self-efficacy about the educational use of the Internet is high. Bas (2011) also finds that the primary school teacher's educational self-efficacy Internet use levels are high. Similarly, Abbitt and Klett (2007), Albion (2001); Chao (2003); Eroglu, Unlu, Eroglu and Yilmaz (2011); Gurol and Akti (2010); Oskay (2011) and Liang and Tsai (2009) find that the prospective teachers' Internet self-efficacy beliefs levels are high.

A significant difference between students' information search and commitments strategies and the department in which they study is found. The arithmetic average for "multiple sources" strategy is higher for students' enrolled in verbal departments than it is for students' enrolled in the numeric department. The arithmetic averages regarding the strategies "technical" and "match" on the Web are higher for the numeric students than it is for the verbal students.

A significant difference is found when differences between students' search and commitments information strategies within the Web environment and their grades related "content" factor. The arithmetic average of 4th grade students' "content" strategy is higher than 1st grade students' arithmetic average. Wu and Tsai (2007) examined the information search strategy of students who graduated from university and university students, and they found that 4th grade university student scores correlated with the "multiple sources" factor is higher than that for other groups, that is, 1st, 2nd and 3rd year students.

A meaningful difference is found between the students gender average scores related to "technical" advancements and to "elaboration". According to the students' Internet search and commitments strategies within the Web environment, as the arithmetic average of male students' "technical" strategy is higher than that of female students, but female students scored higher with respect to "elaboration" than did male students. The scale used in this study was the Wu and Tsai (2007)'s survey, which found that in comparison to male students regarding "match", the female students had higher scores. Liang and Tsai (2009)'s survey found that the arithmetic mean of the strategies for male students with respect to "multiple sources", "elaboration", "authority" and "technical" was higher than those of female students. When frequency use of the Internet was examined, students who accessed the Internet for 4 or more hours per day scored higher with respect to "authority" and "technical" than did those students who failed catastrophically. It is expressed that frequency of access to the



Internet is an important predictor of the student's inclination to use the "elaboration" strategy as dictated in Wu and Tsai (2007). "Elaboration" strategies are being developed for university students who use the Internet and who increase frequency of use. Liang and Tsai (2009)'s survey medical students' knowledge of research strategies in a Web environment, which is one of the sub-factors, "match", that uses the Internet to access students' scores and other outside factors. A relationship was found between the frequency with which one accesses the Internet and the scores obtained as students continued their engagement in the study.

Participants enrolled in programs within the numeric department demonstrated stronger and higher levels of Internet self-efficacy beliefs than did students enrolled in programs within the verbal department. The arithmetic mean of the Internet, indicates that students from one department scored much better than did those in the verbal department for verbal acquisition. Based on the previous findings, and on the verbal department's respect for the learning environments, students more frequently use the technological environments, as they are familiar with this environment, an opinion that can be expressed in these environments. More research, however, is needed to support this finding.

This research found that 4th grade level university student arithmetic means of educational Internet use selfefficacy is higher than it is for 1st grade level students. Similar findings found among the literature (Peng, Tsai & Wu, 2006; Tuncer & Ozut, 2012).

One's level of education may increase students' self-efficacy, especially when using using the Internet for educational purposes. This finding, however, is not consistent with the findings presented in the literature (Bozkurt et al., 2010; Wu & Tsai, 2006; Yenilmez et al., 2011). In Yenilmez et al.(2011), primary school mathematics teachers' educational use of the Internet to study their beliefs in conjunction with the study of self-efficacy. Furthermore, Yenilmez et al.(2011) conclude that there is no significant difference according to grade level.

It was found that the arithmetic mean of the students' level of Internet self-efficacy beliefs was found higher for those who engage on the Internet for or more hours per that is was for those who spend less than 4 hours per day on the Internet. These results are similar to those reached by other researchers (Bozkurt et al., 2010; Eastin & LaRose, 2000; Yenilmez et al., 2011). For example, Yenilmez et al. (2011), posits that there is a positive relationship between educational self-efficacy and students' Internet use, which can be assessed according to the duration of their time online, a factor that demonstrates a significant difference. Internet users who access the Web daily compared to those who access it only a few days per month and educational Internet use self-efficacy as it pertains to accessing the Internet was considered to be at a higher level.

Wu and Tsai (2006) found that Internet frequency and duration of use positively affect educational Internet use in their study of self-efficacy. According to these findings, Internet use frequency increases students' educational Internet, and it increases students' self-efficacy.

Male students' level of Internet self-efficacy beliefs, according to the arithmetic mean, is higher than that of female students. This result is consistent with conclusions presented in the literature. The gender variable identified in the studies is meaningful and tends to be in favor of male students (Durndeel & Haag, 2002; Li & Kirkup, 2007; Liaw, 2002; Torkzadeh et al., 2002; Wu & Tsai, 2006; Yenilmez et al., 2011). However, there are studies that have reached different conclusions regarding the role that gender plays. The studies of Bozkurt et al. (2010), Eroglu et al. (2011), Kilic and Coskun (2010), Tsai and Tsai (2010), and Tuncer and Ozut (2012) indicate that Internet use self-efficacy of teacher did not differ significantly by gender, while Bas's (2011) research regarding Internet use self-efficacy of primary school teacher found that female teachers' Internet use self-efficacy was higher than that of their male counterparts.

A positive and significant relationship was found between students' information search and commitment strategies within the Web environment and the sub-factors "elaboration" and level of Internet self-efficacy beliefs. There has been no significant association identified between the level of self-efficacy, information search and commitments strategies within the Web environment and other factors (except for "elaboration") with respect to students' commitment strategies to the Internet. Future research in this area may be useful for students at different educational levels. More research is needed in this area to better understand the complexities of students' information search strategies and their commitments in Web environments. Clearly we must improve our understanding of the skills required for information search strategies and their commitments for life in the 21st century. As a result, it would be more beneficial to generalize the results of this study than to conduct another study related to students' information search strategies and their commitments to the Web environment. In addition, it



is thought that it is important to provide students with training related to research activities and research strategies so they can more effectively and efficiently interact within the Web environment, more critically evaluate information found on various Web sites and employ more advanced information search strategies ("multiple sources", "content", "elaboration"). Future research should also examine the factors influencing students' information search strategies and their commitments.

REFERENCES

- Abbitt, J.T. & Klett, M.D.(2007). Identifying influences on attitudes and self-efficacy Beliefs towards technology integration among pre-service educators. *Electronic Journal for the Integration of Technology in Education*, 6, 28-42.
- Akdag, M. & Karahan, M. (2004). Universite Ogrencilerinin bilgi okuryazarlik duzeylerinin Cesitli degiskenler acisindan incelenmesi [The review level of information literacy of college students with different variables], *Educational Sciences*, 34 (29), 19-27.
- Akkoyunlu, B. (2002). Ogretmenlerin Internet kullanimi ve bu konudaki Ogretmen GOrUsleri [Internet usage of teachers their opinions about Internet]. *Hacettepe University the Journal of Education*, 22, 1-8.
- Akkoyunlu, B., & Yilmaz, M. (2005). Ogretmen adaylarinin bilgi okuryazarlik duzeyleri ile Internet kullanim sikliklari ve Internet kullanim amaclari [The level of information literacy of prospective teachers their Internet usage frequency and purpose]. *Eurasian Journal of Educational Research*, 19, 1-14.
- Albion, P.R. (2001). Some factors in the development of self-efficacy beliefs for computer use among teacher education students. *Journal of Technology and Teacher Education*, 9(3), 321-347.
- Asemi, A. (2005). "Information searching habits of Internet users: A case study on the medical sciences university of Isfahan, Iran". *Webology*, 2(1): Article 10. Retrieved from http://www.webology.ir/2005/v2n1/a10.html
- Bandura, A. (1997). Self-efficacy: The exercise of control. New York: W. H. Freeman and Company.
- Bas, G.(2011). Ilkogretim ogretmenlerinin egitsel Internet kullanimi oz-yeterlik inanclarinin farkli degiskenler acisindan incelenmesi [The review of educational Internet use self-efficacy beliefs of primary school teachers with different variables]. *Educational Technology Theory and Practice*, 1, 2.
- Beaufils, A. (2000). Tools and strategies for searching in a hypermedia environment. *Journal of Computer* Assisted Learning, 16, 114–124.
- Bilal, D. (2001). Children's use of the Yahooligans! web search engine: II. Cognitive and physical behaviors on research tasks. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science and Technology*, 52, 118-136.
- Brandt, D., S. (1996). Evaluating information on the Internet. Computers in Libraries, 16, 44-46.
- Boldt, D. J., Gustafson, L. V., & Johnson, J. E. (1995). The Internet: A curriculum warehouse for social studies teachers, *Social Studies*, 86, 105-116.
- Bozkurt E., Demirer V., Sahin I. (2010). Fizik Ogretmeni adaylarinin Internete yonelik tutumlari ve egitsel Internet kullanim Oz-yeterlik inanclari [The attitude and educational Internet use self-efficacy beliefs of physic teachers candidate towards Internet]. *4th International Computer and Instructional Technologies Symposium Proceedings*, Konya: Maya Academi Publications.
- Buyukozturk, S. (2002). Sosyal bilimler icin veri analizi el kitabi, SPSS uygulamalari: İstatistik, arastirma deseni, uygulamalar ve yorum [The handbook of data Analysis for social sciences: Statistics, research pattern, SPSS applications and interpretation]. Ankara: Pegem Publications.
- Chao, W. (2003). Self-efficacy towards educational technology: The application in Taiwan teacher education. *Journal of Educational Media and Library Studies*, 40(4), 409-415.
- Debowski, S. (2001). "Wrong way: Go back! An exploration of novice search behaviours while conducting an information search". *The Electronic Library*, 19,(6), 371-382.
- Durndell, A., & Haag, Z. (2002). Computer self efficacy, computer anxiety, attitudes towards the Internet and reported experience with the Internet, by gender, in an East European sample. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 18, 521-535.
- Dursun F. (2004). The purposes of using the Internet among university students. XIII. National Congress of Educational Sciences, 6-9 Temmuz 2004 Inonu University, Faculty of Education, Malatya.
- Eastin, M. A., & LaRose, R. L. (2000). Internet self-efficacy and the psychology of the digital divide. *Journal of Computer Mediated Communication*, 6 (1).
- Eroglu A, Unlu H, Eroglu I, & Yilmaz B. (2011). Beden egitimi ogretmeni ve beden egitimi ogretmen adaylarinin egitsel Internet kullanimina yonelik yeterliklerinin incelenmesi [The review of proficiency of educational Internet usage of physical education teachers and candidate]. Selcuk University the Journal of Physical Education and Sport Sciences, 13(1), 132-135.
- Flanagin, A.J., & Metzger, M.J. (2000). Perceptions of Internet information credibility. *Journalism & Mass Communication Quarterly*, 77(3), 515–540



- Gecer, A.K. & Dag, F. (2010). Universite Ogrencilerinin bilgisayar okur-yazarlik duzeylerinin belirlenmesi: Kocaeli Universitesi ornegi [Identifying The Computer Literacy Skill Levels of University Students: The Case Of Kocaeli University]. Yuzuncu Yil University the Journal of Education Faculty, 7(1), 20-44.
- Gecer, A. & İra, N. (-). Web ortaminda bilgi arama ve yorumlama stratejileri olceginin Turkceye uyarlanmasi [Adapting the Scale for İnformation Searching and Commitments Strategies on the Web into Turkish]. (Submitted for publication in a journal)
- Gurol, A. & Akti, S. (2010). The relationship between pre-service teachers' self-efficacy and their Internet selfefficacy. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 2(2), 3252–3257.
- Hess, B. (1999). Graduate student cognition during information retrieval using the World Wide Web: A pilot study. *Computers & Education*, 33, 1-13.
- Hill, J. R. (1999). A conceptual framework for understanding information seeking in open-ended information systems. *Educational Technology Research and Development*, 47(1), 5-28. Retrieved from http://www.springerlink.com/content/e7t7p2840r10w560/fulltext.pdf.
- Hill, J. R. & Hannafin, M. J. (1997). Cognitive strategies and learning from the World Wide Web. *Educational Technology Research and Development*, 45 (4), 37-64.
- Hsieh Y.H. & Tsai C.C. (2011). The relationships among science-related major students' information commitment, mental load and mental effort. T. Hirashima et al. (Eds.) (2011). Proceedings of the 19th International Conference on Computers in Education. Chiang Mai, Thailand: Asia-Pacific Society for Computers in Education.
- Jean-Francois, R. (2003). What was I looking for? The influence of task specificity and prior knowledge on students' search strategies in hypertext. *Interacting with Computers*, 15, 409-428.
- Joo, Y. J., Bong, M., & Choi, H. J. (2000). Self-efficacy for self-regulated learning, academic self-efficacy, and Internet self-efficacy in Web based instruction. *Educational Technology Research and Development*, 48, 5-17.
- Karasar, N. (2004). Bilimsel arastirma yontemleri [Methods of scientific research]. Ankara: Nobel Publications.
- Kilic, B. (2007). Internet iceriginin Ogrenme amacli kullanilmasi[The use of Internet content for learning purpose]. XII. "Turkiye'de Internet" Konferansi Bildiri Kitapcigi, Ankara
- Kilic, H. & Coskun, Y.D. (2010). Ogretmen adaylarinin egitsel amacli Internet kullanim ozyeterlik inanc duzeylerinin cesitli degiskenler acisindan incelenmesi [The review of educational Internet use selfefficacy beliefs for prospective teachers]. 19. Egitim Bilimleri Kurultayi, 16-18 Eylul 2010 Uluslararasi Kibris Dogu Akdeniz Universitesi, Lefkosa KKTC.
- Kuechler, M. (1999). Using the web in the classroom. Social Science Computer Review, 17, 144-161.
- Kurulgan, M. & Argan, M. (2007). Anadolu Universite ogrencilerinin Internet uzerinden bilgi arama davranislari [The information search behaviors of University of Anatolia college students]. *Journal of Institute of Social Sciences*, 7, 291-304.
- Kurbanoglu, S.(2002). Bilgi kaynaklarinin degerlendirilmesi [The evalution of information source], *Hacettepe* University Journal of Faculty of Letters, 19(1), 11-25.
- Lazonder, A. W., Biemans, H. J., & Wopereis, İ. G. (2000). Differences between novice and experienced users in searching information on the World Wide Web. *Journal of American Society for Information Science*, 51, 576-581.
- Li, N., & Kirkup, G. (2007) Gender and cultural differences in Internet use: A study of China and the UK. Computers and Education, 48(2), 301-317.
- Liang, J.-C., & Tsai, C.-C. (2009). The information commitments toward web information among medical students in Taiwan. *Educational Technology & Society*, 12 (1), 162–172.
- Liaw, S.-S. (2002) An Internet survey for perceptions of computers and the World Wide Web: relationship,prediction, and difference. *Computers in Human Behavior*, *18*, 17–35.
- McDowell, L. (2002). Electronic information resources in undergraduate education: an exploratory study of opportunities for student learning and independence. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 33, 255-266.
- Moon, B-J. (2004). Consumer adoption of the Internet as an information search and product purchase channel: some research hypotheses. *International Journal of Internet Marketing and Advertising*, 1(1), 104-118.
- Montcalm, D. M. (1999). Applying Bandura's theory of self-efficacy to the teaching of research. Journal of Teaching in Social Work, 19(1), 93-107.
- Oliver, B., & Goerke, V. (2007). Australian undergraduates' use and ownership of emerging technologies: Implications and opportunities for creating engaging learning experiences for the Net Generation. *Australasian Journal of Educational Technology*, 23(2), 171-186. Retrieved from http://www.ascilite.org.au/ajet/ajet23/oliver.html
- Olkun, S. & Cakiroglu, E. (2000). Yurtdisinda egitim alanlarinda lisansustu calisma yapan Turk ogrencileri arasinda bilgisayar ve Internet kullanimi uzerine bir calisma [A study about usage of computer and Internet for Turkish graduation students living abroad]. *IV. Congress on Science Education*, 689-695.



- Oskay O.O.(2011). Ogretmen adaylarinin Internet ozyeterlikleri, Internet tabanli ortamlara yonelik tercihleri ve basarilari. *Hacettepe University the Journal of Education* (H. U. Journal of Education), 40, 291-299.
- Peng, H., Tsai, C.-C., & Wu, Y.-T. (2006). University students' self-efficacy and their attitudes toward the Internet: The role of students' perceptions of the Internet. *Educational Studies*, 32, 73-86.
- Rouet, J.-F. (2003). What was I looking for? The influence of task specificity and prior knowledge on students' search strategies in hypertext. *Interacting with Computers*, 15, 409-428.
- Sahin A., Dogan B. & Cermik H. (2009). Ogretmen adaylarinin arama motoru kullanirken karsilastiklari temel sorunlar [Major issues prospective teachers confront while using a search engine]. *Pamukkale University* the Journal of Education, 1, 25.
- Sahin, İ. (2009). Egitsel Internet kullanim oz-yeterliligi inanclari olceginin gecerliligi ve guvenilirligi [The validity and reliability of educational Internet use self-efficacy beliefs]. Selcuk University Journal of the Institute of Social Sciences, 21, 462-471.
- Tavsanci, S. (2004). Guvenilir ve saglikli Internet bilgisini nasil anlariz? [How do we understand reliable and healthy information]. Retrieved from

http://www.tavsanci.com/index.php?option=com_content&task=view&id=67&Itemid=55.

- Tekin, H. (1996). *Egitimde Olcme ve Degerlendirme* [Educational Measurement and Evaluation]. 9. Print, Ankara: Yargi Publications.
- Torkzadeh, G., & Van Dyke, T. P. (2002). Effects of training on Internet self-efficacy and computer user attitudes. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 18, 479-494.
- Tsai, M.-J & Tsai C. C (2003). Information seraching strategies in web-based science learning: The role of Internet self-efficacy. *Innovations in Education and Teaching International*, 40, 43-50.
- Tsai, C.-C. (2004). Information commitments in web-based learning environments. *Innovations in Education* and Teaching International, 41, 105-112.
- Tsai, C. C. (2008). The preferences toward constructivist Internet-based learning environments among university students in Taiwan. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 24 (1), 16-31.
- Tsai, M.-J., & Tsai, C.-C. (2010). Junior high school students' Internet usage and self-efficacy: A re-examination of the gender gap. Computers & Education, 54(4), 1182-1192.
- Tuncer M., OzUt A. (2012). Sinif ogretmeni adaylarinin egitsel Internet kullanimina yonelik oz yeterlik inanclari [The self-efficacy beliefs towards the usage of Internet for class prospective teachers]. Turkish Studies -İnternational Periodical For The Languages, Literature and History of Turkish or Turkic. V. 7/2 Spring, 1079-1091.
- Unal, T.A. (2012). Bote bolumu ogrencilerinin internet kullanım ozellikleri ve tercihlerinin incelenmesi. AJIT-e: Online Academic Journal of Information Technology 2012 Kış/Winter 2012 – Cilt/Vol: 3 Sayı/Num: 6 DOI: 10.5824/1309/1581.2012.1.002.x http://www.ajite.org/?menu=pages&p=details_of_article&id=28
- Usluel, Y. K. (2006). Ogretmen adaylari ve Ogretmenlerin bilgi okuryazarligi Oz-yeterliklerinin karsilastirilmasi [Comparison of prospective teachers' and teachers' information literacy self-efficacy]. *Eurasian Journal* of Educational Research, 22, 233-243.
- Whitmire, E. (2003). Epistemological beliefs and the information-seeking behavior of undergraduates. *Library & Information Science Research*, 25, 127-142.
- Whitmire, E. (2002).Discipline differences and undergraduates' information –seeking behaviour. Journal of the American society for Information Science and Technology 53 (8), 631-638.
- Whitmire, E. (2004). The relationship between undergraduates' epistemological beliefs, reflective judgment, and their information-seeking behavior. *Information Processing and Management*, 40, 97-111.
- Wu, Y.-T., & Tsai, C. -C. (2005). Information commitments: Evaluative standards and
- information searching strategies in web-based learning environments. *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, 1, 374-385.
- Wu, Y. T & Tsai C.-C. (2006). University students' Internet attitudes and Internet self-efficacy: A study at three universities in Taiwan. *CyberPsychology and Behavior*, 9, 441-450.
- Wu, Y.-T. & Tsai, C.-C. (2007). Developing an information commitment survey for assessing students' web information searching strategies and evaluative standards for web materials. *Educational Technology & Society*, 10 (2), 120-132.
- Yalcinalp, S., & Askar, P. (2003). Ogrencilerin bilgi arama amaciyla Interneti kullanim bicimlerinin incelenmesi [Study on Internet using style of students for the knowledge search]. *TheTurkish Online Journal of Educational Technology TOJET*, 2(4). Retrieved from http://www.tojet.net/articles/2415.htm
- Yenilmez, K. Turgut, M., Anapa, P. & Ersoy, M. (2011). IlkOgretim matematik ogretmeni adaylarinin egitsel Internet kullanimina yonelik oz-yeterlik inanclari [The educational Internet use self-efficacy beliefs of primary school math prospective teachers]. 5th International Computer ve Instructional Technologies Symposium, 22-24 September 2011 Firat University, Elazig-TURKEY.
- Yolal, M. & Kozak, R. (2008). Bilgiye erisim araci olarak ogrencilerin Internete yaklasimi. [The approach of students towards Internet for accessing information]. *Journal of Social Sciences*, 20, 116-128.

ASSISTIVE TECHNOLOGY IN SPECIAL EDUCATION AND THE UNIVERSAL DESIGN FOR LEARNING

Ghaleb Alnahdi, Ph.D Vice Dean, College of Education, Salman bin Abdulaziz University P.O.BOX 176 Alkharj 11942, Saudi Arabia ga278409@hotmail.com & g.alnahdi@sau.edu.sa

ABSTRACT

Using technology can help students with disabilities to enhance and improve their independence in academic and employment tasks, their participation in classroom discussions, along with helping them to accomplish some difficult academic tasks. This paper discusses the role and benefits of using assistive technology in the Universal Design for Learning (UDL), in academic skills, and in transition services. A summary of the important principles that need to be considered in the integration of technology in educating or training students with disabilities is provided.

Keywords: Assistive technology, universal design, technology, special education.

INTRODUCTION

"The world of education is currently undergoing a massive transformation as a result of the digital revolution" (Collins & Halverson, 2009, p. 1). Because of this "digital revolution," it is both important and practical to make use of the availability and accessibility of technology in designing educational or training programs. Technology has the potential to contribute to a better quality of life for students with intellectual disabilities, which is more than just a matter of convenience (Wehmeyer, Palmer, Smith, Davies, & Stock, 2008). The use of technology in education is inevitable; it is only a matter of time before schools will fall behind unless they try to catch up. Students spend long hours of their day outside school using technology, so is it reasonable to expect them to come to school and find themselves in the world of no technology and feel attracted to this world. In addition to the factor of attractiveness, there is also the effectiveness of using technology, which has been proven through some studies. For instance, Patton and Roschelle (2008) argue that digital textbooks offer a better alternative than traditional textbooks because they can provide instant feedback, interactive representations, and the system of universal design for learning (UDL).

Continuing to deliver education and training in the traditional way and using the same tools that have been used for decades is affecting these programs' outcomes and making them fall far behind what the labor mark demands. Thus, updating school programs with current technological tools and devices for both students with and without disabilities has become necessary.

It is very important to ensure that students with disabilities are prepared to meet the challenges of postsecondary settings (Stodden, Conway, & Chang, 2003); many technological tools could increase, as much as possible, the possibilities for students with disabilities to overcome these challenges with fewer difficulties. In many cases adapting the right assistive technology for students with disabilities facilitate and maximize their educational and academic gains can also prevent students from having opportunities to reach their maximum performance, or at least to make them more confident while undertaking some tasks that can be done easily using low-tech assistive technology.

ASSISTIVE TECHNOLOGY

Assistive technology is defined as "an item or piece of equipment or product system either acquired commercially, off the shelf, modified, or customized and used to increase, maintain, or improve functional capability for individual with disabilities" (Johnston, Beard, & Carpenter, 2007, p. 4). Special education teachers, especially in middle and high school, should be exposed to technological tools that can help students to bypass their academic weaknesses (Mull & Sitlington, 2003). Teachers will help students by training them to use portable and cheap tools that, in most cases, could make students live and behave more independently when they leave high school, which will increase their chances of maximizing their degree of achievement and independence, though it will still be behind their peers without disabilities (Blackorby & Wagner, 1996). For instance, training students to use a calculator can be more practical than beginning to teach middle and high school students basic math (like adding two numbers). Furthermore, if students can use the calculator but have difficulty saying numbers correctly, they can use more advanced tools, such as a talking calculator, which helps students to say numbers correctly and can be used whenever or wherever they need it (Lankutis, 2004).



Mull and Sitlington (2003) reviewed the literature regarding the use of technology to help students with learning disabilities succeed after leaving high school. Based on their comprehensive review of literature, they came up with these recommendations:

- 1. Because assistive technology can vary significantly in cost from one device to another and sometimes can be too expensive for families or schools to afford, the funding resources for assistive technology must be addressed in the transition process. Additionally, it is important to identify the necessary device early, so this device can be located, and the student can have time to be trained to use it.
- 2. The assessment of students' needs and the demands of the postsecondary environment should determine the appropriate selection of assistive technology.
- 3. Training students in using the assistive technology properly will help them to increase their educational gains.

Seven principles of universal design to be considered when designing an AT device are identified by The Trace Center in Wisconsin: 1) equitable use; 2) flexibility in use; 3) simple and intuitive use; 4) perceptible information; 5) tolerance for error; 6) low physical effort; 7) size and space for approach and use appropriate (Trace Center, 1995).

Mull and Sitlington (2003) found there are five obstacles that prevent the general use of technological accommodations by students with disabilities: "1) the use of assistive technology in the role of 'cognitive prosthesis' 2) the availability and high cost of assistive technology; 3) abandonment by students of purchased assistive technology devices; 4) training needs related to the use of technology and assistive devices; and 5) eligibility questions." (p. 29)

It is important to choose an appropriate and efficient device or tool, which does not necessarily have to be an expensive device designed just for educational purposes or for students with disabilities; Stodden et al. (2003) found that complex and expensive devices (e.g., high tech devices) have been used less and appeal to a smaller percentage of students compared to low tech devices. Sometimes it is much more efficient to look within the normal, existing technology to find useful devices or software for students with disabilities than to just focus on finding a specific technology designed specifically for people with disabilities. For instance, Skylar (2008) calculated the cost that can be saved by using an iPod Touch for students with disabilities to replace many devices such as 1) SMART Boards, which can cost 3,000 dollars even without the necessary computer, speakers, and scanner; 2) Kurzweil 3000 software (designed for readers who face difficulties, dyslexics, and students with attention disorders), which can cost around 500 dollars; 3) a laptop (capable of running Kurzweil 3000, calculators, electronic organizers, calendars, multiple alarms, and portable Internet access), which can cost from 800 to 2,500 dollars; 4) a flash drive data storage device, which can cost from 20 to 100 dollars.

Universal Design for Learning (UDL)

Assistive technology is important for students with disabilities, but there are those who say the system as a whole should be supported for all students, and this system or framework is referred to as Universal Design for Learning (UDL) (Wehmeyer, 2006). Also, the challenge that students with disabilities face in the context of inclusive education is the single-faceted presentation of the general education curriculum, which leads us again to think of Universal Design for Learning (UDL) as a solution to meet this challenge (Ludlow & Fosha, 2007).

The official definition of Universal Design for Learning (UDL) by the Higher Education Opportunity Act is as follows:

A scientifically valid framework for guiding educational practice that (A) provides flexibility in the ways information is presented, in the ways students respond or demonstrate knowledge and skills, and in the ways students are engaged; and (B) reduces barriers in instruction, provides appropriate accommodations, supports, and challenges, and maintains high achievement expectations for all students, including students with disabilities and students who are limited English proficient. (Higher Education Opportunity Act, 2008, 4137—11)

Accessible Environments

Designing environments and educational settings that are accessible to everyone, with and without disabilities, will reduce the need for individual accommodations (Burgstahler, 2003). Wehmeyer (2006) argues that a difference should be distinguished between a universal design for a curriculum (which he advocates) and using assistive technology to enable students with disabilities to access to the general curriculum, in which the disadvantage comes from determining the needed assistive technology prior to choosing the curriculum and causes the teachers to have no choice, except a little flexibility in instructional strategies; consequently, there might be a need for certain expensive assistive technology devices that could help with the chosen curriculum.



Rose, Hasselbring, Stahl, and Zabala (2005) state that the purpose of UDL and assistive technology work is to overcome barriers and provide students with disabilities access to the general curriculum. Assistive technology is essential in the application of a UDL instructional design and, in return, a Universal Design for Learning (UDL) provides accessible Curriculum Content, helping to raise the value of Assistive Technology (AT; Basham, Israel, Graden, Poth, &Winston, 2010).

Examples of Accessible Technologies

Burgstahler (2003) pointed out three examples of accessible electronic and information technology and how it can be useful for students with disabilities in educational settings, based on the concept of universal design: 1) Accessible web pages such as those that allow students with low reading skills to access information and communicate with others; 2) Accessible instructional software, such as programs that allow students to work side-by-side and collaborate with their peers to complete assignments in the classroom; 3) Accessible telephones that make communication accessible to everyone, whatever their disabilities.

Assistive Technology for Academic Skills

Technology could play an important and significant role, in many cases, in helping students with disabilities overcome the academic difficulties that they face and helping them to develop their academic skills as well. Cullen, Richards, and Frank (2008) conducted a study to determine whether computer software would help students with disabilities improve their performance in writing. A multiple baseline design was used to study seven fifth grade students with mild disabilities in three phases: baseline, intervention using a talking word processor, and intervention using word prediction software in conjunction with a talking word processor. In the first week (Baseline) students handwrote all writing samples with no accommodations; in the next three weeks (Intervention one) Students used Write:Outloud, a talking word processor for all writing samples; in the last three weeks (Intervention two) students used Co:Writer, a word prediction software, in conjunction with Write:Outloud for all writing samples. The results showed that five students out of seven in the study improved the number of words produced in the two intervention phases compared with the baseline phase. The group mean indicated that there was an improvement in the number of words produced decreased showed that there was an improvement in the number of words produced. There were improvements in the number of misspelled words across phases, both individually and in the group mean. In general, the results showed that the impact on most of the seven students was positive.

Another example of the important role that technology can play in helping students to overcome their difficulties with academic skills can be found in the study conducted by Bouck, Doughty, Flanagan, Szwed, and Bassette (2010) to examine how effective a pentop computer (a FLYPen) and the writing software (specifically designed for the FLYPen) was in assisting students with disabilities in writing. This tool "resembles a typical pen, larger in size and includes a slot at the top where a software cartridge is inserted. When using special paper created for the FLYPen, the pentop computer produces voice output to provide directions, prompts, reinforcement, and hints to students for various activities" (p. 36). In this study, three high school students were chosen based on the following criteria: 1) high school students receiving special education services between 15 and 18 years old; 2) students with a mild intellectual disability or learning disability; 3) students having difficulty in written expression; 4) students experienced initial gains in the quality of written expression while using the FLYPen. They concluded that technology-enhanced procedural facilitators not only can benefit the quality and quantity of written expression in students with mild disabilities, but it can also enhance students ability to plan their writing and help them complete these tasks more independently.

Examples of Projects With Hearing Disabilities

McInerney, Riley, and Osher (1999) examined six projects that have been conducted on students with hearing disabilities, and they found that text highlighting and supportive captions with digital instructional materials were helpful to and demonstrated consistent academic gain for students with hearing disabilities. Wehmeyer, Smith, Palmer, Davies, and Stock (2004) found that exposing students with intellectual disabilities to flexible technologies helped increase their functional skills, take advantage of their strengths, and compensate for their weaknesses. In the same context, Anderson-Inman, Knox-Quinn, and Horney (1996) found that students with learning disabilities have shown increased academic gain when exposed to technology- supported concept mapping strategies. Elbro, Rasmussen, and Spelling (1996) found that students with language-related disabilities showed positive effects for word recognition, comprehension, and fluency when using digital texts with synthetic, syllable- or letter name-level synthetic speech transformations.



Assistive Technology in Transition Services

Technology has the potential to enhance schools' outcomes and to help prepare students with disabilities for life after school (Burgstahler, 2003); also, it could add some enjoyment to these students' academic experiences and might be more practical in some cases. Mitchem, Kight, Fitzgerald, Koury, and Boonseng (2007) qualitatively investigated the usability and perceived effectiveness of an electronic performance support system designed for secondary students with mild disabilities. This software contains 39 strategy tools to support learning, behavior, and transition in high school and beyond. Two special education teachers used the software with their high school students for one semester. The results show that the usability features were rated very high by both teachers and students. Students indicated that the tools had been useful in helping them to recognize their inappropriate responses, along with identifying the more appropriate responses.

Teachers

It is vital that teachers are exposed to and have knowledge of the available technologies that could support students in their academic tasks (Raskind, 1994). Logically, teachers who do not realize and have not been exposed to the usefulness and applications of technology in education in general, and special education specifically, will be more reluctant to use them. It is therefore important that technology is included in preparation programs for special education teachers; in these programs, technology should be used as part of the preparatory program for teachers and cover technical applications at the classroom level. In this way, special education teachers will have the knowledge and experience in using technology that will contribute to the widespread of the use of technology in special education programs.

Course Management System (CMC)

Basham, Lowrey, and deNoyelles (2010) examined the Universal Design for Learning (UDL) framework using an online course management system (CMC) as the basis for a collaborative project between two universities. This study included 78 students from two special education programs enrolled in teacher education courses. Starting with the UDL framework, various online and collaborative instructional components were established between two pre-service education courses at two distinctly different universities.

It was demonstrated that UDL is a practical framework for planning a collaborative CMC project for teacher candidates in special education preparation courses. In addition, it was concluded that it helped teachers gain understanding, share experiences, and express course knowledge in authentic ways. Nevertheless, this study address the need for more research concerning designing elements that provide flexible ways for students to gain and express knowledge and engage with others, which will be important for the integration of CMC in the learning framework.

Examples of Useful Technologies

Raskind (1994) suggested a number of technologies that may be helpful in assisting students with disabilities overcome their difficulties: word processors, spell-checking programs, proofreading programs, outlining (Brain Storming), speech recognition, abbreviation expanders, speech synthesis, proofreading programs, optical character recognition systems, Free-Form Databases, and talking Calculators. Cutler (1990) concluded that spell-checkers were useful in helping students with disabilities compensate for their spelling difficulties. Collins (1990) found that the use of word processors helped in improving the writing skills of students with disabilities. Brown (1987) found that speech synthesis in conjunction with word processing was useful in enhancing students' written language production.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, technology has changed and continues to change the way people manage things in their lives, both in private and in practical life, so the natural extension of that is to see the impact and the integration of technology in education for students with disabilities in the same way it has been in other areas of life. Using technology can help students with disabilities to enhance and improve their independence in academic and employment tasks and their participation in classroom discussions, along with helping them to accomplish some difficult academic tasks (Burgstahler, 2003). (See Table 1 for Burgstahler's list of advantages of using technology for students with disabilities).



Advantages	Examples
1. Maximize independence in academic and	A student with mobility impairment uses a hands-free
employment tasks	keyboard and mouse to operate a computer to take
	class notes, access library resources, and complete
	papers rather than have an assistant write for her.
2. Participate in classroom discussions.	A student who cannot speak uses a computer-based
	communication device to deliver speeches and
	participate in class discussions.
3. Gain access to peers, mentors, and role models.	In a supported Internet community, a student who is
	deaf uses email to chat with other teens, gain support
	for college and career transition from mentors, and
4 Master and with tailer that there are not	meet role models.
4. Master academic tasks that they cannot	A student with a learning disability uses a set of
accomprish otherwise.	writing and study demands in a postsecondary setting
5 Gain access to the full range of educational	A student who is blind and uses speech output
options.	technology fully participates in an Internet based
options.	distance learning course that employs universal design
	principles to assure access to people with disabilities.
6. Participate in experiences not otherwise possible.	A young man with no functional use of his arms and
······································	legs experiences completing a chemistry experiment
	through a computer simulation and observing sea life
	while swimming in the ocean through virtual reality.
7. Succeed in work-based learning experiences.	A student who has no use of his hands independently
	operates a computer to draft and edit articles in a
	journalism internship at the local newspaper office.
8. Secure high levels of independent living.	A young person who has a developmental disability
	uses a cell phone to maintain regular contact with
	caregivers as he participates in community activities.
Note Burgstahler 2003 pp 10-11	

Table 1: Technology Advantages for Students with Disabilities

Note. Burgstahler, 2003, pp. 10-11.

There are a few points that summarize the important principles that should be considered in the integration of technology in educating or training students with disabilities: 1) low tech tools should be the first option when looking for assistive technology that will help promote students' learning (Johnston et al., 2007); 2) educators must search among the available tools and devices first before looking for tools that were specially made for educational purposes, which could be very costly (Skylar, 2008); 3) the most expensive tools or devices are not always the best choice, which will be determined based on the student's needs and prior skills ; 4) small adjustments to existing technologies, often, will make a difference for students with disabilities (Johnston et al., 2007); for example, the highlight and enlarge functions, and programs that color important words in the text or buttons on websites will be helpful (McInerney et al., 1999).

REFERENCES

- Anderson-Inman, L., Knox-Quinn, & Horney, M. (1996). Computer-based study strategies for students with learning disabilities: individual differences associated with adoption level. Journal of Learning Disabilities, 29, 461-484.
- Basham, J. D., Israel, M., Graden, J., Poth, R., & Winston, M. (2010). A comprehensive approach to RTI: Embedding universal design for learning and technology. Learning Disability Quarterly, 33, 243-255.
- Basham, J. D., Lowrey, K., & deNoyelles, A. (2010). Computer mediated communication in the universal design for learning framework for preparation of special education teachers. Journal of Special Education Technology, 25, 31-44.
- Blackorby, J., & Wagner, M. (1996). Longitudinal postschool outcomes of youth with disabilities: Findings from the National Longitudinal Transition Study. Exceptional Children, 62, 399-413.
- Bouck, E. C., Doughty, T. T., Flanagan, S. M., Szwed, K., & Bassette, L. (2010). Is the pen mightier? Using pentop computers to improve secondary students' writing. Journal of Special Education Technology, 25, 33-47.
- Brown, C. (1987). Computer access in higher education for students with disabilities. Washington, DC: Fund for the Improvement of Postsecondary Education, U.S. Department of Education. Retrieved from http://www.htctu.net/publications/articles/cahe/cahe.htm



- Burgstahler, S. (2003). The role of technology in preparing youth with disabilities for postsecondary education and employment. *Journal of Special Education Technology*, *18*, 7-19.
- Collins, A., & Halverson, R. (2009). Rethinking education in the age of technology: The digital revolution and the schools. New York, NY: Teachers College Press. Retrieved from http://ocw.mit.edu/courses/mediaarts-and-sciences/mas-714j-technologies-for-creative-learning-fall-2009/readings/MITMAS_714JF09_read03_coll.pdf
- Collins, T. (1990). The impact of microcomputer word processing on the performance of learning disabled students in a required first year writing course. *Computers and Composition*, *8*, 49-68.
- Cullen, J., Richards, S. B., & Frank, C. (2008). Using software to enhance the writing skills of students with special needs. *Journal of Special Education Technology*, 23, 33-44.
- Cutler, E. (1990). Evaluating spell checkers, thesauruses, dictionaries and grammar editors for the community college student with learning disabilities. In H. J. Murphy (Ed.), *Proceedings of the Fifth Annual Conference on Technology and Persons with Disabilities*, 5, 163-175.
- Elbro, C, Rasmussen, I., & Spelling, B. (1996). Teaching reading to disabled readers with language disorders: A controlled evaluation of synthetic speech feedback. *Scandinavian Journal of Psychology*, *37*, 140-155.
- Higher Education Opportunity Act, 20 U.S.C. § 1001 *et seq.* (2008). Retrieved from http://www.nacua.org/documents/heoa.pdf
- Johnston, L., Beard, L. A., & Carpenter, L. B. (2007). *Assistive technology: Access for all students*. Columbus, OH: Pearson Merrill Prentice Hall.
- Lankutis, T. (2004). Special needs technologies: An administrator's guide. Technology & Learning, 25, 30-35.
- Ludlow, B. L., & Fosha, J. D. (2007). Critical technology issues for school leaders/the universally designed classroom: Accessible curriculum and digital technologies. *Journal of Special Education Technology*, 22, 60-62.
- McInerney, M., Riley, K., & Osher, D. (1999). Technology to support literacy strategies for students who are deaf. Final report. Washington, DC: American Institutes for Research. Retrieved from http://www.bglad.org/literacystategies.pdf
- Mitchem, K., Kight, J., Fitzgerald, G., Koury, K., & Boonseng, T. (2007). Electronic performance support systems: An assistive technology tool for secondary students with mild disabilities. *Journal of Special Education Technology*, 22, 1-14.
- Mull, C. A., & Sitlington, P. L. (2003). The role of technology in the transition to postsecondary education of students with learning disabilities: A review of the literature. *Journal of Special Education*, 37, 26-32.
- Patton, C. M., & Roschelle, J. (2008, May 7). Why the best math curriculum won't be a textbook. *Education Week*, pp. 24-32.
- Raskind, M. H. (1994). Assistive technology for adults with learning disabilities: A rationale for use. In P. J. Gerber & H. B. Reiff (Eds.), *Learning disabilities in adulthood: Persisting problems and evolving issues* (pp. 152-162). Stoneham, MA: Andover Medical.
- Rose, D. H., Hasselbring, T., Stahl, S., & Zabala, J. (2005). Assistive technology and universal design for learning: Two sides of the same coin. In D. Edyburn, K. Higgiris, & R. Boone (Eds.), *Handbook of special education technology research and practice* (pp. 33-41). Whitefish Bay, WI: Knowledge by Design. Retrieved from

http://cuip.uchicago.edu/~cac/nlu/tie536fall09/Assistive%20Technology%20and%20UDL_TwoSidesofth eCoin.pdf

- Skylar, A. A. (2008). iPod "teach": Increased access to technological learning supports through the use of the iPod Touch. *Journal of Special Education Technology*, 23, 45-49.
- Stodden, R. A., Conway, M. A., & Chang, K. T. (2003). Findings from the study of transition, technology and postsecondary supports for youth with disabilities: Implications for secondary school educators. *Journal* of Special Education Technology, 18, 29-43.
- Trace Center. (1995). *Principles of universal design*. Madison, WI: University of Wisconsin Madison, Trace Center.
- Wehmeyer, M. L. (2006). Universal design for learning, access to the general education curriculum and students with mild mental retardation. *Exceptionality*, 14, 225-235.
- Wehmeyer, M. L., Palmer, S. B., Smith, S. J., Davies, D. K., & Stock, S. (2008). The efficacy of technology use by people with intellectual disability: A single-subject design meta-analysis. *Journal of Special Education Technology*, 23, 21-30.
- Wehmeyer, M. L., Smith, S. J., Palmer, S. B., Davies, D. K., & Stock, S. E. (2004). Technology use and people with mental retardation. *International Review of Research in Mental Retardation*, 29, 291-337.



COLLABORATION FACTORS AND QUALITY OF LEARNING EXPERIENCE ON INTERACTIVE MOBILE ASSISTED SOCIAL E-LEARNING

Shengmei Wang, Ph.D. National Formosa University Postal Address: 64, Wenhua Raod, Huwei Jeng, Yulin County, Taiwan Email: drjennywang@yahoo.com

ABSTRACT

This study (n=52) examined mobile assisted in-class course using collaborative learning theories over an 18week semester in a college level course. A self-evaluation survey containing 50 closed-ended items with two open-ended questions about participants' collaboration experience through the mobile techs was conducted during the last week of the semester. Results from the quantitative data based on linear regression analysis revealed that individual accountability significantly predicted quality of teamwork learning experience in an interactive mobile assisted social e-learning (iMASE) module, as did social skills, quality of feedback, and perceived ability. Finally, based on the qualitative data, perspectives on past experiences, interaction with peers and instructor of the learning community, prompt feedback behavior, authentic group activities were examined and analyzed based on grounded theory. The findings provide useful information for educators or curriculum designers to consider of significant factor when implementing mobile tech as part of the course curriculum in order to rich the quality of learning.

Keywords: mobile techs, social networking apps, cooperative learning, social constructivist

1. INTRODUCTION

A new generation of mobile wirelessly networked technologies, such as Web 3.0 technologies or social media has led to an increasingly prevalent among college students. Learning to learn may be considered to have greater impact on future experiences than the mere construction of domain-specific knowledge itself. Consequently, the learning environment is no longer considered to be the precondition for but an outcome of learning. The new wave of Internet technologies is contributing to new forms of learning in this generation of learners. "Many schools are beginning to implement sound and effective mobile device policies and frameworks so that teachers, administrators, and most importantly, students have 24/7 access to recourses and a 21st century learning environment" (Pierco et al., 2011, p. 3). According to O'Reilly (2005), innovative curriculum integrated with multimedia and technology involvement has changed the ways people create in terms of how teachers teach, and how students learn. Anderson (2008) also indicates "education is not only about access to content. The greatest affordance of the Web for education use is the profound and multifaceted increase in communication and interaction capabilities that is provides" (p. 42). In today's collaborative Web, users can share information and create new knowledge collaboratively. Pedagogically, engaging learners in cooperative learning involving cooperatively working in groups to achieve their shared/common goal or helpfully completing group projects is one of the major pathways to scaffold learning development (Effandi & Zanaton, 2007; Johnson & Johnson, 1994) as learning is a social activity (Chen & Bryer, 2012; Vygotsky, 1978).

Without a doubt, applications of social software technology support constructivist. In this way, the learner develops collaboration, negotiation, reflection, constructivist criticism, selection and information analysis (Grodecka, Wild, & Kieslinger, 2009). While working in groups online, learners gain knowledge and build their skills based on peer-to-peer networks and share experience with others. Although several studies have evaluated the relationship between collaboration learning factors and e-learning experience, very few have examined learners' learning quality in relation to Web 3.0 courses. In addition, not many teachers bring Web 3.0 technologies into their classrooms as Gersten (2013) states "many educators are doing Education 1.0; talking about doing Education 2.0; when they should be planning and implementing Education 3.0" (p. 1). The evaluation of quality of learning experience would thus appear to determine whether mobile assisted social e-learning is suitable that can respond to students' needs and enrich their learning.

2. THEORETICAL BACKGROUND

2.1 Collaboration Learning Theory

According to Bruner (1987), learning is an activity process in which learners acquire new knowledge based on their prior knowledge that had been developed by experiences. Therefore, the social constructivism turns the focus to the importance of the learners rather than instructors. In addition, instructional methods have been shifted to a variety of student-oriented approaches that engage student work together in groups (Bauersfeld, 1995; Effandi & Zanaton, 2007; Kan, 2011). Learners benefit most from actively engaging in learning activities through social interaction with the immediate learning environment (Vygotsky, 1978, Woo & Reeves, 2008). They are encouraged to discover their own solutions and try out ideas and hypotheses. The instructor's primary



role is to assist the students' learning process as a facilitator so that students can exercise their capabilities in knowledge formation (Doolittle & Hicks, 2003).

Most social constructivism models stress the need for collaboration among learners. Studies (Hassan, Fong, & Idrus, 2011; Minocha, 2009) state that applications of social software technology support and increase students' engagement and enrich the learning process. Studies (Nam & Zellner, 2011; Tsay & Brady, 2010) also show that students improve their academic achievement through collaborative tools. In addition, results from Johnson and Johnson (1975) study reported positive outcomes from cooperative learning including increasing higher level reasoning, increasing generation of new ideas and solutions, and enhancing transferring of learning between situations. Johnson et al. (1991) further state that collaborative learning is different from having students work in groups, instead, it is to be structured and managed cooperation among groups. Five essential components in small-group collaborative learning include positive interdependence, face-to-face promotive interaction, individual and group accountability, group processing, and social skills (Johnson & Johnson, 1994).

2.2 Collaboration Learning Process

Feedback is a critical part in collaboration learning process in online or traditional classroom. Based on the core concept of socio-cultural theory, reflection is formed through the process of social interaction and semiotic mediation (Vygotsky, 1978; Wells, 1999). Feedback measuring to what extent learning outcomes have been achieved embeds potential impacts on learning (Gayton, 2005; Hounsell, 2007). The feedback can motivate students by providing positive reinforcement, help students to correct their performance by identifying where could be improved, and inform educators to measure effectiveness of teaching (Yorke, 2003). It fosters motivation, improves self-esteem (Nicol & MacFarlane-Dick, 2006; Sadler, 1989), empowers students as self-regulated learners (Nicol, 2010), and impacts general academic experience (Gielen et al., 2010; Shute, 2008). Timing is also important. Feedback should be provided promptly as needed as Brinko (1993) from social cultural theory suggested. Furthermore, social constructivists suggest that feedback should be given frequently (Gielen et al., 2010) and constantly (Pokomy & Pickford, 2010).

In collaboration projects, perceived ability and learning goals are positively correlated with each other. For example, an individual student's contribution might impact students' level of self-value for the learning output in a collaborative activity (Kirschner et al., 2006). Perceived quality and perceived learning may impact group collaborative learning process in an online environment (Caspi & Blau, 2008; Guo & Stevens, 2011).

2.3 Quality of Learning Experience

Quality of experience particularly with the cooperative learning activities has been conceptualized in several different ways, including satisfaction (Strokes, 2003), engagement (Chickering & Gamson, 1987; McGowan & Graham, 2009), self-regulation and positive affect (Kempler, Linnenbrink, Zusho, & Maehr, 2002), and feedback (Chickering and Gamson, 1987; Zerihun, Beishuizen, & Os 2012). When students are engaged in a quality experience, they increase their level of enjoyment, happiness, self-esteems, concentration, strength, and intrinsic motivation (Covington, 2000; Csikszentmihalyi & Schneider, 2000; Libert, 2010).

3. RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

3.1 Purpose of the Study and Research Questions

This study sought to promote an interactive mobile assisted social e-learning (iMASE) module as an alternative avenue for improving learning quality of fostering collaboration among students themselves and between students and instructors and enhancing learning satisfaction. The purpose of this study was to access students' experiences and perceptions of the emergence used of mobile apps as part of educational and social interaction tool and better understand what students like/dislike about using mobile apps in learning. In addition, student grades were examined as a desired outcome factor as the result of the evaluation of the proposed iMASE module. The following research questions were examined: the first 3 questions were closed questions followed by two open-ended questions.

- 1. Does the iMASE module effectively help the participants learn the content in an iMASE module in this course?
- 2. What is the relationship between learners' quality of learning experience and the online collaboration factors?
- 3. How much of the variance in quality of learning experience can be explained by the significantly correlated online collaboration factors?
- 4. What are student attitudes toward working in an iMASE module?
 - 4.1. What do you like most about the iMASE module in this course?
 - 4.2. What do you dislike most about the iMASE module in this course?



3.2 Interactive Mobile Assisted E-Learning Module (iMASE)

This course integrated with the assisted mobile techs led the students into such a social learning environment, called iMASE module in this study (Figure 1). Obviously, all the social networking Web apps were interchangeable. Students selected the app(s) they felt best suited to their needs.



Figure 1: Interactive mobile assisted social e-learning module

3.3 Profile of Participants

Convenient purposeful sampling procedures were used. The sample included 55 undergraduate enrolled in a speech and debate course with 52 return at National Formosa University, Taiwan. Males (22%) and females (78%) with a mean age of 22 years were all full-time students. The study was conducted during regular class periods.

3.4 Procedure

Students participated in the module activities including online discussion, processes of peer feedback or instructor feedback, collaborative group projects via mobile apps. At the beginning of the study, a private Facebook group was established for this particular class. During the second week of the study, the participants were introduced to a variety of mobile apps which most of the students have been used, including Facebook, LINE, WeChat, Skype, and Google+ Hangouts. To ensure everyone knows how to use each of the apps, one-hour training session was given. During the training session every of the students was invited to the private Facebook page of this particular class that the instructor created before the class started. In addition everyone formed his/her own group, set up a private group under each app, tested file uploading, and exchanged information through different mobile apps. Every student also added the instructor to her/his contact in all suggested mobile apps. Every student was informed to have an opportunity to contact with the instructor and peers using any of the mobile apps at their convenience between classes. Students were encouraged to use Facebook for assignment file uploading, Skype and Google+ Hangout for oral presentation and teleconferencing, LINE, and WeChat for audio communication, and Facebook, LINE and WeChat for Q & A and announcements among the group members.

Under the group function of mobile apps, each group member accessed to apps for sending or receiving message, posting or linking resources, and uploading and sharing files as part of assignment delivery methods. Each group (size of 4-5) worked on projects altogether, providing feedback to and received feedbacks from peers constantly on the apps. After that, the drafts were uploaded and posted on class Facebook page where everyone in the class could be able to download and view. Each group revised and improved their projects based on the feedback they received from the instructor and/or from other groups' members. Within an 18-week study, the students completed two group projects and received the review scores given by the instructor alongside the average review score given by the rest of the class. During the study, 3 exams regarding the course content and lesson materials were conducted in hard copy in class in week 6, 12, and 18. Each exam contained less than 50 questions comprised of a combination of multiple-choice, Tue/False, and complete sentence types of questions.


Students completed a survey voluntarily at the end of the module. The student attitudes and quality of teamwork learning experience were printed on a 3-page survey. Data were collected during the final week of an 18-week long semester. The questionnaire was also available through the apps in case any student was absent during the survey distribution class section. It took an average 20 minutes to complete and all participants completed the surveys.

3.5 Data Collection (instrument, questionnaire)

A self-report questionnaire that measured the quality of learning experience of the course was used. The questionnaire consisted of 3 major parts, including a portion for the participants' demographics, a quantitative portion of the learning module aspects, and a qualitative portion that asking participants overall comments. The second portion of the quantitative assessment was consisted of 33 scale responses covering 7 factors of collaborative learning and 1 learning quality scale as shows as follows. All scale responses are measured via a 5-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree).

- (1) positive interdependence, PI (4 items, e.g.: "I felt recognized for what I know"; "I felt recognized for what I need to learn");
- (2) individual accountability, IA (3 items, e.g.: "Using mobile apps increased my ability to learn from others"; "I felt working with other more easily using the mobile apps");
- (3) group processing, GP (3 items, e.g.: "achieving the group goals through the online apps"; "encouraged the group learning");
- (4) social skills, SS (3 items, e.g.: "effectively work with diversity via communication management"; "contributed more to class discussion through the mobile apps";
- (5) face-to-face interaction, FF (3 items, e.g.: "prefer face-to-face with my instructors"; "would be happier doing this course without any technology");
- (6) prompt feedback, PF (2 items, e.g.: "always get a prompt feedback from my instructor"; "like the feedback on my work that I received from my classmates");
- (7) perceived ability, PA (2 items, e.g.: "believed my efforts benefited my group toward to the group project"; "my efforts helped my group reach the goal");
- (8) learning quality (13 items from 4 subscales including usefulness, confidence, motivation, and satisfaction).

With regard to the qualitative aspects, the following 2 items were listed for collecting students' overall comments. These 2 open-ended questions guided the researchers to what they need to know most, insights into the effectiveness and ineffectualness of the module.

- (1) What did you like most about the iMASE module in this course?
- (2) What did you dislike most about the iMASE module in this course?

Once the initial questionnaire was developed, the content validity was yield through an interactive personal interview process with e-learn experts, instructors, and students from mixed learning courses. After proofread, when necessary, revised descriptions for clarity and completeness, the survey instrument were then printed. Internal consistency reliability using Cronbach's α was conducted on the overall 33 items and on the each of the factors. Results indicated that the internal reliability for the overall scale was good; Cronbach's α =.85. Alpha coefficients for the factor IA (.90), FF (.90), PF (.85), and learning quality (.83) were found to be high, apart for the GP (.64), PI (.62), PA (.46), and SS (.34).

4. ANANYSIS AND RESULTS

The collected data consisted of a review of the student academic examination results in the learning contents. In addition, gathered from participants' responses to the survey. Quantitative data (closed-ended questions) and qualitative (open-ended questions) from the survey were analyzed using statistical analysis and a grounded theory method described in the following sections.

4.1 Descriptive Statistics

A majority (79%) of the respondents had 3-4 years of Facebook experience (mean= 3.39, SD= .11). One-third (38%) of them reported that they had 1-2 year of LINE experience (mean= .99, SD= .12). Almost everyone (98%) of them reported that they had less than a year of WeChat (mean=.64, SD= .04) and Hangouts experience (mean=.41, SD=.00) prior to the class. Most (82%) of the respondents reported that they used smart phones to access data while only a few students accessed data through their iPod touch (7%), and tablet (9%). The most popular place where students used mobile apps was home, with 75% accessing data frequently. Many (76%) of the respondents also reported that they used mobile apps outside classroom at campus frequently. Similarly, more than half (69%) of the respondents reported that they used mobile apps during commuting to and from school. The least popular place was shopping stores or restaurants. Among the key applications, respondents



had more friends on Facebook (mean= 503.78, SD= 57.49) than they do on LINE (mean= 53.91, SD= 7.75), WeChat (mean=35.11, SD= 8.45) and Hangouts (mean= .70). Regarding the frequency of mobile apps usage, Facebook was used frequently by most the students (95%). More than half of the respondents (60%) used LINE frequently. WeChat (14%) and Skype (27%) were the least used in their daily lives.

4.2 Research Question 1(closed-ended question): Evaluation of the iMASE Module

The learning assessments that participants carried out during the activities were evaluated. The following means of the three exams were found as follows. With the total score of each exam 100, the first exam scored 73.85, the second scored 82.45. At the end of module, all students completed the final exam: the mean was 80.92 out of 100. The results indicate that the module was successful.

4.3 Quantitative Research Question 2 (closed-ended question): Collaboration Factors

Research question two examined whether quality of teamwork learning experience is related to the online collaboration factors. The results revealed that five collaboration factors were positively correlated with each other and all five collaboration factors were significantly correlated with quality of learning experience. The highest correlation was found between IA and PA (r=.76), followed by GP and SS (r=.51) and IA and SS (r=.45). In addition, the highest correlation was found between quality of teamwork learning experience and SS (r=.59), followed by quality of teamwork learning experience and IA (r=.49), quality of teamwork learning experience and PF (r=.44). Table 1 illustrates the bivariate correlations between quality of teamwork learning experience and the online collaboration factors.

Table 1. Intercorrelations of the collaboration factors with quality of teamwork learning

					6
Factors	IA	GP	SS	PF	PA
IA					
GP	.22				
SS	.45**	.51**			
PF	.29*	.28*	.25		
PA	.76**	.13	.27	.17	
Quality of	.49**	.43**	.59**	.44**	.32*
Teamwork					

*p<.05; **p<.01

The findings were coherent with Buraphadeja & Kumnuanta (2011) who indicate that interaction between students in online learning environments provides an affective support for a sense of connectedness. To better understand the student attitudes toward online collaboration, each statement on the survey was examined. The mean scores and standard deviations of 7 factors of collaboration scale were ranked in Table 2. In terms of collaboration learning, the overall mean score across the 7 factors was 3.88, indicating positive agreement regarding their experience about class learning process. The top-ranked factor on the scale was PI (mean= 4.72), while the SS (3.50) was rated the lowest (mean= 3.50). The two highest-rated statements on the survey were "I felt recognized for what I know." (mean= 4.80) and "I felt recognized for what I need to learn." (mean= 4.77). On the other hand, the two lowest-rated statements were "I shared personal information through the mobile apps." (mean= 3.45) and "My team members shared their cultural information through the mobile apps." (mean= 3.50).

Rank	Factors	Mean	SD	
1	PI	4.72	.39	
2	PF	4.36	.75	
3	PA	3.66	.92	
4	GP	3.65	.71	
5	IA	3.63	.60	
6	FF	3.61	.71	
7	SS	3.50	.71	
Overall		3.88	.68	

4.4 Quantitative Research Question 3 (closed-ended question): Quality of Learning Experience

Hierarchical regression analysis was conducted to answer research question 3, exploring the explanation of quality of teamwork learning experience through the online collaboration factors. The results revealed that 5 extracted significant collaboration factors (IA, GP, SS, PF, and PA) contributed significantly to the explanation of quality of teamwork learning experience and accounted for 68% of the variance, F(5, 50)= 22.04, p<.001,



effect size (f^2) = .71, indicating that the linear combination of all 5 variables significantly accounted for variance in the dependent variable.

In addition, particularly, results showed that IA (β = .26, *p*< .05) significantly predicted quality of teamwork learning experience, as did SS (β = .40, *p*< .001), PF (β = .55, *p*< .001), and PA (β = .46, *p*< .05). Table 3 shows the summary of regression analysis for variables explanation quality of teamwork learning experience.

Table 3. Hierarchical	regression a	nalvsis summar	v for variables	predicting of	quality of	learning ex	(perience ((N=52)
racie et merarenea	. regression a	joid beninen.	, 101 , 41140100	preatening	quantity or		.perrenee ,	(1, 0, -)

Variable	В	SEB	β
PI (positive interdependence)	.11	.19	.07
IA (individual accountability)	.28	.14	.26*
GP (group processing)	.15	.12	.17
SS (social skills)	.36	.13	.40**
FF (face-to-face interaction)	.08	.11	.10
PF (prompt feedback)	.44	.10	.55**
PA (perceived ability)	.31	.14	.46*

*p<.05; **p<.001

The mean scores and standard deviations of the subscales of learning quality scale were ranked in Table 4. The overall mean score across the 4 learning quality subscale was 3.74, indicating positive agreement about their quality of learning in a collaborative online activity. The highest-rated subscale on the survey was confidence (mean= 4.28). In contrast, the lowest-rated one was satisfaction (mean= 3.20). To better understand how students perceived their learning quality, each item on the survey was examined. The highest-rated statements on the survey was "I felt confident using the mobile apps on this course" in subscale confidence (mean= 4.29), and "Overall, I felt this experience in this course was useful" in subscale usefulness (mean= 4.08). On the other hand, the lowest-rated statements on the survey was "I felt excited using the mobile apps on this course" in subscale motivation (mean= 3.45) and "Overall, I'm very satisfied using Google+ Hangouts for my group project" in subscale satisfaction (mean= 3.00).

Rank	Subscale	Mean	SD
1	Confidence	4.28	.92
2	Usefulness	3.83	.76
3	Motivation	3.64	.85
4	Satisfaction	3.20	1.20
Overall		3.74	.88

4.5 Qualitative Research Questions 4 (open-ended question)

When students were invited to provide comments for what they liked or disliked about the learning module on this course, they listed a wide range of comments as the qualitative data for this study. Glaser and Strauss' (1967) grounded theory was followed as a method for coding the qualitative data. Grounded theory method is the most powerful qualitative method in the social sciences. As defined by Glaser (1978), grounded theory methodology explicitly involves "generating theory and doing social research (as) two parts of the same process" (p. 2). The key idea of this method is to discover a phenomenon by conceptualizing and categorizing the key elements of the phenomenon, and then generating and forming a theoretical explanation of that phenomenon (Strauss and Corbin, 1990). Thus, the researcher analyzed and categorized the similar data from the open-ended questions into different phenomenological themes.

After carefully read the answers several times, 192 and 47 discernibly different answers were scanned and coded for the positive and negative aspects respectively. The answers were then categorized into different themes as reported in Figure 2 (positive aspects) and Figure 3 (negative aspects). In the phenomenological process, five themes emerged which were interpreted by the researcher as: peer interaction, motivation, computer skills, prompt feedback, and relationship with teacher for the positive aspects; four themes emerged which were interpreted by the researcher as: peer interaction, computer skills, and privacy for the negative aspects. In the categorization process, the similar answers were sorted together and 15 categories formed for the positive aspects (Table 5) and 10 for the negative aspects (Table 6). There were nine missing answers for the negative aspects and many short answers from the participants when asked what they disliked about it. For this reason, there were less answers and categories for the negative aspects. Table 3 and Table 4 also described the frequency of these answers mentioned by each participant.





Figure 2. Diagram of the ground theory of analysis for the qualitative part of the positive aspects of the learning module



Figure 3. Diagram of the ground theory of analysis for the qualitative part of the negative aspects of the learning module

	Category	Participant	Frequency %	Total %	Theme
1.	Interacting	4	2.08	42.71%	Peer Interaction
2.	Information sharing	35	18.23		
3.	Project collaborating	30	15.63		
4.	Interpersonal relations	13	6.77		
5.	Useful	9	4.69	12.50%	Motivation
6.	Cares from others	7	3.64		
7.	Self-esteem	8	4.17		
8.	Free calls	22	11.46	17.19%	Computer Skills
9.	Stickers sharing	11	5.73		-
10.	Productivity	17	8.85	21.35%	Prompt Feedback
11.	Peer feedback	7	3.65		
12.	Teacher feedback	9	4.68		
13.	Punctuality	8	4.17		
14.	Link with teacher	7	3.65	6.25%	Student-Teacher
15.	Appointment making	5	2.60		Relationship

Table 6. Qualitative data of	the negative asp	pects of	quality	of teamwork	in iMASE act	ivities
a	n		I	<u> </u>	TT 1.0/ TT	1

	Category	Participant	Frequency %	Total %	Theme
1.	Different levels of engagement	3	6.38	44.68%	Peer Interaction
2.	No common agreement	4	8.51		
3.	Too much time spent on social	14	29.79		
4.	No confidence in communication	2	4.26	12.77%	Motivation



5.	Lack of mutual motive	2	4.26		
6.	No respect	2	4.26		
7.	Difficulties of setting up groups on apps	2	4.26	6.38%	Computer Skills
8.	No tutor teaching apps	1	2.13		-
9.	Lack of privacy	15	31.91	36.17%	Privacy
10.	More spam	2	4.26		

Positive comments from students

In the qualitative section of survey, when asked about what students liked most in an iMASE module, their comments include (1) peer support, (2) instructor encouragement, (2) self-esteem, (3) clear communication, (4) prompt feedback from both peers and instructor, (5) high frequency of communication, (6) use of free VoIP calls over the Internet, and (7) information and resources sharing. Obviously, participants enjoyed working together with a group, sharing with opinions and experiences through the communication on mobile apps. For example, S3 commented, "I can hand in a decent quality of homework while working in a group. My group members always help to correct and check before we hand in our assignment"; S24 also stated, "communicating with others while working in groups help me to think more broadly"; S38 reported, "It's more efficient working with my classmates than by myself". More importantly, many participants (S7, S11, S18, S40) reported that they felt great when their ideas helped contribute to the group's shared goal. In addition, positive relationship between student and instructor was also built in online collaborative activities. Interestingly, participants stated that in this learning module, they could get to know their instructor and build a positive link which they never thought about to get such close to a college professor in reality. For example, S5 said, "I've never imaging that I can chat with my professor on Facebook"; S8 mentioned, "having a conversation with my professor on LINE is just so cool".

Mobile apps provide immediacy and one-on-one contact in an active learning cycle. Students appreciated for the prompt feedback they received both from their peers and instructor. S2, and 15 others delivered their greatfulness to their peers and instructor for solving their problem immediately. Twenty-one students stated that they can use free voice call feature on Facebook, LINE or WeChat which save a lot on phone bills. Among the positive aspects from the qualitative data, regarding the seen feature of the apps in Facebook and LINE, the participants stated that they can be able to track whether their peer(s) have read that message or not, which left their peers(s) no excuse for not attending the meeting or any missing tasks. S18 reported, "with the seen feature, it's more convenient to arrange a group meeting". Similarly, S29 stated, "... now no one can have an excuse saying that they did not see the meeting announcement".

Negative comments from students

In contrast, when asked about what students disliked most about the iMASE module, their comments included (1) lack of common agreement, (2) different levels of participations, (3) much time spent on social, (4) lack of respect from their peers, (5) technical problems, and (6) lack of privacy. Some students (S28, S31, S43) commented working in groups just gave some particular people a free ride, similarly, some other students (S37, S41) reported that it took too much time to achieve a common goal. While mobile apps give people power to share and keep each other connected, they can turn themselves from a helpful tool to a time waster. Students (S9, S21) mentioned that they waste a lot of time on unnecessary conversation with their peers on LINE. Besides, S14 and S47 commented that they spend too much time on surfing Facebook. Student 6 commented, "I'm addicted to texting and surfing my friends' status on Facebook. I cannot help myself to get away from it. I have to check it so many times a day which really wastes a lot of my time". Furthermore, regarding the seen feature, a lot of students (S1, S25, S36, S38, S21) complained that Facebook and LINE's seen feature dropped them in trouble when they were trying to ignore someone and he/she knows about it.

5. DISCUSSIONS AND CONCLUSION

The current research provided the participants perspectives of an iMASE module, proposing collaborative activities in an online mobile e-learning environment. The overall results indicated that the participants improved their learning achievement through a high frequency of communication with peers and instructor in an iMASE module which support findings of previous study of Tsay and Brady (2010). Based on this current research, 5 collaboration factors should be simultaneously considered in the development of current e-learning system: individual accountability, group processing, social skills, prompt feedback, and perceived ability. Results indicated that students' sense of community and connectedness in the learning environments enhanced their learning which provided positive supports for previous study (Buraphadeja & Kumnuanta, 2011). In addition, the sense of own value to the learning community created an important characteristic link to the perception of the learning experience. Specifically, individual accountability (as students feel their efforts can help their group achieve their common goal), as well as social skills (as student feel they are able to enhance



their interpersonal communication skills) provided the best explanation to predict the quality of learning experience. These two variables accounted for a 38% of the variance. The results were consistent with the previous studies that technology-based learning environments play an important role in supporting social skills (Hassan, Fong, & Idrus, 2011; Minocha, 2009; Woo & Reeves, 2008) and individual accountability (Caspi & Blau, 2008; Guo & Stevens, 2011; Resta & De Hoyos, 2005). In fact, the results also indicated that in addition to individual accountability, students also needed to perceive that they were competent to their group. That is, because Web social setting where students' abilities can be recognized and their beliefs about their self-worth can be promoted. This finding supported self-worth motivation theory (Covington, 2000; Csikszentmihalyi & Schneider, 2000), in which the degree of self-worth learners possess motivate learners to do well and success on tasks at hand.

Learning is a social activity (Chen & Bryer, 2012; Grodecka, Wild, & Kieslinger, 2009; Vygotsky, 1978) and interaction is the primary element in social activity as the process of learning (Woo & Reeves, 2008). The true alternative for foster interaction with others in the class is a small class lecture. The Web 3.0 has afforded individuals the opportunity to connect and communicate at almost no cost at anywhere and anytime (Borovik, 2011; Libert, 2010). The results from qualitative data also indicated that they indeed liked the prompt feedback they received from the peers and instructor which was also consistent to the results from qualitative data. The results indicated that the quality of students' learning experiences could be predicted by the quality of feedback students gave and received. This finding corroborated the previous study (Gaytan, 2005) which indicated that "immediate, ongoing, and detail-oriented feedback assists students in better understanding the material and more effectively applying what they have learned" (p28). Feedback should be given frequently as Brinko (1993) from social constructivism suggested.

The results of this study aligned with other studies conducted in online collaborative environments (Buraphadeja & Kumnuanta, 2011; Nam & Zellner, 2011). The results of the current study also corresponded to conclusion by other researchers that the social skills (Chickering & Gamson, 1987; McGowan & Graham, 2009) and motivation (Csikszentmihalyi & Schneider, 2000) were significant factors to predict quality of learning in technology-mediated instruction. Furthermore, the qualitative data revealed that students liked the information sharing and the collaboration in group-projects via mobile apps. This finding was in concert with previous studies (Caspi & Blau, 2008; Guo & Stevens, 2011; Resta & De Hoyos, 2005), which advocated that students' information sharing influences their perceived quality of learning outcomes. One negative aspect from the qualitative data to be noted for further course design was the privacy of the Web. Participants reported a lot about their privacy concern about the processes experienced during the use of mobile online activities.

Evaluating the learning module in this study was undoubtedly useful, but complex. While some participants felt the seen feature in Facebook and LINE was useful, some felt this seen feature put them in a no privacy box. The participants often mentioned being seen as situation of negative aspects of Facebook and LINE. Actually, the seen feature can be removed, but obviously, the students did not know how. If this is the primary reason for the students as a privacy concern, it is likely to be solved easily and efficiently. Therefore, the researchers can decide whether to release this knowledge ahead of the study for future research.

As a result of this study, mobile social networking apps in collaborative learning appear valued by students. Results suggest that e-cooperative learning with mobile networking apps promoted a social constructivist learning environment in which makes the need for the newly acquired knowledge evident and perceived as useful to the students. Apart from learning, they developed their technology skills and confidence in the usage of multimedia and Web apps that is one of the important elements in this 21st century learning environment.

5.1 Limitations

While this study provides importance guidance toward a more holistic framework for the integration of collaborative activities in a mobile assisted learning environment that is based on constructivism knowledge, it must be noted that this study is just one preliminary investigation. All students voluntarily completed the survey were enrolled in the same class, so the students represent a distinct population within the university. As such, the sample was very homogeneous and may not be representative of all the university students. To be able to extract further, similar studies need to be done in different classes across semesters or academic years and across different colleges/universities involving different demographics. Another limitation is the instructor's computer skills and characteristics. The high level of degree instructor involved with the students after school hours may be the major cause for strengthening the link between students and instructor. The instructor's passionate and high abilities in designing a set of mobile learning activities may be the cause for fostering learning engagement.



REFERENCES

- Anderson, T. (2008). Towards a theory of online learning. In T. Anderson (Ed). The Theory and Practice of Online Learning (2nd ed), pp. 45-74. Athabasca, AB: AU Press.
- Bauersfeld, H. (1995). The structuring of structures: Development and function of mathematizing as a social practice. In L. R. Stegge & J. Gales (Eds.), *Constructivism in Education* (pp. 137-158). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Borovik, A. (2011). Information technology in university? Level mathematics teaching and learning: A mathematician's point of view. Research in Learning Technology, 19(2), 73-85.
- Brinko, K. T. (1993). The practice of giving feedback to improve teaching: What is effective? The Journal of Higher Education, 64(5), 574-593.
- Bruner, J. (1987). Prologue to the English Edition. In R. W. Rieber & A. S. Carton (Eds), *The Collected Works* of L. S. Vygotsky, Volume 1, Problems of General Psychology. New York, NY: Plenum.
- Buraphadeja, V., & Kumnuanta, J. (2011). Enhancing the sense of community and learning experience using self-paced instruction and peer tutoring in a computer-laboratory course. Australasia Journal of Education Technology, 27(8), 1338-1355.
- Caspi, A., & Blau, I. (2008). Online discussion groups: The relationship between social presence and perceived learning. Social Psychology of Education, 11, 323-346.
- Chen, B., & Bryer, T. (2012). Investigating instructional strategies for using social media in formal and informal learning. International Review of Research in Open & Distance Learning, 13(1), 87-104.
- Chickering, A., & Gamson, Z. (1987). Seven principles for good practice in undergraduate education. AAHE Bulletin, 39(7), 3-7.
- Covington, M. V. (2000). Goal theory, motivation, and school achievement: An integrative review. Annual Review Psychology, 51, 171-200.
- Csikszentmihalyi, M., & Schneider, B. (2000). *Becoming adult: how teenagers prepare for the world of work*. New York, NY: Basic Books.
- Doolittle, P.E., & Hicks, D. (2003). Constructivism as a theoretical foundation for the use of technology in social studies. Theory and Research in Social Education, 31(1), 72-104.
- Effandi, Z., & Zanaton, I. (2007). Promoting cooperative learning in science and mathematics education: A Malaysia perspective. Eurasia Journal of Mathematics, Science & Technology Education, 3(1), 35-39.
- Gaytan, J. (2005). Effective assessment techniques for online instruction. Information Technology, Learning, and Performance Journal, 23(1), 25-34.
- Gerstein, J. (2013). Education 3.0 and the pedagogy (andragogy, heutagogy) of mobile learning. *User Generated Education*. Available: http://usergeneratededucation.wordpress.com/2013/03/22/schools-are-doing-education-1-0-talking-about-doing-education-2-0-when-they-should-be-planning-education-3-0/
- Gielen, S., Peeters, E., Dochy, F., Ongthena, P., & Struyven, K. (2010). Improving the effectiveness of peer feedback for learning. Learning and Instruction, 20, 304-315.
- Glaser, B. G. (1978). *Theoretical Sensitivity: Advances in the methodology of grounded theory*. Mill Valley, CA: Sociological.
- Glaser, B. G., & Strauss, A. (1967). The discovery of grounded theory and applying grounded theory. In N. K. Denzin & Y. S. Lincoln (Eds.), *The American tradition in qualitative research*, Vol. 2, (pp. 229-243). London, Thousand Oaks: Sage.
- Grodecka, K., Wild, F., & Kieslinger, B. (2009). How to use social software in higher education. *iCamp Handbook*. Available: <u>http://www.icamp.eu/wp-content/uploads/2009/01/icamp-handbook-web.pdf</u>
- Guo, Z., & Stevens, K. J. (2011). Factors influencing perceived usefulness of wiki for group collaborative learning by first year students. Australasian Journal of Educational Technology, 27(2), 221-242.
- Hassan, M. A., Fong, S. F., & Idrus, R. M. (2011). Impact of e-cooperative learning modules on interpersonal communication skills. In A. Zaharim et al. (Eds.), *Recent Researches in Education* (pp. 25-30). Penang, Malaysia: WSEAS.
- Hounsell, D. (2007). 'Towards more sustainable feedback to students.' In: Boud, D. & Falchikov, N. (Eds.), Rethinking Assessment in Higher Education. Learning for the Longer Term (pp. 101-113). London: Routledge.
- Johnson, D. W., & Johnson, R. T. (1975). *Learning Together and Alone, Cooperation, Competition, and Individualization*. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Johnson, D. W., & Johnson, R. T. (1994). *Joining Together: Group theory and group skills* (5th Ed.). Boston, MA: Allyn & Bacon.
- Johnson, D. W., Johnson, R. T., & Smith, K. (1991). Active learning: Cooperation in the classroom. Edina, MN: Interaction.
- Kan, S. O. (2011). Cooperative learning environment with Web 2.0 tool e-portfolios. European Journal of Social Sciences, 21(1), 17-27.



Kempler, T. M., Linnenbrink, E. A., Zusho, A., & Maehr, M. L. (2002). Encouraging adaptive patterns of learning in a collaborative groups: The role of social and motivational processes. Paper presented at the *Annual Meeting of the American Educational Research Association*, New Orleans, LA.

- Kirschner, P. A., Sweller, J., & Clark, R. E. (2006). Why minimal guidance during instruction does not work: An analysis of the future of constructivist, discovery, problem-based, experiential, and inquiry-based teaching. Educational Psychology, 41, 75-86.
- Libert, B. (2010). Social Nation: How to Harness the Power of Social Media to Attract Customers, Motivate Employees, and Grow Your Business. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley.
- McGowan, W., & Graham, C. (2009). Factors contributing to improved teaching performance. Innovative Higher Education, 34(3), 161-171.
- Minocha, S. (2009). A Study of the Effective Use of Social Software to Support Student Learning and Engagement. JISC, University of Bristol.
- Nam, C. W., & Zellner, R. D. (2011). The relative effects of positive interdependence and group processing on student achievement and attitude in online cooperative learning. Computers & Education, 56(3), 689-699.
- Nicol, D. J. (2010). Assessment for learner self-regulation: Enhancing achievement in the first year using learning technologies. Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education, 34(3), 335-352.
- Nicol, D., & Macfarlane-Dick, D. (2006). Formative assessment and self-regulated learning: A model and seven principles of good practice. Studies in Higher Education, 31(2), 199-218.
- O'Reilly, T. (2005). <u>What is Web 2.0: Design patterns and business models for the next generation of software</u> (Online). Available: <u>http://oreilly.com/web2/archive/what-is-web-20.html</u>
- Pierco, D., Devaney, L., Stansbury, M., Carter, D., & Zwang, J. (2011). STAR Education's Guides to Mobile Devices: Everything you need to know about mobile tech and school. Bethesda, MA: eSchool Media.
- Pokomy, H., & Pickford, P. (2010). Complexity, cues and relationships: Student perceptions of feedback. Active Learning in Higher Education, 11(1), 21-30.
- Resta, P., & De Hoyos, M. L. (2005). Peer assessment and individual accountability in online collaborative learning. In G. Richards (Ed.), Proceedings of World Conference on E-Learning in Corporate, Government, Healthcare, and Higher Education, 2005 (pp. 2355-2361). Chesapeake, VA: AACE.
- Sadler, D. R. (1989). Formative assessment and the design of instructional systems. Instructional Science, 18(2), 119-144.
- Shute, V. T. (2008). Focus on formative feedback. Review of Educational Research, 78(1), 153-189.
- Strauss, A. L., & Corbin, J. M. (1990). Basics of qualitative research: Grounded theory procedures and techniques. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- Strokes, S. P. (2003). Temperament, learning styles, and demographic predictors of college student satisfaction in a digital learning environment. Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the Mid-South Educational Research Association, Biloxi, MS.
- Tsay, M., & Brady, M. (2010). A case study of cooperative learning and communication pedagogy: Does working in teams make a difference? Journal of the Scholarship of Teaching and Learning, 10(2), 78-89.
- Vygotsky, L. S. (1978). Mind in Society. Cambridge, MA: Harvard UP.
- Wells, G. (1999). *Dialogic inquiry: Towards a sociocultural practice and theory of education*. Cambridge: Cambridge UP.

Woo, Y., & Reeves, T. (2008). Interaction in asynchronous Web-based learning environments: Strategies supported by educational research. Journal of Asynchronous Learning Networks, 12(3-4), 179-194.

- Yorke, M. (2003). Formative assessment in higher education: Moves towards theory and the enhancement of pedagogic practice. Higher Education, 45, 477-501.
- Zerihun, Z., Beishuizen, J., & Os, W. V. (2012). Student learning experience as indicator of teaching quality. Journal of Educational Assessment, Evaluation and Accountability, 24(2), 99-111.



DEVELOPING OF INDICATORS OF AN E-LEARNING BENCHMARKING MODEL FOR HIGHER EDUCATION INSTITUTIONS

Jirasak Sae-Khow Faculty of Education, Suratthani Rajabhat University 272 Moo 9 Surat-Nasan Road, Khuntaleay Muang Suratthani Suratthani 84100, Thailand E-mail: jirasak_cu@hotmail.com, jeejee99@gmail.com

ABSTRACT

This study was the development of e-learning indicators used as an e-learning benchmarking model for higher education institutes. Specifically, it aimed to: 1) synthesize the e-learning indicators; 2) examine content validity by specialists; and 3) explore appropriateness of the e-learning indicators. Review of related literature included textbooks and research paper and its content was synthesized until 7 indicators were obtained: institute/organization, curricular program/teaching and instructional design, resource/technology/information technology, teaching/learning, learner, faculty and supporting personnel, and measurement/evaluation. Then, the obtained indicators were assessed by specialists based on content validity and appropriateness for further competency comparing.

Keywords: e-learning indicator, benchmarking, e-learning, e-learning benchmarking model

INTRODUCTION

There is continual expansion of e-learning operation and development in many higher education institutes. All of these institutes have been accelerating on the e-learning operation to cope with competition and rapid changes. This is influenced by the report on university ranking of various organizations. In fact, on-line educational institute ranking and quality e-learning assurance are a driving force for higher education institutes to compete one another both at an international and local level. It can be said that the advantage on institutional reputation, research achievement, motivation of students, service users, concerned personnel, public recognition, competency comparison are ways for the development of quality in operation of an organization (Robare, 2000). This can lead to changes of innovation and advantage in competition. Competency comparison is one method employed for self-assessment of general educational institutes for development in order to cope with satisfaction, expectation, and needs of the public (Jackson and Lund, 2006: p.5).

The comparison of e-learning competency is a continual and systematic development process and quality examining on e-learning operation of an organization. It aims to find an operational method and an operational guideline from famous organizations recognized by others. This can be done through learning form excellent practice methods by the standard determination of indicators (benchmark). Then, it is compared with the last indicators and obtained results are improved on quality of e-learning operation based on process, product, and service. This method is employed in the European Union, Australia, U.S.A., and New Zealand. The researcher investigates concepts, competency comparison, e-learning operational process, quality e-learning assurance, and an e-learning benchmarking models abroad, i.e. ACODE (Australia), BENVIC CHIRON MASSIVE and E-xcellence (The European Union), eMM (New Zealand), etc.

The comparison of e-learning competency can be understood as an exploration of operational outcomes of a successful e-learning agency of e-learning leaders. An important thing for the investigation of the operational method by comparing an institute or our agency with others is the construction of e-learning indicators (benchmark). This aims to obtain all standard criteria related to the e-learning operation in which it consists of two main parts: 1) comparison (benchmark) based on a specific aspect and 2) learning exchange on best practices of those who perform better than us. It is a process arisen after the comparison aiming at the improvement of our agency or organization. Indeed, it is the development of indicator (benchmark) which will serve as empirical basis for the standard of e-learning competency comparison for higher education institutes (Office of Strategies Management, 2003).

The obtained e-learning benchmarking model in this study can be used for developing and improving e-learning operation in higher education institutes. Besides, higher education institutes can indicate its strengths and weaknesses on strategic planning for operation, quality assurance, scope of success, convenience facilitation in organization, increased efficiency in managerial administration as well as service improvement (Smith, 2011; Choy, 2007).



LITERATURE REVIEW

E-learning Indicators Based on a synthesis of e-learning indicators, it was found that there are 7 indicators of e-learning as follows:

1. Institute and Organization This refers to an institute or organization having e-learning operation with clear e-learning management in terms of: operational policy and strategy; clear e-learning management; continual e-learning strategy management and development; good organization culture supporting its task operation; and, importantly, continual quality improvement and development (WCET, 2001; IHEP, 2000; ACODE, 2007; CHEA, 2002; Thapanee, 2009; Lockhart & Lacy, 2002; Khan, 2001; Haroff & Valentine, 2006; EADTU, 2001). In addition, the institute and organization have organizational management which includes clear role/function facilitation as well as responsibilities of personnel in various sections which all of these are included in the operational manual. Also, there is the integration of collaboration among various agencies in the organization (Bates, 2000; Lockhart & Lacy, 2002; Khan, 2001; Haroff & Valentine, 2006; Deepwell, 2007). Importantly, the organization must have a management system to assist decision-making of administrators. Besides, they must possess leadership with the concentration in e-learning management of their organization. Lastly, it must have a law supporting the e-learning management (CHIRON, 2006; Frydenberg, 2002; The United Kingdom's education. 2003).

2. Curricular Program and Instructional Design Importantly, curricular programs and instructional design must always be improved, focusing on up-to-date learning content and consistency with learning objectives. Besides, teachers and learners should take part in curricular program improvement/development which must meet needs of learners. It must have clear curricular structures, goals of the curricular program, and course outline covering all learning content which is consistent with outcomes of educational facilitation (IHEP, 2000; Frydentberg, 2002; Lockhart & Lacy, 2002; CHEA, 2002; Osika, 2004; CHIRON, 2006; CHEA, 2011; Sloan C, 2009; The United Kingdom's education. 2003). Aside from curricular program, the indicators also concern with teaching/learning design. Hence, to design a child-centered teaching/learning program based on individual differences and co-task working, concepts and theories related to learning of a learner and flexibility must be taken into consideration (Bates, 2000; Lee & Dziuban, 2002; Khan, 2001).

3. Resources, Technology, and Information Technology This indicator is essential since it concerns with learning resources, basic technological structures, and provision of information technology services. Thus, an elearning institute needs to have enough modern basic structures which cover services (Bates, 2000; CHEA, 2001; Moore & Kearsley, 2005; Bacsich Paul, 2005; Thapanee, 2009). In addition, it must have a resources center supporting effective teaching/ learning facilitation. Learners can access services rapidly, conveniently, and with flexibility, (Bates, 2000; Osika, 2004; Moore & Kearsley, 2005; Khan, 2001; European Association of Distance Teaching Universities, 2001; Bacsich Paul, 2006; Thapanee, 2009). This includes data reservation and good security (Lockhart & Lacy, 2002; Bacsich Paul, 2005 Deepwell, 2007).

4. Teaching/Learning Process This process occurs when a learner is learning through e-learning. In fact, it should have agreements and suggestions about teaching/learning methods before learning through e-learning (WCET, 2001; IHEP, 2000; Bates, 2000). Besides, it should have diverse learning sources (Sloan C, 2009b; Johnstone, 2005; The United Kingdom's education, 2003) in order that a learner has an alternative of learning sources. Not only this, teacher and learner should always have interaction to each other with rapid responses. The teaching/learning process should place the importance on individual differences in learning potential (WCET, 2001; IHEP, 2000; Bates 2000; CHIRON, 2006). Also, it needs to always have research on e-learning teaching/learning (Haroff & Valentine, 2006; Institute of Learning and Research Technology, 2003).

5. Learner A learner is essential to e-learning. It is a question how the institute supports a learner to have the occurrence of learning and be able to finish his course. The indicators have the following details: Training a learner on various aspects and guidance before learning (Lockhart & Lacy, 2002; ACODE, 2007); support a learner on information technology using for effective communication and learning (WCET, 2001; Frydenberg, 2002; CHEA, 2011; Osika, 2004; Channey et.al., 2009; European Commission DG Education and Culture, 2002; Modeling Advice and Support Services to Integrate the Virtual Component in Higher Education, 2004; Johnstone, 2005; Thapanee, 2009). Moreover, giving advice, academic/professional assistance, and provision of convenience to learner are important (Lockhart & Lacy, 2002; Moore & Kearsley, 2005). This also includes motivation and learning concentration of learner (Sloan C, 2009a; Osika, 2004). All of these can help learner be successful in learning.

6. Faculty (Teachers) and Supporting Personnel They are indicators promoting effective learning through e-learning. They often attend training for an increase in knowledge about new technology and effective



operation (Lee & Dziuban, 2002; CHEA, 2011; OBHE, 2006; Bacsich Paul, 2006). Nowadays, the standard on e-learning practice of faculties and supporting personnel (Sloan C, 2009a; Bacsich Paul, 2006) places the importance on the problem of academic knowledge copying and it should have legal measure prevention.

7. Measurement and Evaluation This indicator should have diverse learning achievement tests and learning evaluations in accordance with: 1) the learning standard (WCET, 2001; IHEP, 2000; Lee & Dziuban, 2002; Lockhart & Lacy, 2002; Institute for Learning and Research Technology, 2003; Bacsich Paul, 2006); 2) curriculum evaluation in accordance with the standard of curricular program and operation of the curricular program (Bacsich Paul, 2006; Haroff & Valentine, 2006; Thapanee, 2009); 3) evaluation of faculties and supporting personnel (WCET, 2001; IHEP, 2000; Lee & Dziuban, 2002; Bacsich Paul, 2006); 4) evaluation of communication and provision of technological services (Osika, 2004; CHIRON, 2006; OBHE, 2006); and 5) evaluation and revision for the system improvement (WCET, 2001; IHEP, 2000; Bates, 2000; Institute for Learning and Research Technology, 2003; OBHE, 2006; Bacsich Paul, 2006; Johnstone, 2005 Thapanee, 2009.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Instrument

In this study, research instruments included: 1) item objective congruence (IOC) value consideration form; 2) questionnaires from experts to explore content validity of e-learning indicators.

Population and Sample Group

There were three IOC experts, 12 content validity experts, and 12 experts considering appropriateness of the elearning indicators. All of them were university lecturers and doctor's degree holders. Besides, they had 10 years of services and above on teaching, research, and e-learning services.

Data analysis

The statistical tools used in this study were mean and standard deviation.

RESULTS OF THE STUDY

It was found that the IOC value of the questionnaire was equivalent to 0.85. Table 1 shows content validity examined by 12 experts and appropriateness of e-learning indicators (Appendix A)

Tuble 11 Devels of content values appropriateness of c featining indicators							
Indicator	Content validity	Appropriateness	Description	No. of indicators			
1. Institution and Organization	0.93	4.63	Very highly appropriate = 12 Highly appropriate = 3	15			
2. Curriculum and Instructional Design	0.93	4.68	Very highly appropriate = 14 Highly appropriate = 4	18			
3. Resources Technology and Information Technology	0.90	4.70	Very highly appropriate = 12 Highly appropriate = 1	13			
4. Learning and Teaching	0.92	4.73	Very highly appropriate $= 11$	11			
5. Learner	0.68	4.79	Very highly appropriate = 7	7			
6. Faculties and Supporting personnel	0.80	4.71	Very highly appropriate = 5	5			
7. Measurement and Evaluation	0.94	4.88	Very highly appropriate = 8	8			

Table 1. Levels of content validity and appropriateness of e-learning indicators

DISCUSSIONS

Based on the development of e-learning indicators used as a measuring standard (benchmark) by exploring concepts, theories related to distance learning, online learning, and quality of online teaching, the relationship and consistency of the 7 e-learning indicators which could support results of the study were as follows:

1. Institute and organization were important in e-learning. It was supported on policy preparation by the administrative section for clear operation. There was a guideline for concrete management and clear task determination of all concerned personnel. The institute or organization received operational budgets and institutional support could help the e-learning operation be successful. Besides, the institute should seriously support and place the importance on e-learning operation continually (Lockhart & Lacy, 2002; IHEP, 2000). This conformed to a study of Shelton Kaye (2010) on a quality scorecard for the administration of online education programs. He found that the indicator on institutional support comprises 4 sub-indicators. Kanokporn, Chanthana, and Rungpak (2010) stated about the success indicators of the e-learning instructional



process for higher education institutes in Thailand that variables on success of the e-learning instructional system consists of institute and management comprising indicators, philosophy, vision, mission, student admission, system of faculty/supporting personnel support, support and development system, learner service, budget, basic structure, and management/design system.

2. Curricular program and instructional design The improvement of curricular program was clear, modern and based on learners/learning content which was consistent with the standard as set by the supervision agency. Besides, it must conform to an idea of the Institute for Higher Education Policy (IHEP, 2000) which focuses on course development as the determiner of quality online curricular program. The course structure indicated quality of data, e.g. readiness of a curricular program. For instructional design, all aspects of e-learning must be taken into consideration, e.g. screen design and content which must be consistent with the instructional design concept (Khan, 2001). Instructional design/course included convenient technology and assessment (Lockhart & Lacy, 2002). This conformed to a study of Shelton Kaye (2010) based on two indicators: course development and instructional design. It consisted of 12 sub-indicators and the course structure consisted of 12 sub-indicators of e-learning which places the importance on instructional design. It comprises course indicators which are consistent with goals of the institute, learning interaction, care-taking system instructional strategies.

3. Resources, Technology, and Information Technology Provision of adequate and modern resources as well as readiness of technological basic structures and information technology to faculty and learners helps smooth communication, assistance, information retrieval, and other supports. Therefore, resources, technology, and information technology can be an indicator making e-learning be successful. In other words, technology is essential for the assurance of quality, appropriateness, and reliability. Besides, the Higher Education committee emphasizes on the readiness of basic structures, equipment, and instructional system (Higher Education committee, 2005). This is particularly on the dimension of e-learning technology and basic structure planning of both hardware and software (Khan, 2001). Thus, it conformed to a study of Chanthanarungpak (2010) and Shelton Kaye (2010) which found that indicators on media and technology comprise structure and instructional media system, instructional quality, media production and development, teaching and learning and indicators of technology support.

4. Instructional Process e-learning is a learning from in a learner must learn by himself. A systematic instructional process helps reduce problems in learning. The following were included in e-learning: suggestions before learning through e-learning; interaction between teacher and learner; construction of online society; and continual development of instructional research for effective instructional process. This conformed to an idea of Bates which focuses on teaching and learning in e-learning (Bates, 2000). In addition, Institute for Higher Education Policy (2000) claimed that teaching and learning activities needs to have responses between teacher and learner during the instructional process and together with on-time reflection. It also conformed to a study of Shelton Kaye (2010) which found that the instructional process comprises 5 sub-indicators.

5. Learner Learner was important in e-learning. Besides, support, training, assistance, counseling as well as motivation and attempt could help learner complete his education. The learner support was the consideration of data type form which the learner obtained from learning, needs for learning, learning behavior control, and various services. Online program should be a tool corpus which could be accessible by learner, e.g. frequently asked question in order that the learner could find an answer. This was because online learners wanted to be successful in learning (IHEP, 2000). It confirmed to a study of Shelton Kaye (2010) which found that the learner support comprises 17 sub-indicators.

6. Faculty and Supporting Personnel Both of them were important in e-learning because they needed to be knowledgeable and skillful in e-learning operation. It was essential that they always attend a training for new technology perception. Having an operational standard of faculty and supporting personnel had an effect on effective e-learning operation. The faculty support which included prepared data sources for e-learning development and training were important (IHEP, 2000; CHEA, 2011; Osika, 2004; Chaney et.al. 2009). This conformed to a study of Shelton Kaye (2010) which found that the faculty support comprises 6 sub-indicators.

7. Measurement and Evaluation It was an important component of e-learning used for the assessment of e-learning operation and measurement of learning achievement. Results of the assessment were used as empirical basis for the improvement and development of e-learning. This conformed to the concept of evaluation and assessment of e-learning in which there was the assessment of learning achievement, instruction, and learning environment (Khan, 2001; IHEP, 2000). This included a survey on satisfaction with field of study, basic structures, and e-learning environment (The Sloan Consortium, 2009b; Chaney et.al. 2009; Shelton Kaye, 2010).



This also conformed to a study of Shelton Kaye (2010) which found that the evaluation and assessment indicator comprises 11-indicators. Besides, Chanthanarungpak (2010) found that the indicator on successful e-learning in the assessment indicator comprises the curricular program assessment indicator.

CONCLUSIONS

Regarding outcomes of the development of an e-learning benchmark model for higher education institutes based on opinions of the experts, it was found that there were 7 indicators: 1) institute and organization (15 sub-indicators); 2) curricular program an instructional design (18 sub-indicators); 3) resources, technology and information technology (13 sub-indicators); 4) instructional process (11 sub-indicators); 5) learner (7 sub-indicators); 6) faculty and supporting personnel (5 sub-indicators); and 7) measurement and evaluation (8 sub-indicators). The experts perceived that all indicators had a high to highest level of appropriateness. All of the obtained indicators could be used as a criterion (benchmark) in the form of an e-learning benchmark model for higher education institutes.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The support of this work by the Office of the Higher Education Commission, Thailand through a grant in the program "Strategic Scholarships for Frontier Research Network for the Ph.D. Program, Thai Doctoral degree" is gratefully acknowledged.

REFERENCES

- Australasian Council on Open, Distance and E-Learning. 2007. ACODE benchmarks for e-learning in universities and guidelines for use. [Online]. Available from: http://www.acode.edu.au/benchmarks.php (September 26, 2013)
- Bacsich Paul. 2006. The relevance of the MIT90s framework to benchmarking e-learning. Matic Media Ltd.
- Bates, A. W. 2000. Managing technological change: Strategies for college and university leaders. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Chaney, B. H., Eddy, J. M., Dorman, S. M., Glessner, L. L., Green, B. L., & Lara-Alecio, R. 2009. "A primer on quality indicators of distance education." Society for Public Health Education, 10(2), 222-231.
- Chanthanarungpak, K. 2010. Developing Indicators of the Successful e-learning System of the e-learning Instructional System for Higher Education in Thailand. Unpublished dissertation on Educational Technology and Communication, Faculty of Education, Chulalongkorn University.
- CHEA Monograph Series 2002 (Vol. 1). Washington DC: Author. Deepwell, F. 2007. "Embedding Quality in e-Learning Implementation through Evaluation." Educational Technology & Society, 10 (2), 34-43.
- Choy Sarojni. 2007. "Benefits of e-Learning Benchmarks: Australian Case Studies" The Electronic Journal of e-Learning. Volume 5 Issue 1, pp 11 20, [Online] Available from: www.ejel.org Accessed December 12. Council for Higher Education Accreditation. 2011. CHEA Monograph. Series 2002. Number 1., [Online] Available from: http://www.chea.org/research/accred-distance. Accessed December 12.

Council for Higher Education Accreditation. (2002). Accreditation and assuring quality in distance learning.

- Europe's institutional network for open and flexible higher education. 2011. e-learning benchmarking community of Associates in Quality. [Online] Available from: http://www.eadtu.nl/e-xcellencelabel/default.asp?mMid=2 Accessed September 9.
- European Association of Distance Teaching Universities. 2011. E-xcellence in E-learning associates in quality. Available from: http://www.eadtu.nl/e-xcellencelabel/default.asp?mMid=1. Access September 12. European Commission DG Education and Culture. 2002. Case study report Benchmarking of virtual campuses. Spain: University at Oberta de Catalunya.
- Frydenberg, J. 2002. "Quality standards in e-learning: A matrix of analysis." International Review of Research in Open and Distance Learning, 3(2).
- Haroff, P. A., & Valentine, T. 2006. "Dimensions of program quality in web-based adult education." The American Journal of Distance Education, 20(1), 7-22.
- Institute for Higher Education Policy. 2000. Quality on the line: Benchmarks for success in Internet-based distance education. Author, Washington, DC. Institute for Learning and Research Technology. 2003. Embedding Learning Technologies Institutionally: A Workshop Pack for Higher and Further Education. University of Bristol.
- Institute for Research and Study of Accreditation and Quality Assurance CHEA. 2002. Accreditation and Assuring Quality in Distance Learning. CHEA Monograph Series 2002. Number 1.
- Jackson, N. J. & Lund, H. 2000b. "Benchmarking for Higher Education: Taking Stock," Jackson, N. and Lund, H. (Eds). Benchmarking for Higher Education, Open University Press, Buckingham.
- Johnstone, S. M. 2005. "Open Educational Resources Serve the World." EDUCAUSE Quarterly. Vol.28. No. 3. pp.15 -18.



- Khan, B. 2001. "A framework for web-based learning. In B. Khan (Ed.)." Web-based training (pp. 75-98). Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Educational Technology.
- Lee, J., & Dziuban, C. 2002. "Using quality assurance strategies for online programs." Educational Technology Review, 10(2), 69-78.
- Leonardo da Vinci Programme. 2006. Collection and Comparison of National and European set of Benchmarks and valuation Model for E-learning Effectiveness: Refereeing Innovative Technologies and Solutions for Ubiquitous Learning. (CHIRON). [Online] Available from: http://semioweb.mshparis.fr/chiron/ecdocuments.htm. Accessed September 13.
- Lockhart, M., & Lacy, K. 2002. As assessment model and methods for evaluating distance education programs. Perspectives, 6(4), 98-104. doi:10.1080/136031002320634998
- Modeling Advice and Support Services to Integrate the Virtual Component in Higher Education. 2004. Tools and criteria to identify good practices carry out the seminars and the peer review sessions. [Online] Available from: http://cevug.ugr.es/massive/pdf/Annex_2.pdf. Accessed August 13.
- Moore, M. G., & Kearsley, G. 2005. Distance education: A systems view. Belmont, CA: Thomas Wadsworth. The United Kingdom's education. 2003. Citing the Open and Distance Learning Quality Council (ODLQC) standard.
- Office of Higher Education Committee, Ministry of Education. 2005. A Practice Guideline in Accordance with the Criteria on the Approval of Higher Education Curricular Programs of the Distance Education System, 2005. [Online] Available from http://www.thaicyberu.go.th/document/guideline2005.pdf
- Office of Strategic Management. 2003. A Study on the Development of Quality Assurance of Thai Higher Education institutes Using Benchmarking. A complete report, Chulalongkorn University. [Online] Available from http://www.osm.chula.ac.th/index.php/m-qa-learning/67-learning-qa/142-qa-benchmark-report. Assess September 12.
- Osika, E. R. 2004. The Concentric Support Model: A model for the planning and evaluation of distance learning programs. Doctoral dissertation. Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses. (UMI No. 3150815)
- Robere, P.J. 2000. Benchmarking: A system approach for continual improvement. Bangkok: Durakitbundit University Press.
- Shelton Kaye. 2010. A Quality Scorecard for the Administration of Online Education Programs: A Delphi Study. Doctoral Dissertation Faculty of the Graduate College at the University of Nebraska.
- Sloan Consortium. 2009a. The Sloan Consortium: A consortium of individuals, institutions and organizations committed to quality online education. [Online] Available from: http://www.sloan-c.org/ Accessed September 13.
- Sloan Consortium. 2009b. The Sloan Consortium: The 5 pillars. [Online] Available from: http://www.sloanc.org/5pillars Accessed May 13.
- Smith Alan. 2011. Encouraging benchmarking in e-learning. [Online] Available from :
- http://www.altc.edu.au/project-encouraging-benchmarking-elearning-usq-2007. Accessed April 13. Thammametha, T. 2009. "Quality Assurance of e-learning." Education journal. 38, 1(July-October, 2009) pp. 82-89.
- The Observatory on Borderless Higher Education. 2005. e-learning Benchmarking Phase 2 BHE/ACU Final Report.[Online]. Available from: http://www.obhe.ac.uk/what_we_do/resourcess. Accessed March 13.
- Western Cooperative for Educational Telecommunications. 2001. Best practices for electronically offered degree and certificate programs. Boulder, CO: Western Interstate Commission for Higher Education (WICHE).



Institute and Organization 4.92 .28 Very highly appropriate 1.1. The institute has a clear policy and strategy on e-learning of the institute is clear 4.83 .38 Very highly appropriate 1.3. Operational planning on e-learning of the institute is clear 4.83 .38 Very highly appropriate 1.3. The structure of organization management related to e-learning of the institute is clear 4.83 .38 Very highly appropriate 1.4. The institute receives e-learning standard certificate 4.58 .66 Very highly appropriate 1.5. The e-learning management system and decision-making of administrators 4.58 .66 Very highly appropriate 1.6. Computation of the effectiveness of operational expenses 4.58 .66 Very highly appropriate 1.7. Good organizational culture supporting the organizational operation 4.41 .79 Highly appropriate 1.10. Continual instrution support on e-learning diministrutors 4.41 .79 Highly appropriate 1.11. Continual instrution support on e-learning diministrutors 4.58 .51 Very highly appropriate 1.12. Continual trategy management and development 4.75 .62 Very highly appropriate <t< th=""><th>E-learning indicator (ITEM)</th><th>Mean</th><th>SD</th><th>Description</th></t<>	E-learning indicator (ITEM)	Mean	SD	Description
1.1. The institute has a clear policy and strategy on e-learning 4.92 .28 Very highly appropriate 1.2. Operational planning on e-learning of the institute is clear 4.83 .38 Very highly appropriate 1.3. The structure of organization management related to e-learning of the institute is clear 4.83 .38 Very highly appropriate 1.4. The institute receives e-learning standard certificate 4.58 .66 Very highly appropriate 1.5. The e-learning management system and decision-making of administrators 4.58 .66 Very highly appropriate 1.6. Computation of the effectiveness of operational expenses 4.58 .66 Very highly appropriate 1.7. Good organizational culture supporting the organization personnel 4.00 1.20 Highly appropriate 1.9. Leadership and attempt of e-learning administrators 4.41 .79 Highly appropriate 1.10. Coltar roles, duties, and responsibilities of organization personnel 4.58 .51 Very highly appropriate 1.12. Continual improvement of quality of e-learning 4.75 .45 Very highly appropriate 1.12. Continual improvement of guality of e-learning 4.75 .62 Very highly appropriate 1.12. Continual improvement of quality of e-learning	1. Institute and Organization			
e-learning 4.92 2.65 Very highly appropriate 1.2. Operational planning on e-learning of the institute is 4.83 .38 Very highly appropriate 1.3. The structure of organization management related to 4.83 .38 Very highly appropriate 1.4. The institute receives e-learning standard certificate 4.58 .66 Very highly appropriate 1.5. The e-learning management system and decision- making of administrators 4.58 .66 Very highly appropriate 1.6. Computation of the effectiveness of operational expenses 4.58 .66 Very highly appropriate 1.7. Good organizational culture supporting the organizational operation 4.00 1.20 Highly appropriate 1.9. Leadership and attempt of e-learning administrators 4.41 .79 Highly appropriate 1.10. Clear roles, duites, and responsibilities of organization personnel 4.92 .28 Very highly appropriate 1.11. Continual instructions support on e-learning operation 4.58 .51 Very highly appropriate 1.13. Continual turnet gry management and development 4.75 .62 Very highly appropriate 2.1. Continual curricular program development 4.75 .62 Very highly appropriate <t< td=""><td>1.1. The institute has a clear policy and strategy on</td><td>4.02</td><td>20</td><td>Varu highly annuariate</td></t<>	1.1. The institute has a clear policy and strategy on	4.02	20	Varu highly annuariate
1.2. Operational planning on e-learning of the institute is 4.83 .38 Very highly appropriate 1.3. The structure of organization management related to 4.83 .38 Very highly appropriate 1.4. The institute receives e-learning standard certificate 4.58 .66 Very highly appropriate 1.5. The e-learning management system and decision-making of administrators 4.58 .66 Very highly appropriate 1.6. Computation of the effectiveness of operational expenses 4.58 .66 Very highly appropriate 1.7. Good organizational culture supporting the organizational operation 4.58 .66 Very highly appropriate 1.8. The policy on right reserve law related to e-learning 4.66 .49 Very highly appropriate 1.10. Clear roles, duties, and responsibilities of organization personnel 4.92 .28 Very highly appropriate 1.11.Continual institution support on e-learning operation 4.58 .51 Very highly appropriate 1.13. Throcess design and networks for business outcomes 4.16 .93 Highly appropriate 1.13. Continual excitual program and instructional design 4.75 .62 Very highly appropriate 2.1. Continual errogram and instructional design 4.75 .62	e-learning	4.92	.28	very nightly appropriate
clear 100 <td< td=""><td>1.2. Operational planning on e-learning of the institute is</td><td>4 83</td><td>38</td><td>Very highly appropriate</td></td<>	1.2. Operational planning on e-learning of the institute is	4 83	38	Very highly appropriate
1.3. The structure of organization management related to e-learning of the institute is clear 4.83 .38 Very highly appropriate 1.4. The institute receives e-learning standard certificate 4.58 .66 Very highly appropriate 1.5. The e-learning management system and decision-making of administrators 4.58 .66 Very highly appropriate 1.6. Computation of the effectiveness of operational expresses 4.58 .66 Very highly appropriate 1.7. Good organizational culture supporting the organizational operation 4.66 .49 Very highly appropriate 1.8. The policy on right reserve law related to e-learning duninistrators 4.41 .79 Highly appropriate 1.10. Clear roles, duties, and responsibilities of organization personnel 4.52 .28 Very highly appropriate 1.12. Continual inprovement of quality of e-learning duninistrators 4.51 Very highly appropriate .13. The regram on distructional design 1.13. Continual inprovement of solution within the institute 4.56 .49 Very highly appropriate 1.14. Integration of coordination within the institute 4.56 .40 Very highly appropriate 1.15. Continual improvement of solutions of business outcomes 4.16 .39 Highly appropriate <	clear	1.05	.50	very inginy appropriate
1.4. The institute receives e-learning standard certificate 4.58 .66 Very highly appropriate 1.5. The e-learning management system and decision- making of administrators 4.58 .66 Very highly appropriate 1.6. Computation of the effectiveness of operational expenses 4.58 .66 Very highly appropriate 1.7. Good organizational culture supporting the organizational operation 4.61 4.90 1.20 Highly appropriate 1.8. The policy on right reserve law related to e-learning 4.66 .49 Very highly appropriate 1.9. Leadership and attempt of e-learning administrators 4.41 .79 Highly appropriate 1.10.Clear roles, duties, and responsibilities of organization personnel 4.92 .28 Very highly appropriate 1.12.Continual institution support on e-learning operation 4.58 .51 Very highly appropriate 1.13.Continual strategy management and development 4.58 .51 Very highly appropriate 1.14.Integration of coordination within the institute 4.66 .49 Very highly appropriate 2.1. Continual curricular program development 4.75 .62 Very highly appropriate 2.1. Continual regram and instructional design 4.75 .62	1.3. The structure of organization management related to	4.83	.38	Very highly appropriate
1.4. The intervence receives evaluating statuated certained 4.35 3.05 Very highly appropriate 1.5. The e-learning management system and decision- making of administrators 4.58 .66 Very highly appropriate 1.6. Computation of the effectiveness of operational expenses 4.58 .66 Very highly appropriate 1.7. Good organizational operation 4.00 1.20 Highly appropriate 1.8. The policy on right reserve law related to e-learning 4.66 .49 Very highly appropriate 1.9. Leadership and attempt of e-learning operation proper organizational operation 4.92 .28 Very highly appropriate 1.10. Clear roles, duties, and responsibilities of operation 4.92 .28 Very highly appropriate 1.11. Continual institution support on e-learning operation 4.58 .51 Very highly appropriate 1.13. Continual strategy management and development 4.58 .51 Very highly appropriate 1.14. Integration of coordination within the institute 4.66 .49 Very highly appropriate 2.1. Continual curricular program and instructional design 4.75 .62 Very highly appropriate 2.1. Continual curricular program text curres 4.75 .62 Very highly appropriat	e-learning of the institute is clear	1.58	66	Vory highly appropriate
1.1. 1.1.	1.4. The histitute receives e-rearning standard certificate	4.38	.00	very nighty appropriate
Interstep Interstep 1.6. Computation of the effectiveness of operational expenses 4.58 .66 Very highly appropriate 1.7. Good organizational operation 4.00 1.20 Highly appropriate 1.8. The policy on right reserve law related to e-learning 4.66 .49 Very highly appropriate 1.9. Leadership and attempt of e-learning administrators 4.41 .79 Highly appropriate 1.10. Clear roles, duties, and responsibilities of organization personnel 4.92 .28 Very highly appropriate 1.11. Continual institution support on e-learning operation 4.58 .51 Very highly appropriate 1.13. Continual strategy management and development 4.58 .51 Very highly appropriate 1.14. Integration of coordination within the institute 4.66 .49 Very highly appropriate 2.1. Continual strategy management and development 4.75 .62 Very highly appropriate 2.3. Curricular program and instructional design - - - - 2.4. Content details of curricular program development 4.75 .62 Very highly appropriate 2.4. Content details of curricular pro	making of administrators	4.58	.66	Very highly appropriate
and the interaction of protocols4.58.66Very highly appropriate1.7.Good organizational operation4.001.20Highly appropriate1.8.The policy on right reserve law related to e-learning4.66.49Very highly appropriate1.9.Leadership and attempt of e-learning administrators4.41.79Highly appropriate1.10.Chear roles, duties, and responsibilities of organization personnel4.75.45Very highly appropriate1.11.Continual institution support on e-learning4.75.45Very highly appropriate1.12.Continual instructores quality of e-learning4.58.51Very highly appropriate1.13.Continual antroycowenet of quality of e-learning4.58.51Very highly appropriate1.13.Continual antroycowenet of coordination within the institute4.66.49Very highly appropriate1.13.Continual curricular program development4.75.62Very highly appropriate2.1Continual curricular program development4.75.62Very highly appropriate2.3.Curricular program has goals and objectives4.75.62Very highly appropriate2.4.Content details of curricular program cover competency and were consistent with outcomes4.92.28Very highly appropriate2.5.Curse description4.92.28Very highly appropriate2.92.18Very highly appropriate2.6.Curricular program is appropriate with learners4.92.28Very	1.6. Computation of the effectiveness of operational			
1.7. Good organizational culture supporting the organizational operation 4.00 1.20 Highly appropriate 1.8. The policy on right reserve law related to e-learning 4.66 4.92 Very highly appropriate 1.10. Clear roles, duties, and responsibilities of organization personnel 4.92 .28 Very highly appropriate 1.11. Continual institution support on e-learning operation 4.55 .51 Very highly appropriate 1.12. Continual institution support on e-learning operation 4.58 .51 Very highly appropriate 1.13. Continual strategy management and development 4.58 .51 Very highly appropriate 1.14. Integration of coordination within the institute 4.66 .49 Very highly appropriate 2. Curricular Program and instructional design 4.75 .62 Very highly appropriate 2.1. Continual curricular program structures 4.75 .62 Very highly appropriate 2.3. Curricular program has goals and objectives 4.75 .62 Very highly appropriate 2.4. Content details of curricular program development 4.92 .28 Very highly appropriate 2.4. Content details of curricular program design necess 4.75 .62 Very highly appropriate <tr< td=""><td>expenses</td><td>4.58</td><td>.66</td><td>Very highly appropriate</td></tr<>	expenses	4.58	.66	Very highly appropriate
organizational operation 4.00 1.20 Frighty appropriate 1.8. The policy on right reserve law related to e-learning administrators 4.41 79 Highly appropriate 1.9. Leadership and attermpt of e-learning administrators 4.41 79 Highly appropriate 1.10. Clear roles, duties, and responsibilities of organization personnel 4.92 .28 Very highly appropriate 1.11. Continual institution support on e-learning operation operation operation 4.58 .51 Very highly appropriate 1.13. Continual institution support on e-learning 4.58 .51 Very highly appropriate 1.14. Integration of coordination within the institute 4.66 .49 Very highly appropriate 2. Curricular Program and instructional design 2.1 Continual strategy management and evelopment 4.75 .62 Very highly appropriate 2.3. Curricular Program and instructional design 2.1 Content details of curricular program structures 4.75 .62 Very highly appropriate 2.4. Content details of curricular program cover competency and were consistent with learners 4.92 .28 Very highly appropriate 2.5. Couricular program less quality based on process and prin	1.7. Good organizational culture supporting the	4.00	1.20	
1.8. The policy on right reserve law related to e-learning 4.66 .49 Very highly appropriate 1.9. Leadership and attempt of e-learning administrators 4.41 .79 Highly appropriate 1.10. Clear roles, duites, and responsibilities of organization personnel 4.92 .28 Very highly appropriate 1.11. Continual instructions support on e-learning operation 4.75 .45 Very highly appropriate 1.13. Continual strategy management and development 4.58 .51 Very highly appropriate 1.13. Continual strategy management and development 4.58 .51 Very highly appropriate 1.14. Integration of coordination within the institute 4.66 .49 Very highly appropriate 2.1. Continual curricular program development 4.75 .62 Very highly appropriate 2.1. Continual curricular program tstructures 4.75 .62 Very highly appropriate 2.3. Curricular program has goals and objectives 4.75 .62 Very highly appropriate 2.4. Content details of curricular program design 4.66 .88 Very highly appropriate 2.5. Course description 4.92 .28 Very highly appropriate 2.7. Instructional design meets quality based on pr	organizational operation	4.00	1.20	Highly appropriate
1.9. Leadership and attempt of e-learning administrators 4.41 .79 Highly appropriate 1.10. Clear roles, duties, and responsibilities of organization personnel 4.92 .28 Very highly appropriate 1.11. Continual institution support on e-learning operation 4.75 .45 Very highly appropriate 1.12. Continual improvement of quality of e-learning operation 4.58 .51 Very highly appropriate 1.13. Continual strategy management and development 4.58 .51 Very highly appropriate 1.13. Continual strategy management and development 4.66 .49 Very highly appropriate 1.14. Integration of coordination within the institute 4.66 .40 Very highly appropriate 2.1. Continual curricular program development 4.75 .62 Very highly appropriate 2.3. Curricular program has goals and objectives 4.75 .62 Very highly appropriate 2.4. Content details of curricular program cover competency and were consistent with outcomes 4.75 .62 Very highly appropriate 2.5. Course description 4.92 .28 Very highly appropriate 2.7 2.6. Curricular program is appropriate with learners 4.92 .28 Very highly appropriate <td>1.8. The policy on right reserve law related to e-learning</td> <td>4.66</td> <td>.49</td> <td>Very highly appropriate</td>	1.8. The policy on right reserve law related to e-learning	4.66	.49	Very highly appropriate
1.10. Clear roles, duties, and responsibilities of organization personnel 4.92 .28 Very highly appropriate 1.11. Continual institution support on e-learning operation 4.75 .45 Very highly appropriate 1.12. Continual improvement of quality of e-learning operation 4.58 .51 Very highly appropriate 1.13. Continual strategy management and development 4.58 .51 Very highly appropriate 1.13. Continual curricular program and instructional design 2.1 Curricular program matures over 4.16 .93 Highly appropriate 2.1. Continual curricular program development 4.75 .62 Very highly appropriate 2.3. Curricular program man agoals and objectives 4.75 .62 Very highly appropriate 2.4. Content details of curricular program cover competency and were consistent with outcomes 4.75 .62 Very highly appropriate 2.5. Course description 4.92 .28 Very highly appropriate 2.7 2.6. Curricular program is appropriate with learners 4.66 .65 Very highly appropriate 2.8. There is a standard of curriculum program design 4.66 .65 Very highly appropriate 2.9. Curricular program design is based on individual differences of lear	1.9. Leadership and attempt of e-learning administrators	4.41	.79	Highly appropriate
organization personnel13.213.213.714.5Very highly appropriate1.11.Continual institution support on e-learning operation4.75.45Very highly appropriate1.13.Continual improvement of quality of e-learning operation4.58.51Very highly appropriate1.14.Integration of coordination within the institute4.66.49Very highly appropriate1.14.Integration of coordination within the institute4.66.93Highly appropriate2.1. Continual curricular program development4.75.62Very highly appropriate2.1. Continual curricular program development4.75.62Very highly appropriate2.3. Curricular program has goals and objectives4.75.62Very highly appropriate2.4. Content details of curricular program cover competency and were consistent with outcomes4.92.28Very highly appropriate2.5. Course description4.92.28Very highly appropriate2.6. Curricular program is appropriate with learners4.92.28Very highly appropriate2.7. Instructional design meets quality based on process and principles of instructional design4.66.65Very highly appropriate2.9. Curricular program design is based on learner- centered4.66.65Very highly appropriate2.10.Instructional design focuses on collective learning (co-working)4.41.66Highly appropriate2.11.Instructional design focuses on collective learning cureered4.75.62Very highly appropriate2.12.Learning cont	1.10.Clear roles, duties, and responsibilities of	4.92	.28	Very highly appropriate
1.11. Continual institution support on e-learning operation 4.75 .45 Very highly appropriate 1.12. Continual improvement of quality of e-learning operation 4.58 .51 Very highly appropriate 1.13. Continual strategy management and development 4.58 .51 Very highly appropriate 1.14. Integration of coordination within the institute 4.66 .49 Very highly appropriate 2. Curricular Program and instructional design	organization personnel		.20	very inginy uppropriate
1.1.2.Continual improvement of quality of e-learning operation4.58.51Very highly appropriate1.1.3.Continual strategy management and development4.58.51Very highly appropriate1.1.4.Integration of coordination within the institute4.66.49Very highly appropriate1.1.5.Process design and networks for business outcomes4.16.93Highly appropriate2. Curricular Program and instructional design2.162Very highly appropriate2.1. Continual curricular program development4.75.62Very highly appropriate2.3. Curricular program das goals and objectives4.75.62Very highly appropriate2.4. Content details of curricular program cover competency and were consistent with outcomes4.92.28Very highly appropriate2.5. Course description4.92.28Very highly appropriate2.6. Curricular program is appropriate with learners4.66.88Very highly appropriate2.7. Instructional design meets quality based on process and principles of instructional design4.66.65Very highly appropriate2.9. Curricular program design is based on learner- centered4.66.65Very highly appropriate2.10.Instructional design focuses on collective learning (co-working)4.41.66Highly appropriate2.11.Instructional design focuses on collective learning and consistent with learning objectives4.75.62Very highly appropriate2.11.Instructional design is based on concepts and theories and consistent with learning objectives4.75<	1.11.Continual institution support on e-learning	4.75	.45	Very highly appropriate
OperationImage: Construct of the second	1.12. Continual improvement of quality of e-learning	4.58	.51	Very highly appropriate
1.13.Continual strategy management and development 4.36 4.37 Very highly appropriate 1.14.Integration of coordination within the institute 4.66 49 Very highly appropriate 2. Curricular Program and instructional design 4.16 .93 Highly appropriate 2.1. Continual curricular program development 4.75 .62 Very highly appropriate 2.3. Curricular program has goals and objectives 4.75 .62 Very highly appropriate 2.3. Curricular program has goals and objectives 4.75 .62 Very highly appropriate 2.4. Content details of curricular program cover competency and were consistent with outcomes 4.75 .62 Very highly appropriate 2.5. Course description 4.92 .28 Very highly appropriate 2.6 2.7. Instructional design meets quality based on process and principles of instructional design 4.66 .88 Very highly appropriate 2.9. Curricular program design is based on learner-centered 4.66 .65 Very highly appropriate 2.10. Instructional design focuses on collective learning (co-working) 4.41 .66 Highly appropriate 2.11.Instructional design is based on construction and development of curricular program 4.75 .62	0peration	1 5 9	51	Voru highly oppropriate
1.14.Integration of coordination within the institute 4.06 .49 Very highly appropriate 1.15.Process design and networks for business outcomes 4.16 .93 Highly appropriate 2. Curricular Program and instructional design 4.75 .62 Very highly appropriate 2.1. Continual curricular program structures 4.75 .62 Very highly appropriate 2.3. Curricular program has goals and objectives 4.75 .62 Very highly appropriate 2.4. Content details of curricular program cover 4.75 .62 Very highly appropriate 2.4. Content details of curricular program cover 4.75 .62 Very highly appropriate 2.5. Course description 4.92 .28 Very highly appropriate 2.6. Curricular program design meets quality based on process 4.66 .88 Very highly appropriate 2.7. Instructional design is based on learner- 4.66 .65 Very highly appropriate 2.9. Curricular program design is based on individual differences 6.52 Very highly appropriate 2.10. Instructional design focuses on collective learning (.66 Highly appropriate 2.11.Instructional design focuses on collective learning 4.75 .62 Ver	1.13. Continual strategy management and development	4.58	.51	Very highly appropriate
1.15.1 focts design and networks for obsides outcomes 4.10 7.93 Trighty appropriate 2. Curricular Program and instructional design 2.1. Continual curricular program development 4.75 .62 Very highly appropriate 2.1. Continual curricular program has goals and objectives 4.75 .62 Very highly appropriate 2.3. Curricular program has goals and objectives 4.75 .62 Very highly appropriate 2.4. Content details of curricular program cover 4.75 .62 Very highly appropriate 2.5. Course description 4.92 .28 Very highly appropriate 2.6. Curricular program is appropriate with learners 4.92 .28 Very highly appropriate 2.7. Instructional design meets quality based on process and principles of instructional design 4.66 .65 Very highly appropriate 2.9. Curricular program design is based on learner-centered 4.66 .65 Very highly appropriate 2.10.Instructional design focuses on collective learning (co-working) 4.41 .66 Highly appropriate 2.13.Faculty and learners participate in the construction and development of curricular program 4.75 .62 Very highly appropriate 2.14.Curricular program design is consistent with needs of learners	1.15 Process design and networks for business outcomes	4.00	.49	Highly appropriate
2. Curricular Program and instructional design 2.1. Continual curricular program development 4.75 .62 Very highly appropriate 2.2. Clear curricular program structures 4.75 .62 Very highly appropriate 2.3. Curricular program has goals and objectives 4.75 .62 Very highly appropriate 2.4. Content details of curricular program cover competency and were consistent with outcomes 4.75 .62 Very highly appropriate 2.5. Course description 4.92 .28 Very highly appropriate 2.6. Curricular program is appropriate with learners 4.92 .28 Very highly appropriate 2.7. Instructional design meets quality based on process and principles of instructional design 4.66 .65 Very highly appropriate 2.8. There is a standard of curriculum program design 4.66 .65 Very highly appropriate 2.10.Instructional design focuses on collective learning (co-working) 4.75 .62 Very highly appropriate 2.13.Faculty and learners participate in the construction and development of curricular program 4.75 .62 Very highly appropriate 2.14.Curricular program design is consistent with needs of learners 4.75 .62 Very highly appropriate 2.15.Easy a	2. Curricular Program and instructional design	4.10	.93	ringing appropriate
2.1. Communa curricular program development4.75.02Very highly appropriate2.2. Clear curricular program structures4.75.62Very highly appropriate2.3. Curricular program has goals and objectives4.75.62Very highly appropriate2.4. Content details of curricular program cover competency and were consistent with outcomes4.75.62Very highly appropriate2.5. Course description4.92.28Very highly appropriate2.6. Curricular program is appropriate with learners4.92.28Very highly appropriate2.7. Instructional design meets quality based on process and principles of instructional design4.66.88Very highly appropriate2.8. There is a standard of curriculum program design4.66.65Very highly appropriate2.9. Curricular program design is based on learner- centered4.66.65Very highly appropriate2.10. Instructional design focuses on collective learning (co-working).62Very highly appropriate2.11. Instructional design focuses on collective learning and consistent with learning objectives4.75.62Very highly appropriate2.13. Faculty and learners participate in the construction and development of curricular program4.75.45Very highly appropriate2.14. Curricular program design is consistent with needs of learners4.75.62Very highly appropriate2.15.Easy assessment to documents of curricular program related to learning4.33.88Highly appropriate2.16.Screen design is based on concepts and theories<	2.1. Continual curricular program development	175	62	Very highly appropriate
12.1. Curricular program has goals and objectives1.751.62Very highly appropriate2.3. Curricular program has goals and objectives4.75.62Very highly appropriate2.4. Content details of curricular program cover competency and were consistent with outcomes4.75.62Very highly appropriate2.5. Course description4.92.28Very highly appropriate2.6. Curricular program is appropriate with learners4.92.28Very highly appropriate2.7. Instructional design meets quality based on process and principles of instructional design4.66.65Very highly appropriate2.8. There is a standard of curriculum program design4.66.65Very highly appropriate2.9. Curricular program design is based on learner- centered4.66.65Very highly appropriate2.10. Instructional design focuses on collective learning (co-working)4.41.66Highly appropriate2.11. Instructional design focuses on collective learning and consistent with learning objectives4.75.62Very highly appropriate2.13. Faculty and learners participate in the construction and development of curricular program4.75.62Very highly appropriate2.14. Curricular program design is consistent with needs of learners4.75.62Very highly appropriate2.14. Curricular program design is consistent with needs of learners4.75.62Very highly appropriate2.15. Easy assessment to documents of curricular program4.75.62Very highly appropriate2.16. Screen design is b	2.1. Clear curricular program structures	4.75	62	Very highly appropriate
2.4. Content details of curricular program cover competency and were consistent with outcomes4.75.62Very highly appropriate2.5. Course description4.92.28Very highly appropriate2.6. Curricular program is appropriate with learners4.92.28Very highly appropriate2.7. Instructional design meets quality based on process and principles of instructional design4.66.88Very highly appropriate2.8. There is a standard of curriculur program design4.66.65Very highly appropriate2.9. Curricular program design is based on learner- centered4.66.65Very highly appropriate2.10. Instructional design focuses on collective learning (co-working)4.41.66Highly appropriate2.11. Instructional design focuses on collective learning and consistent with learning objectives4.75.62Very highly appropriate2.13. Faculty and learners participate in the construction and development of curricular program4.75.45Very highly appropriate2.14. Curricular program design is consistent with needs of learners4.75.62Very highly appropriate2.15. Easy assessment to documents of curricular program elarners4.75.45Very highly appropriate2.16. Screen design is based on concepts and theories related to learning4.33.88Highly appropriate2.16. Screen design is based on concepts and theories related to learning4.33.77Highly appropriate	2.2. Creat curricular program has goals and objectives	4 75	62	Very highly appropriate
A.75.62Very highly appropriate2.5.Course description4.92.28Very highly appropriate2.6.Curricular program is appropriate with learners4.92.28Very highly appropriate2.7.Instructional design meets quality based on process and principles of instructional design4.66.88Very highly appropriate2.8.There is a standard of curriculum program design4.66.65Very highly appropriate2.9.Curricular program design is based on learner- centered4.66.65Very highly appropriate2.10.Instructional design focuses on collective learning (co-working)4.41.66Highly appropriate2.12.Learners4.75.62Very highly appropriate2.13.Faculty and learners participate in the construction and development of curricular program4.75.45Very highly appropriate2.14.Curricular program design is based on concepts and theories related to learning4.75.62Very highly appropriate2.15.Easy assessment to documents of curricular program4.75.45Very highly appropriate2.16.Screen design is based on concepts and theories related to learning4.33.88Highly appropriate2.17.Curricular program is flexible4.41.79Highly appropriate2.16.Screen design is based on concepts and theories related to learning4.33.77Highly appropriate2.17.Curricular program provides new experiences for learners4.33 <td>2.4. Content details of curricular program cover</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	2.4. Content details of curricular program cover			
2.5. Course description4.92.28Very highly appropriate2.6. Curricular program is appropriate with learners4.92.28Very highly appropriate2.7. Instructional design meets quality based on process and principles of instructional design4.66.88Very highly appropriate2.8. There is a standard of curriculum program design4.66.65Very highly appropriate2.9. Curricular program design is based on learner- centered4.66.65Very highly appropriate2.10. Instructional design is based on individual differences of learners4.75.62Very highly appropriate2.11. Instructional design focuses on collective learning (co-working)4.41.66Highly appropriate2.12. Learning content is developed so as to be up-to-date and consistent with learning objectives4.75.45Very highly appropriate2.13. Faculty and learners participate in the construction and development of curricular program4.75.62Very highly appropriate2.14. Curricular program design is consistent with needs of learners4.75.62Very highly appropriate2.15. Easy assessment to documents of curricular program4.75.62Very highly appropriate2.17. Curricular program is flexible4.33.88Highly appropriate2.17. Curricular program provides new experiences for learners4.33.77Highly appropriate	competency and were consistent with outcomes	4.75	.62	Very highly appropriate
2.6. Curricular program is appropriate with learners4.92.28Very highly appropriate2.7. Instructional design meets quality based on process and principles of instructional design4.66.88Very highly appropriate2.8. There is a standard of curriculum program design4.66.65Very highly appropriate2.9. Curricular program design is based on learner- centered4.66.65Very highly appropriate2.10. Instructional design is based on individual differences of learners4.75.62Very highly appropriate2.11. Instructional design focuses on collective learning (co-working)4.41.66Highly appropriate2.12. Learning content is developed so as to be up-to-date and consistent with learning objectives4.75.45Very highly appropriate2.13. Faculty and learners participate in the construction and development of curricular program4.75.45Very highly appropriate2.14. Curricular program design is based on concepts and theories related to learning4.33.88Highly appropriate2.17. Curricular program is flexible4.41.79Highly appropriate2.18. Curricular program is flexible4.41.79Highly appropriate2.19. Faculty approgram design is consistent with needs of learners4.33.77Highly appropriate	2.5. Course description	4.92	.28	Very highly appropriate
2.7. Instructional design meets quality based on process and principles of instructional design4.66.88Very highly appropriate2.8. There is a standard of curriculum program design4.66.65Very highly appropriate2.9. Curricular program design is based on learner- centered4.66.65Very highly appropriate2.10. Instructional design is based on individual differences of learners4.75.62Very highly appropriate2.11. Instructional design focuses on collective learning (co-working)4.41.66Highly appropriate2.12. Learning content is developed so as to be up-to-date and consistent with learning objectives4.92.28Very highly appropriate2.13. Faculty and learners participate in the construction and development of curricular program4.75.45Very highly appropriate2.15. Easy assessment to documents of curricular program4.75.62Very highly appropriate2.16. Screen design is based on concepts and theories related to learning4.33.88Highly appropriate2.17. Curricular program is flexible4.41.79Highly appropriate2.18. Curricular program is flexible4.41.79Highly appropriate	2.6. Curricular program is appropriate with learners	4.92	.28	Very highly appropriate
and principles of instructional design4.00.00.00Very highly appropriate2.8. There is a standard of curriculum program design4.66.65Very highly appropriate2.9. Curricular program design is based on learner- centered4.66.65Very highly appropriate2.10.Instructional design is based on individual differences of learners4.75.62Very highly appropriate2.11.Instructional design focuses on collective learning (co-working)4.41.66Highly appropriate2.12.Learning content is developed so as to be up-to-date and consistent with learning objectives4.92.28Very highly appropriate2.13.Faculty and learners participate in the construction and development of curricular program4.75.45Very highly appropriate2.14.Curricular program design is consistent with needs of learners4.75.62Very highly appropriate2.15.Easy assessment to documents of curricular program4.75.45Very highly appropriate2.16.Screen design is based on concepts and theories related to learning4.33.88Highly appropriate2.17.Curricular program is flexible4.41.79Highly appropriate2.18.Curricular program provides new experiences for learners4.33.77Highly appropriate	2.7. Instructional design meets quality based on process	1 66	88	Very highly appropriate
2.8. There is a standard of curriculum program design4.66.65Very highly appropriate2.9. Curricular program design is based on learner- centered4.66.65Very highly appropriate2.10. Instructional design is based on individual differences of learners4.75.62Very highly appropriate2.11. Instructional design focuses on collective learning (co-working)4.41.66Highly appropriate2.12. Learning content is developed so as to be up-to-date and consistent with learning objectives4.92.28Very highly appropriate2.13. Faculty and learners participate in the construction and development of curricular program4.75.45Very highly appropriate2.14. Curricular program design is consistent with needs of learners4.75.62Very highly appropriate2.15. Easy assessment to documents of curricular program4.75.45Very highly appropriate2.16. Screen design is based on concepts and theories related to learning4.33.88Highly appropriate2.17. Curricular program is flexible4.41.79Highly appropriate2.18. Curricular program provides new experiences for learners4.33.77Highly appropriate	and principles of instructional design	4.00	.00	very mgmy appropriate
2.9. Curricular program design is based on learner- centered4.66.65Very highly appropriate2.10. Instructional design is based on individual differences of learners4.75.62Very highly appropriate2.11. Instructional design focuses on collective learning (co-working)4.41.66Highly appropriate2.12. Learning content is developed so as to be up-to-date and consistent with learning objectives4.92.28Very highly appropriate2.13. Faculty and learners participate in the construction and development of curricular program4.75.45Very highly appropriate2.14. Curricular program design is consistent with needs of learners4.75.62Very highly appropriate2.15. Easy assessment to documents of curricular program4.75.45Very highly appropriate2.16. Screen design is based on concepts and theories related to learning4.33.88Highly appropriate2.17. Curricular program is flexible4.41.79Highly appropriate2.18. Curricular program provides new experiences for learners4.33.77Highly appropriate	2.8. There is a standard of curriculum program design	4.66	.65	Very highly appropriate
centeredA. A. A. A. A. A. A. A. A. A. A. A. A. A	2.9. Curricular program design is based on learner-	4.66	.65	Very highly appropriate
2.10. Instructional design is based on individual differences of learners4.75.62Very highly appropriate2.11. Instructional design focuses on collective learning (co-working)4.41.66Highly appropriate2.12. Learning content is developed so as to be up-to-date and consistent with learning objectives4.92.28Very highly appropriate2.13. Faculty and learners participate in the construction and development of curricular program4.75.45Very highly appropriate2.14. Curricular program design is consistent with needs of learners4.75.62Very highly appropriate2.15. Easy assessment to documents of curricular program4.75.62Very highly appropriate2.16. Screen design is based on concepts and theories related to learning4.33.88Highly appropriate2.17. Curricular program is flexible4.41.79Highly appropriate2.18. Curricular program provides new experiences for learners4.33.77Highly appropriate				5 6 5 11 1
Of rearriersAutomatical design focuses on collective learning (co-working)Automatical design focuses on collective learning2.11. Instructional design focuses on collective learning (co-working)4.41.66Highly appropriate2.12. Learning content is developed so as to be up-to-date and consistent with learning objectives4.92.28Very highly appropriate2.13. Faculty and learners participate in the construction and development of curricular program4.75.45Very highly appropriate2.14. Curricular program design is consistent with needs of learners4.75.62Very highly appropriate2.15. Easy assessment to documents of curricular program4.75.45Very highly appropriate2.16. Screen design is based on concepts and theories related to learning4.33.88Highly appropriate2.17. Curricular program is flexible4.41.79Highly appropriate2.18. Curricular program provides new experiences for learners4.33.77Highly appropriate	2.10. Instructional design is based on individual differences	4.75	.62	Very highly appropriate
2.11. Instructional design focuses on concertive learning4.41.66Highly appropriate(co-working)2.12. Learning content is developed so as to be up-to-date and consistent with learning objectives4.92.28Very highly appropriate2.13. Faculty and learners participate in the construction and development of curricular program4.75.45Very highly appropriate2.14. Curricular program design is consistent with needs of learners4.75.62Very highly appropriate2.15. Easy assessment to documents of curricular program4.75.45Very highly appropriate2.16. Screen design is based on concepts and theories related to learning4.33.88Highly appropriate2.17. Curricular program is flexible4.41.79Highly appropriate2.18. Curricular program provides new experiences for learners4.33.77Highly appropriate	2 11 Instructional design focuses on collective learning			
2.12. Learning content is developed so as to be up-to-date and consistent with learning objectives4.92.28Very highly appropriate2.13. Faculty and learners participate in the construction and development of curricular program4.75.45Very highly appropriate2.14. Curricular program design is consistent with needs of learners4.75.62Very highly appropriate2.15. Easy assessment to documents of curricular program4.75.45Very highly appropriate2.16. Screen design is based on concepts and theories related to learning4.33.88Highly appropriate2.17. Curricular program provides new experiences for learners4.33.77Highly appropriate	(co-working)	4.41	.66	Highly appropriate
2.1121/Detailing content is developed to all to be up to date4.92.28Very highly appropriateand consistent with learning objectives4.92.28Very highly appropriate2.13.Faculty and learners participate in the construction and development of curricular program4.75.45Very highly appropriate2.14.Curricular program design is consistent with needs of learners4.75.62Very highly appropriate2.15.Easy assessment to documents of curricular program4.75.45Very highly appropriate2.16.Screen design is based on concepts and theories related to learning4.33.88Highly appropriate2.17.Curricular program is flexible4.41.79Highly appropriate2.18.Curricular program provides new experiences for learners4.33.77Highly appropriate	2.12 Learning content is developed so as to be up-to-date			
2.13.Faculty and learners participate in the construction and development of curricular program4.75.45Very highly appropriate2.14.Curricular program design is consistent with needs of learners4.75.62Very highly appropriate2.15.Easy assessment to documents of curricular program4.75.45Very highly appropriate2.16.Screen design is based on concepts and theories related to learning4.33.88Highly appropriate2.17.Curricular program is flexible4.41.79Highly appropriate2.18.Curricular program provides new experiences for learners4.33.77Highly appropriate	and consistent with learning objectives	4.92	.28	Very highly appropriate
and development of curricular program4.75.45Very highly appropriate2.14. Curricular program design is consistent with needs of learners4.75.62Very highly appropriate2.15. Easy assessment to documents of curricular program4.75.45Very highly appropriate2.16. Screen design is based on concepts and theories related to learning4.33.88Highly appropriate2.17. Curricular program is flexible4.41.79Highly appropriate2.18. Curricular program provides new experiences for learners4.33.77Highly appropriate	2.13. Faculty and learners participate in the construction	475	4.5	X7 1 11
2.14.Curricular program design is consistent with needs of learners4.75.62Very highly appropriate2.15.Easy assessment to documents of curricular program4.75.45Very highly appropriate2.16.Screen design is based on concepts and theories related to learning4.33.88Highly appropriate2.17.Curricular program is flexible4.41.79Highly appropriate2.18.Curricular program provides new experiences for learners4.33.77Highly appropriate	and development of curricular program	4.75	.45	very highly appropriate
learners4.73.02Very highly appropriate2.15.Easy assessment to documents of curricular program4.75.45Very highly appropriate2.16.Screen design is based on concepts and theories related to learning4.33.88Highly appropriate2.17.Curricular program is flexible4.41.79Highly appropriate2.18.Curricular program provides new experiences for learners4.33.77Highly appropriate	2.14. Curricular program design is consistent with needs of	4 75	62	Very highly appropriate
2.15.Easy assessment to documents of curricular program4.75.45Very highly appropriate2.16.Screen design is based on concepts and theories related to learning4.33.88Highly appropriate2.17.Curricular program is flexible4.41.79Highly appropriate2.18.Curricular program provides new experiences for learners4.33.77Highly appropriate	learners	4.75	.02	very nighty appropriate
2.16.Screen design is based on concepts and theories related to learning 4.33 .88 Highly appropriate 2.17.Curricular program is flexible 4.41 .79 Highly appropriate 2.18.Curricular program provides new experiences for learners 4.33 .77 Highly appropriate	2.15.Easy assessment to documents of curricular program	4.75	.45	Very highly appropriate
related to learning 4.41 .79 Highly appropriate 2.17.Curricular program is flexible 4.41 .79 Highly appropriate 2.18.Curricular program provides new experiences for learners 4.33 .77 Highly appropriate	2.16. Screen design is based on concepts and theories	4.33	.88	Highly appropriate
2.17.Curricular program is flexible 4.41 .79 Highly appropriate 2.18.Curricular program provides new experiences for learners 4.33 .77 Highly appropriate	related to learning	4 4 1	70	
2.18. Curricular program provides new experiences for learners 4.33 .77 Highly appropriate	2.17. Curricular program is flexible	4.41	.79	riginy appropriate
3 Resources Technology and Information Technology	2.10. Curricular program provides new experiences for	4.33	.77	Highly appropriate
	3. Resources. Technology and Information Technology	1	L	1

Appendix A: An assessment of the appropriateness of e-learning indicators



E-learning indicator (ITEM)	Mean	SD	Description
3.1. Basic structures of information technology are	5.00	00	Very highly appropriate
modern, adequate, and it cover all services	5.00	.00	very nighty appropriate
3.2. Supporting resource center on instructional management is effective	5.00	.00	Very highly appropriate
3.3. Continual planning on technological development for teaching and learning	4.83	.38	Very highly appropriate
3.4. Planning on technology development and security system	4.83	.38	Very highly appropriate
3.5. Having data reservation	4.92	.28	Very highly appropriate
3.6. Data reliability and technology	4.50	1.00	Very highly appropriate
3.7. Having the center of construction , support, and maintenance	4.50	1.16	Very highly appropriate
3.8. Technological support for faculty, supporting personnel, and learners	4.58	.90	Very highly appropriate
3.9. Service using and flexibility	4.33	1.23	Highly appropriate
3.10. Application of information technology for teaching and learning	4.75	.62	Very highly appropriate
3.11.Convenient and rapid assessment of learning resources all the time	4.75	.62	Very highly appropriate
3.12. Potential in techniques and services	4.66	.65	Very highly appropriate
3.13.Learning materials are modern and adequate	4.50	.67	Very highly appropriate
4. Instructional Process	T		1
4.1. Learning agreements and suggestions	4.92	.28	Very highly appropriate
4.2. Diverse learning sources	4.75	.45	Very highly appropriate
4.3. Appropriate and clear communication in instruction	4.75	.45	Very highly appropriate
4.4. Rapid response of faculty when learners have any problem	4.75	.45	Very highly appropriate
4.5. Effective interaction between faculty and learner and without limitations	4.75	.45	Very highly appropriate
4.6. Continual development of research on teaching and learning	4.75	.62	Very highly appropriate
4.7. Reputation of faculty is a strategy used for creating reliability	4.50	.67	Very highly appropriate
4.8. Socialization and participation of learners	4.83	.38	Very highly appropriate
4.9. Online community supports instructional activities	4.75	.45	Very highly appropriate
4.10.Continual development of instructional forms for effective learning	4.50	.79	Very highly appropriate
4.11.Instructional activities focus on individual difference based on learning performance	4.83	.38	Very highly appropriate
5. Learner			
5.1. Training on various aspects and guidance before learning through e-learning	4.92	.28	Very highly appropriate
5.2. Support learners on information technology using for communication and learning	4.92	.28	Very highly appropriate
5.3. Giving advices and academic/professional assisting as well as convenience providing for learners	4.92	.28	Very highly appropriate
5.4. Having appropriate documents used for learning	4.92	.28	Very highly appropriate
5.5. Learners have motivation and attempt to learn	4.58	.90	Very highly appropriate
5.6. Having support on data service for learners	4.58	1.16	Very highly appropriate
5.7. Learner participation with school and study program	4.66	.65	Very highly appropriate
6. Faculty and Supporting Personnel			
6.1. Training for development and perception of new technology	4.92	.28	Very highly appropriate
6.2. Faculty support on teaching equipment resources, and convenience facilities	4.58	1.16	Very highly appropriate
6.3. Assistance on techniques of faculty	4.58	1.16	Very highly appropriate



E-learning indicator (ITEM)	Mean	SD	Description
6.4. Placing the importance on the problem of academic copying and the legal measure to prevent the academic copying	4.66	.65	Very highly appropriate
6.5. Having operational standards and clear tasks of faculty and e-learning supporting personnel	4.83	.38	Very highly appropriate
7. Measurement and Evaluation			
7.1. Learning achievement and outcomes of diverse learners	4.92	.28	Very highly appropriate
7.2. Efficiency measuring on standard learning facilitation	4.92	.28	Very highly appropriate
7.3. Assessment of curricular program in accordance with the curricular program standards	4.92	.28	Very highly appropriate
7.4. Assessment of faculty and supporting personnel	4.92	.25	Very highly appropriate
7.5. Assessment of the curricular program operation	4.83	.38	Very highly appropriate
7.6. Collection of learners' opinions	4.92	.28	Very highly appropriate
7.7. Measuring communication and technological service outcomes	4.66	.65	Very highly appropriate
7.8. Assessment and revision for improving the whole system	4.92	.28	Very highly appropriate



DEVELOPMENT OF A RESPONSIVE LITERACY PEDAGOGY INCORPORATING TECHNOLOGY FOR THE INDIGENOUS LEARNERS IN MALAYSIA

T. Vanitha Thanabalan English Language Teaching Centre, Kuala Lumpur, 50603 Malaysia

Saedah Siraj & Norlidah Alias

Department of Curriculum and Instructional Technology, Faculty of Education, University of Malaya, Kuala Lumpur, 50603 Malaysia

ABSTRACT

The aim of this study is to develop a literacy pedagogy to facilitate literacy learning among the Indigenous community in Malaysia. The Developmental Research Approach method was used and thus various groups of people participated in the study. They included subject matter experts, English language teachers from schools with indigenous students, indigenous community as well as indigenous learners in the context of the study. Insights gained from these participants were used as content for the design and development of a literacy pedagogical module. The module encompassing a digital story was implemented in two schools for indigenous students situated in Peninsular Malaysia. Findings from the study indicated that the literacy pedagogy in the module was a successful intervention which enabled the indigenous learners to respond and engage in the lessons. Evaluation of the module also revealed that literacy initiatives for the indigenous learners should be culturally responsive and relevant to the community. Central to this study is the underlying principles on designing of pedagogical efforts for the indigenous people while underlying these principles are experiences and practices recorded through interviews as well as observations.

Keywords: Responsive Pedagogy; Indigenous Learners; Literacy pedagogy; Developmental Research Approach.

INTRODUCTION

It has been noted that the literacy level and learning achievement among the Indigenous children is low in Malaysia (UNICEF Malaysia, 2008). The illiteracy rate among the Indigenous children is also alarming. Redzuan and Gill (2008 reported that the illiteracy rate among this group is 49.2% compared to 6.4% at the national level. Another serious problem of the Indigenous people is the high dropout rate. About 62% of Indigenous children drop out of school every year and 94.4% do not complete secondary school (Kamarulzaman Kamarudin & Osman Jusoh, 2008). The percentage of passes among the Indigenous children in Year 6 is between 43% to 59% compared to 78% at the national level. This calls for serious attention and the government of Malaysia has taken several initiatives in addressing the issue. The Ninth Malaysia Plan for example focuses on the effort to address gaps in access, equity and quality of education especially among vulnerable groups such as the Indigenous children. The National Education Blueprint or NEB has specified various efforts to provide equal facilities and education to both rural and urban schools. It is crucial that steps are taken to improve the standard of education among the Indigenous students. One such effort is to look at ways to increase their literacy by making reading materials effective and relevant to their context. The present study is an initiative to design a literacy pedagogy to facilitate literacy among the indigenous learners. To this end, this paper will present data collected during the design and development of a literacy pedagogical module. Implications of the study for literacy development for the indigenous community in general will also be discussed.

In a literacy pedagogy, there are two important dimensions to be given serious consideration; text and its content as well as how it is connected to the learners' context. The following sections will highlight these two dimensions and subsequent section will discuss features of pedagogical practices or better known as Responsive Pedagogy in other countries. It should also be noted that the design for the literacy pedagogy described in this study is based on the principles and practices adopted in countries with indigenous communities. The following discussion will present some of the principles and experiences in such contexts.

Text plays a significant role in reading comprehension. With the increasing impact of multimodality on literacy, it is necessary to pay serious attention to the structure and content of the text so that it matches with learners' experiences in their context. At the same time, learners' prior knowledge, reading instructions and the difficulty of the reading material are important aspects that affect comprehension (Israel & Duffy, 2009). It is therefore necessary that material production and in this sense the reading text, takes into account learners' experiences in their contexts and their cultural practices are important aspects as well.

Rushton (2007) argued that most models of reading used in syllabus and curriculum acknowledge the fact that reading is a sociocultural practice. The context and situation influence the meaning individuals make from a text.



Rushton also noted that each individual brings prior knowledge and understanding to a text. Rushton's contention is that text plays a significant factor in the teaching of reading especially in the early years. Working with several communities across Australia, Rushton focused specifically on Indigenous groups who were showing poor performance in literacy; this under-achievement in literacy was a barrier to educational success.

Rushton worked with the indigenous community using texts written in the indigenous language. She argued that engagement in reading among young readers can be achieved if the types of texts chosen are relevant to the young readers in the classroom. These texts provide opportunity for young readers to participate with some understanding. The texts reflect the subject matter, wordings and grammatical features of the oral or written text that the child encounters in the community (Rushton, 2007). Rushton concluded her multi-case study by stating that text which reflect the social and linguistic resources of the local community can provide strong support to the young reader's literacy development. In line with this view, the literacy pedagogy developed in this study attempted to include the indigenous students' life experience and context as major part of the content. Technology played a role in the literacy pedagogy by providing a multimodal approach to generate interest in the young readers.

Responsive Pedagogy

A Responsive Pedagogy (RP) has the learners' context as a central role in the classroom. Such a pedagogy has long been advocated for learners from diverse cultural groups. In countries like Canada, New Zealand and Australia, RP has resulted in many positive pedagogical implications. The following section is an account of several cases where RP had proved effective in students' engagement and achievement in learning. However, first it is important to discuss RP to understand the concepts and elements that comes with it.

RP is often related to culture and context of learners from diverse cultural and linguistic groups. The Indigenous or the Aboriginal groups belong to such groups. A culturally responsive pedagogy focuses on 'literacy teaching and learning that draws from and builds upon the student's background and experiences they bring to the classroom' (Fairbanks, Cooper, Masterson & Webb, in Israel & Duffy, 2009, p. 590). Fairbanks et al. stressed that Responsive Pedagogy (RP) is not only about integrating student's cultural, historical, social and linguistic experience in the teaching and learning process. RP also entails the belief that students from diverse background can participate in learning experience which encourages higher thinking skills in response to text. The role of the teacher therefore is of paramount importance in initiating effort to integrate students' cultures into school learning experience (Fairbanks et al., 2009). In relation to this, Gay (2000) in Israel and Duffy (2009) discussed the role of a teacher in a "culturally responsive teaching" as extending beyond cultural relevance. The teacher, Gay argued, has to respond to the daily lived experience of the students with emphasis on their prior experiences, frames of reference, and styles of performance.

Te Kotahitanga for example is a research and professional development project aimed at improving education achievement of Maori students in the mainstream in New Zealand (Bishop, 2009). Maori, the indigenous people in New Zealand have a history of low academic achievement, high rate of suspension from school, low rate of enrolment in pre-school programs and over-represented in low stream education classes (Hood, 2007, in Bishop, 2009). It was also reported that approximately 50% of Maori students leave school without any qualifications and only 18.4% achieve university entrance compared to 67.9% of the non-Maori students (Hood, 2006, in Bishop, 2009). To address this issue, Te Kotahitanga was an initiative to improve education among the Maori through uncovering their experiences and cultural aspirations (Bishop, 2009). The project focused on students' voices, their stories about their experiences in class and the meanings they made of these experiences. These stories were collected based on a series of in-depth conversations with 70 Maori students, their families, and teachers.

Three major findings emerged from this project. First, it uncovered the discursive position in the classroom which reflected deficit theorizing among the teachers. Teachers had low expectation on students' ability and this was reflected in the traditional classroom practices, remedial programs and behavior modification programs. Second, the narratives provided opportunity for critical reflection among teachers on their discursive positions in the classroom and how this affected students' learning. Thirdly, the narratives proved the relevance of a culturally responsive pedagogy for the Maori students where learning is interactive and culture is important.

In short, Te Kotahitanga is a pedagogical effort to reform the teaching and learning condition in the Maori classroom. It is a responsive pedagogy developed with the context and needs of the Maori people in mind. Bishop (2009) reported that the project was a success as there was significant improvement in Maori students' engagement and achievement in learning. Similar initiatives were reported in Canada (Epstein & Xu, 2003), New Zealand (Franken & McComish, 2003) and America (Johnson, 2011).



In Malaysia similar issues arise with the education of the minority ethnic group, the Orang Asli community. This indigenous community has diverse cultures and languages which are not addressed in the national curriculum. Their academic performance is lower compared to the national standard while their dropout rate is also very high. Efforts towards developing a responsive pedagogy known as 'Kurikulum Asas Penan (KAP)' or 'The Integrated School Curriculum for pupils of the Indigenous People' were initiated by the government. The aim of this curriculum is to increase proficiency in reading, writing and arithmetic among the Indigenous pupils. The curriculum was designed based on the needs, environment and socio-cultural aspects of the Orang Asli and Penan (an indigenous group in east Malaysia). The curriculum was piloted in 2006 in six schools throughout the country. Preliminary findings on the effectiveness of the curriculum showed that the content was still not appropriate for the Orang Asli students in term of level and needs (Mohd Aziz, Mohamad Shamsuddin, & Noor Akbari, 2008). The findings revealed that the content level was too high and the students could not follow it. At the same time teachers did not have exposure on the lives and cultures of the Orang Asli students. As a result the curriculum had to be reviewed to make it more responsive to the Orang Asli students.

A culturally responsive pedagogy has the potential to motivate students to read (Saedah Siraj, Zaharah Hussin, Melati Sumari, Habib Mat Som, & Kamaliah Siraj, 2010). In developing a module to faciliate reading, Saedah et al. incorporated elements from the culture and life experiences of the Temuan students (a sub-ethnic indigenous group in Malaysia) in the reading activities. Findings of this study revealed that the students enjoyed reading and carrying out the activities especially when the activities involved technology. The study also indicated that the reading style of the Temuan students were different and thus they needed a different pedagogical approach.

Based on the discussion on RP, it is evident that teaching can be relevant and effective when the context of the learners is given priority in the curriculum and pedagogy. The present study looked into ways of integrating indigenous learners' context and life experiences in the literacy pedagogy. Specifically the study concentrated on designing a digital reading text and the teaching instructions to utilize the text in a literacy lesson. The next section presents the methodology of the study.

The Aim of Research

The aim of this research is to develop a literacy pedagogy to facilitate literacy learning among the Indigenous community. Content for pedagogy was sought from experts and the indigenous community. Specifically the study concentrated on strategies to integrate indigenous learners' context and life experiences as integral part in their literacy learning. The design and development of the pedagogy was based on the finding in phase which involved the needs analysis. In sum, the study aimed at answering the following research question:

RQ: What is the most appropriate design for the development of a literacy pedagogy for the indigenous learners?

SIGNIFICANCE OF THE STUDY

This study has made some pertinent observations and recommendations for the further enhancement of literacy programs for young learners from the indigenous context in the ESL classrooms. For example, the study builds on knowledge of how a Responsive Pedagogy can be developed to facilitate reading among the indigenous students. Thus, for practitioners as well as policy makers, this study serves as a framework for planning and implementing reading pedagogy that is responsive to the indigenous students in term of their needs.

Secondly, the study utilized the developmental research method in producing the reading text. This methodology which involved the use of different sources and techniques of data collection has resulted in the design and development of the DS pedagogical module and the digital story as reading text specifically. This methodology can be replicated for other type of material development not only within the scope of ESL; other contexts of learning can also benefit from this methodology.

Finally, this study is significant for the enhancement of research on the indigenous community. The diverse cultures of the indigenous people should be observed through ethnographical studies which can inform the pedagogical needs of the students. There is a need to record indigenous knowledge and their cultural context to guide education planning such as effective literacy programs. Here, technology plays its role by creating an environment conducive to learning; for the young learners of today who are familiar with the online environment, literacy is not just limited to words but also visual literacy.

Scope and Limitations

There are various sub ethnic groups of indigenous people in Malaysia. However the present study concentrated on one group, the Temuans. Findings from the context of this study may not reflect the conditions and



experiences of other sub ethnics in other parts of the country. Furthermore, the study focused on the development of reading while writing was integrated.

Methodology

The research is designed based on the Developmental Research Approach (DRA). Development research is the systematic study of design, development and evaluation processes aimed at establishing an empirical basis for the creation of instructional and non- instructional products and new or enhanced models that govern their development (Richey & Klein, 2007). The three phases in this study included needs assessment (phase 1), design and development (phase 2) and evaluation (phase 3). These three phases and the procedure will be explained next. This paper will discuss findings from phase 2 where the literacy pedagogy was designed and developed.

1. Phase 1: finding out the needs of the indigenous learners in literacy learning.

The research question for phase 1 was: What are the issues and needs of the indigenous learners in literacy learning? A total of twelve participants including teachers, parents and officers in the education field related to the Indigenous community were interviewed. The interview focused on gathering of issues and needs concerning the indigenous learners in literacy. The data were recorded, transcribed and coded according to themes. Curriculum document for Year 5 was also analyzed to ensure the pedagogy was designed in line with the skill. Findings and conclusions from the analysis phase were used to design the content in phase 2.

2. Phase 2: designing the literacy pedagogy.

Data were collected from two sources; Interview with experts in the field and observations of daily events at the context of the study. A total of twelve experts from various fields such as in English language teaching, material development in ESL, curriculum development and expert knowledge base of the indigenous community participated in the interview. Data from the interviews were analyzed, coded and categorized. The emerging themes were collated according to content for the module and cross checked by the experts for reliability. Data from observation involved the students, parents, and village community in two particular indigenous settings. Video camera recordings of daily events in the two settings were made and later analyzed for the content. Events that captured the cultural background, distinct daily experiences and natural sites were selected to be included in the module.

Based on the insights from the interviews and observations, content for a reading unit was designed. Later the design was translated into a pedagogical module comprising a reading text and the teaching instructions. The reading text, a story about an indigenous boy was written and designed as a digital story which was presented in the form of a video. Participants in the story were taken from the context of the study which included mainly the indigenous community. The final product that emerged from the design and development phase was a digital story pedagogical module which was implemented as well as evaluated in two primary schools for the indigenous learners.

THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK

The present study was guided by the schema theory which emphasized learners' background knowledge. Brown (2001) describes two types of schema; content schema and formal schema. Content schema includes knowledge about people, the world, culture and the universe. Formal schema is knowledge about the discourse structure. Content schema refers to understanding of the text and the cultural elements needed to interpret it. This cultural element is a major aspect that influences the understanding of a text (Carrell, 1983, in Ahmad, 2006). Carrell suggests that reading teachers should ascertain that the reading text matches the student's culture. The reading material should activate the student's schema and this leads to understanding of the text.

In view of the schema theory, Coady (1979) in Carell et al. (1996) describes reading as an interpretive process. Coady explains how readers' background knowledge interacts with their conceptual abilities and process strategies in comprehending the text. Conceptual abilities refer to the general intellectual ability while processing strategies refer to language processing skills including lexical meaning, syntactic information and contextual meaning. Background knowledge according to Coady will help the reader to comprehend better and involve the reader in the text. Readers are able to understand better because they can take the text beyond its graphic representation and assign the task to the knowledge and concepts already stored in the memory. This is further supported with the attitude and beliefs the readers bring to the text. Therefore, Coady suggests that the linguistic ability together with the knowledge of the world enables the reader to comprehend the text. This interaction can be seen in Figure 1.





Figure 1. Coady's (1979) model of the ESL Reader.

Content knowledge of a second language learner is often culture-specific (Carrell & Eisterhold, 1983). Thus, it is important to provide text familiar to the learner and one with which they can relate. One method of maximizing learners' cultural schema is by using the students' own ideas and words in the reading text as proposed by the Language Experience Approach (Rigg, 1981, in Carrell & Eisterhold, 1983). The other method is by developing reading material with the local settings and specialized low frequency vocabulary. This method is important for learners with low proficiency who need facilitation in vocabulary. McVee, Dunsmore, and Gavalek (2005) reviewed the influence of cultural perspectives on learners' schema. In explaining the origin of schema, McVee et al. stressed that schemas or cognitive structures emerge or transform as a result of transactions with the world through material and ideational means. Thus, culture and social aspects of the learners are important elements that constitute the schema of the individual learner. The present study which was aimed at developing a literacy pedagogy was designed based on principles related to the schema theory. Context of the learners which included tneir experience and culture was important elements in the literacy pedagogy. The content of the text was based on insights from the context of the learners. The activities were also designed based on the context and experiences of the learners. This was to enable the students to draw on their background knowldege or schema when responding to the text.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The findings presented in this section were gained as a result of data analyzed from the interviews and observations during the design stage in Phase 2.

Insights from Interviews with Experts

Table 1 gives the suggestions by experts regarding the context and instructions for the proposed digital story taking into account the environment of the Orang Asli.

1. Content of the text	Findings
Theme	Should be based on life experience of the Orang Asli people. Nature, forest, animals
	and fishing activities should also be built in as important part of the content.
Plot	Experts suggested that life of Orang Asli and their experience with nature
	specifically the importance of the forest be used as the plot for the text. It should also
	include aspects that the Orang Asli were familiar with such as the trees, the plants,
	the river and their home. Entertainment such as music and song were other elements
	suggested for the plot.
Setting	Setting for the text as suggested by the experts includes mainly the Orang Asli
	context, and familiar surroundings to the Orang Asli students (e.g., animals, trees,
	river, forest, village and mountain).
Character	The experts suggested that character should be the Orang Asli community itself.
Language	Where language is concerned, the experts indicated that the native language was used
	to explain meaning. Sentences should be simple while vocabulary should be simple
	and context based.
2. Instructions	
Comprehension	The experts suggested the following strategies to be included in the module.
strategy	1. Repetition and oral practice of drilling.

Table 1: Findings on Suggestions for Context and Instruction from Interviews with Experts



	2. F	Reading aloud.	
	3. 1	Translation (using the first language)	
	4. F	Providing support structures such as ill	ustrations and narration to facilitate
	с	omprehension.	
Task/ Activities	Task/ acti	vities suggested were:	
	1. (Context specific task.	
	2. A	Art work.	
	3. H	Hands on activities.	
	4. S	Song based activities.	
	5. 0	Online interactive activities.	
Design of classroom	All the ex	sperts felt that the instruction should	be simple and behavioral in nature.
instructions	Therefore	Gagne's nine step instruction was a	chosen to guide the structure of the
	pedagogic	al instruction. The nine steps are struc	ctured as can be seen in the following
	table.		
	Step	Event	Task
	1	Gaining attention	Language games, songs,
			retelling.
	2	Informing objectives	Inform the students of the task.
	3	Recalling prior knowledge	Clips of previous chapter.
	4	Providing stimulus	Present the story according to
			chapters.
	5	Providing learner guidance	Vocabulary discussion.
	6	Eliciting performance	Reading comprehension task.
	7	Providing feedback	Oral feedback on responses.
	8	Assessing performance	Comprehension questions based
			on the story.
	9	Enhancing retention and transfer	Reflection on the story.

Insights from observations

A close look at the buildings revealed that the school paid a lot of attention to the Orang Asli culture and the students' interest. The mural paintings in most of the school buildings were based on nature and environment. Images of animals such as elephants and tigers were painted on the classroom walls. Small fish ponds and manmade waterfalls were also built between the classrooms. Figure 2 is an example of mural painting on the school wall.



Figure 2: One of the murals in the school.

The mural paintings as can be seen in Figure 2 reflected the students' interest in animals and the forest. The school had a small canteen located opposite the computer lab. During recess, the students were seen playing some traditional games. There was a special court drawn beside the canteen and the students play after their meal. One of the games observed was called 'galah panjang' which literally meant 'long bamboo' in English. The students explained that they make their own court using long bamboo when they play the game at home. The school had taken the effort to provide space for the students to play the game in school. The court was drawn with paint on the cement floor beside the canteen. The court had two sections and there were four dividing lines. The students divided themselves into two groups and each group had to try and cross the lines without



being touched by any of the members from the opposing team. One observation made during the game was the language used by the students. The students spoke in the Temuan language and they called each other using nick names. Later, from the conversation with the teacher, it was learnt that the students have different names as they were referred to in the village. Some of the names were associated with animals, names of fishes and plants. For example, one of the students was called *Ungkak* which meant 'dog' and another student's nick name was *Tawil* which referred to the name of a fish. The game called 'galah panjang' and the nick names were reflective of the *Temuan* culture in the context of the study and as such it would be relevant to include them in the digital story.

Observations in the village

Most of the students in the school were from the village nearby. It was a small village with mostly wooden houses. The houses were very close to each other and most were similar in structure. Most obvious was the kitchen section of the houses; these were built separately and could be viewed from outside. Figure 3 is an example of the house observed in the context of the study.



Figure 3: An Orang Asli house in the village.

Stacks of wood could be seen near the kitchen and the stove was made of bricks arranged in a triangle shape. Tapioca and rice were the staple food for the people. They also depend a lot on hunting for food. During one of the trips to the village, a group of men were seen busy at work. They were preparing the blowpipe and the quivers. When enquired, the men described how the blowpipe was made and how it was important for their hunting. Figure 4 is the scene where one of the men was making the blowpipe.



Figure 4: An Orang Asli man making a blowpipe.

The blowpipe was made from bamboo. The handle was carved with a kind of blade which, according to the men, had to be done very slowly so that the shape was beautiful. This carving of the handle was done by one person while the quivers were made by a few men. Different types of bamboo shoots were used to make the quivers. Making the quivers needed a lot of time as they have to be really sharp. The men also described how a special kind of poisonous glue was spread on the quivers at the final stage. This glue can only be handled by



experienced men because it can cause immediate death on contact. A hut was built outside the house for the men to gather and make the blowpipe.

Making the blowpipe was a cultural experience for the Orang Asli community in this village. The skill was passed on to the younger generation as could be seen in the village. This experience was valuable as it reflected the lifestyle of the people in the context of the study. Thus this event of making the blowpipe was chosen for inclusion in the digital story.

The village was surrounded by bamboo and rubber trees. There was also thick jungle behind some of the houses. Apart from hunting, the people also collect bamboo and rubber to be sold. Figure 5 is the scene of the surroundings of the village.



Figure 5: The village surroundings.

Another observation from the people in the village was the special interest they had in fishing. From the conversation with some of the villagers it was noted that they loved to fish whenever they had the time. They make their own fishing rod with the bamboo and they fish at the river nearby the village. During one of the conversations with the students in the school, it was noted that most of the students mentioned fishing as their favourite pastime.

As this experience also conveyed part of the cultural practices of the Indigenous community in the context of the study, it was also selected as part of the plot for the digital story.

IMPLICATION AND CONCLUSIONS

This paper has described the process of how a literacy pedagogy for a group of Indigenous learners was designed based on the principle of a responsive pedagogy. Findings from this study showed that surrounding and life experiences of the Indigenous learners are different from the students in the mainstream. Their life is so rich with culture and there is a great importance given on family relationships. Environment and animals are of great value for this people. Their daily experiences revolve around their home and village. These aspects from the context of the indigenous people became the major content in the pedagogy. The text and the teaching module were designed and developed based on the content.

The reading text

Based on the insights from the interviews and observations, a digital text was developed. The genre was a story and the content was about an indigenous boy who undergoes a conflict between going to school and helping his parents at home; a prominent issue among the indigenous community as highlighted in the interviews. The story was edited by a novelist, an indigenous himself who had worked with the various groups of indigenous people in the country. Later the text was digitalized with videos of people acting out the scenes in the story. All the people and the scenes in the story were based on the indigenous context. The reading text was further presented to a panel of experts for validation in the areas of language and content. Figure 6, Figure 7 and Figure 8 show examples of the products prepared for the pedagogical module.





Figure 6: Screen shot of instructions for creating a bamboo fishing rod.



Figure 7: Screen shot of a drag-and-drop activity in the module.



Figure 8: Screen shot of the pedagogical module.



The teaching instructions

Insights from the interviews and observations have revealed that the indigenous learners have very poor memory and thus face problem in learning. So the experts have suggested that a lot of drills and repetition are necessary. In relation to these issues, the teaching instructions for the literacy pedagogy were designed based on Gagne's nine events of instruction. The digital text was divided to six sections and each section has a set of instructions.

In conclusion, a culturally responsive pedagogy recognizes cultural knowledge, prior experiences and values of the community concerned. It has the learner's context and experience playing a central role in the learning process. Research in this area has proven that instruction through responsive pedagogical model has positive impact on students' knowledge and skill. The present study had the involvement of the indigenous learners and community as major part of the content. This participation has created excitement and motivation among the learners. As in the other parts of the world, this study has added to the knowledge base of literacy development that the indigenous population require literacy initiatives that are grounded on responsive pedagogy.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Funding of this research work was generously supported by grants from University of Malaya, Malaysia.

REFERENCES

- Bishop, R. (2009). Te Kotahitanga: Addressing educational disparities facing Maori students in New Zealand. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 25, 734-742.
- Carrell, P.L. and Eisterhold, J.C. (1983) "Schema Theory and ESL Reading Pedagogy", in Carrell, P.L.,
- Devine, J. and Eskey, D.E. (eds) (1988) *Interactive Approaches to Second Language Reading*. Cambridge: CUP.
- Epstein, R. I., & Xu, X. J. (2004). Roots and wings: Teaching English as a second dialect to Aboriginal students: A review of the literature.
- Franken, M., & McComish, J. (2003). Characteristics of quality teaching for students in New Zealand schools whose first language is not English. Retrieved from

http://researchcommons.waikato.ac.nz/bitstream/handle/10289/3228/Franken

- Hood Salleh. (2004). Dunia peribumi dan alam sekitar: Langkah ke hadapan. Bangi, Selangor: Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia.
- Israel, S. E., & Duff, G. G. (2009). Handbook of research on reading comprehension. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Johnson, S. (2009). Canada: A nation by any other name. Retrieved from http://www.economist.com/blogs/johnson/2011/05/canada
- Kamarulzaman, K., & Osman, J. (2008). Educational policy and opportunities of Orang Asli: A study on indigenous people in Malaysia. *The Journal of Human Resource and Adult Learning*, 4(1), 86-97.
- McVee, B., Dunsmore, K., & Gavelek, J. R. (2005). Schema Theory revisited. Review of educational research, 75(4), 531-566. Retrieved from http://ver.aera.net
- Mohd Aziz, M. D., Mohammad Shamsuddin, J., & Noor Akbari, I. (2008). Evaluation of the 'Projek Rintis' for teaching and learning based on the Integrated curriculum for pupils of the indigenous people and Penan in the state of Kelantan. *Proceedings in Indigenous pedagogies in diverse cultural contexts: Issues, challenges and opportunities.* Organized by Teacher Education Division, Ministry of Education, Malaysia.
- Redzuan, M., & Gill, S. (2008). Orang Asli: Isu, transformasi dan cabaran. Serdang, Malaysia: Universiti Putra Malaysia.
- Richey, R. C., Klein, J. D., & Nelson, W. A. (2002). Developmental Research: Studies of Instructional Design and Development. Retrieved from http://www.aect.org/edtech/41.pdf
- Rushton, K. (2007). The significance of text in the teaching of reading in the early years. In Alyson Simpson (Ed.), *Future Directions in Literacy: International Conversations Conference 2007* (pp. 256–268). Sydney, Australia: University of Sydney Press.
- Saedah, S., Zaharah, H., Melati, S., Habib, M. S., & Kamaliah, S. (2010). *Modul kurikulum asas membaca Orang Asli*. Monograf Fakulti Pendidikan. Kuala Lumpur: Ampang Press.
- UNICEF Malaysia (n.d.). Folklores to Improve children literacy. Retrieved from www.unicef.org/malaysia/media_7099.html



DEVELOPMENT OF THE INFORMATION SOCIETY AND ITS IMPACT ON THE EDUCATION SECTOR IN THE EU: EFFICIENCY AT THE REGIONAL (NUTS 2) LEVEL

Aleksander Aristovnik University of Ljubljana, Faculty of Administration, Slovenia aleksander.aristovnik@fu.uni-lj.si

ABSTRACT

Information and communication technology (ICT) is one of the most important driving forces promoting economic growth in the economy. However, one puzzling question concerns the efficient and effective impact of ICT on educational outputs and outcomes. Therefore, the purpose of the paper is to discuss and review some previous research studies on development of the information society and its impact on educational outputs/outcomes at regional level. Respectively, a definition, measurements and the empirical application of the efficiency and effectiveness of the ICT at the regional (NUTS 2) level in the EU is considered (based on 2007–2011 average data). The research findings suggest that a wide range of NUTS 2 regions is characterized by a relatively low efficiency rate of transforming information society progress into educational outputs/outcomes, particularly in Eastern and Southern Europe.

Keywords: information technology; education; efficiency; DEA; EU; NUTS-2 regions

INTRODUCTION

Widespread use of the information and communication technology (ICT) and also the Internet and the Word Wide Web (WWW) have led to the development of what is often referred to as the information society. One puzzling question concerns the effective impact of information society development on educational outputs and outcomes. As ICTs are being increasingly used in education, indicators to monitor their impact and demonstrate accountability to funding sources and the public are ever more needed. Indicators are required to show the relationships between technology use and educational performance. There is also a need to show that education should be seen as using technology not only as an end in itself, but as a means to promote creativity, empowerment and equality and produce efficient learners and problem solvers. Many academic researchers have tried to answer this question at theoretical and empirical levels. They have faced two main difficulties. On one hand, student performance is hard to observe and there is still confusion about its definition. On the other, ICT entails evolving technologies and their effects are difficult to isolate from their environment. Consequently, the relationship between the development of the information society and educational performance is unclear, and contradictory results are presented in the literature (Youssef & Dahmani, 2008). Recently, there have been several initiatives to assess and monitor the efficiency of ICT sector indicators and their impact on education. Some studies conclude that the information society's development has a positive impact on education outcomes (see Balanskat et al., 2006; Yusuf, & Afolabi, 2010; Shaikh, 2009; Jayson, 2008; Shaheeda et al., 2007, Iqbal & Ahmed, 2010; Hameed, 2006; Amjad, 2006; Khan, and Shah, 2004; Aristovnik, 2012). Conversely, others point out that the impact is unclear (see Trucano, 2005; Cox, and Marshall, 2007; Machin et al., 2006; Leuven et al., 2004). Nevertheless, the existing literature reveals a gap in the empirical knowledge of the information society and its impact and efficiency on educational outputs/outcomes at the EU regional level. Therefore, this paper seeks to fill this gap.

The paper is structured as follows: first, a brief review of the methodology and data is presented and the specifications of the models are defined. The next section outlines the results of a non-parametric efficiency analysis in order to assess the impact of information society development on educational performance. The final section provides some concluding remarks.

METHODOLOGY AND DATA

We adopted the mathematical development of Data Envelopment Analysis (DEA) by Charnes et al. (1978) who built on the work of Farrell (1957) and others. DEA is a linear programming-based methodology that has proven to be a successful tool for measuring efficiency. It computes the comparative ratio of outputs to inputs for each unit, with the score expressed as 0–100%. It is used to identify best practices and is increasingly becoming a popular and practical management tool. DEA was initially used to investigate the relative efficiency of non-profit organizations but now its use has spread to hospitals, schools, banks and network industries, among others (Avkiran, 2001). DEA empirically identifies the best producers by forming the efficient frontier (composed by efficient producers) based on observed indicators from all producers. We refer to the producers as decision-making units (DMUs). A DMU with a score of less than 100% is inefficient compared to other units. Consequently, DEA bases the resulting efficiency scores and potential efficiency improvements entirely on the actual performance of other DMUs, free of any questionable assumptions regarding the mathematical form of the



underlying production function. We use the DEA methodology to evaluate the relative efficiency of each region as it converts, for instance, Internet use into tertiary educational attainment. In our analysis we focus on the NUTS classification (Nomenclature of territorial units for statistics), which is a hierarchical system for dividing up the economic territory of the EU for the statistical, regional and other purposes. Indeed, we identify the regions (NUTS 2) as the DMUs. The Level 2 of the nomenclature (NUTS 2) has 271 regions in the considered period. Let n (=271) be the number of (EU NUTS 2) regions in the data set. Let X_{ij} be the amount of input iconsumed by Region j, for i = 1 and j = 1, 2, ..., 271. Let Y_j be the number of patent applications by Region j, for j = 1, 2, ..., 271. We are now ready to present the output-oriented DEA model for Region k, k = 1, 2, ..., 271. We must solve one such linear programming model for each region. Mathematically, the technical efficiency of each DMU is computed as:

$$Max \ \phi_k \tag{1}$$

subject to

$$\sum_{j=1}^{271} \lambda_j X_{ij} \le X_{ik} \quad for \quad i = 1, 2, 3$$

$$\tag{2}$$

$$\sum_{j=1}^{271} \lambda_j Y_j \ge \phi_k Y_k \tag{3}$$

$$\sum_{i=1}^{271} \lambda_j = 1 \tag{4}$$

$$\lambda_{j} \ge 0 \quad for \quad j = 1, 2, ..., 271$$
 (5)

$$\phi_{k\geq 0}$$
 (6)

We observe that setting $\lambda_k=1$, $\lambda_j=0$ for $j\neq k$ and $\emptyset_k=1$ is a feasible but not necessarily optimal solution to the linear program for Region k. This implies that \emptyset_k^* , the optimal value of \emptyset_k , must be greater than or equal to 1. The optimal value, \emptyset_k^* , is the *overall inverse efficiency* of DMU k, which represents one plus the proportion by which Region k can increase its patent applications. For instance, if $\emptyset_k^*=1.10$, then Region k can increase its output by 10% without increasing any of its inputs. We refer to $E_k^*=1/\emptyset_k^*$ as the *overall efficiency* of region k. Thus, if $\emptyset_k^*=1.10$ then $E_k^*=0.91$ and we can say that Region k is 91% efficient overall. The left-hand side of Equations (2) and (3) are weighted averages because of Equations (4) and (5), of the inputs and output, respectively, of the 271 regions. At optimality, that is with the λ_j replaced by λ_j^* , we call the left-hand side of Equations (2) and (3) the *target inputs* and *target outputs* respectively, for Region k.

In the majority of studies using DEA the data are analysed cross-sectionally, with each decision-making unit (DMU) - in our case a region - being observed only once. Nevertheless, data on DMUs are often available over multiple time periods. In such cases, it is possible to perform DEA over time where each DMU in each time period is treated as if it were a distinct DMU. However, in our case the data set for all the tests in the study includes average (available) data for the 2006–2009 period (for inputs) and for the 2010–2011 period (for outputs) in order to evaluate long-term efficiency measures as the effects of information society are characterized by time lags in selected EU (NUTS 2) regions. The inputs utilized are households that have Internet access at home (% of households with at least one member aged 16 to 74) (HIA) and the percentage of households with broadband access in relation to households with Internet access (% of households with at least one member aged 16 to 74 and Internet access) (HBA). As the total efficiency score also comprises contributions from the nondiscretionary (i.e. uncontrolled) variables, we included selected non-discretionary variables. In our case, regional gross domestic product (PPS per inhabitant in % of the EU-27 average) (GDP) and population density (inhabitants per km²) (POPDEN) were included in the model. In the analysis, the output/outcome can be in the form of pupils and students in upper secondary and post-secondary non-tertiary education (ISCED 3-4) (% of the population aged 15-24 years) (SECED), students in tertiary education (ISCED 5-6) (% of the population aged 20-24 years) (TERED), pupils and students at all levels of education (ISCED 0-6) (% of total population) (EDTOT), tertiary educational attainment (% of the population aged 25–64) (TERAT) and employment rate (of the age group 15–64, in %) (EMPLOY). Based on data availability, up to 146 (out of 271+2 (from Croatia)) EU (NUTS 2) regions are included in the empirical analysis. Eventually, due to limited data availability, most NUTS



2 regions from Germany, Greece, France, Poland and the UK are not included in the analysis. The data come from the Eurostat database.

Table 1. Correlation coefficients among the inputs and outputs									
	HIA	HBA	GDP	POPDEN	SECED	TERED	EDTOT	TERAT	EMPLOY
Inputs (discretio	nary)								
HIA	1.000								
HBA	0.456	1.000							
Inputs (non-disc	retionary)	•							
GDP	0.375	0.138	1.000						
POPDEN	-0.054	0.104	0.039	1.000					
Outputs									
SECED	0.235	0.062	0.161	-0.098	1.000				
TERED	0.264	0.198	0.228	-0.086	0.102	1.000			
EDTOT	0.519	0.104	0.141	0.016	0.424	0.595	1.000		
TERAT	0.473	0.458	0.248	-0.007	0.162	0.600	0.569	1.000	
EMPLOY	0.577	0.308	0.252	-0.053	0.083	0.205	0.263	0.390	1.000

 Table 1: Correlation coefficients among the inputs and outputs

Source: Eurostat, 2013; own calculations.

The degree of correlation between inputs and outputs is an important issue that has a great impact on the robustness of the DEA model. Thus, a correlational analysis is crucial to establish appropriate inputs and outputs. On one hand, if very high correlations (higher than 0.95) are found between an input variable and any other input variable (or between an output variable and any of the other output variables), this input or output variable may be thought of as a proxy for the other variables. On the other hand, if an input variable has a very low correlation with all the output variables (or an output variable has a very low correlation with all the input variables) this may indicate that this variable does not fit the model. In our correlation analysis we could not find any evidence of a very high correlation between the input variables (nor between the output variables) (see Table1). Accordingly, this is a reasonable validation of the presented DEA models. Different inputs and outputs/outcomes are tested in three models (see Table 2). The program used for calculating the relative efficiency scores is the Frontier Analyst 4.0 software.

Model	Innuts		Outputs/Outcomes
wiodel	Inputs		Outputs/Outcomes
	• Households that have Internet access	0	Pupils and students in upper secondary and post-
I	at home (% of households)		secondary non-tertiary education (ISCED 3-4) % of
	(HIA)		the population aged 15–24 years (SECED)
		0	Students in tertiary education (ISCED 5-6) (% of
			the population aged 20–24 years) (TERED)
	• Households that have Internet access	0	Pupils and students at all levels of education
II	at home (% of households)		(ISCED 0-6) (% of total population) (EDTOT)
	(HIA)	0	Tertiary educational attainment (age group 25-64,
	o Percentage of households with		in %) (TERAT)
	broadband access in relation to		
	households with Internet access		
	(% of households) (<i>HBA</i>)		
	• Households that have Internet access	0	Pupils and students at all levels of education
III	at home (% of households)		(ISCED 0-6) (% of total population) (EDTOT)
	(HIA)	0	Employment rate (age group 15–64, in %)
	o Percentage of households with		(EMPLOY)
	broadband access in relation to		
	households with Internet access (% of		
	households) (HBA)		
	(Non-discretionary)		
	• Regional gross domestic product (PPS		
	per inhabitant in % of the EU-27		
	average) (GDP)		
	• Population density (Inhabitants per		
	km^2) (POPDEN)		

Table 2: Input and output/outcome set for the DEA

Source: Eurostat, 2013; own calculations.



In addition, to evaluate the impact of selected information society indicators on education we calculate partial correlation coefficients for different information society (independent) and education (dependent) variables (see Table 3). To see whether, for instance, Internet accessibility has any impact on educational outputs and outcomes, we calculate the partial correlations between different variables while controlling for the other variable(s). We identify that all selected educational output and outcome variables show a moderate and positive (statistically significant) correlation with the share of households that have Internet access at home (HIA) when controlling for the percentage of households with broadband access in relation to households with Internet access (HBA). Indeed, the impact of the share of households with Internet access at home is moderate and positive as the partial coefficient ranges from 0.198 (with TERED) to 0.413 (with EDTOT). The important information society variables that also influence the selected outputs/outcomes are the share of pupils and students at all levels of education (EDTOT) and the share of tertiary educational attainment (TERAT) as the partial coefficient reached 0.214 and 0.309, respectively. Nevertheless, the single most important related variable is the share of households that have Internet access at home (HIA). Therefore, Internet access seems to be a crucial information society variable in order to improve education, training and employment at the regional level within the EU-27. However, in order to achieve these educational and employment improvements, it will be necessary to maintain existing efforts to provide affordable access to the Internet via broadband and to educate people with the necessary skills to enable them to access and exploit the riches of the Internet also for educational and training purposes.

Output/outcome variables	Input variables		
	Households that	Percentage of households	
	have Internet access	with broadband access in	
	at home (% of	relation to households with	
	households) (HIA)	Internet access (% of	
		households) (HBA)	
Pupils and students in upper secondary and post-secondary			
non-tertiary education (ISCED 3-4) % of the population			
aged 15–24 years (SECED)	0.233***	0.053	
Students in tertiary education (ISCED 5-6) (% of the			
population aged 20–24 years) (TERED)	0.198**	0.091	
Pupils and students in all levels of education (ISCED 0-6)			
(% of total population) (EDTOT)	0.413***	0.214**	
Tertiary educational attainment (age group 25–64, in %)			
(TERAT)	0.335***	0.309***	
Employment rate (age group 15–64, in %) (EMPLOY)			
	0.515***	0.063	

Source: Eurostat, 2013; own calculations.

EMPIRICAL RESULTS

The results of the output-oriented VRS formulation of the DEA analysis (based on Models I–III in Table 2) suggest a relatively high level of inefficiency in transforming the benefits of the information society into educational outputs/outcomes in selected EU (NUTS 2) regions and, correspondingly, that there is significant room to improve educational outputs and outcomes. Indeed, the empirical results show that the total number of efficient regions varies significantly from one model to another. There are only six technically efficient EU regions in Model I (see Table 4). However, with only 21.0% of households that have Internet access at home Severozapaden (BG) (which is also one of the least developed regions within the EU) has the lowest level of Internet accessibility among all regions in the sample. Consequently, only Rég. Bruxelles/Brussels Gewest (BE) and Prov. West-Vlaanderen (BE) can serve as a good benchmark for the other regions come from cohesion countries, such as Spain and Slovakia, mainly as a result of their relatively low educational outputs, for instance, the regional sample group average is around 60%). In order to enhance the reliability of the findings, additional inputs and outputs/outcomes were introduced, resulting in models II and III (for details also see Table 2).



	121 re	egions	
The most efficient regions		The least efficient regions	
Bucuresti – Ilfov (RO)	100.0	Illes Balears (ES)	28.3
Praha (CZ)	100.0	Cataluna (ES)	38.6
Prov. West-Vlaanderen (BE)	100.0	Ciudad Autónoma de Melilla (ES)	40.6
Rég. Bruxelles / Brussels			
Gewest (BE)	100.0	Canarias (ES)	41.5
Severen tsentralen (BG)	100.0	Aragón (ES)	42.2
Severozapaden (BG)	100.0	Comunidad Foral de Navarra (ES)	42.8
Prov. Oost-Vlaanderen (BE)	98.6	Západné Slovensko (SK)	43.0
Prov. Limburg (BE)	98.3	Ciudad Autónoma de Ceuta (ES)	43.1
Bratislavský kraj (SK)	95.5	Cantabria (ES)	43.9
Yuzhen tsentralen (BG)	94.8	Východné Slovensko (SK)	44.3
Average Efficiency Score		65.5	
Standard Deviation		17.8	
No. (%) of Efficient Regions		6 (5.0%)	

Table 4. Relative Efficiency (Nouter 1	Table 4:	Relative	Efficiency	(Model I
--	----------	----------	------------	----------

Note: The regions in bold have an above-average number of households that have Internet access. Source: Eurostat, 2013; own calculations

Adding another input and two different outputs in the form (Model II) of the percentage of households with broadband access in relation to households with Internet access (% of households) (*HIA*) and pupils and students at all levels of education (% of total population) (*EDTOT*)/tertiary educational attainment (age group 25–64, in %) (*TERAT*), respectively, the results again show that those regions from Belgium, i.e. Rég. Bruxelles/Brussels Gewest and Prov. Brabant Wallon seem to be the technically most efficient EU regions (see Table 5). Not surprisingly, increasing the number of outputs/outcomes in a relatively small sample leads to a higher number of efficient regions. In general, the rankings among efficient regions remain relatively stable in comparison to Model I (with some new efficient regions from Bulgaria, Romania, Spain and Italy, primary as a result of the low levels of additional input (% of households with broadband access) included in the model).

133 regions					
The most efficient regions	5	The least efficient regions			
Bucuresti – Ilfov (RO)	100.0	Burgenland (AT)	47.3		
Molise (IT)	100.0	Niederösterreich (AT)	51.2		
Nord-Est (RO)	100.0	Strední Cechy (CZ)	53.1		
País Vasco (ES)	100.0	Valle d'Aosta/Vallée d'Aoste (IT)	54.4		
Prov. Brabant Wallon (BE)	100.0	Lombardia (IT)	54.6		
Rég. Bruxelles / Brussels					
Gewest (BE)	100.0	Kärnten (AT)	55.9		
Severen tsentralen (BG)	100.0	Piemonte (IT)	57.3		
Severozapaden (BG)	100.0	Közép-Dunántúl (HU)	57.7		
Sud-Vest Oltenia (RO)	100.0	Illes Balears (ES)	57.8		
Yugozapaden (BG)	100.0	Sredisnja i Istocna Hrvatska (HR)	58.0		
Average Efficiency Score		76.9			
Standard Deviation		12.8			
No. (%) of Efficient Regions		10 (7.5%)			

Note: The regions in bold have above-average number of households that have Internet access. Source: Eurostat, 2013; own calculations

However, among the least efficient regions, surprisingly, some regions from Austria are included (such as Burgenland and Niederösterreich). We can find the main reason for this relative inefficiency in the comparatively highly developed information society and well-below-average educational outputs/outcomes in both mentioned regions (for instance, in Burgenland and Niederösterreich they have only 15.0% and 17.6% of tertiary educational attainment, respectively).



Model III includes two additional (non-discretionary) inputs (GDP and POPDEN) and one additional output/outcome variable to the *EDTOT* variable, i.e. employment rate (age group 15–64, in %) (*EMPLOY*). According to this model, even 31 regions are efficient (see Table 6). The average output efficiency score is relatively high at 94.9, meaning that with the same inputs the average region is producing about 5 percent less than it should if it were efficient. The worst efficiency performers are regions from Italy (e.g. Sardegna, Puglia and Basilicata), Spain (e.g. Principado de Asturias, Cantabria and Canarias) and Croatia (Jadranska Hrvatska and Sredisnja i Istocna Hrvatska), all having an underdeveloped information society and also appearing to be highly inefficient as they have educational results that are 15–20% lower than those under efficient conditions. However, development of the information society, together with its improved efficiency (in terms of educational results), which could significantly contribute to a country's stronger development and growth should remain a top priority in the near future for most EU regions, particularly for catching-up regions.

126 regions					
The most efficient regions		The least efficient regions			
Aland (SE)	100.0	Sardegna (IT)	77.8		
Bratislavský kraj (SK)	100.0	Principado de Asturias (ES)	79.2		
Bucuresti – Ilfov (RO)	100.0	Jadranska Hrvatska (HR)	81.5		
Centro (PT)	100.0	Puglia (IT)	81.7		
Ciudad Autónoma de Ceuta (ES)	100.0	Sredisnja i Istocna Hrvatska(HR)	82.3		
Ciudad Autónoma de Melilla					
(ES)	100.0	Basilicata (IT)	83.1		
Dél-Alföld (HU)	100.0	Sicilia (IT)	84.4		
Flevoland (NL)	100.0	Cantabria (ES)	84.5		
Midtjylland (DK)	100.0	Canarias (ES)	85.1		
Molise (IT)	100.0	Abruzzo (IT)	85.7		
Moravskoslezsko (SK)	100.0	Illes Balears (ES)	86.9		
Niederösterreich (AT)	100.0	Közép-Magyarország (HU)	87.3		
Average Efficiency Score		94.9			
Standard Deviation		5.2			
No. (%) of Efficient Regions		31 (24.6%)			

Table 6.	Relative	Efficiency	(Model III	١
Table 0.	Nelative	Entrency	(Mouel III	,

Note: The regions in bold have above-average number of households that have Internet access. Source: Eurostat, 2013; own calculations

On the other hand, regions from Belgium (e.g. Rég. Bruxelles/Brussels Gewest, Prov. Oost-Vlaanderen), Netherlands (e.g. Flevoland, Utrecht), Sweden (e.g. Aland, Stockholm, Smaland med öarna), Denmark (e.g. Midtjylland) and even Slovakia (Bratislavský kraj) are among the most efficient performers as they all are among the best output/outcome educational performers with a relatively high share of households that have Internet access at home and also broadband access. Therefore, these regions could all serve as a good benchmark for the other EU regions in terms of their information society development and their efficiency.

CONCLUSION

This paper joins the efforts of other scholars in investigating information society efficiency by applying a nonparametric methodology at the regional level in the EU. In this respect, the Data Envelopment Analysis (DEA) technique was presented and then applied to a wide range of EU-27 (NUTS 2) regions to evaluate the technical efficiency of harnessing information society riches also for educational and training purposes. The research findings suggest that Rég. Bruxelles/Brussels Gewest, Prov. Oost-Vlaanderen (Belgium), Flevoland, Utrecht (Netherlands), Aland, Stockholm, Smaland med öarna (Sweden), Midtjylland (Denmark) and Bratislavský kraj (Slovakia) belong to the best performing NUTS 2 regions located on the regional efficiency frontier. These EU regions could also serve as peers to improve the efficiency of the less efficient ones. The results confirm the idea that regions with a mature information society generally enjoy better educational outputs and results compared to regions still developing their information society pattern. In contrast, a wide range of NUTS 2 regions from Eastern and Southern Europe is characterized by an extremely low rate of information society development (most of the regions in Bulgaria and Romania) and efficiency in terms of educational outputs/results, particularly in Spain (e.g. Illes Balears, Canarias), Italy (e.g. Sardegna, Sicilia), Czech Republic (e.g. Strední Cechy) and Hungary (e.g. Közép-Dunántúl), suggesting there is still significant potential to develop the information society and improve educational results in many EU regions, particularly those from catching-up EU member states.



Nevertheless, a few limitations of the presented empirical study should be pointed out. Firstly, the application of the presented techniques is hampered by a lack of suitable data. Quality data are called for because the techniques available to measure efficiency are sensitive to outliers and may be influenced by exogenous factors. Secondly, the precise definition of inputs, outputs and outcomes may significantly influence the results. Finally, it seems important to bear in mind that by using a non-parametric approach, and in spite of DEA being an established and valid methodology, differences across countries are not statistically assessed and this may be considered a limitation of the methodology. Hence, further research is clearly needed to eliminate the above deficiencies, in particular to test the influence of environmental factors on ICT efficiency.

REFERENCES

- Amjad, R. (2006). Why Pakistan must break-into the knowledge economy. *Lahore Journal of Economics, Special Edition*, September 2006.
- Aristovnik, A. (2012). The impact of ICT on educational performance and its efficiency in selected EU and OECD countries: a non-parametric analysis. *Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology*, 11(3), 144-152.
- Avkiran, N. K. (2001). Investigating technical and scale efficiencies of Australian Universities through data envelopment analysis. Socio-Economic Planning Sciences, 35(1), 57–80.
- Balanskat, A., Blamire, R., & Kefala, S. (2006). *The ICT impact report: a review of studies of ICT impact on schools in Europe*. Brussels: European Schoolnet.
- Charnes, A., Cooper, W. W., Rhodes, E. (1978). Measuring the efficiency of decision making units. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 2(6), 429–444.
- Cox, M., J., & Marshall, G. M. (2007). Effects of ICT: Do we know what we should know? Education and Information Technologies, 12, 59–70.
- Eurostat. (2011). Information Society. Retrieved March 20, 2013 from

http://epp.eurostat.ec.europa.eu/cache/ITY_OFFPUB/KS-HA-11-001-10/EN/KS-HA-11-001-10-EN.PDF Eurostat. (2013). Statistics Database. Retrieved February 20, 2013 from

- http://epp.eurostat.ec.europa.eu/portal/page/portal/statistics/search_database
- Farrell, M. (1957). The measurement of productive efficiency. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society Series A* (*General*) 120(3), 253–281.
- Hameed, T. (2006). ICT as an enabler for socio-economic development. Digital Opportunity Forum 2006, International Telecommunication Union, Seoul: Korea. Retrieved January 26, 2012, from http://www.itu.int/osg/spu/digitalbridges/materials/hameed-paper.pdf
- Iqbal, M. J., & Ahmed, M. (2010). Enhancing quality of education through e-learning: the case study of Allama Iqbal Open University. *The Turkish Online Journal of Distance Education*, 11(1). Retrieved January 16, 2012 from https://tojde.anadolu.edu.tr/tojde37/articles/article_5.htm
- Jayson, W. R. (2008). ICT in education reform in Cambodia: problems, politics, and policies impacting implementation. *Information Technologies and International Development*, 4(4), 67–82.
- Khan, A. M., & Shah, Q. A. (2004). Study on impact of information and communication technology on decent work in Pakistan. Islamabad: Pakistan Manpower Institute, Ministry of Labour Manpower & Overseas Pakistanis, Government of Pakistan.
- Leuven, E., Lindahl, M., Oosterbeek, H., & Webbink, D. (2004). The effect of extra funding for disadvantaged pupils on achievement. *IZA Discussion Paper*. No. 1122. Bonn: Institute for the Study of Labor.
- Machin, S., McNally, S., & Silva, O. (2006). *New technologies in schools: is there a pay off?* London: Centre for Economic Performance; Bonn: Institute for the Study of Labour.
- Shaheeda, J., D., N., & Laura, C. (2007). The role of ICTs in higher education in South Africa: One strategy for addressing teaching and learning challenges. *International Journal of Education and Development using Information and Communication Technology*. 3(4), 131–142.
- Shaikh, Z. A. (2009). Usage, acceptance, adoption, and diffusion of information and communication technologies in higher education: A measurement of critical factors. *Journal of Information Technology Impact (JITI)*, 9(2), 63–80.
- Trucano, M. (2005). Knowledge maps: ICT in education. Washington, DC: infoDev/World Bank.
- Youssef, B., A., & Dahmani, M. (2008). Student's performances and ICTs. University and Knowledge Society Journal (RUSC), March 2008, 45–56.
- Yusuf, M. O., & Afolabi, A. O. (2010). Effects of computer assisted instruction (cai) on secondary school students' performance in biology. *The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology*, 9(1), 62–69.



DEVELOPMENT OF VISUAL LITERACY LEVELS SCALE IN HIGHER EDUCATION

Rumiye Arslan, Gülbin Zeren Nalinci Amasya University, Faculty of Education 05100 Amasya/Turkey rumiye.arslan@gmail.com guzeren@hotmail.com

ABSTRACT

The aim of this study is to develop a scale determining the visual literacy levels of university students. After reviewing the relevant literature a 75 item draft scale was prepared. The scale was applied to 3^{rd} and 4^{th} year students of Education Faculty of Amasya University. Non-functional items have been excluded from the scale as a result of the factor analysis and 41 items have been included. It has been determined that the statements in the scale are gathered in 7 dimensions. These dimensions consisted of: "Identification of the need for visual", "Finding and accessing visual sources", "Analyzing and interpreting the visuals", "Evaluation of visuals and visual sources", "Effective usage of visuals and visual media", "Designing and creating visuals" and "Taking ethical and legal issues into consideration". The General Cronbach Alpha internal consistency of the scale has been determined as $\alpha = .947$.

Keywords: Visual Literacy, Higher Education, Competency, Performance, Evaluation Instrument

INTRODUCTION

In alignment with the rapid development and change of the information, radical and swift changes take place in the educational process at the level of higher education. These changes increase the quality of the teaching and learning processes by new regulations in higher education, including contemporary methods to the process, so students are prepared for the modern world (Foster, 2008). Also, the formation and the alteration speed of information development have caused substantial changes in the transfer of information from one person to another. The most important change is the way that information is spread. Presently, it is visualized, rather than written or pressed (Tillmann, 2012). Pictures and visuals have almost taken the place of writing in terms of conveying data, information and emotions (Meyer, 2010). Pictures and visuals in the scientific realm have become a medium of self-reflection and analysis. Visuals appear to be both as proposition and as evidence; on the other hand, they are used to document, to design, to model, to experience virtually and to show the visible and non-visible.

VISUAL LITERACY DEFINITIONS

One of the most important considerations in the process of developing an assessment instrument is the correct identification of the characteristics to be measured. Visual literacy is a multi-layered concept. Since it contains many skills, the definition should be formed correctly. Another characteristic of this concept is "trying to express a skill verbally which cannot be basically realized verbally" as Pettersson (1998) stated. As visual literacy contains a number of skills, it is necessary to review definitions that have been given so far. From the review of literature, it is concluded that the visual literacy concept was first defined by Debes (1969):

"Visual Literacy refers to a group of vision-competencies a human being can develop by seeing and at the same time having and integrating other sensory experiences. The development of these competencies is fundamental to normal human learning. When developed, they enable a visually literate person to discriminate and interpret the visible actions, objects, symbols, natural or man-made, that he encounters in his environment. Through the creative use of these competencies, he is able to communicate with others. Through the appreciative use of these competencies, he is able to comprehend and enjoy the masterworks of visual communication." (Debes, 1969:27)

Many researchers were interested in visual literacy concept after Debes (1969) and tried to make definitions from different angles.

The table below presents the skills and the researchers who use these skills in their definitions.



Skills	People who used the skill in their definition		
Recognition	Lacy, 1987		
Understanding	Ausburn and Ausburn, 1978; Braden and Hortin, 1982, Considine, 1986		
Using	Ausburn and Ausburn, 1978; Braden & Hortin, 1982		
Producing	Heinich, Molenda and Russell, 1982; Braden & Hortin, 1982; Considine, 1986; Lacy, 1987		
Connecting	Ausburn and Ausburn, 1978		
Interpretation	Heinich, Molenda and Russell, 1982		
Analyzing	Lacy, 1987		
Evaluation	Lacy, 1987		

Table 1: Skills expressed in visual literacy definitions (Adopted from Ko Hoang, 2000:11)

The definition of the International Visual Literacy Association (IVLA) is still considered to be valid today. Visual literacy is defined by the IVLA as follows:

- "Visual Literacy" is a number of visual competencies with which a human can improve by visual and other sensual experiences.
- "Visual Literacy" is a skill that is learnt in order to make interpretation communication made by visual symbols (pictures) and to produce messages with visual symbols.
- "Visual Literacy" is a skill to convert pictural to verbal and vice versa.
- "Visual Literacy" is a skill to detect and evaluate visual information in the visual environments.



Figure 1: Fields of Visual Literacy

It's rather hard to express all the skills that visual literacy consists of in one definition. Another difficulty is the perpetual increase of visual innovation. In particular, identifying the needed visuals, producing them, producing a new visual from the existing or making changes in the visuals, realizing the changes and not violating the intellectual property rights are the new skills that the digital age requires. Along with this, according to Hattwig (2013), visual literacy intersects with digital technology and digital literacy concepts.

Because digital media has become more extensively used in recent years, some other remarkable definitions have been developed by Philip Yenawind (1997), Larry Johnson (2006) and Susan Metros (2008). According to Yenawind (1997), visual literacy is to determine the meanings of images and to display a set of skills in this process. These skills, in the simplest term, can be varied until the ability to make contextual, metaphoric and philosophic interpretation level which are more complex than identifying an image. In this context, many


cognitive processes, such as association of ideas, investigating, stating opinions, analyzing, determining the situation and classification, take part in the action. Once again, according to Yenawind (1997), fundamental to this literacy is an objective understanding of the visuals. Yet, subjective and affective approaches are also important. In his definition, Larry Johnson (2006) stated that visually literate individuals have an imaginative ability to see and understand the messages communicated with images, as well as to create, modify, and use visual cues and images. According to Susan Metros (2008), visual literacy is the ability to decode and interpret visual messages and also to be able to encode and compose meaningful visual communications. This skill includes the ability to visualize internally, communicate visually, and read and interpret visual images. Also, the skills of deliberative critiquing and ethically evaluating for accuracy and validity of information are within this scope.

In conclusion, the definition adopted by The American Association of College and Research Libraries (ACRL) is stated as follows:

"Visual literacy is a set of abilities that enables an individual to effectively find, interpret, evaluate, use, and create images and visual media. Visual literacy skills equip a learner to understand and analyze the contextual, cultural, ethical, aesthetic, intellectual, and technical components involved in the production and use of visual materials. A visually literate individual is both a critical consumer of visual media and a competent contributor to a body of shared knowledge and culture." (ACRL, 2011)

VISUAL LITERACY COMPETENCY STANDARDS IN HIGHER EDUCATION

Students in higher education can create and share visual contents by means of new digital technologies. However, that prevalence of widely distributed visuals and wide-spread visual media does not mean that all individuals are able to create visual content, use or criticize visuals. Individuals should improve these skills in order to keep up with the visually focused society. Visual literacy skills will enable full participation of individuals in the visual culture.

Visual Literacy Competency Standards in Higher Education has been published by *The American* Association of College and Research Libraries, ACRL. In March 2010, ACRL Information Literacy Standards Committee suggested a proposal to Image Resources Interest Group's, IRIG in order to form visual literacy standards. After this, members of Visual Literacy Standards Task Force, VLTF, gathered information about visual literacy standards by conducting a review of the available literature and sharing the results with an advisory group consisting of librarians, technicians, curators and different managers, as well as arranging meetings with people from different sections of society and different foundations. As a result of the study, the Visual Literacy Task Force text has been created based on the Information Literacy Standards and a first draft was published in 2011. The Competency Standards have been developed with an interdisciplinary approach, filling in the gap of visual literacy in higher education. Presently, even students can utilize visuals for class, projects and academic studies; yet, there is no standard that can be taken as a reference. With realized studies, visual skill fields have been developed. It has been stated in the learning outcomes that it is by education and training that students will learn to perform these skills.

In all scientific fields, students come across images and visual materials in every lecture they take during the education process. Although students are expected to understand, use and create images in academic studies, it is not possible to say that they meet these expectations all the time. Using visuals in scientific studies requires research, interpretation and evaluation skills particular to the visual materials. It's unthinkable that all students have attained these skills. Thus, the mentioned skills should be gained by including visual literacy education in higher education programs. In particular, higher education standards should include visual literacy skills which are necessary to be successful in the contemporary society. In the arguments of transliteracy, metalliteracy and multimodal literacy, it's emphasized that visual literacy is important for the modern-day student (Hattwig, 2013). There are also many resources on visual literacy and visual research. But until now, the visual literacy concept has been approached from an interdisciplinary perspective. Competencies and student learning outcomes pertaining to it have not been stated.

The Visual Literacy Standards in Higher Education guide professors who want to help their students by forming a scientific framework in order to ease and improve their visual literacy skills by using and creating the visual media with a critical approach in their professional lives. With the help of standardized fields, performance indicators and learning outcomes, students who study in different disciplines can presently be observed, measured, compared and discussed using a common language. In this study, seven different standard fields have been determined. In an interdisciplinary, higher education environment, a visually literate individual is able to:

• Determine the nature and extent of the visual materials needed



- Find and access needed images and visual media effectively and efficiently
- Interpret and analyze the meanings of images and visual media
- Evaluate images and their sources
- Use images and visual media effectively
- Design and create meaningful images and visual media
- Understand many of the ethical, legal, social, and economic issues surrounding the creation and use of images and visual media, and access and use visual materials ethically.

Based on the Competency Standards published by the Visual Literacy Standards Task Force, twenty four performance indicators have been determined. For the formation of these indicators, student learning outcomes have been stated in the visual literacy trainings.

Standard One: The visually literate student determines the nature and extent of the visual materials needed. Performance Indicators:

- 1. The visually literate student defines and articulates the need for an image.
- 2. The visually literate student identifies a variety of image sources, materials, and types.

Standard Two: The visually literate student finds and accesses needed images and visual media effectively and efficiently.

Performance Indicators:

- 1. The visually literate student selects the most appropriate sources and retrieval systems for finding and accessing needed images and visual media.
- 2. The visually literate student conducts effective image searches.
- 3. The visually literate student acquires and organizes images and source information.

Standard Three: The visually literate student interprets and analyzes the meanings of images and visual media. Performance Indicators:

- 1. The visually literate student identifies information relevant to an image's meaning.
- 2. The visually literate student situates an image in its cultural, social, and historical contexts.
- 3. The visually literate student identifies the physical, technical, and design components of an image.
- 4. The visually literate student validates interpretation and analysis of images through discourse with others.

Standard Four: The visually literate student evaluates images and their sources.

Performance Indicators:

- 1. The visually literate student evaluates the effectiveness and reliability of images as visual communications.
- 2. The visually literate student evaluates the aesthetic and technical characteristics of images.
- 3. The visually literate student evaluates textual information accompanying images.
- 4. The visually literate student makes judgments about the reliability and accuracy of image sources.

Standard Five: The visually literate student uses images and visual media effectively. Performance Indicators:

- 1. The visually literate student uses images effectively for different purposes.
- 2. The visually literate student uses technology effectively to work with images.
- 3. The visually literate student uses problem solving, creativity, and experimentation to incorporate images into scholarly projects.
- 4. The visually literate student communicates effectively with and about images.

Standard Six: The visually literate student designs and creates meaningful images and visual media. Performance Indicators:

- 1. The visually literate student produces visual materials for a range of projects and scholarly uses.
- 2. The visually literate student uses design strategies and creativity in image and visual media production.
- 3. The visually literate student uses a variety of tools and technologies to produce images and visual media.
- 4. The visually literate student evaluates personally created visual products.

Standard Seven: The visually literate student understands many of the ethical, legal, social, and economic Issues surrounding the creation and use of images and visual media, and accesses and uses visual materials ethically.

Performance Indicators:



- 1. The visually literate student understands many of the ethical, legal, social, and economic issues surrounding images and visual media.
- 2. The visually literate student follows ethical and legal best practices when accessing, using, and creating images.
- 3. The visually literate student cites images and visual media in papers, presentations, and projects. (ACRL, 2011)

Among all studies, the Visual Literacy Competency Standards is the most comprehensive study that can be used as a basis for measuring the competencies of the university students in this field.

In this study, a survey has been developed in order to measure visual literacy levels of the university students by taking standards, performance indicators and learning outcomes identified by ACRL (2011) into consideration.

PURPOSE OF THE RESEARCH

The purpose of this research is to develop a new, valid and reliable Visual Literacy Scale that will measure the visual literacy levels and skills of university students.

METHOD

This study has a descriptive quality. A scale has been developed and utilized by examining the related literature. In-line with the data gathered, a new and useful scale has been developed by subjecting scale items to factor analysis, excluding non-functional items and determining the extent of the scale.

STUDY GROUP

The research sample is composed of 414 students, 254 women and 160 men, studying at Amasya University's Faculty of Education. The study was conducted in the fall semester of the 2012-2013 academic year. In forming the study group, a random cluster sampling was taken from 3rd and 4th year students of the group. The reason for choosing this grade level is the assumption that the students have become more experienced in using visuals during their time at university and will have given at least one presentation by the date of this research. The distribution of the study group according to age and gender is shown in Table 3.

Table 2: Distribution of the Study Group Accord	rding to	Age	and Gender
	Gene	ler	
Departments of Instructor Candidates	Female	Male	Total
School Teaching	121	53	174
Psychological Counseling and Guidance	9	7	16
Social Sciences Teaching	26	34	60
Pre-school Teaching	29	6	35
Science Teaching	24	8	32
Physical Training and Sports Teaching	17	24	41
Turkish teaching	28	28	56
Total	254	160	414

FORMING A DRAFT ASSESSMENT INSTRUMENT

Before developing an assessment instrument, related literature (Debes, 1969; Yenawind, 1997; Tillmann, 2012; Foster, 2008; Meyer, 2010; ACRL, 2011, Avgerinou, 2011; Brumberger, 2011; Felten, 2008; Hattwig, 2013; Yeh, 2010) was examined by collecting publications of related individuals and foundations. This was the basis for the theoretical framework this study establishes trustworthy in regards to visual literacy. Included in the review of the literature was "Visual Literacy Competency Standards in Higher Education" (ACRL, 2011), a contemporary and comprehensive study which has already been referenced. In this study published by ACRL (2011), seven standard fields and twenty-four performance indicators-with a total of one hundred learning outcomes,-have been identified. In the preparation of the scale, the item pool of these 100 items was formed by using both learning outcomes and performance indicators. Then, the items were reduced to 75. Insight into the breadth and scope was obtained by subjecting the prepared scale to the opinion of an assessment specialist and a linguist, and corrections have been made in line with the suggestions. The scale, which the specialists examined, received approval and is ready for implementation. Every item in the survey consisted of 5 Likert Type scale. The answering method of the questions is "(1) absolutely disagree. (2) disagree. (3) neutral. (4) agree. (5) absolutely agree". The maximum points that can be received from the visual literacy skills scale is 375, while the minimum grade is 75. The high grades indicate that the visual literacy skills are high; whereas low grades indicate that the visual literacy skills are low.



DATA ANALYSIS

The prior condition in the scale development study is to have an adequate number of samples. There are different ideas about the number of samples, but it is commonly accepted to keep the sample size five or ten times of the number of items (Büyüköztürk, 2002). With this in mind, 414 higher education students could be adequate. The Higher Education Students Visual Literacy Scale with 75 items was applied to the study groups during one class period with help from the respective professor. Gathered data has been entered into SPSS 20.00 software in order to ensure validity and reliability of the scale analysis statistically. In order to determine the suitability of the gathered data, the factor analysis Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin (KMO) and Bartlett Test analysis were performed and KMO= 0,944; Bartlett x^2 =16865,082: sd=2775 (p=0,000) was determined. After producing a sufficient KMO value, a factor analysis was performed in order to determine the factorial structure. Exploratory factor analysis was performed based upon the gathered data. The scale break down was determined by a principal components analysis. Then, factor loads were examined by using the Varimax rotation technique. Analyses were renewed by eliminating the items for which factor loads were less than .30. The coefficient of internal consistence was determined by using the Cronbach Alpha (0.947) technique for reliability study of the scale. The item-total test correlations were examined in order to identify the items in the Visual Literacy Levels Scale in Higher Education and eigenvalue calculations were made in identifying scale factors.

FINDINGS

In this part of the study, findings and interpretations are offered regarding the validity and reliability studies of the ultimate scale pertaining to the 41 items that remained from the factor analysis of the items in the Visual Literacy Scale in Higher Education. The Kaiser-Meyer Olkin (KMO) coefficient was calculated in order to test the structure validity of the scale.

Table 3: KMO and Bartlett's Test	
er-Olkin Measure of Sampling Adequacy.	

Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin Measure of	,940	
	Approx. Chi-Square	8009,827
Bartlett's Test of Sphericity	df	820
	Sig.	,000

As Table 4 shows, the KMO value has been found to be 0,94. According to Büyüköztürk (2009), this value is a perfect value. Yet, according to the Barlett test result (x^2 =8009,827, p.=.000), it was understood that the factor analysis can be made because it was determined that the data reveals a meaningful difference. The Cronbach Alpha value of the scale was calculated α = .947 in the reliability test. It was noted that the factor loads of the 41 items left in the scale (without rotation) varied between 0,436 and 0,736. In addition, these factor loads varied between 0,419 and 0,787 with rotation after implementation of the Varimax Rotation Technique.

		Tab	le 4: Co	ommun	ality		
Item No.	Factor Load	Item No.	Factor Load	Item No.	Factor Load	Item No.	Factor Load
m1	,690	m16	,477	m44	,580	m69	,582
m2	,736	m21	,534	m47	,688	m70	,660
m3	,680	m22	,699	m48	,582	m71	,612
m4	,456	m23	,724	m52	,455	m72	,600
m9	,436	m24	,655	m58	,471	m73	,561
m10	,521	m25	,532	m59	,477	m74	,609
m11	,627	m30	,462	m60	,670	m75	,517
m12	,631	m31	,552	m61	,599	m65	,553
m13	,584	m33	,535	m62	,535		
m14	,554	m34	,572	m64	,503		
m15	.539	m35	.550	m66	.451		

In the analysis of Table 6; total variance explained gives the eigenvalues before and after rotation and indicates 7 factors. The number of factors was determined as eight in the first implementation of the analysis and the total variance explained was 59,774%. However, only seven aspects have been taken into consideration. In the second



analysis, the number of factors manually entered was 7. As a result of this, it has been determined that the items are in accordance with the considered aspects. Because of this, the number of factors has been restricted. The first factor explains 10,43 %, the second factor explains 9,378 %, the third factor explains 8,366 %, the forth factor explains 7,625 %, the fifth factor explains 7,597 %, the sixth factor explains 7,355 % and the seventh factor explains 6,45 % of the variance. The cumulative variance, which eigenvalues have revealed, is 57,201% of the total variance. It has been accepted that factor loads of more than 0.30 and % 40 total variance explained are adequate in the behavioral sciences. In this case, the quantity explained by the seven factors indicates that the scale is more than adequate (Büyüköztürk, 2009).

		Table 5: Total Variance Explained								
	Initial Eigenvalues			Extr	Extraction Sums of			Rotation Sums of		
				Bqu		ings	Bqu		11 <u>5</u> 3	
Component	Total	% of Variance	Cumulative %	Total	% of Variance	Cumulative %	Total	% of Variance	Cumulative %	
1	13,501	32,930	32,930	13,501	32,930	32,930	4,276	10,430	10,430	
2	2,974	7,255	40,185	2,974	7,255	40,185	3,845	9,378	19,808	
3	1,673	4,081	44,265	1,673	4,081	44,265	3,430	8,366	28,174	
4	1,527	3,725	47,990	1,527	3,725	47,990	3,126	7,625	35,799	
5	1,338	3,263	51,253	1,338	3,263	51,253	3,115	7,597	43,396	
6	1,247	3,041	54,295	1,247	3,041	54,295	3,016	7,355	50,751	
7	1,191	2,906	57,201	1,191	2,906	57,201	2,644	6,450	57,201	
8	1,055	2,573	59,774							

The number of the scale aspects is decided by examining the "Total Variance Explained" table and "Scree plot" graphic. As is seen in Graphic 1, there is a sharp decline until the 3rd point. From the 3rd to the 8th point, the decline continues. But, as the decline becomes horizontal in other factors, their contribution to the variance gets closer to each other (Büyüköztürk, 2002). Based on this analysis and the aforementioned reasons, it can be concluded that the scale should have 7 dimensions.



In table 7, it can be seen that the scale consists of 41 items and 7 aspects as a result of the analysis of the calculated rotational factor loads of the items. The dimensions which were obtained by using rotational factor loads are as follows:

- 1. Dimension: Taking ethical, legal and social issues about visuals into consideration and implementing them.
- 2. Dimension: Designing and creating meaningful visuals and visual media contents.
- 3. Dimension: Finding visuals and visual media contents, accessing them efficiently and effectively.



- 4. Dimension: Evaluating visuals and resources where visuals are.
- 5. Dimension: Identification of the quality and the scope of the needed visuals.
- 6. Dimension: Analyzing and interpreting the visuals and visual media.
- 7. Dimension: Using visuals and visual media effectively.

Table 6: Factor Loads of the Items in the Rotated Principal Components Analysis according to Principal Axis of Visual Literacy Scale in Higher Education Rotated Component Matrix ^a

Items	Factor Loads before Rotation	С	ompone	nt	Item-Total Test Correlation	Items r	Factor Loads before Rotation		Comp	oonent		Item-Total Test Correlation
		1	2	3				4	5	6	7	
m71	,612	,693			,554	m31	,552	,640				,543
m72	,600	,691			,555	m33	,535	,616				,533
m74	,609	,673			,516	m34	,572	,608				,570
m75	,517	,673			,472	m30	,462	,590				,454
m70	,660	,662			,513	m35	,550	,582				,566
m69	,582	,648			,539	m2	,736		,787			,506
m73	,561	,625			,587	m3	,680		,767			,486
m60	,670		,780		,516	m1	,690		,752			,475
m61	,599		,682		,567	m4	,456		,571			,445
m65	,553		,572		,607	m23	,724			,738		,604
m62	,535		,565		,579	m24	,655			,729		,528
m59	,477		,533		,585	m22	,699			,681		,563
m58	,471		,490		,576	m25	,532			,505		,622
m64	,503		,473		,597	m21	,534			,498		,597
m66	,451		,444		,580	m47	,688				,748	,485
m11	,627			,692	,574	m48	,582				,663	,525
m12	,631			,624	,541	m44	,580				,556	,601
m13	,584			,617	,524	m52	,455				,419	,528
m14	,554			,596	,567							
m10	,521			,591	,540							
m16	,477			,453	,554							
m9	,436			,437	,360							
m15	,539			,428	,559							
Extracti	on Meth	od Prine	rinal Co	mnonent	Analys	is Rota	tion Meth	nod: Var	imax wi	th Kaise	r Norma	lization

a. Rotation converged in 7 iterations.

When Table 7 is analyzed, it can be determined that the factor loads of items composing the Visual Literacy Scale in Higher Education before rotation varies between .436 and .670 where factor loads after rotation varies between .419 and .787. In order to determine the distinctiveness of the items in the Visual Literacy Scale, an item-total test correlation has been examined. As is seen in Table 7, the item-total test correlation values of the scale vary between .360 and .622. According to Büyüköztürk (2009), the factor load value being 0.45 or higher is a good criterion for the selection. It should be mentioned that the distinctivenesses of the items in the Visual Literacy Scale are high, as item-total test correlation values in the scale are higher than .30. Reliability coefficients related to the Visual Literacy Scale, eigenvalues and explained variance ratios are shown in Table 8.



Sub Aspects of Scale	Working Items	Excluded Items	Reliability Coefficients of Factors α	Explained Variance Ratios of Factors
1. Identification of needed visuals	1,2,3,4	1	.811	7,597
2. Finding and accessing the visual resources	9,10,11,12,13,14,15,16	4	.823	8,366
3. Analyzing and interpreting the visual	21,22,23,24,25	7	.844	7,355
4. Evaluating visuals and their resources	30,31,33,34,35	7	.781	7,625
5. Using visuals and visual media effectively	44,47,48,52	12	.753	6,45
6. Designing and creating visuals	58,59,60,61,62,64,65,66	3	.861	9,378
7. Taking ethical and legal issues about visuals into consideration	69,70,71,72, 73,74,75	0	.861	10,43
General	41	34	α=.947	57,201

Table 7: Data belong to the Evaluation of Visual Literacy Skills in Higher Education

CONCLUSION

Universities ultimately follow and implement technology in education and training as they are the pioneers of social and technological developments. The increasing application of technology in educational and training environments leads to a greater usage of visual materials. This requires students to obtain necessary information through visual materials. In higher education, both students and lecturers share the information more efficiently via digital technologies in e-learning, distant learning and face-to-face learning methods. In this context, students in higher education should be able to both correctly analyze the visuals and pictures they receive and create visuals. Additionally, students in higher education should be able to access existing visuals through information and communication technologies. Besides, they should have knowledge on different topics about the accessed visuals and behave accordingly. Because of this, the aptitude of the students in this field should be determined by taking different aspects of visual literacy skills into consideration. Skill levels of students should be elevated in the light of information achieved by this way. In line with these considerations, a need to develop a new assessment instrument related to visual literacy for students in higher education has arisen. In this study, the aspects of the scale have been determined by reviewing the literature, and item expressions suitable for these aspects have been developed. A draft scale, which is subjected to different textual examinations, was analysed with validity and reliability tests after factor analysis. The Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin (KMO) test was performed in order to identify the suitability of collected data for factor analysis. As a result of the test, the KMO value was determined as .94. Non-functional questions were excluded from the scale as a result of the factor analysis, and factor loads were created into a 41-item scale varying between .436 and .736. As a result of the rotation process, it was determined that the statements in the scale can be grouped into 7 factors. These factors consist of: "Identification of the need for visual" 4 items, "Finding and accessing visual sources" 8 items, "Analyzing and interpreting the visuals" 5 items, "Evaluation of visuals and visual sources" 5 items, "Effective usage of visuals and visual media" 4 items, "Designing and creating visuals" 8 items and "Taking ethical and legal issues into consideration" 7 items. The General Cronbach Alpha internal consistency ("reliability") of the scale has been determined to be $\alpha = .947$. The explained total variance value of the scale was calculated as 57.201%. Therefore, a valid and reliable scale has been developed which can help measure the visual literacy levels of students studying in universities.

REFERENCES

Association of College and Research Libraries, "ACRL Visual Literacy Competency Standards for Higher Education," American Library Association (October 2011).

http://www.ala.org/acrl/standards/visualliteracy Retrieved: April 11, 2013.

Ausburn, L. J., & Ausburn, F. B. (1978). Visual literacy: Background, theory and practice. Programmed Learning and Educational Technology, 15(4), 291-297.



Avgerinou, M., & Pettersson, R. (2011). Toward a cohesive theory of visual literacy. *Journal of Visual Literacy*, 30(2), 1-19

Braden, R. A., & Hortin, J. A. (1981). Identifying the Theoretical Foundations of Visual Literacy.

Büyüköztürk, Ş. (2002). Faktör analizi: Temel kavramlar ve ölçek geliştirmede kullanımı. *Eğitim Yönetimi Dergisi*, 32, 470-483.

- Büyüköztürk, Ş. (2009). Sosyal bilimler için veri analizi el kitabı: İstatistik, araştırma deseni, SPSS uygulamaları ve yorum (10. baskı). Ankara: Pegem Yayınları.
- Considine, D. M. (1986). Visual Literacy and Children's Books: An Integrated Approach. *School Library Journal*, 33(1), 38-42.

Debes, J., (1969). The loom of visual literacy: an overview. Audiovisual Instruction 14 (8).

- Felten, P. (2008). Visual literacy. Change: The magazine of higher learning, 40(6), 60-64.
- Foster, C. (2008). Learning for understanding: Engaging and Interactive Knowledge Visualization.
- Hattwig, D., Bussert, K., Medaille, A., & Burgess, J. (2013). Visual Literacy Standards in Higher Education: New Opportunities for Libraries and Student Learning. *portal: Libraries and the Academy*, 13(1), 61-89.
- Heinich, R., Molenda, M., & Russell, J. D. (1989). *Instructional media and the new technologies of instruction*. Johnson, L. (2006). The Sea Change Before Us. *Educause Review*, 41(2), 72.
- Kiper, A., Arslan, S., Kıyıcı, M., & Akgün, Ö. E. (2012). Visual Literacy Scale: The Study Of Validity And Reliability. *The Online Journal of New Horizons in Education*, 2(2), 73-83.
- Ko Hoang, Y. J. (2000). Vermittlung von "Visual Literacy" durch Computeranimation im Kunstunterricht (Doctoral dissertation, Freie Universität Berlin, Universitätsbibliothek).
- International Visual Literacy Association. (2013). What is 'Visual Literacy'. Retrieved April, 11, 2013
- Lacy, L. (1987). An interdisciplinary approach for students K-12 using visuals of all kinds. Visible & viable: the role of images in instruction and communication. Commerce, TX: International Visual Literacy Association, 45-50.
- Metros, S. E. (2008). The educator's role in preparing visually literate learners. *Theory into Practice*, 47(2), 102-109.
- Meyer, R. (2010). Knowledge Visualization. Trends in Information Visualization, 23.
- Pettersson, R. (1998). Beyond Literacy. Presentation at InfoDesign98, Information Design & the Learning Society, Cambridge University, April 20-21, 1998.
- Philip Y. (1997). Thoughts on Visual Literacy. James Flood (Ed.) *Handbook of Research on Teaching Literacy through the Communicative and Visual Arts* (s. 845-846). New York: Macmillan Library Reference.
- Rahden, W. V., & Tödt, G. (2008). Visualisierung oder Vision?: Einführung und Dokumentation. *Gegenworte*; 20, S. 3-9.
- Tillmann, A. (2012). "What We See and Why It Matters: How Competency in Visual Literacy can Enhance Student Learning" *Honors Projects. Paper* 9. http://digitalcommons.iwu.edu/education_honproj/9 Retrieved: April 15, 2013.
- Yeh, H. T., & Lohr, L. (2010). Towards Evidence of Visual Literacy: Assessing Pre-service Teachers' Perceptions of Instructional Visuals. *Journal of Visual Literacy*, 29(2), 183-197.



EVALUATION OF COMPUTER BASED FOREIGN LANGUAGE LEARNING SOFTWARE BY TEACHERS AND STUDENTS

Fatih Çağatay BAZ Adana Science And Technology University fcbaz@adanabtu.edu.tr

> Mehmet TEKDAL Cukurova University tekdal@gmail.com

ABSTRACT

The aim of this study is to evaluate Computer Based Foreign Language Learning software called Dynamic Education (DYNED) by teachers and students. The study is conducted with randomly chosen ten primary schools with the participants of 522 7th grade students and 7 English teachers. Three points likert scale for teachers and five points likert scale for students are used for data collection. The findings show that the software has partly sufficient qualities from the point of teachers; the students have indecisive views about the software.

INTRODUCTION

The fast development of current science and technology leads humanity to the economic and social competition. The developing societies are conscious about the possibility of progress with the quality of education in this process. It is explicit that technology should be used in the education and growth of individuals having the ability of solving problems and free and creative views.

Alkan (2005) refers that teachers have to facilitate infinitely teaching to more students in less time. It should be required to develop new educational techniques and methods. Teachers and students have to improve their ability of searching and using the information on their own. It should be developed that new equipment is often searched in order to provide better and faster learning and teaching in this course. The systematic studying of learning has more importance.

Yalın (2000) defines the computer based education as the usage of teaching a subject and concept by courses which are put into the system of computer in order to consolidate the behaviors got before. There are three subjects which are frequently used in the computer based education: private lesson, exercise and simulation. Seferoğlu (2006) suggests that the computer based education has some advantages;

- Offering individual and interactive learning,
- Providing the students the possibility of repetition,
- Using the difficult teaching techniques which was impossible in the classroom,
- Taking advantage of computer's color sound and graphics,
- Guiding students to think and search,
- Encouraging students to increase their self-confidence.

We have to learn a foreign language at least in our country like other countries because its importance increases day by day. It can be especially thought that it is certainly true of teaching English as a foreign language in the 4th grade of primary school in view of the importance and place of English between other World languages.

Warschauer and Liaw (2010) address that many adult students have had difficulties with traditional education and face substantial barriers to learning. The emerging technologies described above provide nontraditional means by which literacy and language skills can be developed through authentic communication, collaboration, networking and scaffolding. They think that these technologies give learners vast opportunities to use English on a daily basis in meaningful contexts in and out of school.

Witt (1999), Marimuthu & Soo (2005) and Springer (2012) argue that one of the most essential subjects in teaching English is the computer based language learning and the students will become more creative when they find practicing areas referring to creativity themselves in learning foreign language. They suggest that the learning gained in the classroom reach to the practicing areas thanks to computer based application by students. Gündüz (2005) suggests that recent years have shown a boom of interest in using computers for foreign language teaching and learning. The use of computers in the language classroom was of concern only to a small number of specialists in western countries a decade ago. However, with the advent of multimedia computing and the



Internet, the role of computers in language instruction has now become an important issue confronting large numbers of language teachers throughout the world.

Sariçoban (2006) talks about some advantages of computer based language learning, and rows them as follow;

a. CALL increases students' motivation.

b. CALL programs present the learner the novelty, to teach the language in different and more interesting learning conditions, and present language through games and problem-solving techniques.

c. They also provide immediate feedback for error correction.

d. Using the computer in teaching languages can offer various types of activities with considerable potential for learning situations. For instance, recent computers have DVD drives for audio-visual input for discussions on a certain story/topic in speaking, listening, and writing skills.

e. CALL programs, besides teaching a foreign language, will provide the learner with some sort of computer literacy, which is becoming essential in our modern society and which could be of great help in future training programs.

f. It improves the students' scientific thinking anility,

g. It supports group work activities through network,

- h. It improves individual learning abilities,
- i. It provides the students with the opportunity to revise,

j. It forces students to investigate and search,

k. It increases individual's self-confidence,

l. It provides teachers with the opportunity to deal with their students' problems closely and improve (overcome) them.

The Ministry of National Education pays attention to computer based language learning areas which are thought to be helpful for teaching English. In our schools, The Information Technology (IT) classes have been established, some software have been sent and computer education about the softwares has been given to the teachers. Also, The Ministry of National Education continues the setting of interactive boards into schools as a part of FATIH Project and educational programmes about this subject to the teachers. The Ministry of National Education constructivist education to the students.

Taşcı (1994) suggests that it can be possible if these devices can be adapted to this education and advantages of computers are attained in education. Another saying, the success of computers in education is directly related to the success of teaching softwares. The developments of computer hardware provides that these equipments have unique potential. The informative softwares provide the usage of this unique potential.

DynEd was founded in 1987 by a team of language teachers, engineers, and artists. It produced and brought to market the world's first computer-assisted language teaching CD-ROM and received a patent for its innovative design. Now, after more than 20 years of experience, DynEd has the world's most comprehensive lineup of award-winning computer-based English Language Teaching (ELT/ESL) solutions (http://www.dyned.com/us/about/).

For Petrie (2003) currently, a few educational software packages for English language learners have some advantage of speech recognition technology. DynEd has produced New Dynamic English (2001) for adult learners and Let's Go (2001) for child learners. The children's version allows the user to orally produce a single word at a time, while the adult version allows the user to produce either a single word or an entire sentence in response to video or graphic cues and then receive feedback on the pronunciation of the user's production. If a minimum level of understandability is not reached, the program encourages the user to try again. One current drawback of New Dynamic English is that if the uttered sentence is very close in sound to the intended answer, the program may not catch an error. For example, if the learner uttered a sentence with "is" instead of "isn't" - a serious difference in meaning - the learner may not be alerted of the difference.

Baş (2010, p.14-39), suggest that "One of the recent educational technology for language teaching, more specifically English Language teaching, is the Computer Assisted Language Learning (CALL) method. In recent years, some of the countries such as China, France, Malaysia, Korea, Miyanmar, and Turkey are using an English Language teaching software named DynED, which stands for Dynamic Education. In these countries, this software is used in a way that it assists English language teaching process at schools."

DynEd's courses cover all proficiency levels and include a range of age-appropriate courses, for kids in school to adults in leading corporations, airlines, and vocational schools. In addition, DynEd courses are supported by an



award-winning Records Management System, Mastery and Placement tests, extensive teacher-support materials, including lesson plans, teacher-training, mentoring, and a newly released Teacher Training Course that helps teachers blend technology into their teaching (http://www.dyned.com/us/about/).

Brown, Campbell & Weatherfor (2008, p.37-53), say that "DynEd's New Dynamic English (NDE) consists of audio, video, flash animations, record and listen buttons, and voice recognition technology, all of it integrated to give the user a more engaging, high context experience. DynEd gives students a better sense of having learned something with its records manager (showing completion rates), study score (indicating good study habits), mastery test scores (implying a mastery of the material), and placement tests (which can show improvement in overall level if administered at the beginning and the end of the course). Furthermore, DynEd provides a wealth of assessment information for teachers via the Records Manager, including time spent, completion percentages, scores on individual tasks, Study Scores, and Mastery Test scores. The Records Manager also provides detailed data on information such as the number of times the student used each of the control buttons."

Lares, Asis & Yudelmo (2008, p.36-44), believes that "This program helps students to improve their English proficiency and it gives a new way of learning process which is totally different from the conventional ones as teachers and learners no longer have to rely on printed materials for their language drills as well as their examinations, but which are directly provided by the software."

The researches show that the computer based courseware DYNED software has an active role in the learning foreign language. (Bas and Kuzucu, 2009; Bas, 2010; Meri, 2012; Kagaoan, Muya, Tibayan & Tenorio, 2012; Bingham and Larson, 2006), but Yiğit (2012) suggests that there are some difficulties, too.

THE STUDY

The aim of this study is to evaluate Computer Based Foreign Language Learning software called Dynamic Education (DYNED) by teachers and students. The two research questions to be answered for this study listed below;

1.What are the views of teachers of English about DynED software? 2.What are the views of 7th grade students about DynED software?

Survey model has been used in order that the research aims to assess the current subject and it is descriptive research. The research involves 522 of 7th grade students and 7 teachers of English in Kozan, Adana. In the sample, ten schools were chosen randomly among the primary schools in Kozan between 2009 and 2010 education years. When performing this research, we make use of DynED which is computer based language learning used in primary schools in order to make the essential indication and teaching software evaluation form (1998, p.205-219) and student examination form (1998, p.103) belonging to Şimşek.

The assessment of survey presented to the teachers to determine the educational qualifications of software is three point likert scale. When evaluating the data, we use arithmetic average (X) and standard deviation (Ss) of questions are looked in the survey to comprehend whether the software has the educational quality or not. In the software evaluation survey for teachers, for every question, we get the information like INADEQUATE, PARTLY ADEQUATE and ADEQUATE. The answer codes change between 1.00 and 3.00. In the software evaluation survey, the score interval is stated at below by regarding every question which is 0.67 point and three units (2/3);

1.00 – 1.67 INADEQUATE 1.68 – 2.35 PARTLY ADEQUATE 2.36 – 3.00 ADEQUATE

To evaluate the educational qualification of software, five points scale is used. When evaluating the data, we use arithmetic average (X) and standard deviation (Ss) of questions are looked in the survey to comprehend whether the software has the educational quality or not. The answer codes of each question in five point scale for students. change between 1.00 and 5.00. In five point scale for students, the score interval is stated at below by regarding every question which is 0.80 point and five units (4/5);

1.00-1.79 I don't agree 1.80-2.59 I don't partly agree 2.60-3.39 I am indecisive 3.40-4.19 I partly agree



4.20-5.00 I agree

FINDINGS

In this session, we put emphasis on findings which were gained from data in the end part of method stage. In the evaluation of software by students, there are some findings of evaluation of survey related to software. The findings were acquired by basing on students' opinions.

The evaluation survey performed to the students consists of 5 items. At Table 1, the arithmetic average (X) and standard deviation (Ss) of the answers and also group based average of general qualities of software are given.

	Table 1. The students views about the software general quanties					
	Software general qualities	Ν	X	Ss		
1	I don't have any problem when using this software	522	2,71	1,57		
2	I like using this software	522	2,72	1,62		
3	I learn something when using this software	522	2,74	1,55		
4	I think this kind of software will help other lessons	522	2,83	1,65		
5	I want these softwares to use at other lessons	522	2,95	1,73		
	Main average of the group		2,79			

Tabla 1	The students?	wiewe obert	the active we	acmonal analitica
гаше г.	The sindenis'	views abom	ппе хон ware	general dualities
I GOIC II		110110 40040	une borenare	Conci al quantico

1.00-1.79 I don't agree 1.80-2.59 I don't partly agree 2.60-3.39 I am indecisive 3.40-4.19 I partly agree 4.20-5.00 I agree

Table 1 presents, the group's main average is 2,79 which is about the general qualities of software. It is seen that 1st matter (2,71) relating to software general qualities has the least main average (I don't have any problem with using this software) and 5th matter (2,95) has the highest average (I want to use this kind of software in other subjects). Accordingly; in accordance with the students' views, an indecisive aspect about software general qualities comes out.

In the part of teachers' software evaluation; there are some findings about drawing teachers' attention to the software, providing invariability, informing the students about learning targets, reminding the essential data for lesson, presenting data and helping, exercise and feedback, evaluation of success, remembering, developing the transition and evaluating the software from the point of success.

	Table 2. Range of students' attractions						
	Students' attraction and providing of continuation	Ν	X	Ss			
1	The beginning of software draws the students' attraction and recesses for new data in	7	2,42	0,53			
	their minds.						
2	The whole or a part of the subject software is planned to draw students' attention and	7	2,71	0,48			
	care						
3	Students are often given the opportunity to form an interaction with the software.	7	2,00	0,81			
4	The duration of lesson is convenient with the duration of their attention.	7	3,00	0,00			
5	Colours, graphics and sound effects don't prevent the students to reach their	7	2,95	1,73			
	educational targets.						
6	Colours, graphics and sound effects draw the attention of students	7	2,71	0,75			
7	Colours, graphics and the sound qualities are practical and suitable for education	7	2,71	0,75			
	psychology.						
8	The course software is close to the user and student likes using the programme.	7	2,57	0,53			
9	The course software is attractive for student.	7	2,71	0,48			
10	Thanks to course software, students are interested in the subject of course software.	7	2,57	0,53			
11	The formal structure of software promotes the students to do best and well.	7	2,42	0,78			
12	Students are satisfied with studying with the course software.	7	2,42	0,78			
	Main average of the group		2,50				

At Table 2; the main average of the group is determined as 2,50 when evaluating ranges according to drawing attentions of students. In the group, the 4th matter has the least main average with 1,85 (This is suitable for the



duration to which students will give their attention; the 5th matter has the most main average with 3,00 (Colors, graphics and sound qualities don't prevent students to reach their targets).

In accordance the teachers' views, it appears that the matters of survey, which are related to students' attraction and ensure its continuity, are at qualified level as educational.

	Informing the students about the learning targets	Ν	X	Ss
1	The learning targets are told students in a clear way.	7	1,85	0,69
2	The learning targets are described as students' behaviours.	7	2,28	0,75
3	The content of course software is matched with the educational targets.	7	2,14	0,89
	The main average of group		2,09	

Table 3. The range of students according	to informed about learning targets
--	------------------------------------

The Table 3 shows; the main average of the group is determined as 2,09 when evaluating ranges according to informing the students about the learning targets. In the group, the 1st matter has the least main average with 1,85 (The learning targets are told students in a clear way) the 2nd matter has the most main average with 2,28 (The learning targets are described as students' behaviours).

In accordance with teachers' views, it appears that the matters of survey, which are related to informing students about learning targets of survey, are at partly qualified level as educational.

	Reminding the essential data for courseNXSs							
1	The requested foreknowledge, the preparedness situation of students and ability	7	2,00	0,81				
	are appropriate for the target students.							
2	Reading level is appropriate for target students.	7	2,28	0,75				
3	Software branches out to the parts of repetition and retrieval when needed.	7	2,00	0,81				
4	Essential foreknowledge and abilities are stated in order that students can	7	1,85	0,69				
	communicate with software.							
5	Foretest is performed in order that students can communicate with software and	7	2,00	0,81				
	can specify essential fore skill.							
6	Course links the old data with new data which will be learned.	7	2,14	0,89				
7	Cognitive learning equipments are provided in order that students can remember	7	2,28	0,75				
	new data and contact new data with old data.							
	Main average of the group		2,07					

Table 4	. Remindin	g the	essential	data	for	course
		_				

It is seen at the Table 4; the main average of the group is determined as 2,07 when evaluating ranges according to reminding the essential knowledge for the course. In the group, the 4th matter has the least main average with 1,85 (Foreknowledge and abilities are stated in order that students can communicate with software) the 2nd and the 7th matter have the most main average with 2,28 (The reading level is appropriate. Foreknowledge and abilities are stated in order the new data and communicate the new data with the old data by cognitive learning equipment).

In accordance with teachers' views, it appears that the matters of survey, which are related to reminding the essential data for the course, are at partly qualified level as educational.

Tuble 5.1 resenting the data and helping								
	Presenting the data and helping	Ν	X	Ss				
1	Data is presented logically.	7	2,42	0,78				
2	Before teaching difficult, complicated concepts and rules, the easier ones should be	7	2,71	0,48				
	taught.							
3	Essential explanations and instructions are clear and comprehensible to complete	7	2,00	0,81				
	each one of course.							
4	Essential explanations and instructions are clear and comprehensible to complete	7	2,28	0,75				
	each one of course.							
5	New data, concepts and rules are suitable and sufficient examples, imitations and	7	2,28	0,75				
	presentations are presented.							
6	Examples, explanations and imitations are comprehensible and related to real life.	7	2,42	0,78				
7	Course software, uses the screen actively and it can express a certain concept. It	7	2,42	0,78				
	avoids from crowd and unnecessary data.							

Table 5. Presenting the data and helping



8	Students can control the imitation which they want to learn, examples or the number	7	2,00	0,81
	of explanations in so far.			
9	Student can form an interaction with the whole or a part of course software in	7	2,71	0,48
	accordance with the ability of students.			
10	In course software, the chances are provided like practising during lesson time or	7	2,71	0,48
	testing themselves.			
11	To explain the important concepts, there are methods and different testing possibility	7	2,00	0,81
	more than one.			
12	Illumination or underlining is used as clue in order that main concepts can be better	7	2,57	0,78
	understood.			
13	The strategies like summary, revision and giving the main details are provided in	7	1,85	0,89
	order that students can take the main ideas.			
	Main average of group		2,33	

The Table 5 presents, the main average of the group is determined as 2,33 when evaluating ranges according to presenting the data and helping. In the group, the 13rd matter has the least main average with 1,85 (The strategies are provided like summary, revision and giving the outline to help students get the main ideas), the 2nd, 9th and 10th matter have the most main average with 2,71 (Before teaching difficult and complicated concepts, the easier and more simple ones should be taught. In accordance with the ability of students, they can form an interaction with the whole or a part of course software. In course software, the opportunity like practising during lesson time or testing themselves are provided for students).

In accordance with teachers' views, it appears that the matters of survey, which are related to presenting the data and helping, are at partly qualified level as educational.

Table 0. Fractise and recuback							
	Practice and feedback	Ν	X	Ss			
1	Students are provided opportunities like exercise, practising with questions	7	2,71	0,48			
	sufficiently to consolidate the new learned data.						
2	For students, some question forms (multiple choice, completing true or false) are	7	2,57	0,78			
	developed.						
3	Course software proceeds in a flexible way about accepting the different	7	2,14	0,89			
	answers/synonmys, capital-small letter) of students and evaluating.						
4	When students answer wrongly, the right answer is provided feedback.	7	2,57	0,78			
5	The suitable data is given for the correct and wrong answers of students.	7	2,57	0,78			
6	Feedback are suitable and related to students' answers.	7	2,42	0,78			
7	Encouraging is effective for students positively.	7	1,85	0,89			
8	Feedbacks are given immediately.	7	2,57	0,78			
9	Feedbacks have several forms	7	2,28	0,95			
10	Feedbacks provide the repetition.	7	2,42	0,78			
11	Course software gives the number or percent of right answers for students.	7	2,57	0,78			
	Main average of the group 2.42						

Table 6. Practise and feedback

As seen at Table 6; the main average of the group is determined as 2,42 when evaluating ranges according to practicing and feedback. In the group, the 7th matter has the least main average with 1,85 (Encouraging is positive and effects students positively), the 1st matter has the most main average with 2,71 (The opportunities like exercise and practicing with problems and questions fairly are provided for students to reinforce the new data).

Accordingly, in accordance with teachers' views, it appears that the matters of survey, which are related to practising and feedback, are at qualified level as educational.

	Evaluating the success	Ν	X	Ss			
1	There is a pretesting for determining the level of student.	7	1,71	0,75			
2	The opportunities, like testing on their own ad feedback, are placed into the course.	7	2,28	0,75			
3	Course software records the errors which the students make at the end of the software or	7	2,57	0,78			
	another course.						
4	In course software, there is an ending test for measuring the success of learning.	7	2,57	0,53			

Table 7. Range according to evaluating the success



5	There is a consistency between the content of courses, abilities and aims of the software.	7	2,42	0,53
	Main average of the group		2,31	

At the Table 7, the main average of the group is determined as 2,31 when evaluating ranges according to evaluating the success. In the group, the 1st matter has the least main average with 1,71 (There is a pre testing for determining the level of student), the 3rd and the 4th matters have the most main average with 2,57 (Course software records the errors of students and errors found in the test at the end of course or course software. In course software, there is an ending test to measure the success of learning).

In accordance with teachers' views, it appears that the matters of survey, which are related to evaluating the success, are at partly qualified level as educational.

Table 8. Range according to the condition of developing transition and remembering								
	Developing transition and remembering	Ν	X	Ss				
1	Important concepts are differently identified and explained in order to support the	7	2,57	0,53				
	learning of student.							
2	When the course software is needed, the level of problems are obstructed.	7	2,14	0,69				
3	Course software encourages the students to develop their abilities and data by providing	7	2,14	0,89				
	several of different activities and helping sources.							
4	Students can find the data of software in their real life.	7	2,14	0,69				
5	Software students prepare themselves for the experience which they will meet in the	7	2,57	0,53				
	future.							
	Main average of the group		2.31					

As seen at Table 8; the main average of the group is determined as 2,31 when evaluating ranges according to evaluating the success. In the group, the 2nd, 3th and 4th matters have the least main average with 2,14 (When the course software is needed, the level of problems are obstructed. Course software encourages the students to develop their abilities and data by providing several of different activities and helping sources. Students can find the data of software in their real life), the 1st and the 5th matters have the most main average with 2,57 (Important concepts are differently identified and explained in order to support the learning of student. Software students prepare themselves for the experience which they will meet in the future).

Accordingly, in accordance with teachers' views, it appears that the matters of survey, which are related to the condition of developing transition and remembering, are at partly qualified level as educational.

Table 9. Range according to the success of course software							
	Range of course software success	Ν	X	Ss			
1	Course software practice its teaching targets (book, subject, area tours) less expensively	7	2,28	0,75			
	and more successfully than other teaching ways.						
2	I think this course software is educational.	7	2,28	0,75			
3	Software needs some supportive materials and areas for students' learning the subject.	7	2,71	0,48			
4	The packet of course software contains essential supportive areas and materials in order	7	2,28	0,75			
	that teachers and students can use.						
5	There are proofs that software reaches to its aim.	7	2,14	0,69			
	Main average of the group		2,33				

At the Table 9, the main average of the group is determined as 2,33 when evaluating ranges according to the success of course software. In the group, the 5th matter has the least main average with 2,14 (There are proofs that software reaches to its aim), the 3th matter has the most main average with 2,71 (Software needs some supportive materials and areas for students' learning the subject.).

In accordance with teachers' views, it appears that the matters of survey, which are related to the success of course software, are at partly qualified level as educational.

CONCLUSIONS

The findings show that software has partly adequate qualities from the side of teachers, but students has an indecisive manner against the software.

With this research, it appears that there are some suggestions for users can be listed;

1) Course software can be improved in the side of reminding the essential data for course and informing the student about the course targets.



2) Students can use the software when finding the main ideas with the strategies like giving the main details, revision and summary.

3) The activities, which can strengthen the creativity of student, can be increased.

4) A pretesting can be improved for determining the level of students.

5) The duration for courses can be increased when regarding the time to which students can give their attention.

6) The activities which are prepared with computer based teaching softwares need to be searched its practicability with contemporary theory of learning and contribution to the success of students.

REFERENCES

Alkan, C. (2005). Eğitim Teknolojisi. Ankara: Anı Yayıncılık.

- Baş, G. (2010). Evaluation of DynED Courses Used in Elementary Schools from the Views of Teachers in Turkey, *Journal of Language and Linguistics Studies*, vol. 6, no 1, pp. 14-39.
- Baş, G., Kuzucu, O. (2009). Effects of CALL Method and Dyned Language Programme on Students' Achievement Levels and Attitudes Towards the Lesson in English Classes. *International Journal Of Instructional Technology And Distance Learning*, vol. 6, no. 7.
- Bingham, S., Larson, E. (2006). Using CALL As The Major Element Of Study For A University English Class In Japan. *The JALT CALL Journal*, vol.2, no. 3, pp.39-52
- Brown, I., Campbell, A.P., & Weatherford, Y.(2008). Using DynEd And ALC With Lowlevel University Freshmen. *The JALT CALL Journal*, vol.4, no.3, pp.37-53

DynED: English Language Learning Solutions [On-line]. Retrived May 20, 2013,. Available: http://www.dyned.com/us/about/ .

Gündüz, N. (2005). Computer Assisted Language Learning (CALL). Journal Of Language And Linguistic Studies. http://jlls.org/Issues/Volume1/No.2/nazligunduz.pdf

- Kagaoan, A., Muya, G., Tibayan, C. & Tenorio, N. (2012). The Effect Of The Dynamic Education Intervention Program In The Fundementals Of English Course. *LPL Research Journal*. Vol.2, no.1, pp. 1-14
- Lares, N.V., Asis, M.S., & Yudelmo, W.H. (2008). Perception and Attitudes on the Dynamic English Program Among the First Year AHSE Students of the Emilio Aguinaldo College Manila: An Exploratory Research. *Emilio Aguinaldo College Research Bulletin*, vol. 5, no. 1, pp.36-44
- Marimuthu, R., Soon, G.Y. (2005). The DynEd Language Learning Software: To What Extent Does It Subscribe
- to the ARCS Instructional Model?. *Malaysian Online Journal of Instructional Technology (MOJIT)*. vol. 2, no. 3, pp. 9-16
- Meri, S. (2012). Autonomous Computer-Assisted Language Learning: Turkish Primary School Students' Perceptions of Dyned Software. *International Conference "ICT For Language Learning" 5th Edition* http://conference.pixel-online.net/ICT4LL2012/common/download/Paper_pdf/396-IBT36-FP-Meri-ICT2012.pdf
- Petrie, G.M. (2003). Speech Recognition Software: Its Possible Impact On The Language Learning Classroom. *Teaching English With Technolog*. http://www.iatefl.org.pl/call/callnl.htm
- Sarıçoban, A. (2006). Instructional Technologies And Material Design For Foreign Language Teaching. Ankara: Ani Yayıncılık.

Seferoğlu, S.S. (2006). Öğretim Teknolojileri ve Materyal Tasarımı. Ankara: Pegem Yayıncılık.

- Springer,S.E.(2012). Review Of The Teaching And Researching Computer Assisted Language Learning. Language Learning & Technology. vol. 16, no.1, pp.39-42
- Şimşek, N. (1998). Öğretim Amaçlı Bilgisayar Yazılımlarının Değerlendirilmesi. Ankara: Siyasal Yayınevi. Taşcı, D. (1994). Bilgisayar Destekli Eğitimin Yönetimi. Eskişehir: Anadolu Üniversitesi Yayınları.

Warschauer, M., Liaw, M.L. (2010). Emerging Technologies in Adult Literacy and Language Education. National Institute For Literacy. http://lincs.ed.gov/publications/pdf/technology_paper_2010.pdf

Witt, S.M. (1999). Use Of Speech Recognition In Computer Assisted Language Learning.University Of Cambridge/Department Of Engineering. ftp://svr-www.eng.cam.ac.uk/pub/reports/auto-pdf/witt_thesis.pdf

Yalın, H.İ. (2000). Öğretim Teknolojileri ve Materyal Geliştirme. Ankara: Nobel Yayın Dağıtım.

Yiğit, A.M. (2012). Evaluating The Problems Encountered In The Dyned Implementation And Implications For Elt. *Journal Of Educational And Instructional Studies In The World*, vol. 2, pp. 143-153



GIFTED' TEACHERS STAGES OF CONCERNS FOR INTEGRATING E-LEARNING IN THE GIFTED SCHOOLS IN JORDAN

Ahmad Mohammad Al-Shabatat, PhD Special Education for Diverse Needs (Giftedness & Talent) Al-Baha University, Al-Baha, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia albaha gifted@hotmail.com

ABSTRACT

No study has investigated the gifted' teachers stages of concerns for integrating e-learning in their teaching. Thus, this study was conducted to explore these concerns. Mixed methods were used to gather data around the research questions. A number of 22 gifted' teachers participated in this study. The Arabic version of the Stage of Concern Questionnaire (SoCQ) was used and followed by interviews. The results showed that the participants' scores of self-concerns (Stage 0, 1, and 2) are relatively high, the task concern (Stage 3) is lower, and the impact concerns (Stage 4, 5, and 6) are low as well. Results revealed a low interest of the participants in the e-learning relative to other activities. Females have positive concerns towards e-learning and higher interest in e-learning than males, while negative concerns towards e-learning found in males' profile.

Keywords: E-learning, Gifted' Teachers, Gifted Schools, Stages of Concerns, Concerns Based Adoption Model (CBAM).

INTRODUCTION

E-learning as a term is now used in order to capture the general intent to support a broad range of electronic media such as Internet, intranets, extranets, satellite broadcast, audio/video tape, interactive TV and CD-ROM and this will give more flexibility in learning. Stockley (2004) defines e-learning as the delivery of a learning, training or education program by electronic means. Learning has changed to become more attractive with animations, visuals and sounds, playing games and full of other activities that are available any time and any place. Ballard (2000) claims that technology rearranges the system of education. It offers new ways of learning for students in addition to new ways for the teacher to present and provide knowledge in the teaching process.

Computer technology is changing the whole process of teaching and learning globally (Embi, 2007). Additionally, the teacher's roles, the student's roles and the educational management have also been changed according to the new changes in the educational environments and in designing, performing and introducing the educational performance under such circumstances. Therefore, the roles of teachers have been changed from dictator to organizer for educational programs.

E-learning serves as an alternative to traditional classes, so learning is no anymore related to a specific location but it can be taken anywhere outside the class. The process of learning is concerned with attitudes, values, skills and knowledge, and has the ultimate goal of effecting a change in performance and behavior which achieve the objective of adding value to an organization or individuals. In this kind of settings, the true potential of elearning lies principally in its ability to provide on-tap learning which is available anytime, anywhere and with the necessary network to enable collaboration. Therefore, the potential for an organization like a school or any educational institute engaged in e-learning is that it can be in a state of continuous learning or continuous change. In other words, e-learning can be a force or enabler for changing the process of teaching and learning.

Mackenzie-Robb (2004) mentioned that e-learning and changes to an organization must be seen against a broader background of often conflicting issues and dynamics. In other words, an organization does not change simply by implementing the change as e-learning projects go but requires also a consideration for individual needs during the initiation, implementation and institutionalization of change in an organization.

The theoretical framework for this study lies in Hall and Hord's (1973) Concerns Based Adoption Model (CBAM). Originally developed in 1973, the model is primarily concerned with describing, measuring, and explaining the process of change experienced by teachers attempting to implement new curriculum materials and instructional practices. CBAM describes how individuals develop as they learn about an innovation or a new application and the stages of that process (Horsley & Loucks-Horsley, 1998).

Horsley and Loucks-Horsley (1998) defined CBAM as a set of tools for understanding and managing change in people. CBAM is considered a parallel process of change that each individual goes through whenever he/she engages in something new or different. CBAM has become a change model widely used by those individuals planning for staff development accompanying any educational innovation (Rakes & Casey, 2007). The concerns



model identifies and provides ways to assess seven stages of concern (Horsley, 1996). These stages show how an innovation moves through sequentially (Ensminger, Surry, Porter, & Wright, 2004).

According to Newhouse, Trinidad, and Clarkson (2002), CBAM examines the process of development of a new innovation in three different ways namely: (1) Stages of concern, (2) Levels of use, and (3) Innovation components as shown in figure 1. The first two are explanatory in nature, while the third is considered diagnostic in nature.



Figure 1: The Concern Based Adoption Model (Adapted from Hall & Hord, 2001)

STAGES OF CONCERN (SOC)

Stages of Concerns (SoC) describe the effective dimension of change: how people feel about doing something new or different, and their concerns as they engage with a new program or practice (Horsley, & Loucks-Horsley, 1998). It is used to measure teachers' concerns about an innovation they are expected to implement (Hall & Hord, 2001). According to Hord, Rutherford, Huling, Austin, and Hall, (1987) stage of concern is a tool which identifies teachers concerns in different stages during a change process. Hall, George, and Rutherford (1986) identified seven kinds of concerns which reflect early self (concerns about how the innovation personally affects the individual), task (concerns about how the innovation is managed), and impact (concerns about how the innovation impacts others as shown in Table 1. Moreover these concerns which may present itself as emotions, perceptions, attitudes and feelings appear to be developmental in that the earlier concerns are lower in intensity while the later concerns are more intense (Hall & Hord, 2001). For the purpose of the current study, stages of concerns are used to understand and describe to what extent the gifted' teachers are concerned about using elearning in teaching and learning process.

Dimension	Stages of Concern	Expressions of Concern
	Awareness	I am not concerned about it.
Self	Informational	I would like to know more about it.
	Personal	How will using it affect me?
Task	Management	I seem to be spending all of my time getting materials ready.
	Consequence	How is my use affecting clients?
Impact	Collaboration	I am concerned about relating what I am doing with what my co-workers are doing.
	Refocusing	I have some ideas about something that would work even better.

Table 1: Stages of Concern Resource (Adapted from Horsley, & Loucks-Horsley, 1998)

Gifted' Schools in Jordan

They are public co-education schools for academically gifted students called King Abdullah II Schools of Excellence. The first school was established in Zarqa city by the beginning of 2000 /2001 (with 553 students), then the JMOE build a school every two years to be six schools by the year 2010 with a total number of (1935) students. The other five schools where in Irbid (with 551 students), Salt (327 students), Tafielah (81 students), Aqaba (198 students), and Ajloun (225 students) (Al-Shabatat, 2011).



The objectives of these schools were to help gifted students develop their abilities, skills and personalities, and develop their leadership and self-learning skills to be innovative leaders in their society. The students are selected based on four fundamental criteria, namely, the general aggregation for the students should be 95% and above, test for the Academic readiness, IQ test (135 and above), and personal interview. On the other hand, JMOE selects the best teachers who show high levels of teaching and personal competencies to work in these (JMOE, 2010).

RELATED LITERATURE

Alfieri (1998) conducted a study to identify the stages of concern of Defense Systems Management College Faculty about Technology-Based Education and Training. His results showed that the scores of self-concerns (Stages 0, 1, and 2) are relatively high and close to each other (within 2%), the task concern (Stage 3) is much lower, and the impact concerns (Stages 4, 5, and 6) are even lower with tailing-up of the participants' profile at Stage 6. Further results showed that 42% of the participants expressed their highest concerns at Stage 2 while 26% chose State 0 as their highest stage. Also 17% participants chose Stage 1 as the highest while 85% had their highest Stage of Concern in either Stage 0, 1, or 2.

Alshammari (2000) conducted a study to identify concerns that teachers experienced when implementing the Information Technology curriculum in all intermediate schools in Kuwait and to examine the differences among teachers' reported stages of concern based on gender and experience. He found that teachers had four high concerns related to personal, collaboration, informational, and refocusing stages, while low concerns were found at the awareness and management stages. Further, results indicated that most of teachers were at the mixed-concern level. Collaboration stage was the greater concern for both females and males. However, males had higher refocusing concern while females had higher concerns about management.

Alias and Zainuddin (2005) explored the concerns of a group of International Islamic University Malaysia (IIUM) lecturers regarding a technological innovation. Their results showed that the participants had high scores at Stage 0 (Awareness), Stage 1 (Information), and Stage 2 (Personal). They referred these results to low interest of the participants in the innovation relative to other activities, a lack of understanding of what the innovation involves, and the participants were very concerned over the impact of the innovation on their professional duties and responsibilities. They also examined the highest scores for the participants' profile at Stage 6. They anticipate these results to the changing slope of the stages of concerns' profile pointing that the relative intensity of Stage 6 (Refocusing) is greater than the relative intensity of Stage 5 concerns. Finally, they reported a positive concern towards collaborating and working with others in adopting the innovation and most participants were not concerned about the management (stage 3).

Overbaugh and Lu (2008) investigated the effects of a teacher professional development program funded by a No Child Left Behind (NCLB) grant on program participants' (teachers') stages of concern toward instructional technology integration into curriculum. They also explored differences in the concern levels among the participants from different school levels, age groups, and gender. They implemented pre-post-follow-up survey on 377 participants. Their results revealed that the program was successful in reducing participants' self-based concerns while increasing their impact-based concerns about technology integration. Awareness concern was very low at the pretest point and the management concerns were relatively low. Further, they found high impact-based concerns - Consequence, Collaboration, and Refocusing - at the presurvey point. Regarding the concerns' results by gender, males were found to have higher concerns at the Personal and Management stages than female teachers.

Rakes and Spaulding (2009) explored teachers' learner-centered beliefs and concerns regarding instructional technology. They analyzed the concern profile for learner-centered teachers (n=43), non-learnercentered teachers (n=7) and for all respondents (N=66). The results showed that all three profiles were similar and referred to as non-user profiles. Self-concerns (Stages 0 - Awareness, 1 - Informational, and 2 - Personal) were high and the impact concerns (Stages 4 - Consequence) regarding students were much lower, stages 5 - Collaboration, and 6 - Refocusing were lower than self-concerns with the exception of the Stage 6 - Refocusing for the learner-centered respondents.

AL-Rawajfih, Fong, and Idris (2010) conducted a study to examine teachers' stages of concerns in the discovery schools in Jordan and the level of the integration of e-learning into their teaching. They found that discovery schools' teachers are dominantly at the stage of 'personal' on the different stages of concerns. Further, no differences were found in teachers' concerns due to gender. However, teachers in the 1-5 years of teaching experience were placed at the stage of 'collaboration' while the rest were at the 'personal' on the different stages



of concerns. It was found that teachers' stage of informational, stage of management and stage of consequence explains most of the variance of the integration of e-Learning.

Zamani, Abedi, Soleimani, and Amini (2011) investigated teachers' Stages of Concern toward Information and Communication Technology in Secondary Schools of Isfahan. Their results indicated that most of the teachers were in the personal stage of concern (Stage 3). They interpreting this by noting that there is no special plan for using ICT in the Iranian schools and then to integrate it in the schools' curriculum programs. Also they mentioned that there was a lack of teachers' knowledge and skills in using computers which kept them in the third stage. However, there were no significant differences among participants' stages of concern according to their genders.

In very recent times, Jordan embarked on an ambitious plan to make full use of the information technologies potential in order to maximize its ability to compete in local, regional, and global markets. This kind of initiatives was also extended to the educational system when e-learning began to be integrated in Jordanian schools as a part of its national modernization and development plans (Al-Fayoumy, 2003). The ministry of education in Jordan invests in gifted education in the gifted schools (King Abdullah II for Excellence). Much support was being pushed to these schools; in terms of infrastructure and human resources. These schools supplied with various equipment, computer and science laps, libraries, and sport materials. E-learning tools were among these equipment including computers, smart boards, data shows, and internet. Yet, there is no sufficient and clear data available based on empirical research to identify teachers' concerns and beliefs toward integrating e-learning in their classes neither what concerns and shed the light on an important spot in gifted education; integrating e-learning in their classes. The current research was guided by the following research questions:

- 1. What is the concern profile most associated with the gifted' teachers in Jordan?
- 2. What are the predominant stages of concerns for the gifted' teachers in Jordan?
- 3. What concerns do gifted' teachers have in e-learning integration?

METHODS

Mixed methods were used in this research to analyzed gifted teachers' stages of concerns (awareness, informational, personal, management, consequence, collaboration and refocusing) based on the Concerns-based Adoption Model (CBAM).

Participants

According to Hall, George, and Rutherford (1986) in SoCQ manual, concern analysis can be used either for individuals or groups. This justifies using a small sample size especially when qualitative methods are being employed. Therefore, a total number of 22 teachers (12 males, 10 females) were selected from three major schools of King Abdullah II for Excellence which are dedicated for gifted students in Jordan.

Instrument

The Stages of Concern Questionnaire (SoCQ) was developed to detect the concerns of individuals during the change process (Hord et al., 1987). Self-concerns consist of awareness, information, and personal; task concern is management; and impact concerns include consequence, collaboration, and refocusing. Each stage of these seven subscale concerns is represented by five statements on a 35-item Stages of Concern Questionnaire (SoCQ). For the purpose of examining gifted teachers' concerns about the implementation of the E-learning in gifted' schools in Jordan, the Arabic version of Stages of Concern Questionnaire (SoCQ) was used. This version was translated into Arabic and checked for validity and reliability by AL-Rawajfih (2010). He reported that the translated questionnaire is reliable with internal consistency of (0.87). SoCQ reflects a respondent's concern about the adoption of an innovation, a new program, or instructional approach. Respondents were asked to circle a number between 0 to 7 on a Likert-type scale to reflect their present concerns about their involvement or potential involvement in integrating e-learning in teaching gifted students. The number 0 means that the given statement is presently somewhat a true concern; and number 7 represents a very true concern at this time.

FINDINGS

For research question #1 "What is the concern profile most associated with the gifted' teachers in Jordan?" The total score for each stage and percentile tables have been established which readily convert raw stage scores to percentile figures (see Hall & Hord, 2001). From these percentile figures, stages of concern profiles can be plotted that identify the peak or predominant stages of concern and the relative intensity of other concerns. Since



change is a developmental process, the concerns of any one individual adopter (user) about an innovation will not be static; instead, they will shift in time (assuming continued use of the innovation). A concerns profile may represent the user at different stages of concern such as that of a nonuser or very early user. The mean raw stage scores for the entire group of participant determines the composite stages of concern profile for the teachers. Table 2 below displays the raw scores of all the participants at each stage of concern. The lowest mean (20.91) was for Stage 0 (Awareness) while the highest (27.36) was for Stage 3 (Management). Both males and females reported their lowest concerns at Stage 0 (Awareness) with means of (22.42) and (19.10) accordingly, while they reported their highest concerns at Stage 3 (Management) with means of (27.08) and (27.70).

Dontiningerte	Conder	Stage 0	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage3	Stage 4	Stage 5	Stage 6
Participants Gende		awareness	informational	personal	management	consequence	collaboration	refocusing
1	Male	28	27	28	31	33	26	29
2	Male	29	29	23	31	26	26	31
3	Male	28	29	28	28	22	25	31
4	Male	17	15	12	17	11	9	17
5	Male	12	11	16	24	13	17	20
6	Male	23	21	32	28	25	29	27
7	Male	28	22	29	29	19	29	25
8	Male	21	21	25	26	18	25	25
9	Male	24	23	26	31	28	26	18
10	Male	13	29	26	23	22	28	20
11	Male	23	20	23	28	30	28	28
12	Male	23	26	27	29	29	29	33
13	Female	23	25	28	25	25	23	27
14	Female	17	26	26	26	28	28	26
15	Female	14	19	16	16	23	16	20
16	Female	24	20	26	27	20	35	35
17	Female	14	28	27	35	29	28	35
18	Female	22	29	27	31	26	28	33
19	Female	18	25	24	27	21	25	22
20	Female	18	18	28	32	16	28	20
21	Female	17	27	28	28	30	28	20
22	Female	24	27	27	30	26	25	33
Means (Male	es)	22.42	22.75	24.58	27.08	23.00	24.75	25.33
Means (Fema	ales)	19.10	24.40	25.70	27.70	24.40	26.40	27.10
Percentiles ()	Males)	97	97	98	99	97	97	98
Percentiles (1	Females)	96	98	99	99	98	99	99
Means (M&l	F)	20.91	23.5	25.09	27.36	23.64	25.5	26.14
Percentiles (M&F)		89	93	92	83	66	76	87

Table 2: Raw scores, means, and percentiles of participants' stages of concerns

Interpretations of the participants' profiles are derived from SoCQ guidelines by Hall & Hord (2001) and its Stages of Concerns' theoretical framework. Figure 2 represents the participants' percentiles at the vertical axis



and the stages of concerns at the horizontal axis. The scores of self-concerns (Stages 0, 1, and 2) are relatively high and within (9 %) of each other, the task concern (Stage 3) is lower, and the impact concerns (Stage 4, 5, and 6) are also low. Tailing-up of the profile appears at Stage 6.



Figure 2: Stage of concern profile (One group profile)

The scores of self-concerns (Stages 1, 2, and 3) for females are relatively high and within (2 %) of each other, while low Stage 0 (Awareness) and the task concern (Stage 4) is relatively high. Females are as concerned with the personal changes that e-learning may bring to them as they are with understanding more about the change itself. A smooth tailing-up appears in Stage 6 for females' scores as they have stable and positive concerns towards e-learning. The scores of self-concerns (Stages 0) for males are relatively higher than females. The highest scores for males were in Stage 3 (Management), while their lowest score were in Stage 4 (consequence) shows that concerns related to student outcomes were low comparing to females. However, a strong tailing-up appears in Stage 6 for males as shown in figure 3.



Figure 3: Stage of concern profile (Two groups' profile)

For research question #2 "What are the predominant stages of concerns for the gifted' teachers in Jordan?" The High Stage Scores were also examined for the participants. These scores are important primary indicators in the interpretation of the participants' concerns. Figure 4 shows that 7 out 22 (32%) of the participants expressed their highest concerns at Stage 3. Also, 6 (27%) chose State 6 as their highest stage, one participant (0.05%) chose stage 1, another one (0.05%) chose Stage 5, another 4 (18%) chose Stage 4, and another 3 (14%) chose Stage 2 as the highest. Since 77% of the participants had their highest Stage in either Stage 3, 4, or 6, this may reflect a "positive" nonuser profile. It also shows the participants' concern about the consequences of the innovation for the students. Most participants are not concerned about the collaboration (Stage 5).





Figure 4: High stage scores of participants

For research question #3 "What concerns do you have in e-learning integration?" In order to have a better and more comprehensive understanding of gifted teachers' concerns about integrating e-learning in gifted' schools in Jordan, interviews with the participants was conducted and analyzed using an inductive qualitative approach. Many interviewees' responses centered on the management (stage4) as they will be spending all of their time getting materials ready. Many others concerned about accessibility to technology resources: they either did not have sufficient hardware and/or software, or the equipment was too old or slow. Typical comments included: "the only concern I have is the availability of technology so that the students and teachers can use the resources as often as needed and possible;" "We have no sufficient printers, no video cameras, no laptops, and no necessary software;" "Our school doesn't have the resources to facilitate the use of some technologies. Many interviewees were concerned about e-learning concept and tools. Some commented: "I like to know more about e-learning tools, applications, and experiments;" "I'm interested to read more about e-learning;" "I'm aware of the importance of e-learning in the schools nowadays". Time management was another big concern for teachers. Most interviewees expressed that they loved to use technology, but to design a technology-integrated lesson took significantly more time because they had to search for appropriate computer programs and software, schedule the use of labs or devices, assemble/set up equipment, and guide students in the mechanics of operating the technology. Several teachers were also concerned about the availability and efficiency of technical support staff. They complained that hardware and software problems could not be resolved in a timely manner, which caused interruption to their normal instruction. Finally, many interviewees expressed their concern about students' use of e-learning tools. They shared the belief that guiding students to use technology in learning appropriately and effectively must be taken into consideration when exposing students to technology. Typical comments were: "Sometimes I'm worried that students are too fascinated with the effects of technical tools and ignore what should be the real issues of interest;" "there are too many inappropriate sites and materials for students.... Maybe teachers should help students locate helpful, credible, and appropriate materials". However, many participants were not interested in collaboration to work with others in integrating el-learning; "I would rather work on using technologies in teaching by myself". Other teachers don not like to collaborate in using technologies in the school". These results are consistent with the quantitative findings and more explanations for the participants' responses.

DISCUSSIONS

The current study was conducted to capture a detailed picture of the gifted' teachers concerns about integrating e-learning in their schools. The low Stage 0 (Awareness) score indicates a high interest in the e-learning relative to other activities. On the other hand, the high Stage 1 (Information) score reveals a lack of understanding of what the e-learning involves, and the high Stage 2 (Personal) score gives an indication that the group is very concerned over the impact of the e-learning on their professional duties and responsibilities. The Stage 2 concerns are almost as high as Stage 1 concerns indicating that the personal concerns are essentially the same as the informational concerns. The participants are as concerned with the personal changes that e-learning may bring to them as they are with understanding more about the change itself. The tailing-up of the profile at Stage 6 is an important finding which refers to the changing slope of the SOC profile, specifically, the condition where the relative intensity of Stage 6 (Refocusing) is greater than the relative intensity of Stage 5 concerns. This characteristic in a nonuser profile is interpreted by Hall and Hord (2001) as indicative of a resistance to the innovation, or possibly a desire to re-direct or modify the innovation which is the e-learning in the current study. Moreover, Hall and Hord (2001) describe individuals with this type of profile (nonuser with tailing-up Stage 6) as they seem to be negative toward the innovation. These results are consistent with Alfieri (1998), Alshammari (2000), Alias and Zainuddin (2005), Overbaugh and Lu (2008), Rakes and Spaulding (2009), AL-Rawajfih, Fong, and Idris (2010), and Zamani, Abedi, Soleimani, and Amini (2011).



Females are as concerned with the personal changes that e-learning may bring to them as they are with understanding more about the change itself. The smooth tailing-up in Stage 6 indicates a little resistance to the e-learning or possibly modify their implementation of the e-learning. In other words, females have stable and positive concerns towards e-learning. This indicates that males have lower interest in e-learning than females. The highest scores for males were in Stage 3 (management) which reveals task concerns that include logistics and efficient use of resources. a strong tailing-up appears in Stage 6 for males indicates a strong resistance to the e-learning or possibly modify their implementation of the e-learning. In other words, males have negative concerns towards e-learning. These results contradict with Zamani, Abedi, Soleimani, and Amini (2011), Overbaugh and Lu (2008), and Alshammari (2000) as they reported no differences among males and females in their concern profile.

CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

The Concerns-Based Adoption Model (CBAM) has been used for the first time only in this study to explore gifted' teachers stages of concerns for integrating e-learning in teaching-learning processes. The results of this study would be beneficial for educational policy makers, teachers' training centers, and curriculum planners. Furthermore, e-learning should be included in the pre-service and in-service teachers' training programs. Increasing teachers' knowledge and skills about e-learning will make them more interested in using the new technologies. However, the results of this study revealed that teachers experienced collaboration concerns, thus, the administrations and the principals of the gifted schools are recommended to develop a policy that encourages peer collaboration and coaching. Classroom visits and teachers meetings are highly recommended to help teachers learn from each other. It is recommended to provide both in-site and on-Web support for teachers during the implementation process. Further studies should include a longitudinal research to follow the changes in teachers and concerns over time. Also, further research should address the relationships between stages of concern and other factors, such as school district, age, and teacher qualifications and experiences. An emphasis on innovation, rather than the technology should be adopted which gives opportunities for teachers to try new teaching and learning methods, and that encourages them to support each other and share knowledge and skills. Finally, the findings discussed would provide avenue and references for future studies.

REFERENCES

- AL-Fayoumy, N. (2003). E-learning in Jordan: A Strategic option to succeed the national vision. [online] (accessed 20th December 2012). Available from the World Wide Web: http://www.ituarabic/E-Education/Doc18-jordan.ppt.
- Alfieri, P. A. (1998). Stages of concern of Defense Systems Management College faculty about technology-based education and training. Unpublished Dissertation, Virginia Tech, Blacksburg.
- Alias, N. A. & Zainuddin, A. M. (2005) Innovation for Better Teaching and Learning: Adopting the Learning Management System. *Malaysian Online Journal of Instructional Technology*. 2(2), 27-40.
- AL-Rawajfih, K., Fong, S. & Idris, N. (2010). Stages of Concern in Integrating E-Learning in Discovery Schools. Asian Social Science, 6(8), 54-63
- Al-Shabatat, A. M. (2011). Gifted and talented education in Jordan: A spotlight on programs and activities. *Talent Talks*, 2(2), 7-1
- Alshammari, B. S. (2000). The Development Stages of Concern of Teachers toward the Implementation of the Information Technology Curriculum in Kuwait. Unpublished Dissertation. University of North Texas.
- Ballard, G. (2000). *The Last Planner System of production controll*, PhD thesis, University of Birmingham, Birmingham, UK.
- Embi, R. (2007) Computer Anxiety and Computer Self-efficacy among Accounting Educators at Universiti Teknolgi Mara (UiTM). PhD Dissertation. The faculty of Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University.
- Ensminger, D. C., Surry, D. W., Porter, B. E. & Wright, D. (2004). Factors Contributing to the Successful Implementation of Technology Innovations. *Educational Technology & Society*, 7(3), 61-72.
- Hall, G. E. & Hord, S. M. (2001) *Implementing Change: Patterns, Principles and Potholes,* Allyn and Bacon: Needham Heights
- Hall, G. E., George, A. A., & Rutherford, W. A. (1986). Measuring stages of concern about the innovation: A manual for use of the SoC Questionnaire. R&D Report No. 3032, The University of Texas at Austin: Research and Development Center for Teacher Education. Southwest Educational Development Laboratory: Austin, Texas.
- Hall, G. E., Wallace, R. C. & Dossett, W. F. (1973), A Developmental Conceptualization of the Adoption Process within Educational Institutions, University of Texas, Austin.
- Hord, S. M., Rutherford, W. L., Huling-Austin, L. & Hall, G. E. (1987). Taking Charge of Change, Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development, Alexandria, Va.



- Horsley, D. L. & Loucks-Horsley, S. (1998) CBAM brings order to the tornado change. Journal of Staff Development, 19(4).
- Hsu, Y.-S., Wu, H.-K. & Hwang, F.-K. (2007) Factors Influencing Junior High School Teachers' Computer-Based Instructional Practices Regarding Their Instructional Evolution Stages. *Educational Technology & Society*, 10(4), 118-130.
- Jordanian Ministry of Education, JMOE. (2008). *Gifted and talented programs* [online] (accessed 20th December 2012). Available from the World Wide Web:
- http://www.moe.gov.jo/Departments/DepartmentsMenuDetails.aspx?MenuID=319&DepartmentID=17 Mackenzie-Robb, L. (2004). E-Learning and Change Management – The Challenge. [online] (accessed 16th
- December 2012). Available from the World Wide Web: http://www.vantaggiolearn.com/Vantaggio_CM.htm
- Newhouse, C., Trinidad, S. & Clarkson, B. (2002) Quality Pedagogy and effective learning with information and communications technologies (ICT): a review of the literature. Perth, Western Australia: Specialist Educational services.
- Overbaugh, R. & Lu, R. (2008). The impact of a NCLB-EETT funded professional development program on teacher self-efficacy and resultant implementation, *Journal of Research on Technology in Education*, 41(1), 43–61
- Rakes, G. & Spaulding, M. (2009). Teachers' learner-centered beliefs and concerns regarding instructional technology. In I. Gibson et al. (Eds.), *Proceedings of Society for Information Technology & Teacher Education International Conference 2009* (pp. 2083-2089). Chesapeake, VA: AACE.
- Rakes, G. C., & Casey, H. B. (2002). An analysis of teacher concerns toward instructional technology. International Journal of Educational Technology, 3(1).
- Stockley, D. (2004). E-learning definition and explanation (Elearning, online training, online training), [online] (accessed 16th December 2012). Available from the World Wide Web: http://derekstockley.com.au/elearningdefinition.html
- Zamani, B., Abedi, A., Soleimani, N., & Amini, N. (2011). Investigating Teachers' Stages of Concern toward Information and Communication Technology in Secondary Schools of Isfahan: Concern Based Adoption Model. *Studies in Learning & Instruction*, 2(2), 20-23.



IMPACT OF COLLABORATIVE TOOLS UTILIZATION ON GROUP PERFORMANCE IN UNIVERSITY STUDENTS

Achmad Nizar Hidayanto Faculty of Computer Science, Universitas Indonesia, Indonesia nizar@cs.ui.ac.id Stella Tantra Setyady Faculty of Computer Science, Universitas Indonesia, Indonesia stella.tantra21@ui.ac.id

ABSTRACT

Nowadays the growth of technology influences the changes in group collaboration's process either for the professional or for the students. The requirement of interaction in group collaboration while doing task forces the students to schedule their meeting in order to finish the task given. So the technology starts to influence the process of group collaboration as a communication and interaction media between students in doing their tasks. The purpose of this research is to analyze factors from technology characteristics that drive the students to use collaborative tools, and the implication of using collaborative tools in group collaboration to the group performance. Our research model was validated using Structural Equation Modeling (SEM) technique with LISREL 8.8 tool on 196 respondents from undergraduate and postgraduate students of Faculty of Computer Science, Universitas Indonesia. Our findings showed that the ease of use and perceived usefulness of the collaborative tools drive the students to use collaborative tools when doing their tasks. The existence of collaborative tools also showed a positive influence to the team performance.

INTRODUCTION

Good quality education is one key to improve the human resource capacity. Data from Human Development Index (HDI) placed Indonesia at rank 121 out of 185 countries in 2013 (United Nations Development Programme, 2013). This shows the level of quality of human resources in Indonesia is still far from the expected. One of the efforts made to improve the human resource is the transformation of education, shifting from teacher-centered learning to student-centered learning. One of the student-centered methods applied in many universities in Indonesia is collaborative learning which requires students to work in group.

Doing the task in group requires an ability to manage and adjust time each other, so they can do the discussion which lead them to solve the problem in the assignment. Process of communication, coordination, and other factors like trust, understanding each other, cohesion, and conflicts will become concerns in a group collaboration that separated by location and time (Naik & Kim, 2010). With the existence of information technology, students will not need to think about how to adjust physical meeting schedule. They can do the discussion even from different location. Information technology tools that support student's collaboration activities to accomplish the task are called collaborative tools (Munkvold, 2003).

There are various collaborative tools available to use. Becker & Cline (2005) showed that collaborative tools type that commonly used in the organizations activities such as videoconferencing (47%), personal communication devices (45%), project management software (33%) and remote dial-up devices (31%). Bajwa & Lewis (2003) also stated various collaborative tools used, among of them were e-mail system, audio teleconferencing, video conferencing, data conferencing, web-based tools, proprietary groupware technology, and electronic meetings system. More than 90% organizations reported that e-mail and audio teleconferencing were available and utilized by employees, but less than 40% organization using nor provide EMS technologies. There were also many attempts to use collaborative tools for learning activities, such as Wiki (Aaltonen & Kallinikos, 2012; Engstrom & Jewett, 2005; Wagner, 2004). The collaborative tool can also be combined with Learning Management Systems (LMS) to enhance the student's ability, for example to improve the programming skills (Cavus & Ibrahim, 2007).

Collaborative tools help group activities by providing ease of communication and coordination among members of the group. Results of previous studies showed a variety of benefits from the use of collaborative tools. Cavanaugh (2001) showed that collaborative tools can be useful to equip, develop, and expand educational options for students. The use of collaborative tools in the group learning also gave a positive impact on cognitive processes and effective results when compared to individual learning (Lou, Abrami, & d'Apollonia, 2001). The use of collaborative tools also proved to improve the quality of social interaction between students and students, and students and teachers. This is caused by the interaction between users are becoming more visible, so as to improve understanding of each other (Ma, 2009). In addition, the use of collaborative tools also allowed for



interactive process, where learners are able to build new knowledge in a social level (Kreijins & Kirschner, 2002).

Although previous researches stating the benefits and popularity of collaborative tools, there were only few researches concerning adoption factors of collaboration tools as well as their impact to group performance. Considering this, our research was conducted to answer the following research questions: (1) what are the technology-related factors that influence students to adopt collaborative tools for their group work? (2) does the use of collaborative tools influence the group performance among students?

This study was conducted at the undergraduate and master's students in the Faculty of Computer Science, Universitas Indonesia. Considering their field in the computer science, they are used to using a variety of information technology tools to assist their activities, so that we considered them as suitable respondents for our study.

COLLABORATIVE LEARNING AND COLLABORATIVE TOOLS

Collaborative learning is an activity that involved a process where a group of students collaborate to accomplish problem solving task given as learning activities requirement (Alavi, Wheeler, & Valacich, 1995). A collaboration involve two peoples or more who interact each other, at certain period, working together to achieve the same goal (Patel, Pettitt, & Wilson, 2012). Collaboration activities in group can be done without physical meetings of its member by using collaborative tools. Collaboration technology is a technology artifact that supports collaboration activities and coordination between related part to achieve certain business and organization goals (Munkvold, 2003). Collaborative tools is usually web-based, it can be accessed by user easily. Web-based tools can support group collaboration activities with no requirement to pay at high price, it just need to use internet access, there is no requirement to have other additional hardware (Dennis, 1996). Some examples of collaborative tools are e-mail, audio conferencing, collaborative presentation software, conference room video-conferencing, desktop video conferencing, discussion database, document management software, electronic whiteboarding, group authoring, GDSS, group scheduling and calendaring, knowledge management systems, one-way bulletin boards (BBS), personal communication tools like laptop, mobile phone, pagers, and so on (Becker & Cline, 2005).

RESEARCH MODEL AND HYPOTHESES

Davis (1989) has explains TAM model that describes technology characteristics that influence people's intention to adopt the use of a technology. TAM model has proved that technology-related factors that influence the intention to use a technology were perceived ease of use (PEOU) and perceived usefulness (PU). Perceived ease of use variable stated a feeling when someone feels easy to use and also operate a system. In this research context we can say PEOU as a feeling when students can operate the collaborative tools easily. On the other hand, perceived usefulness variable stated the feelings when someone belief the performance will improve by using an information system. Collaborative tools are expected to help students to communicate, convey ideas related to the tasks to be completed, as well as manage all documents generated from the group assignments so that progress can be monitored by all members of the group. Perceived ease of use provided by the collaborative tools that can be accessed anytime and anywhere would be expected to affect the perceived usefulness of collaborative tools, so that we outlined our first hypotheses as:

H1: Perceived ease of use of collaborative tools positively influences the perceived usefulness of collaborative tools.

Besides, TAM model also explains the relationship of PEOU and PU variables with intention to use that stated someone's will or intention to use a technology. In this research context, intention to use collaborative tools can be described as a students who can feel the easiness of collaborative tools utilization and understand the usefulness they will got by using collaborative tools to perform group assignment, they will have intention like "If I have access to use collaborative tools, then I will accomplish the group's assignment by using collaborative tools" (Venkatesh & Davis, 2000). Thus, we outlined our second and third hypothesis as:

H2: Perceived ease of use of collaborative tools positively influences students' intention to use collaborative tools in doing group's assignment.

H3: Perceived usefulness of collaborative tools positively influences the students' intention to use collaborative tools in doing group's assignment.

If two hypotheses above are proved, TAM model has further explanation about the positive correlation between students' intention to use collaborative tools and the actual use of collaborative tools. According to TAM theory,



intention to use collaborative tools should be able to predict the actual use. TAM also stated that the actual use of technology is influenced by the ease of use, usefulness, and intention to use a technology (Davis, 1989). In our case, we expect that students who have intention to use collaborative tools in doing their assignment will lead to the actual use of collaborative tools as a media to accomplish their group's assignment. Thus, it leads us to present our hypothesis as follow:

H4: Students' intention to use collaborative tools positively influences the actual use of collaborative tools as supportive tools to complete the group's assignment.

Group discussion and collaboration activities between group's members drive the student to practice their communication skill to others and to think critically (Kreijns, Kirschner, & Jochems, 2003). The importance of collaborative learning activities for students underlies the need of information exchange between group's members. This will be a problem because of the time needed to distribute information, information complexity, and the quality of communication channel. Network and information technology are able to be a solution to produce effective and efficient collaboration activity (Line, 1997). Meanwhile, Munkvold (2003) stated that current collaborative work practices give positive impact to its users and also to collaboration technology. Bratteteig (1998) also showed that collaborative work practices should be there first before knowing the technology. Thus, we stated our fifth hypothesis as follow:

H5: Collaborative learning activities positively influence the actual use of collaborative tools as supportive tools to accomplish group's assignment.

Group's effectiveness defined by the existence of planning and managing meeting schedule, monitor and evaluate performance, and the presence of information exchange between each other (Becker & Cline, 2005). The various features offered by collaborative tools can support and simplify the process that has to be done in a group to do collaboration, so we expect that the use of collaborative tools will be able to improve group's performance.

Some previous research that discuss about the relationship between actual use of technology and group's performance is Majumdar & Krishna (2012) that stated about rapid growth of web 2.0 technology capabilities which positively impacted the interaction in a group. There was also a result from research by Elie-Dit-Cosaque & Pallud (2012) that showed the use of collaboration system positively impacted the performance of collaboration. Thus we expect that the use of collaborative tools will impact to the group performance that yields the following hypothesis:

H6: The use of collaborative tools positively impacts performance of the group that utilizes collaborative tools to complete the assignment.

The complete conceptual model of our research can be seen in Figure 1.



Figure 1: Research Model

Research model shown above is a result of combining TAM model with other variables like collaborative learning, in accordance with the theory that say that collaboration activity will need the use of collaborative tools to support exchanges of information and communication between group's member (Line, 1997). This model also portrays the relationship between the use of collaborative tools and performance of group that use it.



Variable	Indicator	References		
Ease of Use	EOU1. Learn how to operate collaborative tools	Legris, Ingham, & Collerette (2003).		
(EOU)	feels easy for me.	Davis (1989), Subramanian (1994)		
	EOU2. I can use collaborative tools' feature to produce the result I want.	Legris, Ingham, & Collerette (2003), Davis (1989)		
	EOU3. I can remember how to do the task with	Davis (1989), Agarwal & Prasad		
	collaborative tools.	(1999)		
	EOU4. Overall, I can operate the collaborative tools easily.	Davis (1989)		
Perceived	PU1. Use of collaborative tools increases my	Legris, Ingham, & Collerette (2003),		
Usefulness (PU)	productivity in doing group's task.	Davis (1989), Subramanian (1994)		
	PU2. Use of collaborative tools makes the collaborative learning easier.	Davis (1989), Subramanian (1994)		
	PU3. Collaborative tools make the collaborative learning process more effective.	Legris, Ingham, & Collerette (2003), Lederer et al. (2000)		
	PU4. Use of collaborative tools increases	Legris, Ingham, & Collerette (2003),		
	group's performance.	Davis (1989), Lederer et al. (2000)		
Intention to use	I1. If I have group task in class, I intent to use	Davis (1989), Venkatesh & Davis		
collaborative tools(I)	collaborative tools to complete it.	(2000)		
	I2. If I have internet access, I intent to use	Dennis (1996), Venkatesh & Davis		
	collaborative tools to accomplish group task.	(2000)		
Actual Use	AU1. I use collaborative tools to discuss and	Bajwa & Lewis (2003), Lanubile et al.		
(AU)	share opinions with group's member, to	(2010), Kittle & Hicks (2009), Davis		
	complete group's task.	(1989), Beal & Rogers (1960)		
	AU2. I use collaborative tools to monitor the	Kittle & Hicks (2009), Davis (1989),		
	progress of group's task.	Beal & Rogers (1960).		
	AU3. Overall, I use collaborative tools to	Davis (1989), Beal & Rogers (1960).		
0.11.1	complete group's task.	$\mathbf{D} \leftarrow \mathbf{I} \mathbf{D} \leftarrow \mathbf{U} \leftarrow 0 \mathbf{W} = \mathbf{U} (2 0 + 1 0)$		
Learning (COL)	task from the lecturer.	Patel, Pettitt, & Wilson (2012)		
	COL2. I share informations and knowledges when collaborating with my group.	Singh & Avital (2007)		
_	COL3. Collaborative activities involve task	Singh & Avital (2007)		
	distribution between group's members.			
Performance of	PT1.Collaborative tools utilization helps the	Becker & Cline (2005), Majumdar &		
the team (PT)	process of task schedule planning to become	Krishna (2012), Serce et al. (2011),		
	easier.	Gress et al. (2010)		
	PT2. Collaborative tools utilization make the	Becker & Cline (2005), Majumdar &		
	monitoring of task's progress activities easier.	Krishna (2012), Gress et al. (2010)		
	PT3. Collaborative tools utilization makes the	Nikas, Poulymenakou, & Kriaris		
	process of task compilation and task alignment	(2007), Bajwa & Lewis (2003), Kittle		
-	easier.	& Hicks (2009)		
	PT4. Collaborative tools utilization become the	Becker & Cline (2005), Gress et al.		
	media to share information within group.	(2010), Hoegl & Gemuenden (2001)		
	PT5. Overall, collaborative tools utilization	Lanubile et al. (2010), Hoegl &		
	facilitate me to contribute in completing group task.	Gemuenden (2001).		
	PT6. Other group members and I can support	Hoegl & Gemuenden (2001)		
	each other by using collaborative tools.			
	PT7. Collaborative tools become	Serce et al. (2011), Hoegl &		
	communication media to give feedback of	Gemuenden (2001)		
	task's result between me and group members			

Table 1: Variables and indicators of research instrument



METHODOLOGY

Our research uses quantitative research approach (Creswell, 1994) in order to prove our hypotheses. We used survey method which is conducted to describe specific aspect from a population quantitatively (Kraemer, 1991). Survey is also conducted to obtain generalization of findings resulted from sample population, but with a random error constraints (Bartlett, Kotrlik, & Higgins, 2001). As a case study for our research, we conducted survey to undergraduate and postgraduate students in the Faculty of Computer Science, Universitas Indonesia. The Faculty of Computer Science, as the pioneer institution offering computer science program, offers a set of degree program from bachelor to PhD program in Computer Science and Information Systems. Currently, we have around 1.700 students in all degrees.

Population, Samples and Data Collection Procedures

Population in this study was the bachelor and master students in the Faculty of Computer Science, Universitas Indonesia. We selected students from 2007-2012 classes of bachelor program and from 2011-2012 classes of master program. The population was chosen by considering that the respondents are still actively attending learning activities and doing group tasks. We used convenience sampling to draw samples of our study, which is a technique used to take non-probability samples, where the sample chosen from population is the sample that can access the questionnaire easily, read the post of questionnaire link, and that can be contacted directly (Ross, 2005). We prepared the questionnaire in online and offline mode. We sent the softcopy and link (URL) containing our questionnaire to student mailing lists. We also asked directly to students we met to fulfill the questionnaire. In total, we obtained 196 respondents returning the questionnaire. Number of our respondents has meet the minimum requisite of data to be analyzed with SEM procedures using Maximum Likelihood estimates that need 100-150 samples (Hair et al., 2010).

Instruments

Our questionnaire was divided into two parts. The first contained respondents' profile such as gender, education, classes, and collaborative tools that have been used to complete their group task. Second part was questions which were derived to reflect our latent variables and their indicators. Variable' indicators were obtained from theory and previous research results. Variables and indicators that we used to develop our questionnaire can be seen in Table 1.

RESULTS

Respondent Demographics

Respondent's profile in this paper gained from the results of questionnaire distributed, consist of gender, education, and various collaborative tools that has been utilized. 62% from total respondents are male (122 respondents), and 38% of total respondents are female (74 respondents). For education level, 55% comes from master degree (107 respondents) and 45% from bachelor degree (89 respondents). Meanwhile, base on respondent's answer about what collaborative tools they have used to complete their group task, the distribution of collaborative tools used are: e-mail (182 respondents), Google Drive (163 respondents), instant messaging (160 respondents), Whatsapp, KakaoTalk, and Line (153 respondents), Skype (145 respondents), and Dropbox (121 respondents). Considering the same point of view between author and all respondents (as a student), all collaborative tools mentioned for this research are those that have been used by respondents to complete group task given by faculty. Table 2 summarizes the demographics of respondents in this study.

Age	%	Collaborative Tools	%
Male	62	Email	93
Female	38	IM	62
		Dropbox	82
		Skype	74
Education Level	%	Whatsapp, Kakautalk, Line	78
Bachelor	45	GDrive	83
Master	55	Others	11

 Table 2: Respondent demographics

Measurement and Structural Model

We processed the collected data by using LISREL. LISREL is a statistical tool that support for covariance based Structural Equation Modeling (SEM). First, we checked classic statistical assumption, which includes the accomplishment of minimum total sample needed, normality test, and multicollinearity test.



Variable	Indicator	Loading Factors	CR	VE
Ease of Use (EOU)	EOU1	0.77	0.83	0.55
	EOU2	0.64		
	EOU3	0.68		
	EOU4	0.75		
Perceived Usefulness (PU)	PU1	0.76	0.87	0.62
	PU2	0.76		
	PU3	0.77		
	PU4	0.77		
Intention to Use (I)	I1	0.86	0.83	0.72
	I2	0.83		
Actual Use (AU)	AU1	0.70	0.77	0.53
	AU2	0.69		
	AU3	0.71		
Collaborative Learning (COL)	COL1	0.70	0.82	0.60
	COL2	0.78		
	COL3	0.84		
Performance of the Team (PT)	PT1	0.60	0.87	0.49
	PT2	0.73		
	PT3	0.72		
	PT4	0.76		
	PT5	0.56		
	PT6	0.61		
	PT7	0.74		

Table 3	3:	Results	of	validity	and	reliability	test
---------	----	---------	----	----------	-----	-------------	------

Next, we tested the model fitness that consists of measurement model test and structural model test. We conducted confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) for measurement model tests that comprise both validity and reliability test. Table 3 presents results of validity and reliability test of our model produced by LISREL. According to (Wijanto, 2008), the minimum value of loading factor is 0.5. Our results showed that all questionnaire items had loading factor value ≥ 0.5 , so that we concluded all questionnaire items were valid. Reliability test was performed by using the criterion value of Construct Reliability (CR) and Variance Extracted (VE). Results of reliability test in Table 3 show that the value of CR and VE are already exceeded 0.7 and 0.5 respectively. So that it can be concluded that the model is also reliable. The VE value of Performance of the Team (PT) is 0.49, however this value is close to 0.5 so that we still considered it reliable.

We also tested the model fitness based on Goodness of Fit (GOF) criteria as can be seen in Table 4. We used fitness values recommendation according to (Schermelleh-Engel & Moosbrugger, 2003). The CFA column represents the goodness indices values of measurement model. Except SRMR and GFI, other fit indices have better actual values than the recommended values. Thus it indicates good fitness and we concluded our measurement and structural model are acceptable.

Fit Indices	Recommended Value	CFA	Structural	Conclusion			
			Model				
RMSEA	≤ 0.05	0.032	0.022	Good Fit			
SRMR	≤ 0.05	0.057	0.094	Acceptable Fit			
GFI	\geq 0.90	0.85	0.86	Marginal Fit			
NFI	\geq 0.90	0.96	0.97	Good Fit			
AGFI	≥ 0.80	0.81	0.83	Marginal Fit			
CFI	\geq 0.90	0.99	1.00	Good Fit			
PGFI	≥ 0.60	0.66	0.68	Good Fit			
AIC	Saturated $= 552.00$	374.97	353.39	Good Fit (closer to saturated)			
CAIC	Saturated $= 1706.17$	630.06	595.94	Good Fit (closer to saturated)			

Table 4: Results of measurement and structural model fitness test

Note: chi2/df is the ratio between Chi-square and degrees of freedom, RMSEA is the Root Mean Square Error of Approximation, SRMR is Standardized Root Mean Square Residual, GFI is the Goodness of Fit Index, NFI is the Normed Fit Index, AGFI is the Adjusted Goodness of Fit Index, CFI is the Comparative Fit Index, PGFI is Parsimony Goodnes Of Fit Index, AIC is Akaike Information Criterion, and CAIC is Consistent Akaike Information Criterion.



Outcome of path diagram can be seen in Figure 2.



Figure 2: Structural model path diagram

Hypotheses Analysis

Summary of causal relationship test between structural model variables based on t-value produced by LISREL can be seen in Table 5. T-values should have \geq 1.96 to indicate acceptance of a hypothesis. According to t-values in Table 5, all hypotheses in this study are accepted.

Our first hypothesis (H1) that says perceived ease of use of collaborative tools positively influences perceived usefulness of collaborative tools is accepted. It shows that students will find that collaborative tools are useful if they can use collaborative tools easily. Our second hypothesis (H2) that says perceived ease of use of collaborative tools positively influences students' intention to use collaborative tools in doing group's task is accepted. It means that if students can operate collaborative tools easily, it will drive the intention to use collaborative tools. For our third hypothesis (H3), perceived usefulness of collaborative tools positively influences student's intention to use collaborative tools in doing group's task is also accepted. This result indicates that when students believe that collaborative tools can improve their performance in the group, there will be the intention to use collaborative tools. Our fourth hypothesis (H4) is also accepted, the students' intention to use collaborative tools proved to give positive influence to the actual use of collaborative tools as supportive tools to complete group's task. It shows that the higher the intention to use collaborative tools in doing group tasks, so does the probability to actually use the collaborative tools. Whereas our fifth hypothesis (H5) shows that the collaborative learning activities significantly give positive influence to the actual use of collaborative tools to complete group's task. This imply that when students are given group's task which involve collaborative learning, they will utilize collaborative tool that supports communication and information exchange process in their group's collaboration. Our sixth hypothesis (H6) also shows significant correlation between the actual use of collaborative tools and performance of the group that use collaborative tools in doing their task. It means if students utilize collaborative tools to complete their task, then their group's performance will also improve.

Table 5: Hypotheses testing result					
Hypotheses	T-value	Conclusion			
H1: EOU \rightarrow PU	5.29	Accepted			
H2: EOU → I	3.28	Accepted			
H3: PU → I	3.90	Accepted			
H4: I → AU	5.04	Accepted			
H5: COL \rightarrow AU	8.26	Accepted			
H6: AU \rightarrow PT	6.74	Accepted			

 Table 5: Hypotheses testing result

DISCUSSIONS

We conducted this research to find out which technology characteristic factors that will determine students' adoption of collaborative technology and also to see impact of collaborative technology to group's performance. Research result shows that TAM model developed by Davis (1989) can explain the use of collaborative technology in this research. The detailer explanation of the research results can be seen below.



The influence of perceived ease of use to perceive usefulness of collaborative tools

Data analysis showed that perceived ease of use positively influence perceived usefulness of collaborative tools. It is related to respondents' demography which came from Faculty of Computer Science UI students, who commonly use the technology in their learning activities, so they feel easy to operate collaborative tools. In this paper, perceived ease of use explains how the students feel easy to operate collaborative tools. Ease of use consists feeling of capable operating collaborative tools easily, for example the students can operate collaborative tools without being trained first. Other example is students feel they can use collaborative tools' feature to create the result they need, such as make a diagram, presentation visualization, etc. If students can remember how to do their task with collaborative tools easily, it means the tools are easy to use. When the student feels easy to use collaborative tools, they will also feel that collaborative tools are useful. Thus our result confirms the validity of TAM (Davis, 1989).

The influence of perceived ease of use and perceived usefulness to the intention to use collaborative tools

Hypotheses testing results showed that perceived ease of use and perceived usefulness of collaborative tools positively influence the intention to use collaborative tools in doing group's task. Perceived usefulness of collaborative tools represented by the increasing group's productivity, simplify group's collaboration, increase the effectiveness of collaboration process, and improve group's performance. Students' intention to use collaborative tools indicated by willingness to utilize collaborative tools in doing group's task, and willingness to use collaborative tools if they have internet access. This also implies that students will have intention to use the collaborative tools if they can operate it easily and if the tool is useful for them. Thus our results also confirm the validity of TAM (Davis, 1989).

The relationship between intention to use collaborative tools with the actual use of collaborative tools

Hypotheses testing result showed positive impact between intention to use collaborative tools and the actual use of collaborative tools. Actual use of collaborative tools indicated by utilization of collaborative tools to discuss and share opinion among group's member when doing group's assignment, and to monitor the assignment's progress. So the intention to use should be there first, before the students actually use collaborative tools. Again, we confirm the validity of TAM model (Davis, 1989).

The relationship between collaborative learning with the actual use of collaborative tools

Hypotheses testing result proved that collaborative learning positively influence the actual use of collaborative tools in doing group's task. Collaborative learning in this case is students' collaboration to accomplish coursework, also the information and knowledge sharing between group's members. Besides, a group is said doing collaboration if they distribute the task equally and then discuss each task's result together. Collaboration activity needs facilities which can support a collaboration such as to share information and knowledge, share references, etc. without being concerned by time, location and member's own activity. Because a coursework is obligatory and has deadline, students will have to use collaborative tools to finish their task on time, without the need to be presents in group's meeting and discussion physically. Various features provided by collaborative tools can help students to collaborate in a group, they can chat, upload files, edit documents simultaneously, and so on.

The relationship between the actual use of collaborative tools with performance of group who use it

Hypotheses testing results showed a positive correlation between actual use of collaborative tools and performance of group who use collaborative tools to complete their task. In this case, group's performance is measured by several indicators, such as make assignment planning first before actually doing the assignment, monitor the overall assignment progress even though each member has their own job, joining and coordination process conducted easily, and the presence of information sharing activity in a group. Other indicators is a state where each member give contribution to their group, supports each other when finishing the assignment, and communicate to each other well in a form of feedback for each other's task. Prove of positive correlation between actual use of collaborative tools and group's performance indicate that if students utilize collaborative tools in doing their assignment, then their group's performance will also improve. This result supports the research conducted by Majumdar & Krishna (2012) and Elie-Dit-Cosaque & Pallud (2012), about the use of collaboration technology will give positive influence to the group's performance.

IMPLICATIONS

Results of this study indicate that the use of collaborative tools have a positive impact on group performance. Therefore, students are expected to make use of collaborative tools in their group tasks as it is proven to improve the process of communication, interaction, and facilitate the exchange of information among members of the group. Students can make use of collaborative tools that have been equipped with a variety of features that support their group activities. In addition, lecturers are expected to also have a role to encourage students to use



collaborative tools, especially for professional programs in which students are mostly workers who certainly could not do face-to-face at any time. Collaborative learning is an option for lecturers to encourage the use of collaborative tools as it proved to be one of determinants of the use of collaborative tools. The use of collaborative tools may help the group to work together effectively and efficiently without any limitation of space and time.

The results of this study also showed that the ease of use and usefulness of technology are factors that determine the use of collaborative tools for the group tasks. Related to this, developers of collaborative tools are expected to continually evaluate their products to always be easy to use for students so that they will feel their usefulness. Although the features in existing collaborative tools now supports the collaboration process, there are still opportunities to add other features that provide more value for the benefit of students who use it.

The results also confirm the validity of TAM model related technology characteristics driving the use of technology. Perceived ease of use, usefulness, and intention to use a technology are all factors driving users to adopt the technology.

CONCLUSIONS

This research aims to study the determinants of collaborative tool adoption and its impact to group performance. Perceived ease of use and perceived usefulness of collaborative tools are two factors that drive the adoption of collaborative tools to accomplish group's assignment. In addition, group's collaboration activities that involve collaborative learning activity also proved as positively influence the use of collaborative tools in doing group assignment. This research also revealed that the use of collaborative tools to support the completion of group's task positively influences the group's performance. The utilization of collaborative tools in doing group's task can improve group's performance by being the media of communication, information and knowledge exchange/sharing, and media to give contribution for the group. Interaction between members of the group also becomes much easier. However, this paper still contains limitations as our research results only prove that collaborative tools' feature actually could help to improve group performance. In the near future, it is still possible to conduct research which can overcome these limitations. For instance by further analyzing the collaborative tools and its varies features, to find out what kind of feature actually influence users performance in doing group collaborative tools and user experience point of view.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

It is a pleasure to convey our gratitude to our university for their continuous support, particularly for the Directorate of Research and Community Engagement for their excellent services.

REFERENCES

- Aaltonen, A. and Kallinikos, J. (2012). Coordination and Learning in Wikipedia: Revisiting the dynamics of exploitation and exploration, in Mikael Holmqvist, André Spicer (ed.) Managing 'Human Resources' by Exploiting and Exploring People's Potentials (Research in the Sociology of Organizations, Volume 37), Emerald Group Publishing Limited, pp.161-192.
- Agarwal, R., & Prasad, J. (1999). Are Individual Differences Germane to The Acceptance of New Information Technologies? *Decision Sciences*, *30*(2), 361–391.
- Alavi, M., Wheeler, B. C., & Valacich, J. S. (1995). Using IT to reengineer business education: an exploratory investigation of collaborative telelearning. *MIS Quarterly*, 19(3), 293-312.
- Bajwa, D. S., & Lewis, L. F. (2003). Does Size Matter? An Investigation of Collaborative Information Technology Adoption by U.S. Firms. *Journal of Information Technology Theory and Application*, 5(1), 29-46.
- Bartlett, J. E., Kotrlik, J. W., & Higgins, C. C. (2001). Organizational Research: Determining Appropriate Sample Size in Survey Research. *Information Technology, Learning, and Performance*, 19(1), 43-50.
- Beal, George M., & Rogers, Everett M. (1960). *The Adoption of Two Farm Practices in a Centra! Iowa Community*, Ames, Iowa Agricultural and Home Economics Experiment Station, Special Report 26.
- Becker, J. D., & Cline, M. (2005). Effectiveness of Collaborative Tool Usage for Virtual Team Activities. American Conference of Information Systems (AMCIS) (pp. 1397-1401). Omaha: AISeL.
- Bratteteig, T. (1998). The Unbearable Lightness of Grouping Problems of Introducing Computer Support For Cooperative Work. NOKOBIT'98. Sandvika, Norway.
- Cavanaugh, C. S. (2001). The effectiveness of interactive distance education technologies in K-12 learning: A meta-analysis. *International Journal of Educational Telecommunications*, 7(1), 73–88.



- Cavus, N. and Ibrahim, D. (2007). Assessing the Success Rate of Students Using a Learning Management System Together with a Collaborative Tool in Web-Based Teaching of Programming Languages. *Journal* of Educational Computing Research, 36(3), 301-321.
- Creswell, J. W. (1994). Research Design: Qualitative & Quantitative Approaches. London: SAGE Publications.
- Davis, F. D. (1989). Perceived Usefulness, Perceived Ease of Use, and User Acceptance of Information Technology. *MIS Quarterly*, 13(3), 319-339.
- Dennis, A. (1996). Groupware on the Web. Proceedings of the Tools and Methods for Business Engineering Conference, (pp. 573-581). Washington DC.
- Elie-Dit-Cosaque, C., & Pallud, J. (2012). Understanding Collaborative Systems Adoptive and Post-Adoptive Outcomes: a Longitudinal Study. American Conference of Information Systems (AMCIS) (Paper 29). Seattle, Washington: AIS Electronic Library (AISeL).

Engstrom, M. E. & Jewett, D. (2005). Collaborative learning the wiki way. TechTrends, 49(6), 12-15.

- Gress, C. L., Fior, M., Hadwin, A. F., & Winne, P. H. (2010). Measurement and Assessment in Computer-Supported Collaborative Learning. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 26(5), 806-814.
- Hair, J., Black, W., Babin, B., Anderson, R., & Tatham, R. (2010). Multivariate Data Analysis. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Hoegl, M., & Gemuenden, H. G. (2001). Teamwork quality and the success of innovative projects: a theoretical concept and empirical evidence. *Organization Science*, 12(4), 435–449.
- Kittle, P., & Hicks, T. (2009). Transforming the Group Paper with Collaborative Online Writing. *Pedagogy*, 9(3), 525-538.
- Kraemer, K. L. (1991). Survey Research Methods. Paper presented at The Information Systems Research Challenge.
- Kreijins, K., & Kirschner, P. A. (2002). Group awareness widgets for enhancing social interaction in computersupported collaborative learning environments: Design and implementation. Proceedings of 32nd ASEE/IEEE Frontiers in Education Conference, (pp. 134-142). Boston.
- Kreijns, K., Kirschner, P. A., & Jochems, W. (2003). Identifying the Pitfalls for Social Interaction in Computer-Supported Collaborative Learning Environments: A Review of the Research. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 19(3), 335-353.
- Lanubile, F., Ebert, C., Prikladnicki, R., & Vizcaíno, A. (2010). Collaboration Tools for Global Software Engineering. Software, 27(2), 52-55.
- Lederer, A. L., Maupin, D. J., Sena, M. P., & Zhuang, Y. (2000). The Technology Acceptance Model and The World Wide Web. *Decision Support Systems*, 29(3), 269–282.
- Legris, P., Ingham, J., & Collerette, P. (2003). Why do people use information technology? A critical review of the technology acceptance model. *Information & Management*, 40(3), 191-204
- Line, L. (1997). Virtual Engineering Teams: Strategy and Implementation. *Electronic Journal of Information Technology in Construction*, 2(1), 1-16.
- Lou, Y., Abrami, P. C., & d'Apollonia, S. (2001). Small group and individual learning with technology: A metaanalysis. *Review of Educational Research*, 71(3), 449–521.
- Ma, A.W.W. (2009). Computer Supported Collaborative Learning and Higher Order Thinking Skills: A Case Study of Textile Studies. *Interdisciplinary Journal of E-Learning and Learning Objects*, 5(1), 145-167.
- Majumdar, A., & Krishna, S. (2012). Empirical Analysis of Web 2.0 Implications on Collaborative Tool Usage and Team Interactions in Virtual Teams. American Conference of Information Systems (AMCIS) (pp. 1-9). Seattle: AIS Electronic Library (AISeL).
- Munkvold, B. E. (2003). Implementing Collaboration Technologies in Industry: Case Examples and Lessons Learned, London: Springer-Verlag.
- Naik, N., & Kim, D. J. (2010). Virtual Team Success: Towards a Theory of Performance in Virtual Teams. American Conference of Information Systems (AMCIS) (Paper 429). Lima, Peru: AIS Electronic Library (AISeL).
- Nikas, A., Poulymenakou, A., & Kriaris, P. (2007). Investigating antecedents and drivers affecting the adoption of collaboration technologies in the construction industry. *Automation in Construction*, 16(5), 632–641.
- Patel, H., Pettitt, M., & Wilson, J. R. (2012). Factors of Collaborative Working: A Framework for A Collaboration Model. *Applied Ergonomics*, 43(1), 1-26.
- Ross, K. N. (2005). Sample Design for Educational Survey Research. Dalam K. N.Ross, Quantitative research methods in educational planning (Modul 3, page 7). Paris: UNESCO International Institute for Educational Planning.
- Schermelleh-Engel, K. & Moosbrugger, H. (2003). Evaluating the Fit of Structural Equation Models: Tests of Significance and Descriptive Goodness-of-Fit Measures. *Methods of Psychological Research Online*, 8(2), 23-74.



- Serce, F. C., Swigger, K., Alpaslan, F. N., Brazile, R., Dafoulas, G., & Lopez, V. (2011). Online Collaboration: Collaborative Behavior Patterns and Factors Affecting Globally Distributed Team Performance. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 27(1), 490-503.
- Singh, B. & Avital, M. (2007). The Impact of Collaboration and Competition on Project Performance. Proceedings of the International Conference on Information Systems (ICIS), Montreal, Canada.
- Subramanian, G. (1994). A Replication of Perceived Usefulness and Perceived Ease of Use Measurement. Decision Sciences, 25(5-6), 863–874
- United Nations Development Programme. (2013, July). The Rise of the South: Human Progress in a Diverse World. Summary Human Development Report 2013 [On-line]. Available: http://www.unas.org.sg/ wpcontent/uploads/2013/07/HDR2013-Summary-English.pdf.
- Venkatesh, V., & Davis, F. D. (2000). A Theoretical Extension of the Technology Acceptance Model: Four Longitudinal Field Studies. *Management Science*, 46(2), 186–204.
- Wagner, C. (2004). Wiki: A technology for conversational knowledge management and group collaboration. Communications of the Association for Information Systems, 13(1), Article 19.
- Wijanto, S. H. (2008). Structural Equation Modeling dengan LISREL 8.8 Konsep dan Tutorial. Yogyakarta: Graha Ilmu.


INTERACTIVE MULTIMEDIA LEARNING: INNOVATING CLASSROOM EDUCATION IN A MALAYSIAN UNIVERSITY

Ms. Fui-Theng LEOW Faculty of Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics INTI International University Malaysia fuitheng.leow@newinti.edu.my

> Assoc. Prof. Dr Mai NEO Faculty of Creative Multimedia Multimedia University Malaysia neo.mai@mmu.edu.my

ABSTRACT

This research study was conducted at INTI International University, and aimed at enhancing the quality of classroom learning for University students with three important emphases: Gagne's instructional model, multimedia, and student-centred learning. An Interactive Learning Module (ILM) was developed as the core component in forming the multimedia-mediated student-centred learning environment (MMSLE) to improve the quality of student learning. The impacts on student learning were investigated through pre-test and post-test, questionnaires, open-ended questions and interview. A significant improvement was found in the test results, and shows that this learning environment has enhanced the students' learning achievement. Students also show positive attitude change as they became more active and motivated in the learning process. A framework named MMSLE was proposed to provide a guideline for educators in Malaysian Universities to foster education innovations as alternatives to the conventional classroom teaching and learning methodology.

INTRODUCTION

In this 21st century media-suffused environment today, the advancement of technologies has stimulated the production of more interesting and effective approaches in teaching and learning context. The resulting educational innovations have driven more creative developments for the interactive technologies in various forms, such as computer-based instruction (CBI), intelligent tutoring systems (ITS), integrated learning systems (ILS), computer aided assessment and computer mediated communication. These new concepts and the developments show that the advances in the digital era have broadened the learning processes and enabled higher levels of learner interactions in order to make learning more meaningful for overcoming the insufficiency in rote learning (Dembo & Seli, 2012). In the 'Blueprint on Enculturation of Life-Long Learning for Malaysia 2011-2020', it states that in conjunction with the advances in technology and growth of information, the delivery of knowledge needs to be more flexible in linking the learners with the learning resources to support the independent and self-managed learning. It highlighted that in gearing toward the status of developed nation by 2020, Malaysian education system needs to build two elements: creativity and innovation, as the enablers to equip the citizens towards the high-income level (MOHE, 2011). As such, innovative teaching and learning design at university level is needed to empower the strength of 21^{st} century learners, and it is this change that has directed many universities today to emphasize on innovative education and embed student-centered learning approach into the course design. Educators are trained to transform from the conventional teacher-centered approach to student-centered learning approach with technology-backed learning environment which can better motivate students to participate and interact with others in the learning process. According to Manson (2007), a well-planned learning environment can enhance the quality of learning and encourage students to demonstrate their understanding in the learning activities, so students are given more choices to determine their learning experience. This helps the students to strengthen self-esteem and develop high level thinking skills in a learning community (Suh, 2011). As multimedia-mediated content is incorporated into the learning environment, the information-rich presentations make the learning instructions more effectively than presenting through a single medium in rote learning, so the students can obtain the information more meaningfully and repeatedly through different media and choices (Reeves, 1998; Shank, 2005; Dembo & Seli, 2012). Studies show that with the use of instructional design model, it organizes media-rich information more systematically with the integration of various instructional strategy components (Qureshi, 2004). Robert Gagne (1985) proposed a computer-based instructional design theory which elaborates the organisation of the learning events based on prerequisite relationships. Based on Gagne's instructional design framework, there are nine events of instruction to guide the process of designing for learning contents (Green, 2003).



According to Tuparov, Tuparova and Peneva (2004), in the process of developing the computer-based learning program, the concern is not on "what technological tools are to be used during the development process of e-learning program", but it is on "how to design and plan an e-learning program that ensures the achievement of the learning objectives". This explains that the expanding growth and competitive advantages in the technologies can easily cause the negligence of the pedagogical methodology due to the duration for developing a complex e-learning program is usually shorter than implementing a pedagogical research and testing. In addition, many universities in Malaysia have been upgraded the teaching and learning facilities to further equip with multimedia and web technologies, high speed internet connections to facilitate student learning, as well as encouraging educators to incorporate innovative approaches to enhance the competence of Malaysian graduates. Therefore the purposes for this study are: 1) to enhance the effectiveness of learning content from the planning of the learning activities to reduce presenting contents disorderedly and students dropping out during the learning process; 2) to redesign the learning context at university level by employing a suitable instructional model as a guideline for improving the organization of the content in a student-centred learning environment instead of merely providing information in the learning program.

This paper presents three main parts: 1) the development of an interactive learning module (ILM) with its content focuses on delivering a part of syllabus. This ILM employs multimedia-mediated content and incorporates Gagne's nine instructional events as the design framework to be used in the student-centred learning environment at INTI International University; 2) the identification and discussion the student learning performance and their attitude change in the learning process; and 3) concludes with a conceptual framework for a multimedia-mediated student-centred learning environment (MMSLE) to provide insights to the educators in Malaysian university for developing a more effective learning environment, to complement the conventional learning environment and enrich students' learning experience. The outcomes of this study will be used to answer the research question, "What are the impacts of Multimedia-Mediated Student-Centred Learning Environment (MMSLE) on student learning?"

STUDENT-CENTRED LEARNING IN UNIVERSITY CLASSROOM

Due to the advantage of cost-effectiveness in conveying large amounts of information, conventional classroom learning is still being practiced frequently although this approach was found to be the least effective teaching method and less capable to support self-paced learning and interactions between the instructor and learners (Tinio, 2003; Griffiths, Oates & Lockyer, 2007). According to Dale (1969), learners can retain 5% of what is heard, 10% of what is read, 20% of what is obtained in audio-visual presentations and the retention rates can be increased to 70% and above when encouraging the learners to do hands-on practical work in learning process. This shows that learning environment is important in retaining the retention in the learning process (Dale, 1969). Therefore, it is not suitable for all learners to gain knowledge when presenting different levels of information with equal facility, such as learning complicated lessons with the classroom lecture (Booth, 2007). As a result, many learning environments today are moving towards student-centred learning approach which putting students at the centre of the learning process by focusing on their needs (Griffiths, Oates & Lockyer, 2007). This has transformed today's learners to be active participants with more alternatives in identifying the learning goal, obtaining necessary resources, and making some decisions in the learning process, rather than just passively receiving what was given or be controlled by the teachers (Dane, 2004; Griffiths, Oates & Lockyer, 2007). Recently, an increasing number of computer-based programs are designed with the concept of student-centred learning and placing increased responsibility and accountability on the student part (O'Neill & McMahon, 2005). By having the strategy of giving more controls and interaction, such as students can select the instructional activities based on the levels of difficulty, it can enhance students' interest and motivation. Especially, when hypermedia and interactive contents are used, it further broadens the learning setting and enriches students' learning experiences in a student-centred learning environment (Alessi & Trollip, 2001; Phillips, 2005).

USES OF MULTIMEDIA IN EDUCATION

In recent years, multimedia has introduced the pedagogical strength in facilitating student learning and supplementing learning with liveliness as it adds richness and meaning to the information presentation with the use of more than one medium (Shank, 2005; Asthana, 2009). Multimedia involves the synchronisation of media in producing the media-rich outputs and is arranged in some chunks which are linked by the hypermedia. Students can navigate to the source of information in a shorter time, build the connections between relevant topics, and construct their knowledge by associating to the meaningful information (Hede & Hede, 2002; Parekh, 2006). It is important for students to self-adjust the time and determine the information based on individual differences, so that when individual differences can be accommodated by having alternatives in learning, students will then be engaged at a deeper level and appreciate the student-centred learning approach with more sense of participation (Alessi & Trollip (2001; Ma, O'Toole & Keppell, 2008). In addition, Alessi and Trollip (2001) found that when multiple media contents are used to present information simultaneously, students can



learn more effectively with focused attention than those who studying with separate media where attention is split. This is because human brain will have more processing loads to integrate and re-arrange all different sources of information (SEG Research, 2008). Today, the use of multimedia-based educational program is getting more popular in many areas of learning and training as it stimulates new ways in information delivery with the concerns of accessibility, reusability and individualization to fulfil the needs for different types of learners, but not just limited to conventional teaching and learning methods. However, it is challenging to produce a good courseware as the development requires more studies and planning in incorporating multimedia-enabled learning methods into the existing practices without creating unnecessary frustration in the learning process (Mishra & Sharma, 2004; Mantin & Klein, 2008).

GAGNE'S MODEL OF INSTRUCTIONAL EVENTS FOR COURSEWARE DESIGN

Research shows that many e-learning programs have begun to use the instructional design theory as the development framework in guiding the design of learning contents and enhancing the quality of learning process, so that the learners' mental process and learned capability can be predicted and analysed more meaningfully (Alessi & Trollip, 2001; Martin, Klein, & Sullivan, 2004; Martin & Klein, 2008). There are a few instructional design models commonly applied for the development of educational or training program. Among them, Gagne's model of nine instructional events is one of the popular frameworks for designing learning contents, which contributed by Gagne (1985). Gagne (1977) identifies learning regards the process of growth and the best way to indicate that the learner has successfully learned is when the learner's capability has changed over a period of time and a noticeable change in performance. According to Gagne (1985), instructional events are also known as external events which can be controlled by the instructor and to support the internal learning processes, which are then controlled by learners, so effective learning processes should be facilitated by the external events. Table 1 below presents Gagne's events and the responding internal mental process.

Gagne's Instructional Event	Internal Mental Process
1. Gaining Attention	- Activate the stimuli receptors
2. Informing Learners of Objectives	- Create level of learning expectation
3. Stimulating Recall of Prior Learning	- Retrieve and activate working memory
4. Presenting Content	- Perceive, recognize content and pattern
5. Providing Learner Guidance	- Rehearse and encode the knowledge to memory
6. Eliciting Performance	- Retrieve, respond and enhance encoding by responding to
	questions
7. Providing Feedback	- Reinforce and assess the learning performance
8. Assessing Performance	- Reinforce the content as the evaluation
9. Enhancing Retention & Transfer	- Retrieve and generalize the learned skill to the situation or case

Table 1: Association of Gagne's events and internal mental process (Gagne, Wager, Golas & Keller, 2005).

Gagne's instructional model focuses on giving instruction but not directed for teaching, hence it covers all aspects of teaching and learning (Smith & Ragan, 2000). These events are also suitable to be applied into authoring environments that lack of proper instructional support and instructional principles (Nelson, 2000). Specifically, Gagne's instructional events can work in guiding the selection of appropriate media in the development of learning program, for better supporting the internal learning process of the learners (Gagne, 1985). The framework is also flexible as the instructor can alter the order of events based on the particular learning objective to support the needed learning processes (Martin & Klein, 2008). Since the formulation of Gagne's instructional events, many instructional technologists has incorporated his model into the development of educational research project or vocational program development (Catanese, 2008). For example, Tsai (2008) used Gagne's model in teaching the subject named 'Fog Index of Readability' to guide the students through the process of calculating the Fog Index of English Writing which has successfully enhanced the learning retention. Besides this, a radiologist, Belfield (2010) also used Gagne's model in teaching process more smoothly, whereas learners can learn effectively and be more prepared for the examination, additionally some students became more stimulated in pursuing a career of clinical radiology.

As a result, the current research design incorporates Gagne's model of nine instructional events to the development of this ILM, in which the learning contents are presented with the multimedia elements to provide more interactivity. The learning environment is also arranged based on the concept of student-centred learning to enable the learners to interact meaningfully with the learning contents and stay more focused during the learning process. The diagram below (see Figure 1) shows the details that involved in this research design.





Figure 1: Student-Centred Environment with the Use of Multimedia and Gagne's Events.

METHODOLOGIES Research Design

This research study comprised of IT program students as the sample participants who were selected from the multimedia classes which conducting 'Computer Graphic' topic at INTI International University. Based on some background study and academic records, all these students have some basic computing knowledge, university learning experiences, and proficient in English. However, these students were familiar with face-to-face classroom learning, but never experience learning with any web-based interactive learning program in higher education. During the learning process, the ILM was uploaded to the web server for students to access from any computer with Internet connection, hence providing a more flexible learning process to meet students' learning preference. There are three data collection instruments used in this study. Firstly, prior to learning with ILM, students' prior knowledge to the lesson was accessed by using pre-test. After students learned through the ILM, post-test which consists of same questions with randomized question sequence was conducted to identify the student learning outcomes from this learning environment. Secondly, after students experienced the learning process in this learning environment, 5-point Likert Scale questionnaires with 30 survey items was used to identify the change of student attitude by measuring the level of agree response with each survey item. The analysis of student perceptions are arranged in six categories: 1 - learner-centred environment; 2 - use of multimedia; 3 - understanding of content; 4 - motivation; 5 - content organisation; 6 - availability of feedback. Thirdly, 10 open-ended questions were set to collect students' opinion, suggestion and expression with more indepth and meaningful details in regard to their perception on this ILM. All these qualitative and quantitative data were analysed by using mixed method research approach and specifically, combined with triangulation design to validate different sets of data and to complement each other for enhancing the completeness.

Development of ILM

The interactive learning module (ILM) was the core part of this student-centred learning environment. It is developed by incorporating Gagne's nine instructional events and multimedia-mediated content for the chapter "Computer Graphic", which is a common topic for interactive multimedia subject. In this ILM, it starts with an introductory animation, then proceed to a section named 'Refresh Your Mind' before presenting the Main Menu, which serves as 'Home' for students to navigate to the four main parts with different sub-topics. In each part, students were firstly directed to 'Objective' screen, lastly landed at 'Tutorial' and 'Review' screen. The table below presents how the instructional events were used in designing the instructional materials and activities in the ILM to facilitate students' learning. In addition, Figure 2 and Figure 3 presented the screen design of the ILM.



Table 2: Use of Gagne's nine events of instruction in developing the ILM.

Gagne's Events, Instructional Rationales and Features in the ILM
Event 1 - Gain Attention - To grab the attention and motivate the students to start learning
 Short animation clip with content-related story was presented as the introductory scene. Content-related questions were added in the short animation clip to raise the curiosity. Animated images were used in the lessons to direct the student's attention.
Event 2 - Inform the Learners of Objectives - To provide learning expectations to motivate students to complete the learning process
 Learning Objective section was presented at the start of each chapter. Students could link back to Objective section from a particular chapter through hypertext.
Event 3 - Stimulate Recall of Prior Learning - To recall existing knowledge and correlate it to new knowledge
 'Refresh Your Mind' section was presented before entering to the learning section. Some words in the lessons were added with hyperlinks, to allow pop-ups for more explanation, or link back to 'Refresh Your Mind' section.
Event 4 - Present the Content - To meaningfully present new contents to the students
 Text explanations were arranged in paragraphs and point forms. Extra details were available with the given hyperlinks. Video clip was used to present the explanation with more visual details. Audio was used to provide alternative, students could learn by listening to the speech.
Event 5 - Provide Learner Guidance
- To rehearse the learned knowledge to enhance students' understanding
 Oser control and instruction were provided to havigate to different parts of contents. Interactive activities were embedded to rehearse new learned knowledge. Interactive diagram were used to reveal the information sequentially.
Event 6 - Elicit Performance
 Tutorial sections were prepared at the end of each part for self-paced practice. Simple activities were added in the lesson for students to test their understanding.
Event 7 - Provide Feedback - To provide formative feedbacks to the result for practicing the new skills
 Provide feedbacks upon the completion of the tutorial These feedbacks include showing the answer provided by the student; specific guidance; and the correct answer for incorrect attempts
Event 8 - Assess Performance
 Performance test was given to evaluate students' performance after learning with ILM.
- Student's performance summary was presented to reveal the students results.
- Some suggestions were added according to level of achievement to motivate students.
Event 9 - Enhance Retention & Transfer to the Job - To retrieve and generalize new learned knowledge to other course assessment
- Review Section was added with some short video clips for knowledge enhancement.
- Student coursework were designed and required students to apply new knowledge in the making process.





Figure 2: Screenshot of 'Refresh your Mind' in ILM to stimulate prior knowledge, Event 3 in Gagne's Model.

	CHAPTE	R 4 - GRAPHIC	CONVERSI
Objectives	Rasterization	Vectorization	Tutorial
Yes, bitmap graphic	can be converted to vecto	or graphic.	
- Howev V The Concept Vectorization A profession It converts raster to ve	ecterize a picture	The original logo design. It is a low resolution raster image, it is a blootbody unuesable for printing purpose in this format.	How it works? te illustrations from formats.
Why converting? I. Suppose print. T 2. Many C applica		curves and lines. Vector based texts are placed properly into the same position as on the original. The result is a smooth, resizeable vector image. This logo will be	u can only view and ful for your work. em for editing in CAD wings to CAD application
3. If you h the met		completely the same on a side of a truck	scription, logo or image on it (usually, dxf) for a CNC

Figure 3: Screenshot of presenting learning contents with multimedia elements in ILM, Event 4 in Gagne' model.

FINDINGS

1. STUDENT LEARNING OUTCOMES

The student learning outcomes are assessed from the results of the pre-test and post-test by identifying the students' learning achievement in this learning environment.

Test results (total=100)	Mean	STD
Pre-test	47.77	15.12
Post-test	63.39	11.56

Table 3: Mean scores and standard deviation from pre-test and post-test resu
--

Table 3 shows that the pre-test mean score (M) is 47.77 and standard deviation (STD) is 15.12, indicating that the student learning outcomes were below average as they did not have specified knowledge to answer the questions before they start learning. Later, the post-test result shows that the mean score is 63.39 and the STD is 11.56. The results suggested that students' learning outcomes was at the satisfying level as the mean score is at above-average grade. In a normality test, this sample was proved to have a normal distribution, where as in paired-samples t-test, a significant difference exists between the pre-test results and post-test results. Therefore, it is convinced that this learning environment has significantly improved student learning achievement.



2. SURVEY RESULTS AND STUDENTS' PERCEPTIONS

As the survey was proved as a very reliable survey based on Cronbach's Alpha test with the reliability score of 0.916, the student perceptions were analysed based on survey results, and these results were organized in six categories:

1. Learner-Centred Environment

The survey results show that 93.5% of students (see Table 4) agreed that ILM provides the chance for learnercentred learning, and many student prefer to have individualized learning way as they could self-direct their own learning process, student highlighted that "...the opportunity to access the chapter, so I could study in my own pace" and "...it gives me enough freedom to think and learn on my own". There is 67.7% of students agreed that they did not face difficulty in doing the tutorials, and 71.1% students agreed that they were able to able the learning materials with no difficulty in ILM. They said: "...tutorials can be done as many time as possible, also all the questions and options are in random mode, so I can try again and again, and identify my weakness and mistakes" and "I can repeat it for several times, because I have to learn slowly".

Survey Items	Mean	STD	%
1. The learning module generally gave me the chance to build up my own style and pace of learning.	4.26	.575	93.5
22. I had no problem going through the tutorials on my own.		.885	67.7
25. I was able to access the materials / resources without much difficulty.	3.77	.845	71.1
26. This module encouraged me to fully participate in every section.	3.77	.884	64.5

Table 4: Survey Results for Learner-Centred Environment

2. Use of Multimedia

There was 87.1% of students (see Table 5) agreed that the video clips had helped them to obtain more realistic information while 77.4% of students agreed that the use of media can deepen their understanding. These highly positive results show that the students found that media elements, like video or motion graphics can deliver more detailed information, they reported: "I don't need to read the text so many times, the animation and pictures help me to understand" and "...multimedia elements help me learn faster than people teaching me". In addition, 80.6% of students agreed that it is adequate to use media in ILM as their memory was improved, some students said: "...the animation and sound can attract me and I memorize better", "...last review session motivates me...know how graphics are used today" and "...narration in the tutorial session as if my lecturer is speaking and motivating me..."

Survey Items		STD	%
2. After watching the video clips, I got to know some similar situations in real world.	4.26	.682	87.1
3. The last review helped me to deepen my understanding of the subject matter.	4.19	.873	77.4
6. The program included enough illustrations and examples.	4.06	.772	80.6
16. I felt it is better to present the concept / information using multimedia technology (e.g. animation, narration, interactivity).	3.94	.854	77.4

Table 5: Survey Results for Use of Multimedia

3. Understanding of Content

There was 87.1% of students (see Table 6) agreed that they were benefited from learning with ILM while 83.9% of student also agreed the ways of recalling their prior knowledge are appropriate. They commented that "...*it* refreshed my mind and helped me to structure the old lessons, then it will be easier to learn" and "I like the design in the beginning, 1 person asks and another person answers him, it is like I am asking these questions again..." On other side, a lower percentage, 67.7% of students agreed that it was helpful for recalling the existing knowledge in a lesson however, it was recorded that many students have more demands on it, such as: "...wish more info in previous lessons can be included, because it is not enough for me" and "...contents are not enough, I recommend to add more pages at here, so it can be like the revision part before the new chapter is started...".



Survey Items		STD	%
7. This learning module always helped me to tie my own knowledge with the new knowledge in current lessons.		.657	87.1
11. The ways of recalling my own knowledge used in this learning module are appropriate.		.657	83.9
23. The 'Refresh Your Mind' section helped me much in recalling the knowledge which I had learned previously.		.749	67.7
27. I can describe the scope of each lesson before I start learning.		.729	71.0
28. I knew what I was supposed to learn before the lessons start.		.938	58.1
30. I clearly understood what was expected of me.	3.65	.798	51.6

Table 6 [.]	Survey	Results	for	Underst	anding	of Content
Lable 0.	Survey	Results	101	Understa	anung	of Content

4. Motivation

There was 77.4% of students (see Table 7) agreed that they have had good experience for learning with ILM, and 74.2% of them prefer to continue and recommend this ILM to their peer. They reported that: "...the colours and the stuff look so lively, I think it is better than some of the learning websites...", "It is like we are using the electronic book, it is very impressive to work...". On other hands, 83.9% of students agreed that they were motivated to learn in ILM and 74.2% of them agreed that their attention was held by the contents in ILM. The students commented that the motivation came from: "...looking at the screen and like to pay more attention to it...", "...colours used in each page...I can easily recognize the parts and not get lost..." and "...can feed my curiosity with many features for the topics...". Another 77.4% of students agreed that they realized that learning through the ILM can be more enjoyable and interesting as they were impressed by: "...examples look realistic...", "the review book can drag the thing..." and "...cute animated characters looks so interesting and makes me feel happy..."

Table 7: Survey Results for Motivation

Survey Items		STD	%
4. I would enjoy using other computer-based learning modules like this one in future lessons.		.831	77.4
9. I would recommend this program to other students.		.816	74.2
10. This interactive learning module had motivated me in learning or exploring more knowledge.		.657	83.9
17. The content always held my attention.	3.94	.964	74.2
20. I found learning is interesting from this learning module.	3.90	.831	77.4

5. Content Organisation

As for the sequence of the content, 74.2% of students (see Table 8) agreed that feedback was presented timely in LIM, and 77.4% of students agreed that the learning materials are well-arranged, some comments include: "in ILM, *I know I can focus on the important part*..." and "...*information in each part is organized nicely*... *our learning process is much smoother*...". With regard to content design and planning, 80.6% of students agreed that the good organization is preferable: "...*arrangement of the information and some multimedia elements are good and neat*...", "*The information is separated in different tab*...we can always stay on the right place" and "*I like the way that the information is arranged in point form, very easy for me to understand*".

Survey Items	Mean	STD	%
5. The comment is always presented at the right time.	4.10	.790	74.2
8. The learning materials in this learning module are well-organized or followed a suitable sequence.	4.00	.856	77.4
18. The content was clear and easy to understand.		.746	74.2
19. Questions are planned carefully and relevant to the content of the learning module.		.746	80.6
24. The arrangement of information in each screen provided me a comfortable learning experience.	3.77	.884	71.0

Table 8: Survey Results for Content Organisation



6. Availability of Feedback

As for providing feedback to support learning, 77.4% of students (see Table 9) agreed that feedback from the tutorial section enhance their learning while 83.9% of students agreed that the comments from the tutorial were acceptable as these could improve their understanding: "*I can think about the mistake from the feedback*...", "...so we can know what we did wrong and the answer...", "...explanation make me easy to understand the chapter" and "...I was able to judge my ability and knowledge level". As for providing supporting examples, there was 74.2% of students agreed that the review section could strengthen their memory and they noticed that: "...got many given in some of the page" and "last review can know more from examples...". However, 64.5% of students agreed that student expected to have more improvement to better support learning, such as students reported that: "...no Q&A session...we could not post a question because not all information is given in the program...".

Survey Items		STD	%
12. The feedback in the end of tutorial sessions enhances my learning process.		.657	77.4
13. The tutorials had given me enough opportunity to practice what I had learned.		.752	77.4
14. I was provided with enough information about tutorial results.		.752	77.4
15. I can accept the comment and it seems positive to me.		.629	83.9
21. The review at the end of each chapter helped me to strengthen my memory.		.806	74.2
29. Those supporting examples give me confidence in learning.	3.68	.748	64.5

Table 9: Survey Results for Availability of Feedback

DISCUSSION

In this study, the methodology was designed to enhance the quality of learning, which comes with three emphases: Gagne's model of instructional events, multimedia elements and student-centred learning. This study aims at answering the research question, and forming a useful framework to propose a systematic guide on improving the quality of student learning and enriching the student-centred learning experience. As for answering research question "What are the impacts of Multimedia-Mediated Student-Centred Learning Environment (MMSLE) on student learning", six important impacts were identified based on the results and analysis obtained from this study.

1. Multimedia-mediated content serves as important components in learning

The use of multimedia elements in creating the learning contents makes the learning experiences more meaningful. It becomes an important component in learning as it provides the students with an alternative means to have more choices when learning in the student centred learning environment. The learning attitudes changed as the students realised that learning with multimedia elements was more flexible in exploring and constructing new knowledge. This has engaged the students and boosted their learning interest in this student-centred environment.

2. Gagne's nine instructional events were a proper and sound pedagogy to use

Although over the years Gagne's instructional model has proven to be effective in different learning and training aspects, this study again proves that Gagne's model provides a proper and sound pedagogy to use in guiding the design of learning content for a student-centred learning environment. Besides, it also shows this model can flexibly accommodate the use of multimedia elements in presenting the information with non-linearity manner.

3. Student's retention and learning outcomes were improved

The increase of mean score (from 47.77, in the pre-test to 63.39, in the post-test) displayed a statistically significant difference in students' learning outcomes, which suggested that the majority of students progressed towards better learning outcomes This improvement shows when media-rich approach and systematic approach are employed in the development for assisting students learning , students' learning outcomes and their retention can be improved.

4. Student-centred learning approach was suitable for classroom learning environment

In this study, student-centred learning approach was used to focus on student's needs and interests to strengthen their motivation with more control in the learning process. It shows that with the encouragement, students were able to make full use of the learning program and benefit from the features in self-directing their learning process, and hence making the classroom learning experience more meaningful and feasible for different students.



5. Students became more engaged and self-directed learners

The change of students' learning attitude also came from engaging students in the learning process and being able to interact with the ILM. As more retention can be reinforced, the students become more engaged to the learning environment. Hence, students are transformed into a self-directed learner and become pro-active towards his or her entire learning process.

6. A framework for interactive multimedia learning was developed to effectively enhance student learning in a Malaysian university classroom

Based on the results in this study, a framework for effective interactive learning with multimedia was successfully developed to address and respond to the limitations of the teacher-led learning environment where the students were restricted from having a flexible learning process (see Figure 4). In this multimedia-mediated student-centred learning environment (MMSLE) framework, a sound pedagogy such as Gagne's 9 Events were effectively incorporated to provide students with interactive learning materials that engaged them and enhanced their learning process. This framework presents the combination of various components, with the ILM at the core of the learning environment and can serve as a guide to provide Malaysian academicians in higher education with a more practical alternative to move from the conventional approach of classroom teaching and learning in Malaysian classrooms.





CONCLUSION

Based on the research design and analysed results from this study, the research results were consistent with the literature review, where development of the Gagne-based ILM fulfilled the needs of supporting active learning and providing flexibility to enhance the quality for student learning in University classroom. In addition, a multimedia-mediated student-centred learning environment (MMSLE) framework was developed as a guideline for educators in higher institutions to employ. The framework proposed the incorporation of a sound instructional model, creative media content, embedded in a student-centred learning environment, in order to engage and motivate students in their learning process.

REFERENCES

- Alessi, S.M. & Trollip, S.R. (2001). Multimedia for learning: Methods and development. (3rd ed.). Boston: Allyn & Bacon.
- Asthana, A. (2009). Multimedia in Education Introduction, the Elements of, Educational Requirements, Classroom Architecture and Resources, Concerns [On-line]. Available:
 - http://encyclopedia.jrank.org/articles/pages/6821/Multimedia-in-Education.html
- Belfield, J. (2010). Using Gagne's Theory to Teach Chest X-ray Interpretation. The Clinical Teacher, 7(1), 5-8. Booth, A. (2007). Using Evidence in Practice. Health Information and Libraries Journal, 24,145–149.
- Catanese, A.P. (2008). Gagne's Nine Events of Instruction. Conditions of Learning Theory. The University of West Florida.
- Dale, E. (1969). Audiovisual methods in teaching (3rd ed.). New York: The Dryden Press; Holt, Rinehart & Winston.
- Dembo, M.H. & Seli, H. (2012). Motivation and Learning Strategies for College Success: A Focus on Self-Regulated Learning. NY: Erlbaum.
- Gagne, R.M. (1977). Conditions of Learning (3rd ed.). New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston.
- Gagne, R.M. (1985). The Conditions of Learning and Theory of Instruction (4th ed.). New York: Holt, Rinehart & Winston.
- Gagne, R.M., Wager, W., Golas, K.C. & Keller, J.M. (2005). Principles of Instructional Design (4th ed.). Belmont, CA: Wadsworth/Thompson Learning.
- Green, D. (2003). From Theory to Practice: Gagne's Theory of Instruction. Learning Matter: The Office for Teaching and Learning Newsletter, 7(5) [On-line]. Available: http://www.otl.wayne.edu/pdf/newsltr/may03.pdf
- Griffiths, G., Oates, B.J. & Lockyer, M. (2007). Evolving a Facilitation Process towards Student Centred Learning: A Case Study in Computing. Journal of Information Systems Education, 18(4) [On-line]. Available: http://jise.org/Issues/18/V18N4P459-abs.pdf
- Hede, T. & Hede, A. (2002). Multimedia effects on learning: Design implications of an integrated model. In McNamara, S. & Stacey, E. (Ed), Untangling the Web: Establishing Learning Links. Proceedings of ASET Conference 2002 [On-line]. Available: http://www.aset.org.au/confs/2002/hede-t.html
- Ma, A.K.F., O'Toole, J. & Keppell, M. (2008). An investigation of student teachers' attitudes to the use of media triggered problem based learning. Australasian Journal of Educational Technology, 24(3), 311-325.
- Manson, P. (2007). Technology-Enhanced Learning: Supporting Learning in the 21st Century. Ercim News, Special Theme: Technology-Enhanced Learning, 71, 3.
- Martin, F. & Klein, J.D. (2008). Effects of Objectives, Practice, and Review in Multimedia Instruction. Journal of Educational Multimedia and Hypermedia, 17 (2), 171-189.
- Martin, F., Klein, J. & Sullivan, H. (2004). Effects of Instructional Events in Computer based Instruction. Proceeding of Association for Educational Communications and Technology conference, Chicago, IL.
- Ministry of Higher Education Malaysia, MOHE. (2011). Blueprint on Enculturation of Lifelong Learning for Malaysia 2011-2020. Malaysia: Univision Press.
- Mishra, S. & Sharma, R.C. (2004). Interactive Multimedia in Education and Training. India: Idea Group Publishing.
- Nielsen, J. (1995). Multimedia and hypertext. London: Academic Press.
- O'Neill, G. & McMahon, T. (2005). Student-centred learning: What does it mean for students and lecturers? Emerging Issues in the Practice of University Learning and Teaching. Dublin: AISHE
- Qureshi, E. (2004). Instructional design models. Ontario, Canada: University of Windsor [On-line]. Available: http://venus.uwindsor.ca/courses/edfac/morton/instructional_design.htm
- Parekh, R. (2006). Principles of Multimedia. New Delhi: Tata McGraw-Hill.
- Phillips, A.H. (2005). The Effects of Student-centered, Technology-based Instruction on the intrinsic motivation of secondary students. Action Research Exchange, 4(2) [On-line]. Available: http://pdfcast.org/pdf/the-effects-of-student-centered-technology-based-instruction-on-the-intrinsic-motivation-of-secondary-students



Reeves, T.C. (1998). The impact of media and technology in schools: A research report prepared for The Bertelsmann Foundation [On-line]. Available:

http://it.coe.uga.edu/~treeves/Bertlesmann_Impact_Report.pdf

- SEG Research. (2008). Understanding Multimedia Learning: Integrating multimedia in the K-12 classroom. PA: New Hope.
- Shank, P. (2005). The Value of Multimedia in Learning. <u>Adobe Design Center</u> [On-line]. Available: http://www.adobe.com/designcenter/thinktank/valuemedia/The_Value_of_Multimedia.pdf
- Smith, P.L. & Ragan, T.J. (2000). The impact of R.M. Gagne's Work on Instructional Theory. In Richey, R.C. (Ed.), The legacy of Robert M. Gagne (pp. 129–163). Syracuse, NY: RIC Clearinghouse on Information and Technology.
- Suh, H. (2011). Collaborative Learning Models and Support Technologies in the Future Classroom. International Journal for Educational Media and Technology, 5(1), 50-61 [On-line]. Available: http://jaems.jp/contents/icomej/vol5/IJEMT5.50-61.pdf
- Tinio, V.L. (2003). ICT in Education. UNDP-APDIP [On-line]. Available: http://www.apdip.net/publications/iespprimers/eprimer-edu.pdf
- Tsai, C.J. (2008). Application of the Events of Instruction in the Gagné-Briggs ISD Model: A Design Example in Language Instruction [On-line]. Available: http://ir.lib.wtuc.edu.tw:8080/dspace/bitstream/987654321/207/1/651-

 $Application+of+the+Events+of+Instruction+in+the+Gagn_.pdf$

Tuparov, G., Tuparova, D.D. & Peneva, J. (2004). Didactical and Technological Issues During the Development Process of E- learning Courses. Proceedings of CompSysTech 2004 [On-line]. Available: http://ecet.ecs.ru.acad.bg/cst04/Docs/sIV/414.pdf



MANAGEMENT TRAINEE PROGRAM OF TURKISH AIRLINES: GLOBAL DISTANCE EDUCATION

Prof. Dr. Sahin Karasar Vice Rector, Maltepe University sahinkarasar@maltepe.edu.tr

Ömer Faruk Öztürk Turkish Airlines, Vice President (HR)

ABSTRACT

It has always been a contested task to try to present a scientific base for the concept of 'management.' The concept of management, which has always been of great importance to the institutions and organizations, has gone through periodical changes both in terms of its structure and scope, and improved in a parallel fashion as the time goes by. Political, economic, social and cultural transitions at global scale in the second half of the 20th century uncovered the necessity for certain organizations to revisit their concepts of management.

As a result of the economic equilibrium, which was driven by globalization, technological developments and political trends, neoliberal tendencies started to be favored all over the world. Consequently, free market system has been adopted and the increasing level of competition, which is supported by the system, gave way to the idea that the only way for the organizations to dominate the market that they play in is to present a more institutionalized, holistic and innovative approach.

The organizations, which have been following a more traditionalistic approach to management in the previous periods, started to make modifications in their methods. The workers, who have been considered to be mere manpower in the past, started to be seen as 'value' and that came out to be important for the sustainability of the organization. This viewpoint gave way to the strategic management practices. Management trainee programs of the institutionalized units are a result of this understanding. Today, several organizations train their managers on their own or through different means.

This study aims at examining the management trainee programs in the latest technological level that they arrived at, by focusing on how practical and productive these measures are in the special example of the Turkish Airlines.

I-INTRODUCTION

The concept of management has been essential for the societies and civilizations to sustain their unities throughout the history. Although it has not been wholly conceptualized until the 17th century, significantly after the Industrial Revolution, as the establishment of the modern societies affected the process of questioning the concept of management. This also shed light on the necessity of rethinking the concept of management on a scientific basis for the institutions and organizations.

Through the end of the 19^{th} century, management has started to be seen as an important unit, both conceptually and functionally, in any sections of society. Especially political, economic, social and cultural developments of the 20^{th} century, which is also considered to be the longest century, have been effective in scientification and conceptualization of management. The reasons and results of the two world wars, which have left a great impact on the general outlook of the century, gave way to the polarization in the new world system. The influence of this polarization on the global economy has been vividly felt in all aspects of the life.

Globalization and the speed of technological developments caused the states modification on their economy policies. Significantly, as the iron curtain side of the Cold War went into a loss of power, the governments started to look for a solution to the economic crises by supporting liberal policies and the free market economy. This trend made the organizations feel the need for a change in their structures. Neo liberal policies and the trend of privatization in the second half of the 20th century, removed the international borders and several sectors found their places in the international competition. This increased the pressure over the organizations and necessitated a shift in their concept of management in order to preserve their existence in the market.

Since competition became the most important notion of this newly arising managerial style, quantity of workers, which have been a crucial element in the old system, is being replaced by the quality of the work. Thus, the organizations presented various methods to recruit qualified workers, to increase the qualifications of the present workers and to keep the qualified workers in their own systems. The concept of strategic management was based



on the qualifications of the workers and the organizations have gone through a process of privatization aiming at having highly skilled workers as well as supporting the professional development and corporate loyalty of their already qualified workers.

Corporate training is one of the most important ways to attract qualified workers to the organizations, to give them the sense of corporate loyalty and to benefit from these workers as much as possible. For this purpose, organizations came up with various training modules and began to use the ones that are most appropriate to the sector. Depending on technological developments, these modules enabled the organizations apply certain techniques to the effect of their international recognition. Web-based distant education programs, which have started to be widely used in recent years, are mostly preferred by the large-scale organizations.

Turkish Airlines, being a trademark in the aviation industry both in national and international arena, decided on to present special training to their managers and for this purpose, they preferred using Harvard ManageMentor, a world famous web-based distant management module. Harvard ManageMentor is consisted by diverse modules that were designed to improve the skills of future managers and other users, to help them with their weaknesses and defects, and to provide managerial solutions to possible problems that might face in the future. As the managerial trainee users fulfill these modules, they are considered to be qualified enough to start working as managers. Harvard ManageMentor, being one of the most successful we based management programs, is used by TA and the future managers are being trained with this.

II- FROM TRADITIONAL TO STRATEGIC MANAGEMENT

Although the phenomenon of management has been existent since the very early stage of humanity, defining the concept has always been dependent on the hierarchy of the branches of science. While the economists would define the concept on the basis of production types that are related to land, capital and labor; political scientists take management as a system of authority. According to the political scientists, management is conceptualized as a class and reputation system (Can & at all, 2003, p.141). As management is put in practice differently in various scientific traditions, the concept itself also has not been defined on consensus. However, all different definitions of management reconcile on the functionality of human being in the practice. Although "human being" became an important element of the general understanding of management only as a result of 20th century developments, it has always been impossible to talk about the phenomenon or the managerial process itself without taking human being into consideration.

Management as a phenomenon has different features. Yet, the basic ones are as follows; the centrality of human being, division of labor among the human beings and setting a common goal for them (Onal, 1982, p.7). Additional features of management, with respect to the process, could be given as follows; management is an activity of coordination, it is universal, it necessitates a human element, it is an activity of division of labor and specialization, it includes an authority figure and it is a gradual process.

Management is a favorable subject for the academics because it is known that the success scale of the organizations and institutions is highly dependent on managerial process. Since the institutions and organizations are mostly being affected by ideological and political practices, it is of increasing importance to preserve success and stability in managerial level under any kind of circumstances. The basis of managerial process is rooted in the historical reality of the phenomenon of management and managerial approaches that are being accepted.

Managerial approaches are generally classified as Classical\Traditional Approach, Neo Classical\Behavioral Approach, Modern Approach and Post-Modern Approach. Classical Managerial Approach is the first systematical approach to management and organizations, which arose in pre World War II period and has been used up to now (Koçel, 1998, p. 203). The most important innovation that it added to the managerial approaches is to show the necessity of specialization and division of labor for establishing institutionalization and professionalization in the organizations (Dalay, 2001, pp. 90-92). Although the classical approach is the first approach that bases the concept of management on scientific grounds, it had some defects along with its contributions. Neo Classical Approach arose as a challenge to the classical approach as well as a complement to its defects (Tengilimoğlu & at all, 2008, p. 87) and it put forth the human factor. The most important innovation of this approach is the focus on human being instead of the organization itself.

Technological developments following the World War II affected the management science and gave way to a new approach in management. Modern Approach is a synthesis of the classical and neo classical approaches and dominated the organizations as a more open system than the ones preceding it. Presenting two different viewpoints like systems and contingency approaches, Modern Approach aimed at explaining the organization on the basis of environmental dynamics and creating managerial skills accordingly (Koçel, 2001, p. 264). Systems



Approach cascades the systems in an organization and comments on the relations of those systems in determining the qualification of the management. The manager's task is to coordinate the connection among these systems (Koçel, 2001, p. 64). Contingency Approach was developed for fulfilling the goal that systems approach has failed in combining the managerial models (Can, 2002, p. 48). This approach incorporates several constituents that affect the structures of organizations. Two of the most important constituents here are technology and environment (Saruhan & Yildiz, 2009, p. 170).

These approaches had been successful in conceptualizing and systematizing management up until the 1980s however significantly after that because of the shift in relations of production and consumption, elimination of borders between the markets and devastating increase of competition gave way to flexible organizational structure instead of closed mechanisms. This led to the rise of Post Modern Approach. This approach does not aim at removing the organizational structure but creating those which can gain leverage on its competitors by making flexible and fast decisions (Tengillimoğlu, 2008, p. 38). This approach also works with the principle of diversity encourages creativity and it aims at presenting opportunities for people to use their free wills instead of dictating them the truths. Formal and bureaucratic structures should leave their places to individual-centric informal units (Koçel, 2001, p. 247).

From 20th to 21st century, the changing management understandings left impact on the managerial processes and the redefinition of the phenomenon. In this period, a number of contemporary managerial tendencies came into the picture and the organizations had to experience and adopt those tendencies compatible to their organizational structure for the sake of surviving through the conditions of competition. One of these tendencies had been favored over the others. It is the strategic management.

Strategic Management

Strategic management is a compilation of Systems Approach and Contingency Approach. The factors that necessitate the strategic management are the changing organizational environment and managerial activities trying to cope with the increasing commitments and uncertainty in the environment (Dalay, 2001, p. 165). It has taken the strategic management approach, which has started to be used in the second half of 20th century, more than fifty years to be get important. Strategic management anticipates every organization to adopt a suitable management model for them. For this reason, it does not differ strictly from other approaches. Nevertheless, strategic management approach has some distinct features. Those are as follows (Güçlü, 2003, p. 74):

- Strategic management should be taken as a function of the highest-level management of the organization. Strategic management is entirely directed to the fate of the business.
- It is oriented to the vision of the business; it develops long term strategies directed to future, it estimates what should be done to attain a certain result.
- Strategic management takes the business as a whole unit. It is also interested in the particle that constitute the unit. It takes particle-unit relationship into consideration in the decision making process.
- Business is an open system according to strategic management. Accordingly, the environment is a closely observed factor.
- Strategic management carries the social responsibility of looking out for the society against its environment.
- Strategic management carries out an effective distribution of resources for the sake of actualizing the basic aims of the business.
- In strategic management, aims are the common starting point for the sub units in decision making processes and activities.

Nowadays most of the successful organizations plan on their managerial activities according to requirements of strategic management approach. Thus they put strategic management process in practice. According to Hatipoglu (1986, p. 45) strategic management process consists of the phases of an analysis of the environment, determining the goals, analysis of the strategic options, making decisions among the strategic options, application of strategies, control and evaluation. Starting with an analysis of the environment, in this particular phase basic goals and mission of the organization and the means for attaining those is determined. This phase is seen as the beginning of the whole process. Environmental compliance is possible only after the goals were determined. The next phase includes an analysis of the strategic options. After making a decision among the analyzed options, there comes the phase of application. The last phase consists of an evaluation of the results reached after the application of the strategies. Documentation and reporting is done in this last phase.

The balanced and correct accomplishment of the elements of strategic management approach is only possible with the means and techniques that are used in strategic management. There are various techniques to be



conducted in this field but the most important of them is the SWOT analysis. The name SWOT is created as a combination of the capital letters of the words strength, weakness, opportunities and threats (Ülgen and Mirze, 2004: 160).

	Strengths	Opportunities							
Internal Factors	The organizations should be aware of their resources and capacities. They should respond to the threats coming from the environment being aware of their advantages and productivity in comparison to their rivals. They should take advantage of the opportunities by knowing their strengths.	These are the specific situations where the environment presents suitable conditions for the success of the organizations in pursuit of their goals.	External Factors						
	Weaknesses	Threats							
	The obstacles that prevent them beating their enemies. These are the defects in their performances, resources or competences. These defects should be determined and eliminated.	These are the situations or instances that set as obstacles preventing the success of the organizations in pursuit of attaining their goals.							

Table 1: SWOT Analysis

Reference: Dinçer, Ö. (1998), Stratejik Yönetim ve İşletme Politikası, İstanbul: Beta Yayınları, pp. 205-208.

As the strategic management approach became important in the managerial processes, it has gotten clear that the managerial activities were not single instances related to the managerial level. Strategic management approach takes the organization as a whole unit and claims that success in creating an organizational identity would be achieved by only establishing division of labor among various ranks of the organization. This approach brought the element of human being, which has been ignored or not taken seriously in the previous periods, to the center of attention. With this approach, human resources management replaced staff management. The ever expanding concept of human resources management applications, integrating the organizational identities with strategic human resources management applications, integrating the organizational strategies into the system and deciding about on what basis the organization culture would be established (Truss & Gratton, 1994, pp. 663- 664).

There are different approaches and schools that examine the strategic aspect of human resources. The most important of those approaches are Universalistic Approach, Contingent Approach, Configurational Approach and Contextual Approach (Bayat, 2008, p. 81). The latest addition to these approaches, which has become more important lately, is Resource-based View. Resource Based View highlights the importance of human power in intra-organizational structuring. The basis of this approach is to survive through the conditions of competition and preserve the superior position. So, it basically focuses on the qualification, instead of the quantity, of the staff in the organization. According to this approach, no matter what the market conditions are or to what extent the competitors are utilizing the technological developments, holding a superior position in the competition is only possible by depending on the distinct qualifications of the staff (Wright & McMahan, 1992, pp. 302- 303).

Nowadays the organizations wholly grasped the importance of qualified staff in the managerial processes as well as in achieving success and holding a strategically superior position against their rivals (Doğan & Demiral, 2008, p. 146). Resource-based View highlighted the importance of the qualifications instead of the quantity of the staff for the organizations. It also set as a grounds for certain practices that gave way to the recruitment of qualified workers in the organization, preserve their loyalty to the organization and help them improve their skills. One of the most important practices in that nature is the talent management application. These applications get more practical day by day and diversified with training and development activities. Distant education programs of the recent years came as a result of talent management applications.

Talent Management

Nowadays the qualification instead of the quantity of the workers is more important for the organizations to become different and superior to their rivals. The organizations that are in constant competition to each other, understood that the only way to respond to the global scale instability in such a changing and unpredictable environment is to rely on their managers as well as the talents of their workers (Keçecioğlu & at all, 2005, p. 25). Talent management came out as a result of this.



Talent management is a relatively new concept in managerial sciences. Thus, it is difficult to reach a consensus on the definition of talent management. However, in the broadest sense talent management is defined as a process of recruiting qualified workers, being innovative and creative to utilize their qualifications in the most effective way, having distinctness in competition and showing an effective performance (Doğan & Demiral, 2008: 151).

There are three different phases of talent management process. Those are output, process and input. Output is the phase of determining the true talents that could contribute to the organization in the right time and place. Process phase consists of efforts in placing the already recruited talents in to key positions in the organization. Input phase aims at carrying out the intra organizational talent management activities in compatible to the supply and demand management in the surplus of talent in the organization (Polat, 2011, p. 29). Functionality of these phases depends on the operations of various talent management practices.

Significantly in 1990s, with the unpredictable expansion of competition and lack of talented workers, gave way to a talent market in global scale and this led to the "Talent Wars" period of the world. In Talent Wars period, the existing managerial processes have been completed and replaced by new managerial activities. In 1997 and 2000 the Talent Wars survey of in the USA revealed the impact of talented workers on the performance of the organizations. McKinsey highlights the fact that although in the early 19th century only 17% of all business groups was in need of knowledgeable and talented workers; today it rose up to 60% (Handfield & Axelrod, 2001, p. 3). This situation gave way to constant reshaping in the human resources management practices and talent management strategies. The organizations expanded their functions in the processes of defining, analyzing, finding, recruiting and keeping the talented workers in the organizations by using strategic human resources management practices and this led to the emergence of talent management practices.

The most important talent management practices are on the managers. Management is the key position in creating an organizational culture by utilizing the talents in a right and effective way. Hence, the only way for the organization to cope with the conditions of the competition and to hold a strategically superior position is to educate the future managers in a properly. For this reason, the organizations tend to invest in the managerial candidates at first place. Management training practices are the most important means for this goal.

Manager training programs depends on the structure of the sector, market, socio-cultural networks that the organization is active in. The most commonly used manager training programs are as follows; coaching and mentorship, internship, teamwork, project work, work simulation, orientation and rotation methods, business academies and web-based distant education programs which have been of huge importance in the recent years.

Although the distant education programs have been used for a long time now (Kaya & at all, 2004, p. 167), it is relatively new practice to use these programs in educating managers. This has been possible only after the Internet technologies developed to the extent that distant education became accessible for everyone. People from different parts of the world got the chance to receive education at an institution from another part of the world. Several outstanding universities started web-based distant education programs in various departments and fields. One of the most popular departments that use web-based distant education programs is Business Administration. Utilizing web-based distant education facilities started out in the USA and they are being used in many parts of the world today. The most outstanding institutions of Turkey have recently prepared and started to use the manager training programs, as well.

Turkish Airlines, which has proved itself in aviation industry both in national and international scale, presents an example of the usage of manager training programs that have been used by successful organizations in bulky sectors in Turkey. Turkish Airlines is using ManageMentor, which has been created by Harvard. Harvard ManageMentor is a pioneer as a web-based distant manager training program in the sector and it has gotten highly famous in educating the future managers through certification programs.

Harvard ManageMentor

ManageMentor, which was initiated by Harvard University, is one of the most famous and successful programs through which the managerial candidates receive web-based distant education for more than twelve years now. This program, which is supposed to be used by more than five million people since the day it has been launched, consists of 44 modules. Harvard ManageMentor is competent enough to provide a secure background for the future managers with its interface that enables sharing seminars of the world leaders, visual presentations, comments of the users. This program is mostly preferred by the companies as an auxiliary facility to talent development applications because of its aim at improving the weak points of the users in a simple and fast way. The program helps in strategic planning, budgeting and conference management, handling interaction with



problematic workers and preparing presentations. Harvard ManageMentor principally aims at matching work related problems with solutions; organizations with world famous experts and trainee managers with experienced ones.

These principles are presented to the users in three module groups where 44 other modules are implemented in. These module groups are Managing Yourself, Managing Others and Managing the Business. Harvard ManageMentor anticipates improving the skills of the trainee managers and other users in six phases. In the first phase, key points of the subject and auxiliaries materials are presented. Then, the learning capacity is determined by using taught concepts that would present real scenarios and tests applicable to the taught concepts. The tips on how the taught concepts should be applied to the work environment are shared with the user. The users can share information on their experiences or acquire knowledge with the Harvard ManageMentor community.

-

....

T 11 A 11

Managing Yourself	Managing Others	Managing the Business
Career Management	Change Management	Budgeting
Delegating	Coaching	Business Case Development
Goal Setting	Developing Employees	Business Plan Development
Managing Upward	Difficult Interactions	Crisis Management
Meeting Management	Dismissing an Employee	Customer Focus
New Manager Transitions	Feedback Essentials	Decision Making
Presentation Skills	Global Collaboration	Diversity
Stress Management	Hiring	Ethics at Work
Time Management	Laying off Employees	Finance Essentials
Writing Skills	Leading & Motivating	Innovation & Creativity
	Performance Appraisals	Innovation Implementation
	Persuading Others	Marketing Essentials
	Retaining Employees	Negotiating
	Team Leadership	Performance Measurement
	Virtual Teams	Process Improvement
		Project Management
		Strategic Thinking
		Strategy Execution

Reference: http://www.harvardbusiness.org/sites/default/files/17893_CL_HMM_Sheet_Feb2013.pdf

Harvard ManageMentor presents a wide communication network to the users and it enables every user to utilize this broad social network. For this purpose, knowledge sharing is promoted with the modules to all users. The users, who have already acquired knowledge, applied to their work environments and shared their experiences with the members of Harvard ManageMentor community, can test themselves on their own by using surveys and get further information through Harvard ManageMentor community or Harvard ManageMentor Business Review journal.

III- TURKISH AIRLINES: MANAGEMENT TRAINEE PROGRAM

Turkish Airlines has an important position in the sector as an ever expanding and developing company since it has been founded in 1933. The company has always worked through the best, kept up with the good work, and received several awards both at home and abroad. It has been active both in intra organizational and inter



organizational tasks and had human resources management practices as priority. The company has also started to utilize the competitive advantage focused strategic management tools effectively.

Turkish Airlines, having a distinct corporate culture, aims at becoming the most preferred airline in the global network despite the global competition. It also aims at expanding to the extent that it would beat the industrial parameters (http://www.turkishairlines.com/tr-tr/kurumsal/vizyon-degerler).Accordingly, Turkish Airlines plans on guaranteeing the accomplishment of its goals by using various manager-training programs. The first one of those manager-training programs is the Managerial School, which has been initiated in 2012. Managerial School intends to provide high or medium level managers and potential managerial candidates with equipment and qualifications that Turkish Airlines might need as a company. For this purpose, twelve in class sessions and ten conferences are given to the leadership program students.

	EDUCATION COURSES							
1	Education of Mentorship	1	day					
2	Management Skills	3	days					
3	Airline Industry Marketing	0,5	day					
4	Financial Management	2	days					
5	Operational Management	0,5	days					
6	Risk Management	1	day					
7	Globalization	2	days					
8	Management of Change	1	day					
9	Use of Personal Sources on p	1	day					
10	Project Management	1	day					
11	Education of Strategy Simulations	3	days					
12	System of Business Management	5	days					
13	General Sale Skills	2	days					
	CONFERENCES							
1	Culture of Management	01:30	hours					
2	Legal Acts of Airline Industry	06:00	hours					
3	Competitiveness and Leadership	02:00	hours					
4	Law of Contract on Business Management	06:00	hours					
5	No Excuse	02:00	hours					
6	Introduction to Human Resource Management 03:00							
7	Leadership and Management 06:00 ho							
8	Introduction on Crafts	06:00	hours					
9	Leadership	03:00	hours					
10	Innovation 07:00 hours							

Table 3:	Education	Courses	of Mana	gerial	School
	Danearon	0000000	01 1.10000	Berner	201001

Reference: https://akademi.thy.com/en-en

Turkish Airlines founded the Turkish Airlines Aviation Academy that offers training programs for both national and international level such as, IATA trainings, personal development education, trade and land services training and staff technical training. Turkish Airlines put Manager Training and Development Program, which provides education and development programs that aims at high quality work and secures the sustainability of development, for raising organization managers, who own high performance culture and are able to actualize the corporate transformation. According to Karasar, the goal of this undertaking is "attaining real success in terms of career, to be ready when the opportunity arises" (2012, p. 17).

Management Trainee program consists of online educations for training potential managerial candidates, in class trainings, social activities and programs at abroad. This is implemented through a portal prepared by Turkish Airlines partnership. Along with this program, Turkish Airlines purchased the usage rights of Harvard ManageMentor, the web-based distant education program, for almost a thousand managerial candidates, in cooperation with Harvard University.



There is an important interaction between the Harvard ManageMentor that has been used by large-scale organizations which recruits managers out of its inner resources, and Turkish Airlines Management Trainee Program. These two programs, which have a common basis, are carried out by Turkish Airlines. Both of them will be analyzed in detail to find out to what extent their scopes are compatible.

Turkish Airlines Management Training and Development Program was put in practice by aiming at certain accomplishments. According to Karasar (2012, p. 19), these are as follows:

- Personal competence: time management, resource management, projects management, performance management, expressing oneself etc.
- Communication and management skills: change management, communications management, crisis management, employee management, reporting, etc.
- Task skills: MS Office, ERP, foreign language, online research, etc.
- Decision making skills: information analysis, process analysis, problem solving, etc.

The goals were determined so as they would be supported by several modules of Harvard Manage Mentor program:

-Personal Competence: It is supported by the following modules; career management, new manager transitions, time management, stress management and meeting management.

Career Management Module enables the development of relevant fields and values, utilizing opportunities and determining the means for these opportunities. Necessary skills for the transformation process are considered in the New Manager Transitions module. In Stress Management, Meeting Management and Time Management modules coping with stress effectively, making adjustments for successful meetings and effective time management is highlighted.

- Communication and management skills: Modules of Difficult Interactions, Leading and Motivating, Persuading Others, Team Leadership and Team Management.

All these modules, aiming at an effective utilization of communication and management skills, are helpful in the usage of communication techniques, selections of the tools for the motivation guidance of the community and revealing the leadership capacity in the group.

- Task skills: Writing Skills.

Writing skills module consists of tips for using writing tools in pursuit of accomplishing strategic goals. It could be said that Harvard ManageMentor is not quite enough for accomplishing the task skills that Turkish Airlines Management Training and Development Program anticipates.

- Decision making skills: Strategic Thinking, Ethics at Work, Process Improvement, Strategic Thinking.

Although some issues related to decision-making skills are being subject matters in various modules, Decision Making, Ethics at Work, Process Improvement and Strategic Thinking modules are the ones that specifically deal with the problem. These modules provide tips on determining and implementing strategies for the present situation and the future of the organization and decision-making skills with respect to these processes.

The skills that the managerial candidates are anticipated to acquire as they fulfill the program are divided into five categories. These categories are as follows: personality traits, personal skills, strategic view, operational skills and human resources management. The modules of Harvard ManageMentor contribute to development of these skills.

	0	0
Personality Traits	Humanism	-Decision Making
	Strong moral values	- Ethics at Work
	Taking initiatives	
	Self-assessment (Self-criticism)	
	Dedication	
	Sense of justice	
Personal Skills	Educational background	-Meeting Management
	Work experience	-Presentation Skills

Table 4: Expected Skills on Manager Nominee at the End of Program



	Competence in information technologies	-Team Leadership	
	Being a good rhetorician	-Team Management	
	Fast learning-Speed reading		
	Being able to establish organizational and communicational networks		
Strategic View	Seeing the big picture	-Change Management	
	Analysis and Synthesis	-Strategic Thinking Strategy Execution	
	Visionary	-Suategy Execution	
	Prioritizing		
	Rational thinking/ Cause- effect relationship		
	Planning		
Operational Skills	Take action	-Crisis Management -Customer Focus	
	Fast decision making		
	Being innovative/Adoption to changes		
	Being goal oriented		
	Effective time management		
	Division of authority and responsibility		
Human Resource Management	Management of diversities	-Diversity	
	Understanding of people's skills and potentials	-Developing Employees -Leading and Motivating	
	Being a good listener	-Persuading Others	
	Setting as an example/ Being inspirational		
	Being persuasive/motivator		
	Being open and honest in relationships		
		1	

Having an in detail analysis of these manager training programs will make it clear that both have some strong and weak points compared to each other. Turkish Airlines seems to be successful by using Manager Training Program along with Harvard Manage Mentor in completing the defects of each program by using the other in training almost a thousand managerial candidates.

IV- CONCLUSION

Although the concept of management has been used in society and organizations since the very early ages on, scientification of the concept dates back to 19th century. Industrial Revolution, the increasing importance of industrialization and technological developments had their fare shares in the process. Significantly in the 20th century, globalization and the removal of national borders, global impact of the liberal policies and the development of communication technologies became important in every aspect of life. Organizations and institutions are the ones that have been affected by these trends. The major motive of the organizations in pursuit of questioning their institutionalized unities and managerial processes is the concern of preserving their existence in the field that they play in and their superior positions in competition.

For all these reasons, the organizations felt the necessity of changing their managerial policies and establishing strategic management practices. Strategic outlook in managerial practices brought the human element in the center of attention and the quantitative difference, which have mattered in the previous periods, were replaced by qualitative superiority. Especially the organizations and institutions of the sectors that had problems with recruiting qualified labor force intended to train and improve the qualifications of their current labor power. The main goal, here, is to recruit qualified labor power and to develop the skills of those already been recruited to the extent that they would acquire the skills to accomplish the predetermined goals.

Talent management practices and manager training program became the two most important techniques that enable the organizations recruit, educate and keep the qualified labor power in the organization. Although these practices may vary depending on the sector or the region, due to the rapid development of technologies webbased distant education programs have become the most popular of all in the recent years.



Harvard ManageMentor is one of the most successful and enduring web-based distant education program. It is quite effective in the training of future managers with its content and the audio-visual materials that it provides the user with. Harvard ManageMentor is produced by Harvard University and it has a worldwide fame and reputation with its program certificates.

Turkish Airlines, holding a pioneer position in the relevant sector in Turkey, is one the organizations that intends to train their own staff in order to preserve and develop their organizational unity. In that sense, Turkish Airlines trains its qualified staff as potential managers through its own leadership school and the Management Training Program in coordination with the Harvard ManageMentor. Both programs were designed to make up each other's deficiencies and train competent managers to accomplish Turkish Airlines' strategic goals for the future.

Following the international trends in the field, Turkish Airlines implements talent management practices according to the common tendencies in the world. Thus, Harvard ManageMentor supports the Leadership School of Turkish Airlines and it creates a holistic manager-training program for the company. Being a pioneer company and contributing to the further formation of the sector, Turkish Airlines sets as an instructive example in the aviation sector as well as in other fields, through its usage of Harvard ManageMentor and Leadership School.

REFERENCES

- Bayat, B. (2008), İnsan Kaynakları Yönetiminin Stratejik Niteliği. Gazi Üniversitesi İktisadi ve İdari Bilimler Fakültesi Dergisi, 10 (3), 67-91.
- Can, H. (2002), Organizasyon ve Yönetim, Ankara: Siyasal Kitabevi
- Can, H., Tuncer, D. & Ayhan D. Y. (2003), Genel İşletmecilik Bilgileri, Ankara: Siyasal Kitabevi.
- Dalay, İ. (2001), Yönetim ve Organizasyon: İlkeler, Teoriler ve Stratejiler, Adapazarı: Sakarya Üniversitesi Yayınları, 4.
- Doğan, S. & Demiral, Ö. (2008), İnsan Kaynakları Yönetiminde Çalışanların Kendilerine Doğru Yolculuk Yöntemi: Yetenek Yönetimi. *Ç.Ü. Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü Dergisi*, 17 (3), 145-166.
- Güçlü, N. (2003), Stratejik Yönetim. Gazi Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi, 23 (2), 61-85.
- Handfield, M. H. & Axelrod, J. B. (ed) (2001), War for Talent, Boston: Harward Business School Press.
- Hatiboğlu, Z. (1986), İşletmelerde Stratejik Yönetim, İstanbul: İrfan Yayıncılık.
- Karasar, Ş. (2012), Türk Hava Yolları'nın Yeni Alameti Farikası: Yönetici Okulu. *Turkish Aviation Academy*, 4, 16-19.
- Kaya, Z., Erden, O., Çakır, H. & Bağırsakçı, N. B. (2004), Uzaktan Eğitimin Temelleri Dersindeki Uzaktan Eğitim İhtiyacı Ünitesinin Web Tabanlı Sunumunun Hazırlanması, 3 (3), 165-168.
- Keçecioğlu, T., Çetin, C. & Çapraz, B. (2005), Temel Yetkinliklerin Belirlenmesi Üzerine Bir Araştırma: Hayes Lemmerz Jantaş ve İnci Exide Akü Örnekleri. XIII. Ulusal Yönetim ve Organizasyon Kongresi Bildiriler Kitabı, İstanbul.
- Koçel, T. (1998), İşletme Yöneticiliği, İstanbul: Beta Yayınları.
- Onal, G. (1982), İşletme Organizasyonu ve Yönetimi, Bursa: Bursa Üniversitesi Basımevi.
- Polat, S. (2011), Yetenek Yönetimi. Ankara Sanayi Odası Yayın Organı, 27-38.
- Saruhan, S. C. & Yıldız, M. L. (2009), Çağdaş Yönetim Bilimi, İstanbul: Beta Yayıncılık.
- Tengilimoğlu, D., Atilla, E. A. & Bektaş, M. (2008), İşletme Yönetimi, Ankara: Seçkin Yayıncılık.
- Truss, C. & Gratton, L. (1994), Strategic Human Resource Management: A Conceptual Approach, The
 - International Journal of Human Resource Management, 5 (3), 663-686.
- Ülgen, H. & Mirze, S. K. (2004), İşletmelerde Stratejik Yönetim, İstanbul: Literatür Yayıncılık.
- Wright, P. M. & McMahan, G. C. (1992), Theoretical Perspectives of Strategic Human Resource Management. Journal of Management, 18 (2), 295- 320.
- https://akademi.thy.com/en-en
- http://www.harvardbusiness.org/harvard-managementor
- http://www.turkishairlines.com/tr-tr/kurumsal/vizyon-degerler



PRE-SERVICE SOCIAL STUDIES TEACHERS' PERSPECTIVES TOWARDS NETIZENSHIP¹

Dr. E. Özlem Yiğit Abant İzzet Baysal University ozlem1406@hotmail.com

ABSTRACT

Nowadays, in technologically mediated discourses of citizenship, new kinds of political, social, economic and cultural forms of belonging are discussed. This study tried to formed a general frame for netizenship and civic virtues in views of pre-service social studies teachers because, social studies teachers are expected to be both model citizens and netizens and they must endeavor to guide their students to demonstrate civic competencies when using technology. Thus, in this study how technology effected pre-service social studies teachers' civic virtues is discussed and their opinions about netizenship are found out. In this qualitative study at hand, research group was formed of ninety pre-service social studies teachers who were enrolled in a state university in Turkey. The selection of pre-service teachers was based on purposeful sampling with no gender-specific selection. A data collection tool was developed based on qualitative means which included open-ended questions regarding the pre-service social studies teachers' views about netizenship. The data gathered in this study were analysed through content analyse technique. In conclusion, it was found that pre-service social studies teachers' views about netizenship. The data gathered in the exercise of policy, identity and the actualisation of humanity.

Keywords: Netizen, netizenship, social studies, millenial generation, pre-service social studies teachers

1. INTRODUCTION

Citizenship is a contested term and defined as a way of thinking about membership status and social belonging. It has always been a dynamic notion. The concept of citizenship and its' perception both by the governors and citizens have changed by technology during history. Technologies power as a crucial agent of change has prominent place in almost every governments agenda. For instance, the compass and other navigational instruments are followed by colonization while the printing press is a virtual cause of the reformation. According to Smith and Marx (1994) the belief in technology as a key governing force in society dates back at least to the early stages of the Industrial Revolution, but we can back it to first human beings and their efforts to use bone, antler and stone to survive. These first tools (technologies) gave people the opportunity to control over the natural environment and to specialise in different works. This caused social, economical and political changes in life. States and governments reformulated their structures and assumed new functions due to adapted themselves to these new technologies and to the technological change. War and transportation technologies especially have provided some societies new lands they needed to expand their boundries (Diamond, 2006). Technology is called as the "engine of the history" because of its' historical effect on cultural norms, political movements, local and global economies and daily life (International Technology Education Association, 2007). New technologies linked with the emergence of new political subjectivities (like cybersubjectivity), processes and territories.

Technology impacted almost every aspect of our lives, and the links between citizenship and new technologies are broad. Policies, rights, responsibilities and duties change in parallel with technological developments and societal changes relevant with technology. Technology also effect main values in citizenship and their priorities both in societal and governmental views. Moreover citizenship, especially the modern meaning of it is based on cannonball technology. Medieval empires are collapsed because of its' usage by armies and, democracy and nation states created the new form of citizenship. According to Cammaerts and Audenhove (2005) recent technological, economic and political transformations have led to the development of alternative notions of citizenship that go beyond the classic understanding of citizenship relating to nation states and rights. Nowadays, in technologically mediated discourses of citizenship, new kinds of political, social, economic and cultural forms of belonging are discussed because, from infancy new generation had grown up with electronic toys and games.

There is a distinctive Millennial Generation and this cohort is profoundly apolitical, as highlighted by a rejection of traditional citizen roles centered around civic duties such as voting. For example, 71 percent of British Millennials believe that voting makes no difference (Bennett, 2008). Young people's limited political participation is considered as a major problem in most Western European countries. This situation is perceived as a challenge for the future representative democracy. According to Bennett (2008) the Millennials are less guided by encompassing ideologies, mass movements, party and governmental support structures, and other

¹ *This paper was revised after being presented at 2nd International Social Studies Education Symposium, Aksaray, Turkey, 26 -28 April 2013.



factors that might help individuals focus on government and politics in times of strain. Today's children and youngs are the Internet generation, born and brought up with online technology at their fingertips, and with high expectations of content and delivery. To motivate young people to engage in civic life electoral communication is important which campaigns seek votes, a process that often excludes substantial voter blocs such as young people. Civic activists and public officials are often available to address the concerns of young citizens, whether through personal visits or participation in computer chats (Lei, 2011). Most policy makers form civic education based on the idea of "dutiful citizen" and expected them to about the basic workings of government, to understand the values of the national civic culture, to become informed about issues and make responsible voting choices. However, new "self-actualizing citizen" may see its' political activities and commitments in highly personal terms that contribute more to enhancing the quality of personal life, social recognition, self esteem, or friendship relations, than to understanding, support, and involvement in government. (Bennett, 2008).

Citizenship has transformed due to processes of globalisation, transnationalisation and the interactive potentials of information and communication technologies (ICTs). There are distinct shifts in the organisation of citizenship according to the re-articulation of rights to access, participation, education and freedom of association. As cited by Mosco (2000) "citizenship in the new electronic age means treating cyberspace as a public space or new commons. Here, all people have rights of access and participation, reasonable expectations of privacy and security, and, along with these rights, civic responsibilities of active involvement and mutual respect for fellow cyber-citizens." The terms of netizenship and netizen (as illustrated in Figure 1) were introduced by Hauben (2007) and Hauben (2007) capture the emergence of "citizens of the Net" citizens who carry invigorated rights and obligations and are people who care about Usenet and the bigger Net and work towards building the cooperative and collective nature which benefits the larger world". Like cyber citizenship, netizenship re-prioritises rights of access and participation while positioning the individual within a 'technological common-wealth'. It is about recognition and legitimisation of a technologically bounded public and communities and, merges civil, political and social rights through new technologies. And, technological citizenship is another concept about technologically mediated discourses of citizenship. Philip Frankenfeld (1992: 470) defines technological citizenship as a general means for instituting protective measures against dangerous technologies (e.g. the atom bomb, genetically modified foods and pharmaceuticals like thalidomide). He is arguing that science and technology are pervasive forces capable of transforming everyday life, and without a system for regulating these forces, their capacities can invite threatening and negative consequences. According to him, humans must formalise new spheres of citizenship to account for and protect against such hazards.



Figure 1. Netizen citizenship cited in Robertson, 2009

Access to information creates more informed citizens, and netizens are more likely to be politically opinionated. Netizenship was presented as net users who are empowered by collecting, creating, sharing information and knowledge with others, and who, help make the world a better place, by Hauben and Hauben in 1996 to represent the impact of Usenet in the US. In their view, abybody on the globe can access to the net to improve



the quality of the human life. Rebecca MacKinnon (2012) expresses the netizen as the citizens of a globally connected Internet, and argues that it is no longer sufficient for people to assert their rights and responsibilities as citizens of nation-states, they also need to assert their rights and responsibilities as netizens. The term of netizen refers to a citizen of the Internet and suggests that people in cyberspace are more than just users, that they are still citizens and their civic responsibilities in the real world are maintained (Milson and Wan-Chu, 2002). In their survey Keeter, Zukin, Andolina, and Jenkins (2002) termed the American Millennials as the "DotNEts", and discussed about their strong self identification and their willingness to see government play a larger role in their lives and the life of the country. Like their European counterparts, the American DotNets are turned off to conventional politics and government, but highly involved in issue activism, political consumerism, and protest activities. BBC can also be used as an example for netizenship because of its' experiment called iCan, which enables citizens to define and post their own issues, link to broad networks of similarly concerned individuals, find information about public actions and government responses, and, ultimately, push for BBC coverage of their concerns. Besides, in a research which was done in U.S. by Pew Research Center (2004), the information habits of netizens were propounded like this: 1) young people increasingly prefer their information in online, interactive environments, and 2) veteran internet users are among the most informed citizens.

As we have seen, technological developments change the nature of political communication and the character of citizenship (Neuman, Bimber and Hindman, 2011). In his study, Hartley (2000) described the radio as one of the pillars of civil society, combining entertainment and democracy, sound and citizenship. Besides, the Net facilitates social connections and opens a new life for people. Geography and time are no longer boundaries and, netizens are meeting other netizens from far-away and close by that they might never have met without net. People now have the ability to broadcast their observations or questions around the world and have other people respond. The computer networks allows the excluded sections of society to have voice. Each user contributes to the whole intellectual and social value and possibilities of the net and, netizens working together continually expand the store of information worldwide. The net brings people together and put them into connection with other people, it allows them to realize their power. The emergence of Internet does not merely mean an increase in the quantity of information, but different information and communication opportunities enhance democracy and contribute to a democratic culture. With access to the Internet, citizens can have more opportunities to speak out and be heard, so information, communication, and viewpoints become more diverse (Lei, 2011). Technology allows people to make the world a better place by making their unique contributions available to the rest of the world and, allows much more and public interaction over a much larger body of people than available before. Citizens of a country can learn about events in another country from the Net before the government decide to release the information to the public via the media. Thus, governments can no longer easily keep information from their people and this opportunity gives the power to citizens.

An excerpt from Hauben (1995)'s article about it follows:

Welcome to the 21st Century. You are a Netizen (a Net Citizen), and you exist as a citizen of the world thanks to the global connectivity that the Net makes possible. You consider everyone as your compatriot. You physically live in one country but you are in contact with much of the world via the global computer network. Virtually you live next door to every other single Netizen in the world. Geographical separation is replaced by existence in the same virtual space.

According to Hauben (1995) net society differs from off-line society by welcoming intellectual activity. People are allowed to be intellectually inretesting and interested, and they are encouraged to have things on their mind and to present those ideas to the Net. Netizens work together continually expand the store of information worldwide. Every user adds her or his opinions and interests to the general body of specialized knowledge on the Net. It allows them to take control over their lives. Because of the information available and the new connections possible, people also have changed their lifestyles.

Netizens of 21st century are generally the members of Generation Z. There are different definitions about this term. For example, Hauben and Hauben (1997) defined it in the context of e-democracy, nationhood and national identity, and identified it as people born since 1995 (cited in Robertson, 2009). Malone (2007) identified the generation Z as children born after 1991, in the age of terrorism, mobile phones, internet and un-zoned schooling. However, Generation Z is defined by Jones, Jo and Martin (2008) as those born since 2000. That generation differs from past generations because of their socialisation in online spaces and, as mobile citizens they share ideas and react to public issues. They use online networks as intellectual spaces and build global bridges to the outside world within their local contexts. Cyberspace create possibilities for publishing their opinions on any topic at anytime. Blogs, podcasts, vodcasts, wikis and online sites like Facebook, My-Space, Second Life and digital games are among the myriad of ever expanding online tools to hand. This situation opens



up to the community the notion of e-democracy where counter-voices and other perspectives can gather momentum at local, national and global levels simply through the Internet.

Along with the rise of Internet, for example China has accepted the emergence of a new population called as netizens. Online commentaries, criticisms, and mockery of state policies have flourished in the relatively democratic and elusive cyberspace. A cyberpublic made up of millions of online Chinese uses the internet for accessing foreign news, spreading stories of injustice, and promoting alterative cultural forms (Ong, 2006). Despite the authoritarian state, technology has contributed to a more critical and politicized citizenry in China's cyberspace. China's netizens has constituted a new social force challenging authoritarian rule. Chinese state proactively uses the Internet to disseminate official views and ideologies, but through interaction with diverse points of view, citizens could become relatively free from manipulation of the state. Chinese netizens are more critical of the political conditions and the party-state, be willing to engage in politics, and they are also more likely to have experience in collective action (Lei, 2011). Youth of the post-1980s and 1990s express themselves online and people under thirty comprise sixty-nine percent of China's netizens, part of the world's largest online community. Young Chinese netizens are writing about themselves in blogs and online novels, breaching firewalls to connect globally, and posting clips on Tudou. Despite government efforts to control content, online users are exposed to freer media and opportunities for independent networking. The Net has also proven its value by providing an important medium for students in the Chinese Pro-Democracy movement. The Net provided an easy way to evading government censors to get new around the world about events in China and to receive back encouraging feedback (Lei, 2011). In a similar way, students in France used the French Minital system to organize a successful fight against plans by the French government to restrict admission to government subsidized universities (Hauben, 1995). Because, in cyberspace there is no central power, no real territory, and no hierarchical structure (Milson and Wan-Chu, 2002). Indians have also increasingly turned to the internet to construct a web-based 'global citizenship' (Ong, 2006).

Lee (2009) explains that, in Korea, by netizens some people refer to Internet-based protesters and for others netizens represent reform minded and participatory internet users. Besides, they define the term as amorphous and hybrid groups of Internet users who are aware of citizenship, participating in a variety of collective action in horizontally networked forms. South Korea's status as perhaps the world's most wired society makes it a fruitful case study for considering how digital culture may develop (Epstein and Jung, 2011). In the aftermath of the deadly incident in June 2002, South Korean Internet users constructed the girls' deaths as a "national tragedy" by situating it in the historical narrative of the U.S. presence in Korea, and created a collective identity of netizens by circulating affective responses to this tragic event. Based on this nascent collective identity, netizens became involved with the Presidential election in December 2002, transferring their newfound political agency at the vigils into participation within the dominant political realm (Jiyeon, 2009).

As we have seen above, participation has become easier and more attractive because of net. Internet offers a good opportunity for freedom of speech for political, social and critical aims (Vickery and Wunsch-Vincent, 2007), and provides a good opportunity for citizens to participate in various societal issues and discuss them critically. In particular, Facebook has provided an appropriate arena for political discussions. Besides, other social networking sites and blogs have increasingly been used for political purposes by both politicians and ordinary people. In election campaigns those social networking sites are used as platforms and, websites like YouTube are used to introduce canditates (Fersangi, 2010). People can use Facebook to create political groups to express their opinions about one specific issue and invite others to join. In discussion boards people discuss and express their agreeing or disagreeing viewpoints (Fersangi, 2010). Many people in the world tend the use internet and the social media for democratic purposes. Fersangi (2010) explained the Indonesian case as an example in her research to show the unique opportunities that Facebook has given to in 2009 presidental elections. She identified active citizenship with civility and, said that, in order to reach towards a democratic society, not only should citizens be well informed and actively participate in discussions, but they should also interact with others in a civil way. During the 2009 presidential election in Indonesia, Facebook was utilised as one of the possible ways of advertising and disseminating election news. There were some Facebook groups that provided people with general information about elections and tended to educate them about this event, as it was assumed a very significant event for Indonesia's democracy. As it is not possible for ordinary citizen to meet their popular candidates all the time to express their viewpoints, Facebook was an alternative for electorates during the presidential election and even afterwards. It also provided candidates with an informal forum to express their opinions. It was the first time that Indonesian candidates could provide such a participatory medium for both their supporters and opponents to converse directly (Fersangi, 2010).

In USA the post-9/11 border security and bordering practices are integral to contemporary citizenship because satellite technology and the Internet bring all media across national boundaries as if those borders did not exist.



Global processes run deep and wide, rendering problematic the figure of the citizen as a member of a national community (Poster, 2002). This emerging redesigned citizenship shares much with conceptions of 'netizenship' – a conception of the notion of citizenship and/in networks – raised in relation to the effects networks have on economy, society, and politics (Muller, 2010). As Luke argues in his discussion of how citizenship and networks meet, the netizen is more about 'bits' rather than 'atoms', reflecting distinctions between 'have nows' and 'have laters' rather than more conventional 'haves' and 'have nots' (Luke 1999). In South Australian case ICTs are being used by government agencies to engage citizens in interaction with the government (Alport and Macintyre, 2007). Online interactive arenas have created a new form of citizenship in Tanzania too, that is, 'Tanzanian netizenship', which is fluid and flexible enough to mobilize diverse people online to effect social transformation 'offline'. This form of citizenship becomes continuously plead for Tanzania to adopt dual citizenship so as to accommodate their dual nationality (Chachage, 2010).

Although involvement in discussions is a significant feature of active citizenship, the quality of online discussions is also an important issue that should be taken into consideration. Internet is capable of giving social, economic and political advantages to its users but, netizenship is associated directly with narrow accounts of technology and one's ability to use and access it. Thus, in countries like Indonesia where access to Internet technology is unequal, it is at best yet another index of inequality and, at worst, yet another impediment to equal rights of all individuals in a democracy (Hill and Sen, 2002). Besides, while Internet supports anonymity, for most users criminal activities such as hacking and piracy conduce to inhibition and disengagement (Milson and Wan-Chu, 2002).

While educating children for life and citizenship in the twenty-first century, educators are remiss if they ignore the impact of technology on our lives. Young people should learn acceptable use policies and guidelines. They must also learn to recognize when they might be vulnerable and what steps to take in problematic situations. Training in how to be a responsible netizen could come a part of teaching and especially the social studies teaching. Thus, social studies educators should expand their notions of citizenship to include netizenship. As teachers make use of technologies, they can model and practice virtuous netizenship. When modeling good netizenship through lessons and activities, teachers can also review and discuss issues of cyberethics (Milson and Wan-Chu, 2002). Thus, in this study how technology effected pre-service social studies teachers' civic virtues is discussed and their opinions about netizenship are tried to found out. Besides, social studies teachers have a ciritical role in establishing a strong foundation of skills for interaction in digital spaces that primes children as citizenship (Berson and VanFossen, 2008). So, in this research a general frame was also tried formed about preservice social studies teachers' netizenship virtues.

2. METHOD

In this study qualitative method has been applied. Qualitative research, broadly defined, means "any kind of research that produces findings not arrived at by means of quantification" (Strauss and Corbin, 1990) and that produces findings arrived from real-world settings where the "phenomenon of interest unfold naturally" (Patton, 2002). This means that qualitative researchers generally study a phenomenon in an open-ended way, without prior expectations, and they develop hypotheses and theoretical explanations that are based on their interpretations of what they observe (Johnson and Christensen, 2012). This kind of research research allows the researcher to familiarize him/herself with the problem or concept to be studied, and perhaps generate hypothesis to be tested (Golafshani, 2003).

Qualitative method starts with the assumption that social setting are unique, dynamic and complex. It provide means whereby social contexts can be systematically examined. Qualitative data are detailed descriptions that can not be reduced to numbers without distorting the essense of the social meaning they represent. Qualitative reports are detailed narratives that include the voices of the participants being studied (Hatch, 2002). This method has been chosen in this research due to capture participants views about the issue at hand.

This is a intrinsic case study which describes the pre-service social studies views on netizenship in depth. This design was used because of the researchers' attempt to learn about a little-known phenemenon by studying a single case. Here, the primary interest was in understanding a specific case. The aim was to understand the case as a holistic entity and a more general process.

2.1. Sample/Research Group

This study tried to formed a general frame for netizenship and civic virtues in views of pre-service social studies teachers because, social studies teachers are expected to be both model citizens and netizens and, they must endeavor to guide their students to demonstrate civic competencies when using technology (Bennett, 2008).



Besides, social studies teachers have a ciritical role in establishing a strong foundation of skills for interaction in digital spaces that primes children as citizens who optimize the iterative functions of the Web for self-expression and participatory forms of citizenship (Berson and VanFossen, 2008). Thus, in this study how technology effected pre-service social studies teachers' civic virtues is discussed and their opinions about netizenship are found out. Due to this, research group was formed of 90 pre-service social studies teachers who were enrolled in a state university in Turkey. The selection of pre-service teachers was based on purposeful sampling with no gender-specific selection. The cohort that began the citizenship course in 2013 consisted of 90 pre-service social studies teachers (42females and 48 males). Those are selected as participants of this research because; it was thought that if researcher understood participants' perspectives in natural context and spent enough time with those participants in those context, they might feel confident while the researcher was capturing their views (Hatch, 2002). Although 135 people took the course, the questionnaire, given to them, was completed in full by 90 of pre-service social studies teachers and, those people created the research group.

2.2. Data Collection Tool

A data collection tool was developed based on qualitative means which included open-ended questions regarding the pre-service social studies teachers' views about netizenship. These questions were formed due to determine the pre-service social studies teachers' conceptions of netizenship and civic virtues. Those questions were as following:

- Which tools do you use to get information about citizenship issues?
- Which are the websites that you use to get information?
- Do you test the reliability of the websites that you use? How do you test it?
- Are there any websites that you are among members?
- Do you use websites to share your political ideas?
- What do you think about the role of technology hearing people from different parts of the society and the world?
- According to you, how do technological developments impact people's citizenship perceptions?
- How can you define the citizen of the 21st century?

This questionnaire designed to assess the subjects' opinions about netizenship and how technology effected their civic virtues. It was a qualitative questionnaire that included mostly open-ended questions. It consisted of both open and close ended items to extraxt the approaches of this group of pre-service social studies teachers. Open-ended questions were used due to provide qualitative data. Closed-ended questions were used in case to determine the websites they used. Closed-ended questions exposed all participants to the same response categories and allowed standardized quantitative statistical analysis. Questions were designed according to the literature reviewed. Five specialists' views were taken regarding the questions. Questions were redesigned according to these views. Questionnaire was applied to ten pre-service social studies teachers that began to same course in an other state university in Turkey, due to validity concerns. After participants of the pilot test completed the test, researcher discussed the questionnaire with them in a group session and explained the purpose of the questionnaire and, asked them whether they believed anything important was left out and whether the instructions were clear. Participants also commented on the appearence and clarity of it. Incomprehensible questions were taken out from the questionnaire and it revised according to both participants' and specialists' views.

2.3. Data Collection

Participants of the research took a citizenship course during their fourth term in their program of study. Before giving the questionaire, researcher gave a general information about citizenship, new citizenships (like digital citizenship, global citizenship, environmental citizenship and netizenship), impacts of technology on citizenship and civic virtues. During the course, participants had opportunities to analyze and discuss citizenship and netizenship. In this course, author also asked pre-service teachers to some specific readings both about technology's effects on citizenship and the term of netizenship. These readings also gave the participants a chance to rethink about these issues. After that process, 90 pre-service social studies teachers answered the questions in the questionnaire. It administered to the subjects to take their opinions about netizenship.

2.4. Data Analyse

Quantitative data were analyzed through content analyze technique. The written data obtained from interview questions were read to obtain a general sense of the information and to reflect on its overall meaning. Notes and general thoughts about data were written in margins at this stage. Similar topics were clustered together. Detailed analyses were begun with coding process. In open coding process discrete elements in the data examined, named and categorized. During axial coding the researcher developed the concepts into categories. Topics were



abbreviated as codes and codes were written next to appropriate segments of the text. Most descriptive words were found for the topics and they were turned into categories. Categories were reduced by grouping topics that relate to each other. Lines were drawn between categories to show interrelationships. Member-checking was used to determine the accuracy of the findings. Figures were used to convey the findings of analysis.

3. FINDINGS

3. 1. Pre-service Social Studies Teachers' Information Resources on Citizenship

 Table 1. Pre-service social studies teachers' Internet usage as first tool in gaining knowledge about citizenship

Internet		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	0	28	31,1	31,1	31,1
	1	62	68,9	68,9	100,0
	Total	90	100,0	100,0	

As we have seen in Table 1 68,9% of the participants used Internet in gaining knowledge about civic issues. They explained its' reason as it made possible to receive the information they need. Besides they mentioned their opinions towards Internet has developed quickly and speeded up processes of news dissemination. It bridges public and private spaces. They said that they shared their opinions about public issues and received information about current events. Acording to them, internet was the best and quick way that you could use to get knowledge about every issue. It closed the gap between the governed and those who govern and, increased the level of civic engagement.

31,1% of the participants used other resources for the aim of get information about civic issues. They specified those resources as television, newspapers, textbooks and books. It was noteworthy that books were ranked as last. Moreover, majority of the participants who sourced books refered e-books. That situation showed us the power of Internet ones again. It is also important that the majority of the participants of the research (82,4%) answered the question about the reliability check for resources they used as "*no*". They explained its' reason as they didn't need it. Besides, participants who answered that question as "yes" were stated that they checked reliability through other websites about any issue. They said that if any information was same in different websites they were sure that it was reliable. This bad attitude unfolds the need for media and technology literacy cources for pre-service teachers one again.

When data were analysed it was sen that majority of the participants (89,7) were just pasif users of the net. They said that in citizenship context they only use websites to get information but they didn't share with or give any information to other netizens. Only a minority explained that they were active members of some blogs about civic issues and they tired to inform people about current issues. Participants expressed their civic experiments at Internet as they joined some groups and blogs and, they learned current issues especially by Facebook. We have seen from Table 2 the importance of Facebook in their lives.

Faceboo	k				
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	0	26	28,9	28,9	28,9
	1	64	71,1	71,1	100,0
	Total	90	100,0	100,0	

Table 2. Pre-service social studies teachers' usage of Facebook



71,1% of the participants have Facebook accounts and they are active. 28,9% who stated that thet were not users also had accounts but they presented their case as "no" because they haven't use it actively. We have seen from their answers that Facebook became the main tool in communication and, it have shaped new spaces for interaction between people from different parts of the society. The have met together on Facebook and shared their ideas about issues. Comments were also effective on their opinions. They mentioned that other peoples' comments on issues had an impact on their views.

Facebook give allow them to present themselves, and establish or maintain connections with others. They use this site to interact with people both they already know and new people. They also join virtual groups base on common interests and learn something about each other. This process gives them a power which they haven't when they are off-line. Thus, partipants highlighted that power and its' value. They stated that they felt themselves more self-confident, valuable and important. They like the opportunity to have a say in governmental issues and feel themselves as a real member of the state although it is virtual indeed.

Participant also had Twitter accounts although to a lesser extent. We have seen it from Table 3 and their cases about Twitter were peresented as follow:

Twitter		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	0	52	57,8	57,8	57,8
	1	38	42,2	42,2	100,0
	Total	90	100,0	100,0	

Table 3. Pre-service social studies teachers' usage of Twitter

42,2% of the participants have Twitter accounts and they are active users of Twitter. As we have seen in Table 3 Twitter is less popular than Facebook among them. They stated its' reason as the general predominance of Facebook among people in the world. They believed that you could reach to less people via Twitter. Twitter's character limit showed as the inadequacy of it. Twitter users tweet about any topic within the 140-character limit and follow others to receive their tweets. Being a follower on Twitter means that the user receives all the messages from those the user follows. Besides, the retweet mechanism empowers users to spread information of their choice beyond the reach of the original tweet's followers. Politicians and governers use Twitter more than Facebook on the contrary of our participants. Especially in the weeks leading up to elections politicians communicate with the electorate and try to mobilize supporters, and some of them utilize it as an indicator of political opinion (Tumasjan and et.al, 2010). So, this finding can be interpreted as participants of this research are not good at netizenship and majority of them can't follow governers' ideas and opinions in real. And, we can say that they couldn't use the power of Twitter.

YouTube was also among information sources of the participants. We have seen it from Table 4 and their cases about YouTube were peresented as follow:

YouTube		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	0	60	66,7	66,7	66,7
	1	30	33,3	33,3	100,0
	Total	90	100,0	100,0	

Table 4. Pre-service social studies teachers' usage of YouTube

33,3 % of the participants of this research expressed that they used YouTube to get knowledge about civic issues. YouTube provided a public access platform that allowed them to upload, view and share video clips. It is one of the most well-known and widely discussed sites of participatory media in the contemporary online environment, and it is the first genuinely mass-popular platform for user-created video (Burges and Green, 2009). Except two participants they used it for the aim of downloading and watching videos. Just two pre-service social studies teachers reflected that they used YouTube to upload videos. They said that they sometimes upload videos about current events to share them with vast majority. It was a positive case in means of active and participatory citizenship even they shared videos about citizenship only one or two times. We can relate it to anyone with Internet access can watch YouTube videos but user registration is required to upload a video and,



we can evaluate this finding as our participants are passive users of YouTube and they just download and watch videos instead of upload and share.

4. 2. Pre-service Social Studies Teachers' Views about the Role of Internet on Society



Figure 1. Codes and categories about Internet and the Society

In figure 1 codes and categories related with pre-service social studies teachers views' on the role of the Internet on society were presented. As shown in figure pre-service social studies teachers viewed the role of Internet within two categories as share and knowledge acquisition. It means that Internet is used for the aims of sharing and getting knowledge about society and public issues. It is clear that searching for information takes high priority in Internet time. It is also the duty of citizens to be informed participants. Majority of the participants mentioned that they used Internet to get knowledge because they met with different people and different views via Internet. It was the best and the easiest way for them in searching various issues because the content tends to be more diverse. Internet provided them opportunities for information, discussion, and mobilization of interest. They also got knowledge about current issues. While explaining their resources about public issues all of our participants stated that they read newspapers from net. Online news gave them the opportunity to be up to date. Especially those day this research was done, because of discussion about new constitution and its' content in Turkey and, Occupy Gezi in Taksim participants pointed out that they learned from social media and online news about the process. Besides majority of them expressed their views as they learned their rights and freedoms through columns and comments on Web. They explained the favorableness of Internet as they could reach to lots of resources with one click. Answers given by participants with codes 27, 69 and 82 supported those opinions as follows:

"According to me, today pc and the cell phones are becoming increasingly preferable than newspapers. People over the age of 45 read newspaper generally because their inability to use technological devices, however there is so many information and opinions in net, you can see all views from right wing to left wing and people can share their ideas without any difficulty. In newspapers and television programs information and opinions are according to the views of the general management." (P27)

"People learn many of their rights and responsibilities through net but citizens of this age are unaware of their rights and responsibilities, they live by chance. They don't do anything towards learning and investigating. They wait everything from others." (P69)

"Internet is our "outward opening door". We are informed about everything at the back of beyond". (P82)

It was seen from findings that they shared their opinions through e-mail, chat rooms and instant messaging. These varied opportunities enable them new forms of participation. Interpersonal and group discussions were also possible online and our participants thought that it was more heterogeneous with regard to race, gender and age. Net offers interactive opportunities for participation and political discussions. They clarified their preference on Internet with its' speed and feedback effects. They had opportunities to collaborate with people who they were inconsistent with them and to join organizations that reflect their opinions. Accessibility and freedom were other reasons that they use net to share their ideas. Internet mobilized their opinions and they reached all they need via Internet. Besides, according to them it is a chance for them to share opinions with fake accounts. They



thought that nobody can find you and judge because of your views. They said that all differences like race, gender, education disappeared. All things seemed them as possible in net environment. They also assumed that Internet allows ideas to circulate to a wide audience. It enhances offline relationships and provides a meeting place for people with common interests. According to our participants Internet promotes open discourses, allows for multiple perspectives and mobilizes collective actions in society.

Answers given by participants with code 11, 25, 73 and 74 supported those opinions as follows:

"Technology and especially net is very popular in our lives today. 90% of Turkish net users use Facebook. Besides, you can explain your ideas and feelings clearly with a fake account." (P11)

"... people can make the government heard their voices. With the access of Internet citizens can have more opportunities to speak out and be heard, so viewpoints become more diverse. Governments can no longer easily keep information from their people and this opportunity gives the power to citizens." (P25)

"Today people have protest through Facebook instead of open squares. They like or share something and protest some societal issues, so governments or other managing bodies are obliged to change their decisions. Politicians also exclude their voter blocs for youths. They address the concerns of young citizens." (P73)

"People can use Facebook to create political groups to express their opinions about one specific issue and invite others to join. It also provided candidates with an informal forum to express their opinions." (P74)

4. 3. Pre-service Social Studies Teachers' Views about Role of Technology Hearing People from Different Parts of the World



INTERNET AND THE WORLD

Figure 2. Codes and categories about Internet and the World

As shown in Figure 2, participants of this research analyzed the relationship between the Internet and the world in four categories. They explained their views on the role of the Internet on hearing people from different parts of the world in the context of globalization, citizenship, sharing and informing. They described the globalization in means of enhancing global values and decreasing national values. According to them it is a danger for national states and citizenship. They were aware of the dangers of the extreme nationalism and racisms but they don't want to lose their national identity and values. They were keenly interested in global issues and they said all citizens have to interest in them. However, they especially highlighted national issues and pointed national identities' importance out. They thought that even netizenship is related with globalization, any netizen don't forget their national roots.

Answer given by participant with codes 45 supported those opinions as follows:

"Bond of national citizenship is in danger of collapsing, because netizens get everything they need, they have connections with other nations and other netizens. They are more informed and well-supported than previous citizens but they don't use their capabilities for their nationhood." (P45)

Participants of this research explained the citizenship category in the context of global citizenship and comparing themes. They agreed that netizenship is same with global citizenship. Pre-service social studies teachers said that there was no limit on web and there was a global community from different parts of the world. You can



communicate, interact, collaborate and share something with people who you really don't know in real world. According to them, netizenship requires to be think more globally even you make your decisions about your country. In terms of comparing, participants mentioned their comparisons between Turkey and the other countries. They expressed that they acquired the opportunity to get information about other countries, governments, their practices, rules, constitutions, policies, what people do in other countries in civic issues and how they participate in the management process of their country. They explained their desires to know about issues like differences in wealth and poverty, child labor, health, religion and language. Besides, current global events were seen as important by our participants in the content of netizenship.

Pre-service social studies teachers also explained their views in the context of sharing. It means for them to interact with any others in the world and communicate with them. They said it was chance for them to share the governmental issues with people from other countries and see their comments about those issues. They also mentioned the importance of those sharing for demands on social justice and accountable governance.

Informing is the other theme that pre-service social studies teachers' mentioned in the context of netizenship and the relationship between Internet and the world. They supported their views as Internet has become a new tool and venue for all political groups. They use it to organize their supporters for online lobbying. People who have e-mail accounts have opportunity to join their activities. Thus, the participants believed that netizens are more informed about political issues and views of different groups. Besides, they explained their views as all netizens can inform others about their opinions and they can try to reach them. Impressing an idea on someone is easier than before although netizens have the opportunity to know about various opinions and ideologies. They thought that netizens are confused because of information overload and this makes imposition easier.

The last category of this section is sharing. Pre-service social studies teachers mentioned interaction and communication opportunities with the term of sharing. They thought that netizens have the opportunity to meet with the citizens of various countries and it is a big chance for them to share their views and events in their countries. They highlighted the importance of this case when they expressed the power of netizenship. One participant (P41) stated her views about this power as "*if you are a citizen it is just about one country and you have a power in one country, but if you are a netizen all of world is on your hands.*" Besides it was understood from their explanations that pre-service social studies teachers were in contact with other netizens from other countries and they discussed political and civic issues together with them. We have seen that they used Facebook and Twitter in this process. So, the expansion of information in cyberspace has resulted in growth of knowledge networks that provide space of transnational and transcultural interaction.



4. 4. Pre-service Social Studies Teachers' Views about Technological Developments' Effects on People's Ctizenship Perceptions

Figure 3. Codes and categories about Internet and the citizenship

As seen in Figure 3, pre-service social studies teachers explained their views on the relationship between Internet and citizenship in two categories. They asserted their rights and responsibilities as netizens. As we have seen in figure above they specified their rights as *get and share information, technological access, remove the*



boundaries, unlimited communication and interaction and give a voice in vote campaigns. Besides, they figured out their responsibilities as netizens in terms of *confidentially*, *privacy*, *being respectfull*, *citation and plagiarism prevention*.

Participants mentioned that their first right as a netizen was getting and sharing information through Net. Here, access is not only right to have the tools, but it is also about the ways. It means socio-economic and cultural equility, and socio-economic inequlities makes people's engagement and participation levels different. They thought that Internet enabled a platform for freedom of expression and all governments had to offer and protect that freedom. According to participants there wouldn't be boundaries between netizens of various countries. All people have to voice their opinions about political issues and, any government should respect and not intrude to this. They want unlimited communication and interaction opportunities. Netizens are parts of the vote campaigns. Candidates try to reach to them via net and especially through social networks. Starting form this, participants of the research mentioned their demands towards participate in elections and rulemaking processes directly via Internet. They have seen it essential for netizenship and specified it as a main item of net constitution. Net constitution is refered by them in the context of netizenship and they mean a constitution which is consisted in rules of a cyber government. They defined this governments as an international and supranational government that must function for all people in the world. Education, equality, information, participation, privacy and security were also emphasised by participants of this research. As we can see, they are not new but mention of old rights in a new manner.

They suggested the responsibility to netizens to be part of collectives. Besides, they specified other responsibilities like confidentially, privacy, being respectfull, citation and plagiarism prevention. Pre-service social studies teachers stated that netizens must share realiable and valid information. It is among their responsibilities to prevent the misinformation and provide a safe Internet environment. They said that netizenship is similar with citizenship in the context of responsibilities. Netizens have to obey the rules of Internet and they should not identify the freedom of cyberspace with lack of control. Besides, they thought that netizens must consider privacy issues. Privacy is in force in cyberspace like every part of our lives and netizens have to protect both their and others' privacy. They mentioned online shopping and social networks in this context. Participants stated that netizens should not share their personal information and be carefull when they were shopping. According to pre-service social studies teachers its' the responsibility of netizens to educate themselves about issues like hacking, online fraud, fake accounts and not to belive in all in cyberspace. Besides, they exemplified Facebook and Twitter accounts in the context of privacy and said that people shared all things about themselves through their social network accounts. According to our participants, it is netizens' task to discern general information from special issues. They must be carefull when they share photos and information about their lives. They also respect for others' privacy and should not interested in private lives. Participants of this research also referred to the importance of citation and plagiarism. They though that netizens have not to buy unlegal products and they have to consider copyright and patent rights' of the producers.



4. 5. Pre-service Social Studies Teachers' Views about Citizenship Sense in 21st Century

Figure 4. Codes and categories about the citizenship sense



Pre-service social studies teachers defined citizens of 21st century as "problem solver, ciritical, free, participant, curious, objective, productive" but "individualistic, senseless, enjoyer, consumer, selfish, extreme and unaware". We understood from those that their views about this issue were ensued both in positive and negative aspects. They thought that using the Internet means being alone. It diverts people from true community. Although, using the Internet generally means communicating and interacting with someone they stated their views as the time with others in real environment decreases. They said that this situation causes to asocialisation of individuals and increases their individuality sense. According to them people of 21st centrul use Internet both in their homes and workplaces, spend and manage money online, engage with public issues and fulfill citizenship duties on web environment and use email to enhance social relationships. They suggested that there has been a move from social communities to individualized comunities. Although people become more aware of each other, they also become more familiar with them and their concerns become ordinary rather than issues required to be consider. Our participants also expressed their opinions as most people in todays' world live their lives in multiple communities and they drawed attention to dangers for national culture and identity. They thought that people no longer live in national boundries and together with globalisation national cultures and identities have became get lose. In the context of citizenship they said that young generation is unaware of national values and they have became a lost generation in means of national identity. According to them e-mail, cell phones and cars sustain ties among citizens instead of national values. They thought that netizens of this age cared about themselves rather than societal issues and, they are just active if any societal issue interest themselves. Internet is a place where people go to escape, take another identity and to be free.

Majority of the participants thought that Internet creates a digital divide among people because even majority of the population use the Internet, many don't make skilled or regular use of it. Besides, low-income users may discontinue most often because they lose the infrastructure that supports their usage.

However, participants of this research also mentioned the positive sides of netizenship during their statements. They thought that today people are more critical and problem solver than before because of the information flow. They have opportunity to access information easily and see different aspects of every event. This gives them the chance to be more critical and problem solver. This also makes them more objective. Besides, according to the participants people encounter with many problems both in national and global manner and it oblige them to solve those problems. And, technology makes them more creative, because of its' applications their usage are required to be creative. In addition, they thought that if any person wants to be survive in our technological world s/he would need to be creative. According to the participants, netizens are more curious than before because new technological developments increase their curiosity both about themselves and about the world they are living. Participants stated that netizens are more participant and productive. According to them, netizens participate in civic issues at least as online. They share their ideas and make comments on others' sharings. Internet makes citizen activism more easier and effective.

Answers given by participants with code 8, 11, 37 and 86 supported those opinions as follows:

"Citizens of new generation have antisocial behaviors. They know how they assert their rights and how they share their voices but, they do it just for themselves. Individualism is very popular among them. They are extremely senseless, devoid of national culture and traditions, and they look out for themselves instead of their nations". (P8)

"They only speak without doing something, we call them as free citizens but it is a dead freedom. People believe in all new in net they react to them." (P11)

"Access to Internet technology is unequal; it is at best yet another index of inequality and, at worst, yet another impediment to equal rights of all individuals in a democracy." (P37)

"Internet supports anonymity, for most users criminal activities such as hacking and piracy conduce to inhibition and disengagement." (P86)

5. DISCUSSION

People use Internet to deal with both their individual lives and civic issues not only in advanced societies but in most of the world. They are spending more time online and doing more types of things and, online interactions and possibilities affect whole community (Wellman and Haythornthwaite, 2002). Thus, it is time for researchers to to engage into new network society and analyse different aspects of it and, this research was done due to analyse netizenship perceptions of pre-service social studies teachers. Pre-service social studies teachers were our participants because of their subjects' importance in citizenship education.

The analysis showed us that the pre-service social studies teachers' views about netizenship were focused on technological common-wealth as fundamental to the exercise of policy, identity and the actualisation of humanity. Besides, they concerned about this kind of citizenship and thought that it might narrow citizenship by



organising rights through access to technology. Findings showed that our participants are more likely express their ideas in politics and government on Web.

We have seen from their answers that Facebook and Twitter became the main tool in communication. Participants use them to interact with people both they already know and new people. It gives them the power of reaching to governmental bodies and other citizens. They have opportunity to meet with people and to get information about their views and practices. According to Hirschorn (2007), "In early 2004 Facebook was started by Mark Zuckerberg, to digitize the legendary (Harvard) freshman-year 'facebook,' and allow students not only to gawk at one another's photos but also interact" (cited in Roblyer and et.al., 2010). Later, the Facebook phenomenon spread like wildfire when opened up to all college students. And, in 2005 Facebook opened its doors to people outside the university network. In our research it was seen that the most famous online network among our participants was Facebook. It may be interpreted as they use it because of its' popularity among young people. However, we can also say that they miss the power of Twitter in civic issues because politicians, writers, artists and other people who can influence people about political issues use Twitter generally. People belive that the rate at which messages are retweeted indicates whether information is considered being interesting. In 2009, after the election in Iran, cries of protest from supporters of opposition candidate Mir-Hossein Mousavi arose in all possible media, but the loudest cries were heard in a medium that didn't even exist the last time Iran had an election. This makes Twitter practically ideal for a mass protest movement, both very easy for the average citizen to use and very hard for any central authority to control (Time in partnership with CNN, 2009). We also see same case in Turkey, 2013 Occupy Gezi.

MySpace and YouTube have affected election campaigns in simple, but significant, ways. They have created benefits such as increasing the potential for candidate exposure at a low cost or no cost, providing lesser known candidates with a viable outlet to divulge their message, and allowing campaigns to raise contributions and recruit volunteers online (Gueorguieva, 2008). However, except two participants of this research use YouTube for the aim of downloading and watching videos but not for the aim of sharing.

The findings summarized above are showed us the impact of Internet and online news on civic issues in Turkey. While explaining their resources about public issues all of our participants stated that they read newspapers from net. Online news gave them the opportunity to be up to date. Especially those day this research was done, because of discussion about new constitution and its' content and, Occupy Gezi in Turkey, participants pointed out that they learned from online news about the process. Besides majority of them expressed their views as they learned their rights and freedoms through columns and comments on Web. It gave them new roles both as producers and actors in the news. Thus, citizens and government officials would be perfectly informed about each other via the press (Hermes, 2006). Pre-service social studies teachers also mentioned the importance of Internet and social media in voting process. The successful use of social media in the US presidential campaign of Barack Obama has established Twitter, Facebook, MySpace, and other social media as integral parts of the political campaign toolbox. Some analysts attribute Obama's victory to a large extent to his online strategy (Tumasjan and et.al, 2010).

The relationship between Netizens and states needs to be understood in the context of modes of governance that involve the complex networking among Netizen groups, commercial providers, governments and international institutions Within territorial boundaries it can enable communication and solidarity space for minorities and social movements, whether progressive or reactionary. Yet, cyberspace also supports trans-border identities and students, migrants, refugees living in global diasporas all over the world can use the internet to connect with others who share their identity (Paliwala, 2013). Social protests also comes to depend on networking capability on the Internet. People also form social relationships through Internet instead of face-to-face sociability.

People also learn about the world via net. Participants explained their views on the role of the Internet on hearing people from different parts of the world in the context of globalization, citizenship, sharing and informing. They described the globalization in means of enhancing global values and decreasing national values. According to them it is a danger for national states and citizenship. They were aware of the dangers of the extreme nationalism and racisms but they don't want to lose their national identity and values. They were keenly interested in global issues and they said all citizens have to interest in them. However, they especially highlighted national issues and pointed national identities' importance out. They also asserted their rights and responsibilities as netizens. They specified their rights as get and share information, technological access, remove the boundaries, unlimited communication and interaction and give a voice in vote campaigns. Besides, they figured out their responsibilities as netizens in terms of confidentially, privacy, being respectfull, citation and plagiarism prevention.


Pre-service social studies teachers defined citizens of 21st century as "problem solver, ciritical, free, participant, curious, objective, productive" but "individualistic, senseless, enjoyer, consumer, selfish, extreme and unaware".

They thought that using the Internet means being alone. It diverts people from true community. They suggested that there has been a move from social communities to individualized comunities. Although people become more aware of each other, they also become more familiar with them and their concerns become ordinary rather than issues required to be consider.

In conclusion it can be said that pre-service social studies teachers thought that people are not only citizens but they also netizens of our technological world. Their views about this issues show us the need for teaching netizenship in civic cources and form a general framework for it. We must also determine a policy for netizenship and inform people about accurate usage of Internet.

According to a pool which was done in 2012 April in Turkey 47,2% of the population had Internet access at home (Research on Households' Usage of Information Technologies, 2012). This percentage is 55,5% in cities while 27,3% in rural areas. Internet access ratio is over than the Turkeys' average in districts like Marmara, Central Anatolia and West Anatolia. 59% of the males between 16 to 74 use computer and Internet while 38%5 of the females use them. We can call this people as netizens of Turkey and as it is understood from numbers that Internet has become the routine appliance of our country. So, there is need to research on netizenship in Turkey like the requisitiness in other countries of the world and Internet creates a need to understand and prepare for its impact.

REFERENCES

- Alport, K., Macintyre, C. (2007). Citizens to netizens: grass-roots driven democracy and e-democracy in South Australia. International Journal of Electronic Government Research, 3(4): 38-57.
- Bennett, W.L. (2008). Changing citizenship in the digital age. Civic Life Online: Learning How Digital Media Can Engage Youth. W. Lance Bennett. The John D. and Catherine T (eds.). MacArthur Foundation Series on Digital Media and Learning. Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press, 2008. 1–24. doi: 10.1162/dmal.9780262524827.001
- Berson, M.J., VanFossen, P.J. (2008). Another look at civic literacy in a digital age. *Contemporary Issues in Technology and Teacher Education*, 8(3): 219-221.
- Burges, J.E., Green, J. B. (2009). YouTube: online video and participatory culture. Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Cammaerts, B., Audenhove, L.V. (2005). Online political debate, unbounded citizenship, and the problematic nature of a transnational public sphere. *Political Communication*, 22(2): 179-196.
- Chachage, C. (2010). From citizenship to netizenship: blogging for social change in Tanzania. *Development*, 53: 429-432. doi:10.1057/dev.2010.54.
- Cingcade, M. (2008). Charting their own course, resources for teaching about China's youth. *Education About Asia*, 13(3): 44-51.
- Diamond, J. (2006). Tüfek, Mikrop ve Çelik. TÜBİTAK Popüler Bilim Kitapları.
- Epstein, S., Jung, S. (2011). Korean youth netizenship and its discontents. *Media International Australia, Incorporating Culture&Policy*, 141: 78-86.
- Fersangi, H. M. (2010). Active netizens on Facebook: Case study of Indonesians' online participation regarding the 2009 presidential elections. Retrieved from
- http://www.canberra.edu.au/anzca2010/attachments/pdf/Active-netizens-on-Facebook.pdf.
- Frankenfeld, P. (1992). Technological citizenship: A normative framework for risk studies. Science, Technology and Human Values, 17(4): 459–484.
- Golafshani, N. (2003). Understanding reliability and validity in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 8(4): 597-607.

Gueorguieva, V. (2008). Voters, MySpace, and YouTube: The Impact of Alternative Communication Channels on the 2006 Election Cycle and Beyond. *Social Science Computer Review*, 26(3): 288-300.

- Hartley, J. (2000). Radiocracy: Sound and citizenship. International Journal of Cultural Studies, 3(2): 153-159.
- Hatch, J. A. (2002). *Doing Qualitative Research in Education Settings*. Albany: State University of New York Press.
- Hauben, M. (1995). The net and netizens: the impact the net has on people's lives. Downloaded on 24.12.2012 from http://www.columbia.edu/~hauben/book-pdf/CHAPTER%201.pdf.
- Hauben, M. (1997). *Netizens: On the History and Impact of Usenet and the Internet*. Peer to Peer Communi. Hauben, J. (2007). *Netizens and wsis: Welcome to the 21st century*. Downloaded on 07/12/2012 from
- http://english.ohmynews.com/articleview/article_view.asp?menu=c10400&no=373 298&rel_no1.
- Hauben, R. (2007). *The net and netizens watchdogging government*. Downloaded on 07/12/2012 from http://english.ohmynews.com/articleviews/ article_view.asp?menu==c10400&.



- Hermes, J. (2006). Citizenship in the age of the Internet. *European Journal of Communication*, 21, 295-309. DOI: 10.1177/0267323106066634
- Hill, D. T., Sen, K. (2002). Netizens in combat: conflict on the internet in Indonesia. Asian Studies Review, 26(2): 165-187.
- International Technology Education Association (2007). *Standards for Technological Literacy: Content for the Study of Technology*. http://www.iteaconnect.org/TAA/Publications/TAA_ Publications.html adresinden 19.10.2009 tarihinde edinilmiştir.
- Jiyeon, K. (2009). Netizenship Politics: Youth, Anti-Americanism, and Rhetorical Agency in South Korea's 2002 Candlelight Vigils. ProQuest LLC, Ph.D. Dissertation, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign.
- Johnson, B., Christensen, L. (2012). Educational Research (Fourth Edition). SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Jones, V., Jo, J., Martin, P. (2008). Future schools and how technology can be used to support millennial and generation-z students. Retrieved 15 November 2012 from Http://www.phmartin.info/WebKBtools/doc/papers/icut07/icut07_JonesJoMartin.pdf.
- Keeter, S., Zukin, C., Andoline, M., Jenkins, K. (2002). *The Civic and Political Health of the Nation: A Generational Portrait*. Center for Information and Research on Civic Learning and Engagement. www.civicyouth.org.
- Lee, K.S. (2009). The electronic fabric of resistance: A constructive network of online users and activists challenging a rigid copright regime. University of Wollongong Research Online.
- Lee, J. (2012). *The netizen movement: a new wave in the social movements of Korea*. H.Y. Cho and L. Surendra (eds.). Contemporary South Korean Society, pp. 123-142. Routledge Advances in Korean Studies.
- Lei, Y. W. (2011). The political consequences of the rise of the internet: political beliefs and practices of Chinese netizens. *Political Communication*, 28(3): 291-322.
- Luke, T.W., 1999. Dealing with digital divides: The rough realities of materiality in virtualization. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the American Sociological Association, 6–10 August 1999, Chicago, IL. [online]. Available at: http://www.cddc.vt.edu/tim/tims/Tim687.htm[Accessed 7 December 2012].
- MacKinnon, R. (2012). The netizen. Development, 55(2): 201-204.
- Malone, K. (2007). The bubble-wrap generation: children growing up in walled gardens, *Environmetal Education Research*, 13(4): 513-527.
- Milson, A. J., Wan-Chu, B. (2002). Character education for cyberspace: developing good netizens, *The Social Studies*, 93(3): 117-119.
- Mosco, V. (2000). Learning to be a citizen of cyberspace. K. Rubenson and H. G. Schuetze (eds.) Transition to the knowledge society: Policies and strategies for individual participation and learning, pp. 377–392. University of British Columbia: UBC Institute for European Studies.
- Muller, B. J. (2010). Unsafe at any speed? Borders, mobility and "safe citizenship". *Citizenship Studies*, 14(1): 75-88.
- Neuman, W. R., Bimber, B., and Hindman, M. (2011). *The Internet and four dimensions of citizenship*. In The Oxford Handbook of American public opinion and the media, ed. R. Y. Shapiro and L. R. Jacobs, pp. 22–42, New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Ong, A. (2006). Mutations in citizenship. Theory, Culture & Society, 23(2-3): 499-531.
- Paliwala, A. (2013). Netizenship, security and freedom. International Review of Law, Computers & Technology, 27(1-2): 104-123.
- Patton, M. Q. (2002). Qualitative evaluation and research methods (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Pew Internet and American Life Project. (2004). *Political Information Sources and the Campaign*. http://www.pewinternet.org/reports/reports.asp?Report=110&Section=Report Level1&Field=Level1ID&ID=475.
- Poster, M. (2002). Digital networks and citizenship. PMLA, 117(1): 98-103.
- Robertson, M. (2009). Young "netizens" creating public citizenship in cyberspace. *International Research in Geographical and Environmental Education*, 18(4): 287-293.
- Roblyer, M.D., McDaniel, M., Webb, M., Herman, J., Witty, J.W. (2010). Findings on Facebook in higher education: A comparison of college faculty and student uses and perceptions of social networking sites. *Internet and Higher Education*, 13: 134-140.
- Smith, M.R., Marx, L. (1994). Does Technology Drive History: The Dilemma of Technological Determinism. The MIT Press.
- Strauss, A., Corbin, J. (2009). Basics of Qualitative Research. Techniques and Procedures for Developing Grounded Theory. SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Time in partnership with CNN. (2009). *Iran's Protests: Why Twitter Is the Medium of the Movement*. Retrieved from http://www.time.com/time/printout/0,8816,190512.
- TUİK. (2012). *Hane Halkı Bilişim Teknolojileri Kullanımı Araştırması*. 17.03.2013 tarihinde www.tuik.gov.tr/PreHaberBultenleri.do?id=10880 adresinden elde edilmiştir.



- Tumasjan, A., Sprenger, T.O., Sandner, P.G., Welpe, I.M. (2010). Predicting elections with Twitter: what 140 characters reveal about political sentiment. *Proceedings of the Fourth International AAAI Conference on Weblogs and Social Media*, 178-185.
- Vickery, G., Wunsch-Vincent, S. (2007). Participatory web and user created content: Web 2.0, Wikis and social networking. Retrieved from http://www.oecd.org/dataoecd /57/14/38393115.pd.
- Wellman, B., Haythornthwaite, C. (2002). The Internet in Everyday Life. Blackwell Publishers Ltd.



PRESERVICE TEACHERS' VIEWS ABOUT E-BOOK AND THEIR LEVELS OF USE OF E-BOOKS

Murat YALMAN, Lecturer Computer Education and Instructional Technology Dicle University, Turkey myalman@dicle.edu.tr.

ABSTRACT

Currently, using technological tools in education has made it compulsory to learn about these tools. For preservice teachers, who are students at education faculties at universities, it seems very important that they make use of these tools in their professional lives and teach them to their pupils. The teaching materials designed and prepared in digital environments introduced the concept of e-books. The purpose of this study was to determine the views of preservice teacher about e-books and the level of their general knowledge about these kinds of technological tools. The subjects in this study consisted of 543 (310 females and 233 males) students. In line with the purpose of this study, both qualitative and quantitative methods were applied. The results demonstrated that the use of e-books increased in accordance with the students' levels. It was found out that the general knowledge levels of the social sciences students about e-books were lower when compared to the students from the departments of Science, Mathematics and Foreign Languages. It was seen that 19,15% of the students did not make any preference between e-books and conventional printed books while 54,88% of them preferred printed books and 25,97% them e-books.

Keywords: e-books, reading books, digital printing, e-book readers.

INTRODUCTION

Rapid developments in information and related technologies have influenced education. Printed books and materials are regarded as an indispensable component of education. Both delivering these materials to students and helping them use these materials as valuable resources are considered to supplement learning. Although printed books and materials are currently favored, the demand for e-books is increasing gradually in line with the prevailing use of the Internet. E-books decrease the cost for both the authors and publishers by saving space and time, and since it is easily accessible for the users, it is a new technology for us (Önder, 2011. p. 97).

Widespread use of computers and the Internet has also given rise to software development. Parallel to this, transferring books into the digital environment resulted in the birth of e-books. However, so far, there have been various responses to such questions as what e-book is and what the elements of e-books are. In a study evaluating e-book and digital broadcasting throughout the world, Önder (2010) defined e-book "as a digitalized form of some or all printed books or as one produced completely in the digital environment, which can be viewed and accessed on any portable device like computers or specially designed e-book readers". Furthermore, it is a software-based electronic form with its rich text features (including bookmarker, highlighting, focusing and so on) that allow all the functions of conventional book reading. In a different definition, it is stated that ebooks are a combination of software and hardware allowing texts to be designed in electronic environments or texts in the formats of doc, txt and pdf, which can be viewed with other devices besides computers (Morgan, 1999: 36; Cliff & Dearnley 2003; Vidana 2003; Lam & Ark., 2009). As the early e-books were beyond meeting the needs of e-book readers, current devices are now more user-friendly, which has led to the spread of these devices with the developments in technology. Companies interested in these products have integrated the features of e-book devices and those of computers and initiated the production of tablet computers. These kinds of initiations facilitated the use of e-books on portable devices like mobile phones, PDA and tablet computers (Wilson, 2003; Moore, 2009).

Countries experienced in information technologies, especially with the spread of e-books technology, have started to produce convenient hardware and software for e-books (Önder, 2010, p.9). In order to improve e-book devices and to solve the problems experienced by e-book readers, feedback provided by e-book readers was taken into consideration. One of the main problems users mentioned was the illumination of the screen that especially hindered reading in dim light, and another problem was experienced by older readers who complained of small fonts causing eye fatigue. On other hand, headaches and pain in the neck were among the most common complaints of traditional book readers. Newly-developed e-books try to overcome these shortcomings to make reading easier. In user and product development surveys conducted by producer companies in recent years, it has been noticed that they mainly focus on solving the problems reported by users. The new retail products provide comfortable reading experience by trying to overcome the drawbacks of the traditional book readers by using led illumination at the background of the screen and adding font resizing functions for people with eyestrain problems (Segenthaler, Wurtz & Groner, 2010).



E-book Development and Its Advantages and Disadvantages

Books are defined as written texts used by humans for centuries (Bağtuş, 2007). These written texts first were carved on stones, then on animal leathers, later on paper made of wood, and now in digital environments. In this way, printing environments have developed in accordance with technological improvements. Technological improvements and an investigation of e-books and its future issues were first discussed by Alan Key's book "Dynabook" (Rukancı & Anameriç, 2003). In the following years, e-books created based on projects to maintain and preserve the books in libraries have increased its popularity since they are easily accessible and portable, which has also eliminated storage problems as well (Barnard, 1999; Morgen 1999). The first website to sell e-books on the internet was "BiblinBytes", which started to serve in 1993 (Anameriç & Rukancı, 2003). Parallel to these developments, the e-book titled "The Best Laid Plans" published by Publishing sold more than 6000 in 1999 (Hawkins, 2000: p.25). Despite this rapid development, it was seen that e-book readers were on the markets only after the year 1998 (Jan, 2009). Many texts prepared in digital environment can be read on specially designed devices. Sony Company dominated the e-book reader market by producing its first reader "eInk" in 2006, later the "Kindle", and "Kindle 2" in 2009 (Yıldırım et.al., 2011).

As these types of environments became popular and preferable by many, it led to discussions on its advantages and disadvantages. One of the main advantages is that it allows storing hundreds of books on a flash disk (Wittmann, 2000). Considering that students have to carry loads of books to school every day, it seems that it brings along a very profitable advantage (Poftak, 2001). In studies conducted, it was reported that carrying heavy school bags at early ages causes waist and joint disorders in the years ahead (Demirci et.al., 2012). Another important advantage of e-books is that it helps save a great deal of paper use (Rukancı & Anameriç, 2003). Both digitalizing books and storing them in digital environments help avoid cutting trees, which are the most crucial elements of national wealth. Proliferation of this technology may provide publishers with the opportunity to consider publishing books by unknown writers as well because publishing books in this way would minimize the costs (Day, 2001). Thus, the problem of delivering the printed books to large masses of readers could be eliminated. Preserving and exhibiting books for many years will be easier, and accordingly costs will be reduced (Palmer & Donaldson, 2001). Besides, since it allows changing the font of the written material, people with eye disorders are now able to read the texts more easily and comfortably (Day, 2001). In addition to this, with proper background illumination features of e-book devices, it is possible to read in dark and dim environments as well (Rukancı & Anameriç, 2003).

Besides these advantages, one of the distinct disadvantages of e-book devices is the complaints of readers who suffer from severe headaches and eyestrain because of using e-book devices with low screen resolution sold in the markets (Herring, 2001). Since e-book devices have security gaps, technology users with bad intentions are likely to distribute these devices free of charge (Palmer & Donaldson, 2001). As there are various types and brands of e-book devices in the market and because there is no standardization in e-book formats, it is a must for people to know the format of e-books supported by e-book devices (Rukancı & Anameriç, 2003).

This technology, which could change traditional reading habits radically, should be supported and improved. In the project supported by the Ministry of Education in Turkey, the goal is to make both students and teachers use this technology. Teachers' knowledge level and approach to e-book devices may influence transferring knowledge to their students regarding the use of e-books. Unfortunately, most teachers who experience difficulties and adaptation problems with technological devices get acquainted with them in the schools they are employed rather than during their school years at university (Yalman, 2013; Yalman ve Tunga, 2013). Therefore, it is important to determine the degree to which this technology is adopted and used by preservice teachers.

METHOD

Qualitative and quantitative research methods were applied in this study. To collect the qualitative data, the students were given a survey on e-books. In order to gather the quantitative data, the responses to the survey were evaluated, and the students were interviewed based on their responses.

Research Model

In order to determine the views of preservice teachers about e-books, a descriptive relational survey model was used in the study. The purpose of the present study was to determine students' level of knowledge about e-books, their preferences of traditional printed books and e-books and their views about e-books and to examine the related correlations based on the results with respect certain variables. After evaluating the survey results, in each part of the study, seven students who continued their education were interviewed, and their views were involved in the research results.



Sample

This study was carried out with university students who attended different departments such as Science Teaching, Mathematics Teaching, Pre-school Teaching, English Language Teaching, French Language Teaching and Teaching Religious and Ethical Issues in the Fall and Spring Terms of the academic year of 2012-2013. In the study, the method of "Simple Random Sampling", one of probability sampling methods, was used. In simple random sampling method, each member of a group has an equal possibility to be selected. The research sample to be included in the study was selected on random basis from a list (Çepni, 2010: 46). The research sample consisted of 543 students from different departments of the education faculty. Table 1 below presents information about the departments, classes and genders of the preservice teachers who participated in this study and responded to the questions in the survey.

Table 1: Demographical Backgrounds of the Participants					
Variable	Property	f	%		
Sov	Female	310	57,09		
SEX	Male	233	42,91		
	Freshmen	333	61,33		
Class	Sophomore	150	27,62		
Class	Junior	57	10,50		
	Senior	3	0,55		
	Primary School Teaching	170	31,31		
	Science Teaching	92	16,95		
	Pre-school Teaching	52	9,58		
Deparman	French Language Teaching	32	5,89		
	English Language Teaching	68	12,52		
	Primary School Mathematics Teaching	73	13,44		
	Teaching Religious and Ethical Issues	56	10,31		
Total		543	100,0		

 Table 1: Demographical Backgrounds of the Participants

As can be seen in Table 1, 57,09 % of the participants were female, and 42,91% of them were male. With respect to their class distribution, 333 participants were freshmen (61,33%), 150 were sophomore (27,62%), 57 were junior (10, 50%), and three of them were senior students (0,55%). The distribution of the students in terms of their department was as follows: 31,31% of the participants were from Primary School Teaching departman; 16,95% from Science Teaching; 9,58% from Pre-school Teaching; 5,89% from French Language Teaching; 12,52% from English Language Teaching; 13,44% from Primary School Mathematics Teaching; and 10,31% from Teaching Religious and Ethical Issues.

Data Collection Tools

The demographical backgrounds and general knowledge levels of the students were determined via a survey. The survey was made up of two parts. In the first part, there were three items regarding their personal characteristics, and the second part included eight items questioning their views about e-book. The survey questions were prepared under the supervision of experts and piloted on 68 university students. The questions with an irrelevant and confusing content were excluded. After analyzing the data obtained, 49 students were interviewed in relation to their responses to the questions to determine their views about e-books. Different from scales, it is not possible at all to talk about a total score for surveys. Thus, from a technical point of view, it is not possible to discuss about the reliability and validity as in scales. Since the measurement tool used in the present study was a survey, reliability analysis was not performed.

Data Analysis

After administering the survey, the data collected were transferred into computer software. Percentage (%) and frequency (f) techniques were used to describe the data obtained.

FINDINGS

The data obtained in this study, which aimed at determining the students' general knowledge and views about ebooks at the education faculty, are illustrated in tables below. Table 2 presents the data regarding whether the students made use of e-books for their lessons with respect to the variable of class-grade.



Class	E-book benefit		E-books do r	- Total	
Class	f	%	F	%	- 10tai
Freshmen	53	15,92	280	84,08	333
Sophomore	30	20,00	120	80,00	150
Junior	17	29,82	40	70,18	57
Senior	2	66,67	1	33,33	3

Table 2: Percentage and frequency distribution of the preservice teachers' use of e-books via the internet

As can be seen in Table 2, 15,92 % of freshmen, 20% of sophomores, 29% of junior, and 66,67% of the senior students made use of e-books. The students' responses to the question of "What is e-book?" are given in Table 3 below with respect to their departments.

Table 3: Percentage and frequency distribution of the students' responses to the question of "What is e-book?" with respect to their departments

Donortmonts		Correct Answers		Wrong Answers	
Departments		F	%	F	%
Primary School Teaching		89	20,51	81	74,31
Science Teaching		88	20,28	4	3,67
Pre-school Teaching		44	10,14	8	7,34
French Language Teaching		30	6,91	2	1,83
English Language Teaching		64	14,75	4	3,67
Primary School Mathematics Teaching		67	15,44	6	5,50
Teaching Religious and Ethical Issues		52	11,98	4	3,67
,	Total	434	100	109	100,0

As can be seen from Table 3 above, 434 students answered the question correctly, whereas 109 students gave wrong answers. With respect to the students' departments, their correct answers were as follows: 20, 51% (89 students) for Primary School Teaching; 20,28% (88 students) for Science Teaching; 10,14% (44 students) for Pre-school Teaching; 6,91 (30 students) for French Language Teaching; 14,75% (64 students) for English Language Teaching; 15,44% (67 students) for Primary School Mathematics Teaching; and 11,98% (52 Students) for Teaching Religious and Ethical Issues. Likewise, the distribution of the wrong answers in terms of the students' departments was as follows: 74,31% (81 students) for Primary School Teaching; 3,67% (4 students) for Pre-school Teaching; 1,83 (2 students) for French Language Teaching; 3,67% (4 students) for English Language Teaching; 5,50% (6 students) for Primary School Mathematics Teaching; and 3,67% (4 Students) for Teaching Religious and Ethical Issues.

Table 4: Frequency and Percentage Distribution of the students' responses to the question of "What is e-book?"

What is e-book?	n	%
I don't know	138	25,41
Electronic book	100	18,42
A book written and read on a computer	121	22,28
Virtual book	29	5,34
Books on the Internet	137	25,23
Touchscreen book	3	0,55
Technological, electronic tool	7	1,29
Portable device with screen	3	0,55
Devices for studying	5	0,92
TOTAL	543	100

The results obtained via the preservice teachers' responses analyzed in categories revealed that 25,41% of the students did not know what e-book is; 18,42% reported it to be a book written in an electronic environment; 22,28% considered it to be a book written and read on a computer; 5,43% regarded it as a virtual book; 25,23% said it is a book composed of texts on the Internet; 0,55% referred to it as a digitally designed book with



touchscreen; 1,29% said it is a technological and electronic tool; 0,55% thought it is a portable tool with a screen; and 0,92% defined it as a tool for studying.

Table 5:	Frequency	and Percentage	Distribution	of the students?	responses to	o the question of	"Where can you
			buy	y e-book from?'	,		

Where can you buy e-book from?	n	%
I don't know	213	39,23
Via the computer	19	3,50
Via the Internet and web stores	250	46,04
Technology Stores	21	3,87
Provided by Ministry of National Education and Government	21	3,87
Bookstores	7	1,29
Download Websites	9	1,66
Schools	3	0,55
TOTAL	543	100

As can be seen in Table 5 above, 39,23% of the students did not know where to buy e-books from; 3,50% think they could buy it via the computer; 46,04% said they could buy it via the internet and web stores; 3,87% reported that they could find it in technology stores; 3,87% stated that the Ministry of National Education provided e-books; 1,29% said e-books were available in bookstores; 1,66% stated they could reach e-books from download websites; and 0,55% said that school administration could provide e-books.

Table 6: Frequency and Percentage Distribution of the students' responses to the question of "What are the formats of e-books?"

What are the formats of e-books?	n	%
I don't know	387	71,27
Pdf	84	15,47
doc, xls, ppt	57	10,50
Computer and webpages	6	1,10
html, mp3	3	0,55
Google and Mozilla	3	0,55
Facebook and Internet	3	0,55
TOTAL	543	100

The results obtained revealed that 71,27 % of the students did not know anything about e-book formats; 15,47% of them said pdf; 10,50 % said doc, xls, and ppt; 1,10 % of them said computer and webpage formats; 0,55% of them said html and mp3 formats; 0,55 % of them said Google and Mozilla file formats; and 0,55% of them said the file formats avilabile on Facebook and Internet.

Table 7: Frequency and Percentage Distribution of the Students' Preferences of Traditional Printed books and Ebooks

Preferences		Б	0/
		F	%
E-Book		141	25,97
Traditional Printed Books		298	54,88
No preference		104	19,15
	TOTAL	543	100

As can be seen in Table 7, 54,88% of the students preferred traditional printed books; 25,97% of them favored ebooks; and 19,15% of them did not express any preference because of being indecisive. The results obtained via



the data collected from the preservice teachers' reasons for their preferences are presented in Tables 8 and 9 below.

Why E healt?			0/
why E-book?		n	%
I don't know; I never thought about it		35	24,82
Easy, practical and fast		18	12,77
Fast and rapid access		25	17,73
Technological and up-to-date		14	9,93
Detailed, more choices, and it includes summaries		18	12,77
User friendly, visual and touch-operated		18	12,77
Useful and no waste of paper		2	1,42
Easy to carry (portable)		10	7,09
Cheaper		1	0,71
	TOTAL	141	100,00

Table 8: Frequency and Percentage Distribution of the Students' Reasons for Their Preference of E-book

The analysis of the students' responses regarding the reasons for their preference of e-book revealed that 24,82% of the students did not know the reason or think about it; 12,77% said it was practical and easy to use; 17,73% reported it was easy to access the desired e-book on the Internet; 9,93% expressed that it was a new technological tool and easy to update; 12,77% said it not only included summaries but also provided details various options; and 12,77% said that it was user-friendly and visually more attractive and that they liked its touchscreen feature. In addition, 9,09% of the students stated that it was easier to carry compared to printed books; 1,42% said it was more useful as it helps avoid paper consumption; and 0,71% preferred e-books because of its low cost.

Table 9: Frequency and Percentage Distribution of the Students' reasons for their preference of Printed Books.

Why printed books?		n	%
I don't know; I never thought about it		77	25,84
Healthier, causes less eyestrain		33	11,07
Natural and traditional		20	6,71
I want to feel it		40	13,42
Long lasting, permanent		22	7,38
Habit		15	5,03
Enjoyable and nice		15	5,03
Easy to understand and use		15	5,03
I am bored of technological devices		13	4,36
I can always carry it with me		11	3,69
Easy to access		14	4,70
Better to concentrate		6	2,01
Printed; and respect to the author		10	3,36
Cheaper and more options		7	2,35
	TOTAL	298	100

Regarding the reasons for preferring printed books, the results were illustrated in categories. As can be seen in Table 9, 25,84% of the students did not have any specific reason, yet they stated that they still preferred printed books. Moreover, 11, 07% of the preservice teachers preferred printed books because they were healthier and less eye-straining. Also, 6,7% of them considered it to be natural and valued traditional aspects, while 7,38% thought that they were easy to save permanently. Furthermore, 5,03% of the preservice teachers preferred printed books since they were more enjoyable to read, easy to use and more comprehensive. Additionally, 4,36% said they were bored of using technological devices, and 3,69% stated that they could carry them anytime and anywhere. Also, 4,70% said it was easy to access printed books, and 2,01% reported that it was easier to read



and helped concentrate. In addition, 3,36% of the students preferred printed books because they respected the authors, and 2,35% said printed books were cheaper and provided a great number of options.

Table 10: Frequency and Percen	tage Distribution of the re	esponses to the q	juestion of v	whether to p	refer e-books or
p	rinted books with respect	to the variable o	of gender		

		Females		М	ales
		f	%	f	%
e-book		86	33,73	55	29,73
Printed books		169	66,27	130	70,27
	TOTAL	255	100	185	100

Regarding the variable of gender, 33,73% of the female students preferred e-books, while 66,27% preferred printed books. Likewise, 29,73% of the male students chose e-books, and 70,27% preferred printed books. In this study, about 82,26% of the females and 79,40% of the males made a preference.

Table 11: Frequency and Percentage Distribution of the responses to the question of "What are the cost-ranges of e-book devices?"

Group	n	%
I don't know	152	27,99
Cheap	46	8,47
Reasonable	206	37,94
Expensive	110	20,26
Very expensive	29	5,34
TOTAL	543	100

The responses of the preservice teachers to the question related to prices of e-book devices revealed that 27,99% did not have any idea; 8,47% said they were cheap; 37,94% said the prices were reasonable; 20,26% stated that they were expensive; and 5,34% believed that e-book devices were very expensive.

DISCUSSION

In this study, which aimed at determining the knowledge levels and views of preservice teachers about e-book technologies, 57,09% of the participants were female (310) and 42,91% of them were male (233). Similar responses to the survey were categorized. Thus, it was found out that 25,41% of the students did not have any idea about e-books. Regarding the categories generated depending on the responses, it was found out that the preservice teachers did not have a realistic and signicative idea/knowledge about e-books. After completing and analyzing the survey, the interviews held with students who defined e-books as books designed and written in an electronic environment revealed that the number of the students who defined electronic environment was not higher than ten and that they described all the written materials on the Internet as e-books.

It was also found out that use of e-books changed and increased depending on the class-grades of the students (Table 2). The interviews held with the students demonstrated that they downloaded e-books from the Internet and used them as supplementary materials for their lessons.

Table 3 below presents the results regarding the responses to the question of "What is e-book?" with respect to the departments of the participants. In general, the number of the students who answered the question correctly was 434, while 109 students neither made any comments nor gave answers. It was found out that the students from the department of Primary School Teaching did not make any comments regarding the question, and the number of these students was almost the same as the number of those students was of those from the department of Preschool Teaching. Except these two departments, the rates of nonresponsive students from the other departments were low and quite close to each other.

After compiling the responses of the students to the survey, it was not possible to make a meaningful definition of e-book, yet parts of their responses might be acceptable. In general, the preservice teachers defined e-book as



"a book which could be found on a virtual platform or on the Internet and which is designed and written in an electronic environment that could be read on a computer."

It was found out in the present study that the participants did not have a clear idea about where to buy e-books from. The results revealed that 39,23% of the students did not know where to buy e-books from, while 14,73% of them without having a clear opinion made a generalization and responded as "on computer, from technology stores, Ministry of Education, bookstores, and from download websites." However, it was seen that about 46,04% of the students said e-books could be purchased via the Internet from web stores.

Also, it was revealed that 71,27% of the preservice teachers stated they did not have any opinion about e-book formats. However, the percentage of the students who gave acceptable responses like "pdf, doc, xls, and ppt," was 25,97%.

According to the responses regarding the students' preferences between e-books and printed books, it was found out that 25,97% of the students preferred e-books and that 54,88% of them preferred printed books. The rate of the students who did not want to express any preference was 19,15%. The interviews held with these students demonstrated that they did not have any idea about e-books and therefore they did not make any preference.

When the students were asked to state their reasons for choosing e-books, it was seen that 24,82% of them said they did not know the reason or thought about it and that the rest gave responses like "easy, practical and fast, easy to obtain, up-to-date and technological, detailed and offers more options and includes summaries." Of all the students, only 7,09% of them stated that it was portable and it allowed storing hundreds of books thanks to its high memory feature (Mallet, 2010). Besides, only two students reported that it prevented paper consumption (Marshall& Ruotolo, 2002). Depending on the responses of the students, it could be concluded that the students were not properly introduced to environments like e-books. Furthermore, it found out that none of the students mentioned the multi-language support (Nathaniel, 2010) feature of e-books in their responses. The interviews held with the students from the department of English Language Teaching revealed that one of the students said "As opposed to most of my friends, I feel myself lucky because I attended a private high school, and I had the opportunity to use computers and access the Internet throughout my high school years. Also, in terms of computer use and Internet access, I got support and help from my classmates and family. I believe that learning a language will be very helpful. However, I don't have any experience in using e-books. I don't believe that my classmates at university are not competent in using e-books. Since I thought that e-books are articles and publications downloaded from websites, I have never thought about its multi-language support feature. Actually, I have read books on my computer, and I thought that I need third-party software for this feature." When the students were asked about whether they used or bought an e-book device, one of the students stated that "Are you talking about tablets? Yes, I have used a tablet computer, but if you mean something different, I haven't used it. Why should I buy an e-book device with a single feature when there are tablets and computers with more features? That doesn't sound logical to me." In his response, he tried to explain that he did not read an e-book on an original e-book device and that instead, he tried to use e-books, or other similar materials, on the computer. When the students were asked to state their reasons for choosing printed books, 25,84% of them said "I don't know, I didn't think about it,", and the rest of the students preferred printed books because they were "healthier and less eye-straining, natural, traditional, permanent, more enjoyable, easy to comprehend." According to the survey results, 4,70% of the students preferred printed books because it was easy for them to select such books, and 2,01% stated that printed books helped focus and concentrate better. Additionally, 4,36% of the participants said that they got bored of using technological devices. Three of these participants were interviewed and asked the reasons for their choice. During the interview, one of the preservice teachers said, "To be honest, I prefer ebooks because I believe that I can buy them on the Internet. Also, buying by credit cards and in installments is a good opportunity especially for students. But, these types of technological devices frighten me because I am afraid of making mistakes while using it. And I don't have any friend or anybody else who would help me out with the mistakes I may make. And that's why technological devices depress me." However, although e-book devices are user-friendly (Pattuelli & Rabia, 2010), it might be beneficial to conduct research to investigate the techno-pedagogical approaches of students. Besides, only 3,69% of the participants chose printed books as they respected the authors and their work.

According to the variable of gender, it was seen that the rates were almost equal between males and females in terms of their preference of e-books and printed books. It was found out that 66,27% of females and 70,27% of males preferred printed books rather than e-books. The students' views about the prices of e-book devices were examined with a single question in the survey. It was seen that 27,99% did not express any view about the prices of e-book devices; that 37,94% of the participants thought that the prices were reasonable; and that 25,60% of them believed that the prices were very high. During the interview, one of the participants who defined the Internet as an environment to purchase e-books from said "*I, actually, don't know where to buy an e-book*



device. I came across with some e-books while I was searching for the books on the Internet I could find in bookstores. But, since they were written in a foreign language, they didn't attract my attention. I saw that the prices of these books are in dollars and high. I don't think that e-books have Turkish language support or I haven't come across one yet."

RESULTS AND IMPLICATIONS

It was seen in the present study that use of e-books among the participants did not go beyond using written digital materials and documents on the Internet. It was also found out that although the students knew that they were supposed to use e-books and related tools in future, they did not make any efforts to improve themselves or overcome their deficiencies. The students tended to use technological devices only when they had to and as much as they needed them. In addition, it was revealed that more than the half of the participants still preferred printed books. During the interviews held with the participants who did not make any preference and with those who chose printed books, it was found out that the reason for their choice was lack of knowledge about e-books. Knowing about the deficiencies of students regarding the use of the Internet and computer, which provides great opportunities for seeking and processing information and knowledge, would be helpful to cope with related issues. Considering the fact that preservice teachers who will be employed in future at a school where they will have to use tablet computers and e-books, which is a project executed by the Ministry of education, it seems of great importance to determine their views as well as their levels of knowledge about this subject. Students' deficiencies determined could be overcome with lessons to be included in the curricula of university programs. In order to overcome the deficiencies of students, a project could be prepared in which students are required to obtain e-books and e-book devices. The use of e-books can be supported by establishing e-libraries at universities. In this way, students may have the opportunity to obtain and use multiple resources.

REFERENCES

- Barnard, S. B. (1999). Libraries and e-books: opportunities and issues. Future of Print Media Journal. Online article from: http://www.futureprint.kent.edu/arricles/barnard01.htm
- Batuş, G. (2007). Sözlü Kültürden Kitle Kültürüne Geçiş Sürecine Direnen Değerler. Online article from: http://cim.anadolu.edu.tr/pdf/2004/1130853303.pdf
- Cliff, M., K. and Dearnley, J. (2003). Electronic book use in a public library. *Journal of Librarianship and Information Science*, 35(4), 235-242.
- Day, R. (2001). Reading the Future. Popular Mechanics, 178(4), 82-85.
- Demir, U. F. Y. P., Çırak, Y., Dalkılınç, M., Yılmaz, G. D., Uraş, İ., & Kömürcü, M. (2012). İlkokul Çocuklarında Çanta Taşıma, Bilgisayar Kullanma Alışkanlığı ve Postür, Ankara Medical Journal, 12(4), 182-186.
- Hawkins, D. T. (2000). Electronik Book. Online, 24(4): 14-25.
- Lam, P., Lam, S-L. Lam, J., & McNaught, C. (2009). Usability and usefulness of eBooks on PPCs: How students opinions vary over time. Australasian Journal of Educational Technology 25(1), 30–44.
- Morgan, E. L. (1999). Electronic Books and Related Technologies. Computers in Libraries, 19(10), 36-39.
- Mallett, E. (2010). A screen tool for? Findings from an e-book reader pilot.
- Marshall, C.C & Ruotolo, C. (2002). Reading in the small: a study of reading on small form factor devices.
- Moore, M. L. (2009). At your leisure. Assessing ebook reader functionally and interactivity. University College London.
- Nathaniel, S. (2010). The e-reader industry: Replacing the book or enchancing the reader experience. *Scroll.* 1(1). Önder, I. (2011). e-Kitap ve Dünyada Elektronik Kitap Yayıncılığı. *Türk Kütüphaneciliği*, 25(1), 97-105.
- Palmer, P. & Donaldson, S., A. (2001). The ebook Revulation. Black Enterprise, 31(9), 49-50.
- Pattuelli, M.C. & Rabina, D. (2010). Forms, effect, function: LIS students' attitude towards portable e-book readers. Aslib Proceedings: New information perspectives, 62 (3),228-244. Proceedings of Second ACM/IEEE-CS joint Conference on Digital Libraries. 56-64. Portland, Oregon, July 2002.
- Poftak, A. (2001). Getting a Read on E-books. Technology & Learning, 21(9), 22-24.

Rukancı, F. ve Anameriç, H. (2003). E-Kitap Teknolojisi ve Kullanımı. Türk Kütüphaneciliği, 17, 2,147-166.

- Siegenthaler, E., Wurtz, P., Groner, Rudolf. (2010). Improving the usability of E-book Readers. Journal of Usability Studies. 6 (1), 25-38.
- Vidana, Monica. (2003). E-books in public libraries. Libraries and Information Update. Available at http://www.cilip.org.uk/update/issues/mayo3/article4may.html.
- Wittmann, A (2000). Bye Bye Books?. Network Computing, 11(22), 210.
- Wilson, R. (2003). Ebook readers in higher education. Educational Technology & Society, 6 (4), 8-17.
- Yalman, Ö. G. M. (2013). Üniversite Öğrencilerinin World Wide Web (Www) Tutumlarinin Bazı Değişkenlere Göre İncelenmesi: Dicle Üniversitesi Örneği. *The Journal of Academic Social Science Studies*, 6(6), 1177-1193.



Yalman, M., & TUNGA, M. A. (2013). Examining university students' perceptions of computer and WWW (World Wide Web) with respect to certain variables: a case from Turkey. *Journal of Science, Innovation* and New Technology, 1(6), 1-11.

Yıldırım, G., Karaman, S., Çelik, E., & Esgice, M. (2011). E-Kitap Okuyucuların Kullanım Deneyimlerine Yönelik Alanyazın İncelemesi, 5th International Computer & Instructional Technologies Symposium, 22-24 September 2011, Fırat University, ELAZIĞ- TURKEY

THE EFFECTS OF COLLABORATIVE WRITING ACTIVITY USING GOOGLE DOCS ON STUDENTS' WRITING ABILITIES

Ornprapat SUWANTARATHIP Language Institute, Bangkok University, Thailand ornprapat.s@bu.ac.th

Saovapa WICHADEE Language Institute, Bangkok University, Thailand saovapa.w@bu.ac.th

ABSTRACT

Google Docs, a free web-based version of Microsoft Word, offers collaborative features which can be used to facilitate collaborative writing in a foreign language classroom. The current study compared writing abilities of students who collaborated on writing assignments using Google Docs with those working in groups in a face-to-face classroom. The experimental research was conducted with students enrolled in EN 012 course in the first semester of academic year of 2013. Both groups were assigned to complete four writing assignments using different working methods: one group worked together outside class with Google Docs, while the other worked together in class. The instruments employed in the study were writing tests and two questionnaires. Data were analyzed by using means, standard deviations, percentages, and independent samples *t*-tests. The results indicate that a significant difference was found between the two groups' writing mean score after the experiment. Students in the Google Docs group gained higher mean scores than those working in groups in a face-to-face classroom. In addition, students reported that they had positive attitudes toward collaborative writing activity and high collaboration in their groups using Google Docs, while nearly all of them perceived that this learning tool is easy to use.

Keywords: Web 2.0, online collaboration, Google Docs, writing abilities, collaborative writing

INTRODUCTION

Learning in collaborative setting is a social interaction involving a community of learners and teachers, where members acquire and share experience or knowledge. Collaborative learning is, therefore, a significant factor in students' learning because it promotes active learning and student-reliance in classrooms (Foote, 2009). Learning is shifting from passive reception to active creation. Students tend to take more ownership of their material and to think critically about related issues when they work as a team. The collaboration process enhances students' learning and develops their social skills like decision-making, conflict management, and communication (Smith & MacGregor, 2009). According to Banerjee (2000), in the collaborative learning process, a student must formulate ideas about the material assigned to him, test his assumptions, clarify them, come to a conclusion and then assimilate that material within himself. Once he feels that he "owns" the material, he must explain it to his group so that his knowledge can be pooled together and shared among all his group members. Each student, thus, is a dynamic contributor to both the learning and the teaching process. When questions are raised, different students will have a variety of responses. Each of them can help the group create a product that reflects a wide range of perspectives and is thus more complete and comprehensive (p.1).

Undergraduate students at Bangkok University, in the nine faculties: Humanities, Business Administration, Accounting, Communication Arts, Fine and Applied Arts, Sciences and Technology, Laws, Economics, and Engineering, are required to take at least three English courses. Each course consists of four skills: speaking, listening, reading, and writing. It is found that most students always get low scores in the writing assignments and tests. As mentioned earlier, among various teaching methods, collaboration among students is an interesting alternative in terms of creating helpful and active learning environments. Our Language Institute decided to implement collaborative learning in many language courses to improve students' writing skills. In a collaborative learning environment, students help one another to compose a writing task. They can learn from each other through the editing process until they get the final product. In terms of learning motivation, students who work in collaborative groups appeared to be satisfied with their classes, and their learning motivation improved respectively (Kowal & Swain, 1994; Swain & Lapkin, 1998).

Nevertheless, there is a limitation of collaboration in classrooms. Students may not have much time to read and build on each other's work; however, in collaborative online environments, they are given this opportunity (Hewitt & Scardamalia, 1998). Having students working together is not restricted to in-class communication. Online collaborative writing improved fluency and accuracy (Elola & Oskoz, 2010) and valued the opportunity to share feedback with peers (Ware & O'Dowd, 2008). According to Black (2005), on-line discussions have the potential to motivate student inquiry and create a context in which collaborative learning occurs, promoting both



reflection and critical thinking. Many studies employed tools in a Computer Mediated Communication (CMC) environment such as discussion board, wiki, and blog to increase students' interaction and facilitate the peer feedback process. In online learning communities, students can create, share information, practice critical reflection, negotiate meaning, test synthesis, and build consensus as much as they wish. Through online, collaborative written assignments, group discussions, debates and critiques of arguments, students can enhance knowledge construction (Zhu, 2012). Research has shown that the use of constructive feedback can enhance the quality of student discussion responses (Ertmer & Stepich, 2004; Ciftci & Kocoglu, 2012). The use of peer feedback in a web-based learning environment provides a number of advantages such as increasing the timeliness of feedback, offering new learning opportunities for both givers and receivers of feedback, humanizing the environment, and building community through online interaction (Corgan, Hammer, Margolies, & Crossley, 2004).

Among many technologies, Google Docs is a learning tool which helps to implement the learner-centered approach in a collaborative learning environment. According to Oxnevad (2013), document sharing and comments provide students with opportunities to receive immediate feedback. While working together, students generate online materials that reflect what they have learned and show connections between their prior knowledge, the course content, and their personal experiences. Since Google Docs is stored online, students can work at school and at home from any computer with an Internet connection, and they are more likely to revisit their work if they know someone else will be commenting on it. To insert a comment, students just highlight some text in the body of the document and the comment will appear on the right side of the page. Then they can click on any comments are smart and they disappear after the issue has been addressed by the author so students feel a sense of accomplishment as they work their way through the suggestions of their peers. In addition, Google Docs provides support for collaboration in real time so students and teachers can have a virtual mini-conference about the work in front of them from any location if the timing is right.

The focus of this study is moved from individual learning to collective knowledge and from in-class assignments to web-based applications on out-of class assignments. Therefore, it aimed at examining undergraduate students' writing abilities as a result of using Google Docs for collaborative writing in a fundamental English course and investigated their attitudes towards collaborative writing activity using Google Docs. The result of this study will provide an insight into how technology can be used to support students' mutual learning and how much collaboration on written assignments in an online learning environment had on students' writing abilities. If Google Docs is effective in facilitating writing skills, it will be a new choice for language teachers who are facing time limit. This study was guided by three research questions:

- 1. Was there a difference in the students' writing abilities between those working in groups in a face-to-face classroom and those using Google Docs to work collaboratively out of class?
- 2. How did the students respond to collaborative writing activity using Google Docs?
- 3. How much cooperation did the students have in collaborative writing activity using Google Docs?

LITERATURE REVIEW

Collaborative Learning

Haring-Smith (1994, p. 360) defines collaborative writing as involving more than one person who contributes to the creation of a text so that "sharing responsibility" becomes essential. Collaborative learning takes on a variety of forms in an active process including the use of technology as a medium and tool. The concept of teaching writing skills is shifting, and teachers are faced with adapting their teaching practices to integrate new technologies while redefining writing and learning for the 21st century (Oxnevad, 2013). With the development and advancement of computer networks, online collaborative learning becomes possible even if students cannot meet in a classroom (Macdonald, 2006). In a writing classroom, collaborative writing can also be encouraged with the use of the World Wide Web. Many institutions have attempted to make use of technology in collaborative activities. Apart from blogs, wikis, chat rooms, forum, learning logs, Google Docs is an online suite of digital tools that provides teachers with some powerful features to help 21st century students develop writing skills.

Google Docs

The era of Web 2.0 application brings about many useful Internet services and programs such as blogs, wikis, and Google. For a decade, blogs are usually used to share information while wikis allows anyone to edit, modify, or delete content (Lamy & Hampel, 2007). Google Docs is another digital tool that includes the functions of blogs and wikis. Google Docs is "a free, web-based word processor, spreadsheet, presentation, form, and data storage service offered by Google" (Wikipedia, 2010). It allows users to create, edit and store their



documents online (Thompson, 2008). An extensive revision history is maintained. It is possible to view the entire document as it appeared at any time past. An author can choose to revert to an earlier version. Google Docs includes four major options: Google Documents, Google Spreadsheets, Google Presentations, and Google Drawing, which all share similar functions. There are also tools to compare any two versions of a document. This review focuses on Google Documents and how this application can facilitate students' collaborative writing in the English language classroom.

Since Google Docs is easy and fast, the tool is well-suited for facilitating digital writing workshops that combine peer editing with cooperative grouping and small group fine-tuned writing instruction. Sharp (2009) suggests that this collaborative editing tools allow a group of individuals to edit a document simultaneously while they can view the changes made by others in real time. This special feature makes Google Docs a powerful program that can facilitate collaborative writing in the language classroom. By sharing documents and keeping them online, students can access them anytime. Chinnery (2008) states that Google Docs is a productive tool where learning activities can be designed differently and creatively. For instance, an instructor might post a text, intentionally replete with errors, for learners to correct. Likewise, learners can easily peer-edit, as this program leaves an editing trail. Another option is chain storytelling, where an instructor begins a story which each learner contributes to in turn. Moreover, this tool is useful in group projects in general. Google Docs allows individuals to work on a common task without restrictions often imposed by traditional face-to-face contacts (Conner, 2008; Perron & Sellers, 2011).

Previous Research Studies

Many studies compared student learning between online technology group and face-to-face group in second/foreign language classes, and findings were different. A number of studies have found that the use of online technology in the classroom can facilitate collaborative learning among students and promote learning outcomes (Chen, 2008; Chou & Chen, 2008; Raman, Ryan, & Olfman, 2005; Vaughan, 2008). Other findings suggest that students perceived Google Docs as a useful tool for group work (Brodahl, Hadjerrouit, & Hansen, 2011; Zhou, Simpson, & Domizi, 2012). Students believed that a document that was written collaboratively might have higher quality than a document written alone (Blau & Caspi, 2008). However, online collaborations might also lead to unpleasant learning experiences. For example, students and instructors might feel uncomfortable in sharing knowledge (Rick & Guzdial, 2006). Students believed it was not appropriate to change other students' written products, and they may not all contribute equally to the assignment (Coyle, 2007).

RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

Participants and the Setting

The population in this research study was 5,625 students enrolled in EN 012 course of 3 credits in the first semester of 2013 academic year at a private university in Thailand. During the first semester, they were assigned to 123 sections by the Registration Office. As this study was conducted in a university setting, it was difficult for each subject to be randomly selected and assigned to the control and experimental groups. Therefore, it was more feasible to adopt the quasi-experimental design, which provides reasonable control over most sources of invalidity (McMillan & Schumacher, 1997). So, the samples included two sections, each of which contained 40 students, got from cluster sampling since students were already assigned to their sections. One section was used for the face-to-face group; another one for the Google Docs group. Both groups were taught by the researcher. This course aimed at enhancing students' skills in reading and writing logical responses to texts. The students met in class once a week – two periods (70 minutes per period). The length of the semester was 14 weeks.

Instruments

The impact on students' learning was evidenced by three instruments including writing tests, a questionnaire surveying attitudes toward collaborative writing activity using Google Docs and a questionnaire asking them to report how collaboratively they work. The first instrument was the writing tests administered to assess students' writing abilities in both groups. One writing test was given at the beginning of the term functioning as the pretest and the second one as the post-test at the end of the term. They were paralleled tests. In each test, students were required to write two kinds of paragraph comprising 1) a cause to effect paragraph and 2) a process paragraph, each of which contained not fewer than 150 words. Although students were required to write the same types of paragraph, the writing topics provided in the pre-test were different from those in the post-test. Time allotted for each test was 100 minutes with the total score of 20 points. For the second instrument, to learn how well collaborative learning through Google Docs was accepted by the students, a questionnaire containing 10 items with a choice of five rating scale responses (1= strongly disagree, 2= disagree, 3 = neither agree nor disagree, 4= agree, and 5 = strongly agree) was created. Some statements in the questionnaire were taken from Lin & Jou's research (Lin & Jou, 2013). It was designed based on the theoretical framework of Vygotsky's social constructivism with his emphasis on the role of social interaction in learning and on the concepts



underlying the communicative approach in L2 learning (Vygotsky, 1978). The draft questionnaire items were checked for content validity by three experts in the English teaching field. The items with IOC index higher than 0.6 are acceptable. All of the items passed the criteria, and the overall index of the questionnaire was .87. Then the questionnaire was piloted with 30 non-subject students and calculated for proper reliability value by using Cronbach's Coefficient Alpha. The reliability value was .85, implying that the questionnaire is reliable. The questionnaire was distributed to both groups after the posttest. In order to learn more about students working in groups, another questionnaire adapted from Zhou, Simpson, & Domizi (2012) was used to ask students to report about their collaboration, comprising three statements with five Likert-scale responses as follows:

- How collaborative was the group work? The replies were provided in five rating scales: 1= very low, 2=low, 3= moderate, 4= high, 5= very high.
- How would you evaluate your group performance? The replies were in five rating scales: 1= very bad, 2= bad, 3= moderate, 4= good, 5=very good.
- How difficult was this activity when it was done in groups using Google Docs? The replies were in five rating scales: 1= very difficult, 2= difficult, 3= neither difficult nor easy, 4= easy, 5= very easy.

Learning Procedure and Data Collection

This empirical study was carried out in two classes where different methods were employed for students' writing development. One class worked together to complete writing assignments using Google Docs while the other worked together in groups in a face-to-face classroom. The data collection was done for 14 weeks. For the preinstructional period, students in both groups were pre-tested to determine their writing abilities on the first week. During weeks 2-5, students in both groups were taught about how to write four kinds of paragraph in the classroom with PowerPoint and supplementary sheets. On the sixth week, students in the Google Docs group were asked to form a team of 4 members for working together using Google Docs. Everyone was taught about how to use Google Docs in class and created Gmail accounts. Students invited the teacher and their writing buddies to be collaborators, by simply entering their email addresses and clicking "Invite Collaborators." Then they were asked to use Google Docs to do their assignments together. While working together, each collaborator will have a different color to distinguish what they contributed to the document. As students revised a document, the revision screen would show who worked on the document and when they worked on it. When students edited an essay, it could be easily seen who did what by comparing revisions or browsing through the revisions. Each team was to compose four kinds of paragraph writing with Google Docs starting from week 6 to week 13. The four assignments included a cause-to-effect paragraph, a descriptive paragraph, an opinion paragraph, and a process paragraph. The process started with a member's posting his/her writing, followed by sharing the file to other members who helped in editing or giving feedback for paragraph improvement. In each writing task, students would reach an agreement of a final product. Students in the other group performed the same writing assignments, but worked together in groups in a face-to-face classroom. Students in both classes would submit each writing assignment to the teacher for feedback and improved their work accordingly before they started working on the next assignment. The intervention was followed by the post-test, a questionnaire, and an interview on week 14.

Data Analysis

All of the data got from the tests and the questionnaires were computed by Statistical Package for the Social Science version 12. A customized rubric was created to score the test papers. For each piece of writing, students earned up to 10 points in total, with up to four points for presentation of a clear main idea; three points for well organization; and three points for correct language use.

Category	0 point	1 point	2 point	3 points	4 points
Content	No supporting details and examples	The main idea is supported with inappropriate reasons and examples.	The main idea is well supported with appropriate reasons but incorrect or inappropriate examples.	The main idea is well supported with only one appropriate reasons and examples.	The main idea is well supported with some appropriate reasons and examples.
Language Use	A lot of grammatical mistakes or misspellings	Some grammatical mistakes or misspellings	A few grammatical mistakes or misspellings	No grammatical mistakes or misspellings	-

Table 1: Rubrics for paragraph writing.



	The paragraph	The paragraph	The paragraph	The paragraph	
	includes some	includes some	includes all	includes all	
	elements of	elements of	elements of	elements of	
	paragraph (topic	paragraph (topic	paragraph (topic	paragraph (topic	
o ·	sentence,	sentence,	sentence,	sentence,	
Organiza-	supporting	supporting	supporting details,	supporting -	
tion	details, and	details, and	and conclusion)	details, and	
	conclusion) but	conclusion) with	but no or incorrect	conclusion) with	
	no or incorrect	correct use of	use of transitional	correct use of	
	use of transitional	transitional	words.	transitional	
	words.	words.		words.	

This study employed three examiners to mark the papers to ensure the fairness in scoring. One of them was the researcher and the other two were teaching this course at the Language Institute. In order to confirm the reliability of pre-and post-test scores, the inter-rater approach of reliability estimates was applied. The inter-rater reliability results of the three raters who rated the students' papers on the pre-test were 0.985 (1-2), 0.991 (2-3), 0.977 (1-3) meaning that the three raters had statistically significant inter-rater reliability. The inter-rater reliability results of the three raters who rated the students' papers on the post-test were 0.975(1-2), 0.977 (2-3), 0.967 (1-3) meaning that the three raters had statistically significant inter-rater reliability. The post-test mean scores of the two groups were compared using an independent samples t-test. P values < 0.05 were considered statistically significant. Data of attitudinal questionnaire got from the Google Docs group were calculated for mean and standard deviation and reported in a table based on the following ranges: 1.00-1.50 = very negative, 1.51-2.50 = negative, 2.51-3.50 = moderate, 3.51-4.50 = positive, 4.51-5.00 = very positive while data of questionnaire demonstrating how students worked in groups were assessed and shown in percentage.

RESULTS

The researcher checked the normality of the pre-test to see whether the samples were normally distributed or not. According to Table 2, the results were not statistically significant at the 0.05 level (df = 80, p > 0.05). This means the data of the sample came from normally distributed population. As the normality in the pre-test was normal, an independent samples *t*-test can be used to analyze the data.

Table 2: Normality of the pre-test.							
	Kolmogorov- Smirnova			Shapi			
	Statistic	df	Sig.	Statistic	df	Sig.	
Pre-test	.125	80	.053	.969	80	.057	

To ascertain that the samples assigned to the face-to-face group and the Google Docs group were not initially different but homogeneous, an independent samples *t*-test was run to compare the pre-test scores of both groups. The Levene's Test for equality of variances shows F=.209 and p=.649, proving that the variance of the groups was equivalent. It was found that the pre-test mean score of students in the Google Docs group was a little bit lower than that of students in the face-to-face group (11.30, 11.48). The result showed t = .427, df = .78, and p = .670, indicating that the two groups did not differ significantly, but were homogenous (See Table 3). Therefore, it can be concluded that both groups were homogenous at the outset of the study.

Table 3: A comparison of pre-test scores between face-to-face and Google Docs groups.								
Group	Х	S.D.	df	t	Sig (2-tailed)			
Face-to-face Group (n=40)	11.48	2.05	78	.427	.670			
Google Docs Group (n=40)	11.30	1.78						
Mean Difference	0.18							

Research Question 1: Was there a difference in the students' writing abilities between those working in groups in a face-to-face classroom and those using Google Docs to work collaboratively out of class?

Before running the *t*-test, the researcher checked the normality of the posttest to see whether the samples were normally distributed at each group or not. According to the table, the results were not statistically significant at the 0.05 level (df = 80, p > 0.05). As the sample in the post-test was normal, the *t*-test can be further used.



Table 4: Normality of the post-test.						
	Kolmogorov- Smirnova			Shapiro-Wilk		
	Statistic	df	Sig.	Statistic	df	Sig.
Posttest	.085	80	.200	.987	80	.605

Before the intervention, the mean scores of students in both groups were 11.48 and 11.30, and those scores increased to 14.54 and 15.56 respectively. This means that the students' writing abilities could be improved by the two treatments after 14 weeks of intervention.

This research question explored students' writing proficiency after the intervention. To test the hypothesis and to see the efficacy of the intervention, students' writing scores obtained from the post-test of the two groups were compared to see if there was a statistically significant difference using an independent samples *t*-test as shown in Table 5. However, the result from a *t*-test analysis revealed the Levene's Test for equality of variances (F = 2.440 and p = .122) with a difference between the face-to-face group and the Google Docs group at a significance level of .05 (t = 2.253, df = 78, p=.027). So, the null hypothesis stating that no significant difference existed in the writing scores of the students who were controlled to receive the face-to-face learning environment and those in the Google Docs group was rejected.

Table 5: A co	ر omparison between	post-test scores	s between the	face-to-face an	d Google Doo	s groups.
Group	I	χ s	5.D.	df	t Sig	(2-tailed)

Group	~	S.D.	ui	l	Sig (2-taileu)
Face-to-Face Group (n=40)	14.54	1.87	78	2.253	.027
Google Docs Group (n=40)	15.56	2.15			
Mean Difference	1.02				

Research Question 2: How did the students respond to collaborative writing activity using Google Docs?

According to Table 6, the overall mean score indicated students' positive attitudes towards collaborative writing activity using Google Docs (Mean = 3.70). The three highest scores of the students' attitudes fell on statements no. 6, 10, and 8 respectively. That is, the students had very positive attitudes towards sharing ideas with the other students (Mean = 4.70). Moreover, they expressed positive attitudes towards Google Docs' promoting collaborative learning environment (Mean = 4.20,) and on the increase of interaction with other students (Mean = 4.00). The lowest mean score of the questionnaire was statement no.7 showing that collaborative writing with Google Docs was perceived to promote knowledge information at a moderate level (Mean = 3.05).

 Table 6: Means and standard deviations of student attitudes toward collaborative writing activity using Google Docs.

Statement	Mean	S.D.				
1. I liked to see my peers interact with the content I had posted on Google Docs.	3.22	1.00				
2. I felt comfortable to see other students edit the content I had posted.	3.98	.77				
3. My group was able to come to a consensus by using Google Docs.	3.25	.82				
4. I learned to exchange information with other students via Google Docs.	3.48	.78				
5. The feedback and editing from peers were useful in improving my writing skill.	3.98	.80				
6. Google Docs helped me share ideas with the other students.	4.70	.61				
7. The use of Google Docs promoted knowledge information.	3.05	.78				
8. The use of Google Docs increased interaction with other students.	4.00	.82				
9. The use of Google Docs increased my motivation to study this course.	3.18	.93				
10. The use of Google Docs promoted collaborative learning environment.	4.20	.69				
Total	3.70	.25				

Research Question 3: How much cooperation did the students have in collaborative writing activity using Google Docs?

Students in the Google Docs group were asked to report how collaborative the group work was and how they evaluated their group performance. The findings revealed that students rated only two responses high (75%) and very high collaboration (25%) while they evaluated their group performance rather differently: moderate (22.5%) good (45%) and very good (32.5%). When asked about how difficult this activity was when it was done in groups out of class using Google Docs, nobody reported difficulties. The replies were classified into two types: easy (82.5%) and very easy (17.5%).



DISCUSSION

This study was undertaken to assess, via a pretest-posttest using a quasi-experimental design, the effect of collaborative writing activity using Google Docs had on students' writing abilities. The result of the independent samples t-test analysis from the post-test administration indicated that the Google Docs group had a better performance than the face-to-face group. This might be because of three main reasons: the collaboration method, special feature of Google Docs which motivated students to learn more efficiently, and more contribution to work. As for the collaboration method, students were provided with opportunities to read, review, and correct other members' writing. With constructive feedback they got from the student readers, the student writers are able to learn about their writing problems such as inappropriate language use, misspellings, wrong mechanics, not understandable text, and illogical organization. Comments from peers which can be used for reconsidering both ideas and organization can lead to meaningful revisions for the student writers. It can be said that collaborative revisions can improve language defects such as vocabulary, organization and content. The findings were found to be in accordance with many previous studies in that the use of constructive feedback can enhance the quality of student discussion responses (Ertmer & Stepich, 2004; Ciftci & Kocoglu, 2012). Second, in this study, it is clear that Google Docs plays an important role in student learning. It is the tool that supports students to help one another in learning without restriction of time and place. Students can gain knowledge by comparing two versions of a document hence, increasing understandings of how sentences should be corrected. While working together, students generate online materials that reflect what they have learned and show connections between their prior knowledge, the course content, and their personal experiences (Oxnevad, 2013). The tool helps students collaborate on written assignments more efficiently, finish more quickly as compared to Microsoft Word (Apple et al., 2011). A great number of edited texts and comments appearing in Google Docs proved that students did not hold a sense of private ownership. They were comfortable when their texts got edited or deleted. The finding of this study confirmed the effectiveness of web-based writing in the previous studies which found that online technology was more useful for improving students' learning outcomes (Chen, 2008; Chou & Chen, 2008; Raman, Ryan, & Olfman, 2005; Vaughan, 2008). Lastly, contribution to do the writing tasks which can be seen by the team members and teacher was one factor to put more effort in their work. Although students in the face-to-face group also received collaborative learning, working together in a classroom may not be as vivid as working with Google Docs. It is rather difficult to investigate how much effort students in a face-to-face environment put in terms of equal contribution. Individual contribution given to assignments may not be equal. For Google Docs, the students know that their teacher can check who works less or more throughout the learning process. As such, students in the Google Docs group were more serious about collaborating and willing to follow the group conventions and practices. This may affect the improvement of the two groups' writing abilities.

The constructive finding is also supported by a positive attitudes students had towards collaboration on writing assignments out of class using Google Docs (M = 3.70). This is probably because Google Docs makes collaboration easier. It is accessible to the general public, regardless of location, as long as the Internet is available (Oishi, 2007). The high level of attitude also supported the possibility of the adoption of Google Docsbased learning in other classrooms. When the items were considered, the emphasis was mostly placed on sharing ideas with the other students, promoting a collaborative learning environment, and having interaction with other students. This suggests that students placed a lot of importance on relationship among peers. The finding was consistent with previous studies in that students perceived Google Docs as a useful tool for group work (Brodahl, Hadjerrouit, & Hansen, 2011; Zhou, Simpson, & Domizi, 2012). However, other responses such as "promoting knowledge information" which was rated at a moderate level should not be ignored. Students thought that gaining knowledge through collaborative working with Google Docs was not that much. The finding was found to be in contrast with the higher scores which students gained in the post-test. This is probably because students were not well-informed about the goal of mutual web-based learning. So, the teacher should emphasize on how the collaborative writing activity using Google Docs will benefit their writing. Furthermore, providing enough comments and suggestions during the process of collaborative revisions is highly required to make students feel like gaining knowledge and going to the right way. Without this, they may have less confidence in editing other members' texts. Moreover, there might be some possible confounding variables that could affect the students' improvement such as inconvenience of using computers and expertise in using Google Docs. Even though in the present study students did not report any difficulties in using Google Docs at all, real understanding about how to work with Google Docs is necessary if similar activities are used again in the future courses. Students should be trained and practice on it frequently before the actual use. In addition, the finding showed how responsible the students were for their written assignments. Their collaboration was rated at high and very high levels. Students learned how to work together in team. In this study, Google Docs was seen as a kind of friendly user that they used to complete the tasks. This increased students' learning motivation and supported what Swain & Lapkin (1998) stated in that students who work in collaborative groups appeared to be satisfied with their classes, and their learning motivation improved respectively.



The implications from the findings of this study support that Google Docs is a useful tool that makes online learning environment possible. Language learners can gain knowledge in a democratic and relaxing atmosphere where they can judge whether the mistakes should be corrected and learn to accept the comments from others. This is very different from the conventional teacher feedback pedagogy which does not provide any choices for learners. However, this study was restrained by some limitations. Since this research was conducted in a classroom setting, the sample size was rather small. The low number of students and the fact that all of them were studying at a private university might not allow us to generalize across other contexts. Therefore, with limited samples, the generalizability of the findings should be interpreted with caution and may extend only to this immediate population. In addition, while participating in the treatments, students enrolled in this English course were required to develop other skills comprising, speaking, and reading as well. Thus, students were also exposed to other types of input besides writing skill. The time constraint may cause different effects on findings in the study. So, this issue should be taken into account.

SUGGESTIONS FOR FUTURE STUDIES

Further research studies can be conducted to compare the effects of collaborative writing between face-to-face and Google Docs methods on students' writing motivation. If students are satisfied with learning through technology, assigning students to work together outside class can help language teachers save time and facilitate students' learning. Apart from this, students' autonomy and critical thinking skills may be investigated when other educational technologies are used to compare with Google Docs. Students can gain a lot of benefits of blended learning when technology is applied more in language classrooms.

REFERENCES

- Apple, K. J., Reis-Bergan, M., Adams, A. H., & Saunders, G. (2011). Online tools to promote student collaboration. In D. S. Dunn, J. H. Wilson, J. Freeman, & J. R. Stowell (Eds.), *Getting connected: Best practices for technology enhanced teaching and learning in high education* (pp. 239-252). New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Banerjee, R. (2000). The benefits of collaborative learning. Retrieved October 8, 2011, from http://www.brighthub.com/education/k-12/articles/70619.aspx
- Black, A. (2005). The use of asynchronous discussion: Creating a text of talk. Contemporary Issues in Technology and Teacher Education, 5 (1). Retrieved October 3, 2005 from http://www.citejournal.org/vol5/iss1/languagearts/article1.cfm
- Blau, I., & Caspi, A. (2008). Don't edit, discuss! The influence of Wiki editing on learning experience and achievement. In D. Ben-Zvi (Ed.), *Innovative e-learning in higher education* (pp. 19-23). Haifa, Israel: University of Haifa.
- Brodahl, C., Hadjerrouit, S., & Hansen, N. (2011). Collaborative writing with web 2.0 technologies: Education students' perceptions. *Journal of Information Technology Education: Innovations in Practice*, 10, 73-103.
- Chen, Yu-ching. (2008). The effect of applying wikis in an English as a foreign language (EFL) class in Taiwan. Ph.D., University of Central Florida, 133 pages; AAT 3335337.
- Chinnery, G. (2008). ON THE NET You've Got some GALL: Google-Assisted Language Learning. *Language Learning and Technology*, *12*(1), 3-11.
- Chou, P. N., & Chen, H. H. (2008). Engagement in online collaborative learning: A case study using a web 2.0 tool. *Journal of Online Learning and Teaching*, 4(4), 574-582.
- Ciftci, H. & Kocoglu, Zeynep. (2012). Effects of peer e-feedback on Turkish EFL students' writing performance. *Journal of Education Computing Research*, 46(1), 61-84.
- Conner, N. (2008). Google Apps: The missing manual. Sebastopol, CA: O'Relly Media.
- Corgan, R., Hammer, V., Margolies, M., & Crossley, C. (2004). Making your online course successful. Business Education Forum, 58(3), 51-53.
- Coyle, J. E. JR. (2007). Wikis in the college classroom: A comparative study of online and face-to-face group collaboration at a private liberal arts university. PhD Dissertation. http://www.ohiolink.edu/etd/send-pdf.cgi/Coyle,%20James%20E.,%20Jr..pdf?acc_num=kent1175518380
- Elola, I., & Oskoz, A. (2010). Collaborative writing: Fostering foreign language and writing conventions development. *Language Learning & Technology*, 14(3), 51–71. Retrieved from http://llt.msu.edu/issues/october2010/elolaoskoz.pdf
- Ertmer, P., & Stepich, D. (2004). Examining the Relationship between Higher-order Learning and Students' Perceived Sense of Community in an Online Learning Environment. Paper presented at the 10th Australian World Wide Web conference, Gold Coast, Australia, December 12-15, 2004.
- Foote, E. (2009). Collaborative Learning in Community College. Retrieved April 20, 2011, from http://www.ericdigests.org /1998-1/ colleges.htm>.
- Haring-Smith, T. (1994). *Writing together: Collaborative learning in the writing classroom*. New York, NY: HarperCollins College Publishers.



- Hewitt, J., & Scardamalia, M. (1998). Design principles for distributed knowledge building processes. *Educational Psychology Review*, 10(1), 75–96.
- Kowal, M., & Swain, M. (1994). Using collaborative language production tasks to promote students' language awareness. *Language Awareness*, 3(2), 73–93.
- Lamy, M., & Hampel, R. (2007). Online communication in language learning and teaching. Basingstoke, UK: Palgrave Macmillan.

Lin, Y., & Jou, M. (2013). Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences, 103, 290-298.

- McMillan, J., & Schumacher, S. (1997). *Research in education: A conceptual introduction*. 4th ed. New York: Longman.
- MacDonald, J. (2006). Blended learning and online tutoring: A good practice guide. Aldershot, UK: Gower.
- Oxnevad, S. (2013). 6 Powerful Google Docs Features to Support the Collaborative Writing Process. Retrieved January 2, 2013 from http://www.tesl-ej.org/wordpress/issues/volume14/ej55/ej55m1/
- Perron, B., & Sellers, J. (2011). A review of the collaborative and sharing aspects of Google Docs. *Research on Social Work Practice*, 21, 489-490. doi:10.1177/1049731510391676
- Raman, M., Ryan, T., & Olfman, L. (2005). Designing knowledge management systems for teaching and learning with wiki technology. *Journal of Information Systems Education*, 16(3), 311-320.
- Rick, J., & Guzdial, M. (2006). Situating CoWeb: A scholarship of application. *International Journal of Computer-Supported Collaborative Learning*, 1(1), 89-115. doi:10.1007/s11412-006-6842-6
- Sharp, V. (2009). *Computer education for teachers: Integrating technology into classroom teaching* (6th ed). Hoboken, N.J.: John Wiley.
- Smith, B. L., & MacGregor, J. T. (2009). What is collaborative learning? National Center on Postsecondary Teaching, Learning and Assessment at Pennsylvania State University. Retrieved April 3, 2011, from http://learningcommons.evergreen.edu/pdf/collab.pdf
- Swain, M., & Lapkin, S. (1998). Interaction and second language learning: Two adolescent French immersion students working together. *The Modern Language Journal*, 82, 320–337.
- Thompson, J. (2008). Don't be afraid to explore Web 2.0. Education Digest, 74(4), 19-22.

Vaughan, N. (2008, March). Supporting deep approaches to learning through the use of wikis and weblogs. Paper presented at the Society for Information Technology and Teacher Education International Conference, Las Vegas, NV.

Vygotsky, L. S. (1978). Mind in society. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

Ware, P., & O'Dowd, R. (2008). Peer feedback on language form in telecollaboration. Language Learning & Technology, 12(1), 43–63. Retrieved from http://llt.msu.edu/vol12num1/wareodowd/ default.html

Wikipedia (2010). Google Docs. Retrieved November 4, 2010, from http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Google_Docs. Zhu, C. (2012). Student satisfaction, performance, and knowledge construction in online collaborative learning.

Educational Technology & Society, 15 (1), 127–136. Zhou, W., Simpson, E., & Domizi, D. (2012). Google Docs in an out-of-class collaborative writing activity. *International Journal of Teaching and Learning in Higher Education, 24*(3), 359-375.



THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN ATTITUDES OF PROSPECTIVE PHYSICAL EDUCATION TEACHERS TOWARDS EDUCATION TECHNOLOGIES AND COMPUTER SELF-EFFICACY BELIEFS

Yaprak KALEMOĞLU VAROL Aksaray University, Physical Education and Sport School Aksaray, Turkey yaprak81@gmail.com

ABSTRACT

The aim of research is to investigate the relationship between attitudes of prospective physical education teacher towards education technologies and their computer self-efficacy beliefs. Relational research method has been used in the study. Study group consists of 337 prospective physical education teachers ($M_{ave}=21.57\pm1.72$) in total, as 169 girl (50.1%) and 168 male (49.9%) students who get their education in the physical education department of four university. As tool of collecting data, "Technology Attitude Scale" and "Computer Self-Efficacy Belief Scale" have been used. In analysis, deductional statistics such as t-test belong to arithmetic mean differences, one-way analysis of variance, and correlation and regression analysis in independent groups alongside descriptive statistics. In research, it has been specified that attitudes towards education technologies has a medium level effect in on self-efficacy belief. It has also been seen that variables which constitute the subdimension of attitude towards technology explained 11% of total variance. In addition, it has been established that attitudes of prospective physical education teacher towards education technologies and their computer selfefficacy beliefs are in high level. While it has not been seen a meaningful difference in attitude towards technology depending on level of using computer and gender, it has been seen a meaningful difference according to having computer and class. On the other hand, it has not been seen a meaningful depending on gender in belief of computer self-sufficiency, it has been meaningful differences according to having computer variables and computer using level.

Keywords: Computer Self-Efficacy Beliefs, Attitudes Toward Educational Technology, Prospective Physical Education Teachers

INTRODUCTION

Advancements in science and technology are among the primary factors that affect structure of societies and, in particular, educational systems. Through rapid developments in technology, new equipment is being added to ones that would be able to use in education-learning process. The most important of these technological tools in education-learning activities in our day has been seen as computer (Akkoyunlu, 1998). With increasing function of computer in learning-teaching process, schools implement different applications with the aim of benefiting from computer technologies; all these studies express the importance of computer using skills (Askar & Umay, 2001). But Gawith (1995) has stated that one has the possibility not to that job if s/he has not got self-confidence even if s/he has ability to do. Bandura has expressed that success does not only depend on necessary skills to do a specific job, but it also requires effectively safe use of a skill (Qtd. in: Kurbanoglu, 2004). From this information, the effect of self-efficacy belief has got importance in revealing skills.

The concept of self-efficacy has been described as an individual's own judgement on himself about his/her capacity to organize and make successfully necessary activities to show a certain performance and a quality which is effective in constituting of behaviours (Bandura, 1997; Kear, 2000; Zimmerman, 1995). The belief of self-efficacy is a concept not about how an individual competent but his/her belief on his/her own abilities. This belief states how individuals feel themselves about a subject, what they thought, how they motivated themselves and how they behave (Akkoyunlu, Orhan & Umay, 2005). There are four basic sources determining self-efficacy. These resources: a) knowledge that individuals get their experiences, b) observations about other people's successful or unsuccessful practices, c) the effect of society on if s/he can be successful and d) psychological state regarding expectation achieving or being unsuccessful. Each source effects individuals' self-efficacy belief and self-efficacy belief has effect on performance by determining student's duty choice, strategy using and study insistence in relevant study (Bandura, 1994; Sewell & George, 2000).

The concept of self-efficacy has been adapted to many domains and has been used in different disciplines (Ekici, 2009; Kear, 2000; O'Leary, 1985; Schunk, 1985). A lof of studies have been carried out about computer self-efficacy belief which is one of the study fields (Sam, Othman & Nordin, 2005; Khorrami-Arani, 2001; Zehir-Topkaya, 2010; Karsten & Roth, 1998). Computer self- efficacy belief has been described as individual's own judgment regarding on him/her (Karsten & Roth, 1998). This belief effects expectation towards individual's computer using. Because individual whose self- efficacy belief is low will not find himself/herself efficacy in using computer and, therefore, will tend to use computer less. On the other hand, while high computer self-



efficacy increases individual's frequency of using technology it will decrease their computer related concerns (Khorrami-Arani, 2001). Studies on this subject have revealed that individuals whose computer self- efficacy belief are high have more willingness in participating activities relating computer and that it is easier for them to cope when they are challenged by a difficulty (Compeau & Higgins 1995; Karsten & Roth, 1998). In another study, it has been established that self- efficacy of students who get computer lesson during their education in high school and university regarding computer has improved positively (Miura, 1997, In: Askar and Umay, 2001). On the other hand, Murphy and his friends (1989) have stated that computer self- efficacy belief has a positive relationship with participating in activities regarding computer, hoping success, being consistent and patient when confronted with a negative situation regarding computer and computer performance. The study carried by Askar and Umay (2001) with prospective mathematics teacher has shown that students' self- efficacy beliefs against computer are low. Students' self-efficacy belief against computer has also given high relation with their computer experience and using frequency.

In literature, it has been expressed that self- efficacy towards a specific domain would affect those individuals' attitudes and behaviours towards that domain (Ipek & Acuner, 2011). As Yurdugul and Askar (2008) states, one of the main factors on success of students in a certain domain or forming a learning program design is "attitude" variable towards learning products. Attitudes form human behaviours with different ways, determines daily activities and forms behaviours like humans' accepting or leaving (Rikard & Banville, 2006).Various definitions made on literature on attitude concept and these definitions have expressed different sides of attitude concept. Smith (1968) describes attitude as "an inclination which attributed to an individual and which regularly constitutes his/her thinking, feeling and behaviours regarding a psychological event (Qtd. in Kagitcibasi, 1999). According to Safrit and Wood (1995); a situation is a special feeling felt against a situation, person or activity. Tezbasaran (1997) has expressed the attitude as inclination to make a reaction, either positive or negative, to certain object, situation, institution, concept or other people.

From this point, it could be said that, self- efficacy belief in individuals regarding computer will not be sufficient alone, however, attitude towards computer and therefore technology might have effect on computer self- efficacy belief. In terms of future of societies, all societies, particularly most developed ones, are in effort to give their individuals a quality education by using technology in education which is one of the most important domain in which technology was used (MEB, 2004). Technology was seen as an indicator of high quality in education by many educator, teacher, researcher, therefore the importance of technology integration in schools will increase. Therefore, in order to grow individuals who access to the knowledge and use this knowledge teachers have effectively to use technologic equipment (computer, internet, etc.) and have these skills (Erdemir & Bakirci, 2009). When considered all these results, the necessity of knowing students' attitudes and ideas towards technologic equipment (Yavuz & Coskun, 2008). That teachers who consist of human power source of educational system gain relevant sufficiency is important on the name of keeping up with time, developing technology, consisting of a future that has a high welfare level and growing students with this aim (Odabasi & Kabakci, 2007). That teacher use technology in learning environment will cause students' success to increase. The attitude and self-confidence of prospective teachers to use technology when they started their profession play an important role in whether students use technology in learning environment and therefore in student success (Christanse, 2002; McGrail, 2005). In various domains, studies were carried out with the aim of determining the attitudes of candidate teachers towards technology (Yavuz & Coskun, 2008; Yilmaz, Ulucan & Pehlivan, 2010; Erdemir, Bakirci & Eyduran, 2009; Teo, 2008; Ipek & Acuner, 2011). In the study carried by Yavuz and Coskun (2008) with primary school teachers, it has been established that students use technologic equipment in teaching to increase students' attitude positively and has been determined that students have positive ideas about using technology. In the study was carried out by Erdemir and his friends (2009) with students of primary school mathematics, science, social sciences, pre-school, class and Turkish teaching students, while prospective teachers do not feel themselves sufficient in using internet, computer with the aim of teaching, they stated that they were sufficient to use searching motors, can prepare simple materials, can't prepare complex and multi-purposeful teaching devices. Also, in the self- efficacy of using technology with the aim of teaching, it has been concluded that woman prospective teachers are in better level than man prospective teachers. Also, it has been expressed to the prospective teachers that with individual research and project home works which requires use of individual research and project home works this difference can be erased. In the studies which are carried by Teo (2008) with prospective teachers, it has been found that there was a positive relationship between attitude towards computer and attitude towards education technology. Yılmaz and his friends (2010), in their study they determined the attitude of prospective physical education teachers toward technology has determined that using technological materials in teaching affected students attitude scores in a positive way. In the study carried out by Ipek and Acuner (2011), it has been observed that the prospective primary school teachers' computer self- efficacy beliefs can be forecasted in a statistically meaningful level from their attitudes toward education technologies. On the other hand, it has been concluded that computer self-



efficacy beliefs of male prospective teachers are higher than that of females and that computer self- efficacy beliefs of prospective teachers who have a computer are higher than that of those who have not got.

When studies regarding attitudes investigated, it has been seen that studies were usually carried out with mathematics, science, social sciences and that prospective primary school teachers and studies on physical education is limited. In fact, that teachers' who will exercise the lesson attitudes towards technology, ideas, ability to use equipment is extremely important for getting maximum benefits at highest level from physical education lessons that play an important role in terms of realizing the aim of education within education system. Also Yaman (2007) has stated that physical education teachers have to develop their knowledge and skills in order to use computers as teaching tools and support and guide students to use these technologies for learning. Together with this, when considered that self- efficacy belief and attitude towards computer is important in terms of individuals' professional success (Ipek & Acuner, 2011); it has been thought that investigating the relationship between computer self- efficacy belief and education teachers' toward using technologic equipment and to investigate computer self- efficacy according to other valuables (gender, class, having a computer and level of using computer) and to determine that attitude towards education technology, computer self- efficacy predicate power.

METHOD

In research, relational research model has been used. In research, relationship between attitude of prospective physical education teacher toward using technology in education and computer self- efficacy belief and whether or not relation has shown difference according to gender, class, having computer and level of using computer have been investigated.

Study Group

Research group was constituted by 337 prospective physical education teacher ($M_{age}=21.57\pm1.72$) who were chosen by random sample and who take their education at four universities' department of physical education and sport. Descriptive statistics belong to research group was given at Table 1.

	Tuble 1. Descriptive su	atistics regarding the study group	
Variables		Ν	%
Condon	Female	169	50,1
Gender	Male	168	49,9
	1. Grade	97	28,8
Crada	2. Grade	67	19,9
Graue	3. Grade	63	18,7
	4. Grade	110	32,6
Having computer	Yes	281	83,4
Having computer	No	56	16,6
Using computer level	High	91	27,0
	Middle	212	62,9
	Lower	34	10,1

Table 1. Descriptive statistics regarding the study group

Data Collection Tools

As tool for collecting, individual information form, "Technology Attitude Scale" and "Computer Self-Efficacy Belief Scale" have been used.

Individual Information Form: In this form, there are articles regarding students' features who participated in the research such as their class where they are taught, the situation of having computer and their level of using computer.

Technology Attitude Scale: The scale improved by Soner Yavuz (2005) has been constituted by 5 factors. Factors in scale has been named as "not using technological tools in education", "using technological tools in education", "the effects of technology in educational life", "teaching how to use technological tools" and "evaluating technological tools". In sample, there are 19 articles of which 6 are negative and 13 are positive. For instance, Cronbach Alpha reliability coefficient as .87. Articles in scale's total correlations estimated for item discrimination and item difficulty has changed between .24 - .68. Scale is 5 point Likert type scale in the way following (1) I definitely disagree, (2) I disagree, (3) I am neutral, (4) I agree, (5) I definitely agree. According to this, a value from 5 to 1 respectively is given to options of positive items while a value from 1 to 5 is given to negative options respectively, thus all options ere coded.



Computer Self-Efficacy Belief Scale: The scale developed by Askar and Umay (2001) is consisted by 18 items. For instance, Cronbach Alpha reliability coefficient was estimated as .71. Scale is 5 point Likert type scale which is graded as (1) is never, (5) is always for positive items and for negative items (1) is always, (5) is never. When items' discrimination was estimated, items discrimination of most of items is understood to be high.

Analysis of Data

Before analysing of research data, the distribution was seen. It has been determined research data suits to normal distribution by Kolmogorov-Smirnov of Lilliefors test, Histogram graphic and normal distribution curve and Skewness and Kurtosis. In research, primarily overall arithmetic value of items took place in each sub-scale was estimated and a score for that factor was determined. Analysis was carried via this factor points. In the analysis of data descriptive statistics (number, percentage, arithmetic medium and standard deviation); with the aim of determining difference between dependent and independent variables; and t Test and one-way variance analysis (One-Way-Anova) for independent groups; with the aim of determining relation Pearson Product Moment Correlation Co-efficient technique was used. In the one way variance analysis (Anova), Tukey post-hoc test was carried with the aim of finding in which groups are inter unit differences. Together with this, Multi Linear Regression Analysis was carried out with the aim of determining attitude toward education technologies' prediction power of computer self-sufficiency belief. In this analysis, each of attitude toward technology scale sub-factor scores has taken as dependent variable and computer self-sufficiency belief scale is taken as dependent variable. In the interpretation of data, 0.01 and 0.05 significant level was used. Research data was analysed with SPSS 17 program.

FINDINGS

Arithmetic medium and standard deviations regarding attitude of prospective physical education teacher toward education technologies and computer self- efficacy beliefs are given in Table 2.

Table 2. Attitude toward education technology and computer self-efficacy belief scores

Dimension	Ν	\overline{X}	SD
Technology attitude	337	72.48	12.168
Computer self-efficacy beliefs	337	61.29	9.996

When Table 2 is investigated, arithmetic medium of prospective physical education teachers was estimated $M_{\text{self-efficacy}}=61.29$ and medium score regarding attitudes toward education technologies was estimated as $M_{\text{attitude}}=72.48$.

Attitude and Computer Self-Efficacy Belief Toward According to Gender Variable

Primarily homogeneity test was carried out to determine whether computer self-efficacy beliefs and attitudes of prospective physical education teachers towards education technologies are differentiated according to gender variable and it has been seen that variances are homogeny. In this direction, t-test belong to arithmetic medium was carried out in independent groups (Table 3).

Dimension	Gender	n	\overline{X}	SD	Df	t	р
Not using technological tools in	Female	169	19.31	4.595	225	-0.766	444
education	Male	168	19.61	3.982	555		.444
Using technological tools in advaction	Female	169	15.37	3.332	225	1.010	212
Using technological tools in education	Male	168	14.98	3.756	555	1.010	.515
The effects of technology in educational	Female	169	14.92	2.709	225	-1.254	211
life	Male	168	15.56	6.012	555		.211
Teaching how to use technological tools	Female	169	14.71	3.778	225	-1.339	100
reaching now to use technological tools	Male	168	15.22	3.278	333		.182
Evaluating technological tools	Female	169	7.62	1.876	335	10/	846
Evaluating technological tools	Male	168	7.58	1.714	333	.194	.040
Technology attitude total	Female	169	71.94	11.422	335	-0.816	415
Technology attitude total	Male	168	73.02	12.888	333	-0.810	.415
Computer self-efficeev beliefs	Female	169	60.85	10.138	335	-0.808	420
Computer sen-enneacy benefs	Male	168	61.73	9.861	555	-0.008	.420

	Table 3. Attitude toward education	technologies and c	computer self-efficacy	v belief according t	o gender variable
--	------------------------------------	--------------------	------------------------	----------------------	-------------------



When Table 3 is investigated; in the total score of prospective physical education teachers toward education technologies ($M_{male}=73.02$; $M_{female}=71,94$) and in computer self-efficacy belief ($M_{male}=61.73$; $M_{female}=60.85$) a meaningful difference has not been seen according to gender (p>.05).

Computer Self-Efficacy Belief and Attitude towards Education Technology According to Grade Variable

Primarily homogeneity test was carried out to determine whether computer self-efficacy beliefs and attitudes of prospective physical education teachers towards education technologies are differentiated according to grade variable and it has been seen that variances are homogeny. In this direction, one-way variance analysis was made (ANOVA). (Table 4)

Dimension	Grade	n	\overline{X}	SD	Df	F	р	Tukey HSD
	1	97	19.07	3.854	_			
Not using technological tools in	2	67	19.26	4.863	2	1 0 1 1	127	
education	3	63	20.63	4.151	3	1.711	.127	
	4	110	19.34	4.333	-			
	1	97	14.93	3.529	_			
Using technological tools in education	2	67	14.61	2.953	2	2.056	022	
	3	63	14.74	4.482	5	2.930	.055	
	4	110	15.98	3.188	-			
	1	97	14.85	2.268				1 . 0
The effects of technology in	2	67	17.26	8.640	2	5 551	001*	1 < 2
educational life	3	63	14.47	3.078	3	5.554	.001	2 > 3 2 > 4
-	4	110	14.80	2.948				2 > 4
	1	97	14.29	3.553				
Teaching how to use technological	2	67	14.89	3.477	2	0 105	.090	
tools	3	63	15.68	3.775	- 3	2.165		
-	4	110	15.19	3.374	-			
-	1	97	7.46	1.677		1.389	.246	
Evoluting to the algorithm land	2	67	7.35	1.524	2			
Evaluating technological tools	3	63	7.61	1.772	3			
	4	110	7.86	2.034	-			
Technology attitude total	1	97	70.62	9.886	3 1.06	1.065	264	
	2	67	73.40	14.852				
	3	63	73.15	11.119		1.005	.304	
	4	110	73.18	12.733				
	1	97	59.32	9.864			000*	
Computer self officery baliefs	2	67	65.23	12.094	2	7 210		1<2
Computer sen-enicacy beliefs	3	63	58.34	9.712	3	7.510	.000*	2>3
	4	110	62.30	7.813				

Tablo 4. Computer Self-Efficacy Belief and Attitude towards Education Technology According to Grade Variable

*p<0.05

When table 4 is investigated, attitude scale towards education technologies, in the sub-dimension "the effects of technology in educational life", it has been noted that there were important differences. According to this; medium score of first grade prospective physical education teachers ($\overline{X} = 14.85$) is lower than that of second grade prospective teachers ($\overline{X} = 17.26$). However, medium scores of candidates of second grade ($\overline{X} = 17.26$) are higher than that of third ($\overline{X} = 14.47$) and fourth grade ($\overline{X} = 14.80$) prospective teachers are higher than medium scores.

Again, it has been determined that computer self-efficacy belief of prospective teachers has shown meaningful differences. According to this, it has been seen that medium scores of first grade prospective teachers (\overline{X} =59.32), is lower than that of second grade (\overline{X} =65.23), and medium scores of second grade prospective teachers (\overline{X} =65.23) is larger than that of third grade (\overline{X} =58.34).



Computer Self-Sufficiency Belief and Attitudes toward Education Technologies According to Level of Using Computer

Primarily homogeneity test was carried out to determine whether computer self-efficacy beliefs and attitudes of prospective physical education teachers towards education technologies are differentiated according to level of using computer variable and it has been seen that variances are homogeny. In this direction, one way variance analysis (ANOVA) has been carried (Table 5).

Tablo 5. Computer self-efficacy belief and attitudes toward education technologies according to level of using computer

								Tuke
Dimension	Düzey	n	\overline{X}	SD	Df	F	р	y HSD
Not using technological tools in	High	91	19.56	4.206	_			
education	Middle	212	19.69	3.931	2	2.240	.108	
cuteation	Lower	34	18.02	6.210			p .108 .099 .014 .015 .332 .013	
Using technological tools in	High	91	14.59	3.744	_			
education	Middle	212	15.49	3.366	2	2.329	.099	
cudeation	Lower	34	14.76	3.985				
The offects of technology in	High	91	14.40	2.902	_			
advectional life	Middle	212	15.80	5.264	2	4.304	.014	
educational me	Lower	34	14.00	3.954			.014 .015	
Tagahing how to use taghnological	High	91	15.41	3.718	_			
tools	Middle	212	15.02	3.263	2	4.250	.015	
10013	Lower	34	13.38	4.334				
	High	91	7.60	1.645	_			
Evaluating technological tools	Middle	212	7.66	1.726	2	1.107	.332	
	Lower	34	7.17	2.479				
	High	91	71.58	11.253	_			
Technology attitude total	Middle	212	73.69	11.771	2	4.415	.013	
	Lower	34	67.35	15.411				
	High	91	65.27	10.621	_			V> O
Computer self-efficacy beliefs	Middle	212	60.58	9.161	2	15.621	.000*	1>0 V∖D
- •	Lower	34	55.05	9.270				1/0

*p<0.05

When table 4 is investigated, attitude scale towards education technologies, in the sub-dimension "the effects of technology in educational life", it has been noted that there were important differences.

It has been established that self-efficacy of prospective teachers has shown meaningful differences according to level of using computer. According to this, it has been seen that high scores of prospective teachers who can use computer ($\overline{X} = 65.27$) is larger than that of prospective teachers who can use computer in middle ($\overline{X} = 60.58$) and lower levels ($\overline{X} = 55.05$).

Computer Self-Efficacy Belief and Attitude toward Education Technologies According to Having Computer

Primarily homogeneity test was carried out to determine whether computer self-efficacy beliefs and attitudes of prospective physical education teachers towards education technologies are differentiated according to having computer variable and it has been seen that variances are homogeny. T-test was carried out belonged to arithmetical mediums in independent groups in this direction.



Dimension	Bilgisayar a Sahip	n	\overline{X}	SD	Df	t	р
Not using technological tools in	Yes	281	19.72	4.150	- 225	2 211	028
education	No	56	18.33	4.855	333	2.211	.028
Using technological tools in advaction	Yes	281	15.39	3.420	225	2 522	012
Using technological tools in education	No	56	14.08	4.001	- 333	2.333	.012
The effects of technology in	Yes	281	15.32	4.859	- 335	.652	515
educational life	No	56	14.87	3.526			.515
Teaching how to use technological	Yes	281	15.27	3.266	- 335	3.667	.000*
tools	No	56	13.41	4.401			
Evaluating technological tools	Yes	281	7.83	1.661	335	5 502	000*
Evaluating technological tools	No	56	6.44	1.999	555	5.502	.000
Technology attitude total	Yes	281	73.54	11.652	225	2 652	000*
Technology attitude total	No	56	67.16	13.368	- 333	5.052	.000
Computer calf office or baliefs	Yes	281	62.25	9.660	225	1 0 1 6	000*
Computer sen-encacy benefs	No	56	56.46	10.337	- 333	4.040	.000*
0.05							

Table 6. Computer self-efficacy belief and attitude toward education technologies according to having computer

p>0.05

When table 6 is investigated, it has been established that there was a meaningful differences in attitude scale total scores according to education technologies and sub-dimensions of "teaching how to use technological tools" and "evaluating technological tools". According to this, it has been seen that medium scores of prospective teacher who has a computer ($M_{\text{teaching}}=15.27$, $M_{\text{evaluation}}=7.83$, $M_{\text{total}}=73.54$) is larger than that of those who hasn't got a computer ($M_{\text{teaching}}=13.41$, $M_{\text{evaluation}}=6.44$, $M_{\text{total}}=67.16$). Meaningful differences have not been seen in other lower dimensions of attitude scales toward education technologies (p>.05).

It has been established that there are meaningful differences according to computer self-efficacy of prospective teachers according to variables of having computer According to this, medium scores of prospective teacher who have computer (\overline{x} =62.25) is higher than that of those who have not a computer (\overline{x} =56.46).

Relationship between Attitude toward Education Technologies and Computer Self-Efficacy Belief

The relationship between computer self-efficacy beliefs and attitudes of prospective physical education teachers toward education technologies has been tried to be determined and analysis results were given in Table 7.

			0			
Variables	Α	В	С	D	Ε	F
Not using technological tools in	1					
education (A)	1					
Using technological tools in education (B)	.134*	1				
The effects of technology in educational life (C)	.179**	.388**	1			
Teaching how to use technological tools (D)	.296**	.578**	.248**	1		
Evaluating technological tools (E)	.208**	.561**	.300**	.648**	1	
Computer self-efficacy beliefs (F)	.223**	.347**	.088	.281**	.191**	1
Mean	19.49	15.17	15.24	14.96	7.60	61.29
Standart Deviations	4.298	3.550	4.662	3.542	1.795	9.996
*p<0.05 **p<0.01						

When Table 7 is examined, it has been seen that "not using technological tools in education" (r=.223; p<.01), "teaching how to use technological tools" (r=.281; p<.01) and "evaluating technological tools" (r=.191, p<.01) sub-dimensions of attitude scale toward education technologies have a relationship with computer self-efficacy



belief in lower level and positive way. However, it has been stated that "using technological tools in education" (r=.347; p<.01) sub-dimension has a positive relationship with computer self-efficacy belief in middle level.

It has been tried to determine predicting power of computer self-efficacy believes and attitudes toward education technologies and results of analysis is given in Table 8. In analysis, each of sub-factor points of attitude scales toward education technologies was taken as independent variable; computer self-efficacy belief was taken as dependent variable.

Table 8. The result of analysis regarding predicting computer self-efficacy belief									
Variables	В	Standard Error	ß	t	р	Dual r	Partial r		
Constant	42.388	3.236		13.099	.000				
Not using technological tools in education	0.383	0.127	0.165	3.006	.003**	.223	.163		
Using technological tools in education	0.445	0.195	0.158	2.278	.023	.247	.124		
The effects of technology in educational life	-0.075	0.122	-0.035	-0.616	.539	.088	034		
Teaching how to use technological tools	0.479	0.209	0.170	2.288	.023	.281	.125		
Evaluating technological tools	-0.175	0.399	-0.031	-0.438	.662	.191	024		
$\mathbf{R} = 0.338$		$\mathbf{R}^2 = 0.114$							
F = 8.543		p = .000							

**p<0.01

When findings in Table 8 is investigated, prediction equation of sub-dimensions of attitude scale toward education technologies is important (R=0.338; p<.01). Variables consisting sub-dimension of attitude scale explains %11 of total variance. The relative order of importance of predictive variables according to standardized regression coefficient (β) is in the following way: teaching how to use technological tools, not using technological tools in education, using technological tools in education, the effects of technology in educational life and evaluating technological tools

When the results regarding meaningful of regression coefficient is investigated, it has been seen that the subdimension of "not using technological tools in education" is an important and meaningful predictive on computer self-sufficiency believes. It has been seen that the sub-dimensions of "Teaching how to use technological tools", "using technological tools in education", "the effects of technology in educational life" and "evaluating technological tools" are not meaningful and important predictive.

CONCLUSION

According to findings obtained in research, the attitudes prospective physical education teachers toward education technology realized in high level (Table 2). This finding has shown parallelism with some studied in which attitudes toward education technology was determined (Yavuz & Coskun, 2008; Arslan, 2008; Basarici & Ural, 2009; Yılmaz et al., 2010). On the other hand, another finding obtained from research, computer self-efficacy beliefs have realized in prospective physical education teachers in high level again (Table 2). While this result shows parallelism with some study results (Arslan, 2008; Orhan, 2005); does not coincide with some studies' results (Askar & Umay, 2001; Yilmaz, Gercek, Koseoglu & Soran, 2006) When considered that self-efficacy belief directly created a positive effect on intention to use computer and accept technology (Hu, Clark & Ma, 2003), it could be said that qualities of prospective physical education teachers to use computer and knowledge technologies on their lessons in future and various education qualities could be higher.

It has not been seen a meaningful difference between male and female prospective teachers when their attitudes toward education technologies was considered (Table 3). This finding has shown parallelism with many studies (Ipek & Acuner, 2011; Basarici & Ural, 2009; Celik & Bindak, 2005; Yilmaz et. al, 2007). In a similar way, it has not been seen a meaningful difference between males and females when computer self-efficacy beliefs of prospective teachers are investigated (Table 3). While this finding shows similarity with many studies (Yilmaz and et. al, 2006; Ozcelik & Kurt, 2007), it does not coincide with results of many others (Cetin, 2008; Busch, 1995; Tekinarslan, 2008; Erdemir, Bakirci & Eyduran, 2009; Orhan & Akkoyunlu, 2003). Cetin (2008), in his study he carried out with prospective primary school teachers, has stated a meaningful difference in favour of male prospective teacher in computer self-efficacy beliefs scores. In a similar way, it has been observed in study



carried out by Tekinarslan (2008) with prospective teachers who receive education in different department in education faculty that self-efficacy of males are higher than that of females in basic technology skills and advance computer technology. As different from other studies, in the studies carried out by Erdemir and et al. with prospective teachers who receive education in departments of primary school mathematics, science, social sciences, pre-school, school and Turkish teaching it has been established that computer self-efficacy beliefs of female prospective teachers are higher than that of male. But when it is considered that the studies which do not coincide with research finding are high in number, it is needed that too many studies have to be carried out in order to determine whether computer self-efficacy beliefs are differentiated according to gender.

It has not been seen a meaningful difference in attitudes of prospective physical education teachers toward education technologies except for sub-dimension of "the effects of technology in educational life" when it is considered according to class variable (Table 4). In sub-dimension of "the effects of technology in educational life", it has been seen that medium scores of first grade prospective teacher is lower than that of second grade. Medium scores of second grade prospective teacher have been estimated as higher than that of both third and fourth grade prospective teachers. Obay and Ozgen (2008) has established that taking lesson of teaching technologies and material improving has created a positive effect in attitudes of prospective teachers toward education technology. When it is thought that computer lesson is given at second grade and teaching technologies lesson is given at third grade, the finding we obtained from our study is an unexpected study. It could be thought that this result was caused by positive experiences of prospective physical education teachers regarding education technologies in previous years.

When computer self-efficacy beliefs of prospective physical education teachers are investigated in terms of variable of class, it has been seen that medium score of first grade prospective teachers are lower than that of second grade prospective teachers. However, it has been seen that medium score of second grade prospective teachers are higher than that of third grade teachers (Table 4). In the study carried out by Cetin, it has been seen that self-efficacy beliefs of candidates of class teaching regarding computer has changed according to the class in which they receive education in a meaningful way. Conversely, Yilmaz and his friends (2006) have not established a meaningful difference between computer self-efficacy beliefs of biology teaching students according to class in which they receive their education. Askar and Umay (2001) have expressed that inexperience and inadequate using of computer has caused that students' self-efficacy against computer is low. Since it is informed that computer self-efficacy is closely related to using computer (Hu and et. al., 2003; Decker, 1998), it can be thought that second grade prospective teachers take computer lesson which is compulsory at second grade and that computer take place in every stage of our lives as a result of rapid spread of computer technologies.

It has not been seen meaningful differences in terms of level of using computer in sub-dimensions and total scores of attitude scale of prospective physical education teachers toward education technologies (Table 5). When computer self-efficacy beliefs of prospective teachers are investigated in terms of level of using computer, it has been seen that medium scores of prospective teachers who can use computer in high level is larger than that of prospective teacher who can use the computer at middle and lower level (Table 5).

It has been established that there are meaningful differences according to situation of having a computer in subdimensions of "teaching how to use technological tools" and "evaluating technological tools" with attitude scale total score toward education technologies of prospective physical education teachers. According to this; it has been seen that prospective teachers having computer are larger than that of those who have not got a computer (Table 6). When the computer self-efficacy beliefs is investigated according to situation of having a computer, the medium scores of prospective teachers who have a computer is higher than that of those who have not got a computer. This finding has shown parallelism with the result of many studies (Askar & Umay, 2001; Celik & Bindak, 2005; Ipek & Acuner, 2011; Tekinarslan, 2008). Since computer self-efficacy is closely related with using computer (Hu et al., 2001; Decker, 1998) and ,as Askar and Umay (2001) stated, inexperience and using computer in inadequate level, that individuals who have computer have a high self-efficacy is an expected situation.

When relationship between sub-dimensions of attitude scales toward education technologies and self-efficacy belief was investigated (Table 7), it has been seen that the sub-dimensions of "not using technological tools in education", "teaching how to use technological tools" and "evaluating technological tools" have a lower level positive relation. However, it has been stated that the sub-dimension of "using technological tools in education" have a middle level positive relation with computer self-sufficiency belief. In a similar way, in the study carried



out by Arslan (2008), it has been found a positive and middle level relationship between self-efficacy and attitude toward realizing computer supported education.

In research, it has been determined that sub-dimensions of attitude scale towards education technologies have an effect magnitude in a middle level on computer self-efficacy belief (Table 8). Also, the effect of level of attitude toward education technologies on computer self-efficacy belief is explained with a rate of 11%. In the light of all these results, it has been determined that computer self-efficacy beliefs have an effect magnitude on attitude toward education technologies in low level. This result has shown similarity with the study carried out by Ipek and Acuner (2011) with candidates of class teaching, it has been seen that the attitude of prospective teacher toward education technologies could explain only 3% of variance in computer self-efficacy beliefs. In their study with prospective primary school teacher and social science teachers, Usta and Korkmaz (2010) has shown that a positive increase was seen in attitudes toward using technology in education. Again in a similar way, it has been concluded that there is a middle level and positive relation between computer self-efficacy beliefs and attitudes of prospective teachers toward computer supported education. From this point of view, if there is an increasing in attitude or self-efficacy belief it could be said that the other would decrease in case of decreasing. It also could be said that steps to be taken to increase the self-efficacy belief or attitude would increase the other; the factors that would decrease a variable would decrease the other. Therefore, it is needed to consider this relationship while regulating education environments.

REFERENCES

- Akkoyunlu, B. (1998). Bilgisayar ve eğitimde kullanılması. *Çağdaş Eğitimde Yeni Teknolojiler*. Eskişehir: Anadolu Üniversitesi Açık Öğretim Fakültesi Yayınları, 33-45.
- Akkoyunlu, B., & Orhan, F. (2003). Bilgisayar ve öğretim teknolojileri eğitimi (BÖTE) bölümü öğrencilerinin bilgisayar kullanma öz yeterlik inancı ile demografik özellikleri arasındaki ilişki. *The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology*, 2 (3), 86-93.
- Akkoyunlu, B., Orhan, F., & Umay, A. (2005). A study on developing teacher self efficacy scale for computer teachers. *Hacettepe University Journal of Education*, 29, 1-8.
- Arslan, A. (2008). Öğretmen adaylarının bilgisayar destekli eğitim yapmaya yönelik tutumları ve öz yeterlik algıları arasındaki ilişki. *Elektronik Sosyal Bilimler Dergisi*, 7(24), 101-109.
- Aşkar, P., & Umay, A. (2001). Perceived computer self-efficacy of the students in the elementary mathematics teaching programme. *Hacettepe University Journal of Education*. 21, 1-8.
- Bandura. A. (1994). Self-efficacy. (Ed. V.S. Ramachaudran) Encylopedia of Human Behaviour, 4, 71 -78.
- Bandura, A. (1997). Self-efficacy: The exercise of control. New York: Freeman.
- Başarıcı, R., & Ural, A. (2009). Bilgisayar öğretmen adaylarının bilgisayar destekli eğitime yönelik tutumları, International Online Journal of Educational Sciences, 1(1), 165-176.
- Busch, T. (1995). Gender differences in self-efficacy and attitudes toward computers, *Journal of Educational Computing Research*, 12(2), 147-158
- Christanse, R. (2002). Effects of technology integration education on the attitudes of teachers and students. *Journal of Research on Technology in Education*, 34(4) 411-434.
- Compeau, D.R., & Higgins, C.A. (1995) Computer self-efficacy: Development of a measure and initial test. MIS Quarterly, 19 (2), 189-212.
- Çelik, H.C., & Bindak, R. (2005). İlköğretim okullarında görev yapan öğretmenlerin bilgisayara yönelik tutumlarının çeşitli değişkenlere göre incelenmesi. İnönü Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi, 6(10), 27–38.
- Çetin, B. (2008). Marmara Üniversitesi sınıf öğretmeni adaylarının bilgisayarla ilgili öz-yeterlik algılarının incelenmesi, *Dicle Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi*, 11, 101-114.
- Decker, C. A., (1998). Training transfer: Perceptions of computer use self-efficacy among university employees, Journal of Vocational and Technical Education, 14(2), 1-14
- Ekici, G. (2009). Biyoloji öz-yeterlik ölçeğinin Türkçeye uyarlanması. *Kastamonu Eğitim Dergisi*, 17(1), 111-124.
- Erdemir, N., & Bakırcı, H. (2009). Fen bilgisi öğretmen adaylarının branşlara karşı tutum gelişim ve değişimi. Kastamonu Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi, 17(1), 161-170.
- Erdemir, N., Bakırcı, H., & Eyduran, E. (2009). Öğretmen adaylarının eğitimde teknolojiyi kullanabilme özgüvenlerinin tespiti. *Türk Fen Eğitimi Dergisi*, 6(3), 99-108.
- Hu, P.J., Clark, T.H.K., & Ma, W.W. (2003) Examining technology acceptance by school teachers: A longitudinal study. *Information & Management*, 41(2), 227-241.
- İpek, C., & Acuner, H. Y. (2011). Sınıf öğretmeni adaylarının bilgisayar öz-yeterlik inançları ve eğitim teknolojilerine yönelik tutumları. *Ahi Evran Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi*, 12(2), 23-40.
- Kağıtçıbaşı, C. (1999). Yeni İnsan ve İnsanlar Sosyal Psikolojiye Giriş. İstanbul: Evrim Yayınevi, Sosyal Psikoloji Dizisi:1.



Karsten, R., & Roth, M.R. (1998). The relationship of computer experience and computer self-efficacy to performance in introductory computer literacy courses. *Journal of Research on Technology Education*,. 31(1), 14-24.

Kear, M. (2000). Concept analysis of self-efficacy. Graduate Research in Nursing, 13(1), 142-156.

Khorrami-Arani, O. (2001). Researching computer self-efficacy. International Educational Journal, 2(4), 17-25.

Kurbanoğlu, S.S. (2004). Öz-yeterlik inancı ve bilgi profesyonelleri için önemi. Bilgi Dünyası, 5(2), 137-152.

McGrail, E. (2005). Teachers, technology and change: English teachers' perspectives. *Journal of Technology and Teacher Education*, 13(1), 5-24.

- Milli Eğitim Bakanlığı (MEB), (2004). İlköğretim fen ve teknoloji dersi (4-5. sınıflar) öğretim programı, Ankara: Devlet Kitapları Müdürlüğü Basımevi.
- Murphy, C.A., Coover, D., & Owen, S.V. (1989) Development and validation of the computer self-efficacy scale. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 49, 893-899.
- O'Leary, A. (1985). Self-efficacy and health. Behavioral Research & Technology, 23, 437-451.
- Odabaşı, H. F., & Kabakçı, I. (2007). Öğretmenlerin mesleki gelişimlerinde bilgi ve iletişim teknolojileri. Uluslararası Öğretmen Yetiştirme Politikaları ve Sorunları Sempozyumu, Bakü, Azerbaycan.
- Orhan, F. (2005). Bilgisayar öğretmen adaylarının, bilgisayar kullanma öz-yeterlik inancı ile bilgisayar öğretmenliği öz-yeterlik inancı üzerine bir çalışma. *Eğitim Araştırmaları*, (21), 173-186.

Özçelik, H., & Kurt, A.A. (2007). İlköğretim öğretmenlerinin bilgisayar öz-yeterlikleri: Balıkesir ili örneği. İlköğretim Online Dergisi, 6 (3), 441–451. Özgen, K., & Obay, M. (2008). Orta öğretim matematik öğretmen adaylarının eğitim teknolojinse ilişkin

tutumları. 583-588. http://ietc2008.home.anadolu.edu.tr/ietc2008/108.doc
Rikard, L., & Banville, D. (2006). High school student attitudes about physical education. Sport, Education and Society, 11 (4), 385-400.

- Safrit, M.J., & Wood, T.M. (1995). Introduction to Measurement in Physical Education and Exercise Science. St. Louis, MO: Mosby.
- Sam, H.K., Othman, A.E.A., & Nordin, Z.S. (2005). Computer self-efficacy, computer anxiety, and attitudes toward the internet: A study among undergraduates in Unimas. *Educational Technology & Society*, 8 (4), 205-219.

Schunk, D.H. (1985). Self-efficacy and classroom learning. Psychology in the Schools, 22, 208-223.

Sewell, A., & St George, A. (2000). Developing efficacy beliefs in the classroom. Journal of Educational Enquiry, 1(2), 58-71.

Tekinarslan, E. (2008). Eğitimciler için temel teknoloji yeterlikleri ölçeğinin geçerlik ve güvenirlik çalışması, Elektronik Sosyal Bilimler Dergisi, 7(26), 186-205

- Teo, T. (2008). Pre-service teachers' attitudes towards computer use: A Singapore survey. *Australasian Journal* of Educational Technology, 24(4), 413-424.
- Tezbaşaran, A. (1997). Likert tipi ölçek geliştirme kılavuzu. Ankara: Türk Psikologlar Derneği Yayınları.
- Usta, E., & Korkmaz, Ö. (2010). Pre-service teachers' computer competencies, perception of technology use and attitudes toward teaching career. *International Journal of Human Sciences*, 7(1), 1335-1349.
- Yaman, M. (2007). The competence of physical education teachers in computer use. *TOJET: The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology*, 6(4), 46-55.
- Yavuz, S., & Coşkun, A.E. (2008). Attitudes and perceptions of elementary teaching through the use of technology in education. *Hacettepe University Journal of Education*, 34 276-286.
- Yılmaz, İ., Ulucan, H., & Pehlivan, S. (2010). Beden eğitimi öğretmenliği programında öğrenim gören öğrencilerin eğitimde teknoloji kullanımına ilişkin tutum ve düşünceleri. Ahi Evran Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi, 11(1), 105-118.
- Yılmaz, M., Köseoğlu, P., Gerçek, C., & Soran H. (2006). Hacettepe üniversitesi biyoloji öğretmen adaylarının bilgisayarla ilgili öz yeterlik inançlarının incelenmesi. *Hacettepe Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi*, 30, 278–287.
- Yurdugül, H., & Akar, P. (2008). An Investigation of the factorial structures of pupils' attitude towards technology (PATT): A Turkish sample. *Elementary Education Online*, 7(2), 288-309.
- Zehir-Topkaya, E. (2010). Pre-service english language teachers' perceptions of computer self-efficacy and general self-efficacy. *TOJET: The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology*, 9(1), 143-156.

Zimmerman, B.J. (1995). Self-efficacy and educational development. (Ed. A. Bandura). Self-efficacy in changing societies.. New York: Cambridge University Press.



THE STUDY OF LEARNERS' PREFERENCE FOR VISUAL COMPLEXITY ON SMALL SCREENS OF MOBILE COMPUTERS USING NEURAL NETWORKS

Lan-Ting Wang

Department of Visual Communication Design, Tainan University of Technology, Tainan 710, Taiwan. Kun-Chou Lee

Department of Systems and Naval Mechatronic Engineering, National Cheng-Kung University, Tainan 701,

kclee@mail.ncku.edu.tw)

ABSTRACT

The vision plays an important role in educational technologies because it can produce and communicate quite important functions in teaching and learning. In this paper, learners' preference for the visual complexity on small screens of mobile computers is studied by neural networks. The visual complexity in this study is divided into five levels, including "very high" complexity, "slightly high" complexity, "medium" complexity, "slightly low" complexity and "very low" complexity. This study focuses on the age effects for vision problems in educational technologies. The age of the tested subjects distributes from 10 to 64, and is uniformly divided into 11 groups with each group composed of 30 tested subjects. For simplicity, the effects of gender, words, colors, and other visual factors are ignored. This study found that only learners of the younger and older age groups have special preference on the picture of very high complexity. Most learners prefer pictures of medium and slightly high complexity. These results are consistent with many existing studies. With the use of neural networks, only about half of the investigation data are required to predict the overall investigation results. Discussions and interpretations on the results are also given in this study. This study will be helpful in vision problems of educational technologies.

Keywords: learner, visual complexity, screen, mobile computers, neural networks

INTRODUCTION

The use and capabilities of small mobile communication devices, which include many all-in-one features, have become embedded in one's everyday life and are growing rapidly, such as pocket PCs, tablet PCs, smart mobile phones, and smart wireless sensors (Karan, Bayraktar, Gümüskaya and Karlik, 2012). Mobile devices are portable, ubiquitous and easily accessible, and are then widely used by many people. This situation implies that there is great potential to enhance learning through mobile devices (Keskin & Metcalf, 2011). The learning is one of human instincts. New learning technologies initiate new learning styles. Nowadays, mobile computers lead learners to new mobile learning environments. This then motivates us to choose the vision of mobile computers as the main topic of this study. The degree of a device's mobility determines the way it is best used in learning. A smartphone is no doubt much more mobile than a laptop, and this high degree of mobility makes it indispensible in modern learning (Franklin, 2011; Mcconatha, 2008). Traditionally, artists presented their work using non-interactive visual media. With the ongoing development of information and interactive technologies, people can create art using digital multimedia (Chang & Lee, 2010; Isman & Celikli, 2009). From a constructivist perspective, small mobile computers can be utilized to provide meaningful art information and then enhance learning experiences.

The neural network is a control theory rising in recent years (Haykin, 2009). It has attracted wide attention of researchers due to its special black-box characteristics. For example, a neural network makes inference according only to human operating experiences and control rules (Kumar, 2005). Hence, the neural network has become the new focus of various professional research areas in recent years (Ham and Kostanic, 2001). This is because various research fields can utilize neural networks to solve strongly nonlinear and complicated problems (Zhang and Zhang, 2006). Neural networks can simulate the information processing of biological neural systems, and simulate the nerve tissues and functions of the human brain. Thus a black-box system with simulated operations of perception, thought, imagination, and logic of the human brain can be constructed. The neural network can learn through given examples (i.e., known input and output data) to construct a nonlinear system model (input-output relation) for estimation and prediction. It can also be viewed as a special type of statistical techniques (Bailey & Thompson, 1990; Specht, 1991; Haykin, 2009). This study focuses on vision problems of educational technologies. The vision system is probably the most complicated system among all sensory systems (Solso, 2000). In visual cognition, the acceptance of vision communication is easier than that of textual communication. This is the reason why we choose pictures on mobile computers' screens as the research topic. We study learners' preference for visual complexity on small screens of mobile computers. In addition, this study utilizes a neural network model for analysis, and intends to predict the overall results by using fewer questionnaire samples. The goal is to know learners' preference for visual complexity on small screens of mobile computers. The results will be helpful for educational technologies.

Taiwan



Although scholars have studied human brains for years, there are still many secrets in the vision cognition processes of brains (Solso, 2000). Throughout the years, the two major theories for the psychology of vision, i.e., Realism Theories and Relevant Cue Hypotheses, have not reached any consensus yet (Lin, 1994). The Realism Theories suggest that the learning effects of learners increase with visual information, and learners prefer more complex visions. Pictures with rich information can arouse the interest of learners (Vartanian & Goel, 2004; Kawabata & Zeki, 2004; Hsu & Wang, 2010). In addition, picture background information can help learners to build an overall architecture and then enhances the recognition of visions. Thus, more complex vision information is favored (Dale, 1946; Antes & Metzger, 1980). However, the Relevant Cue Hypotheses suggest opposite viewpoints. They report that one's ability to process information is limited, although complex pictures are interesting. Complex pictures will increase the load on the brain. Thus interferes are occurred during the communication of pictures (Alesandrini, 1984; Dwyer, 1978; Hurt & Kirk, 1988). People are more sensitive to simple pictures than to complex pictures (Pezdek & Maki, 1988), as illustrated in Figure 1. The recognition advantage of pictures over verbal descriptions is not due to the extra details that pictures contain. Complex pictures with extra details have no advantage in recognition (Nelson, Metzler & Reed, 1974), as illustrated in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Examples of pictures in both simple and complex forms.

In this paper, investigations by questionnaires are first given. The testing pictures in this study are mostly drawings with black and white outlines. The visual complexity means the density of conveyed visual information in the picture. Higher picture density makes the image more complex, and vice versa. Visual complexity contains the amount of interior details in a picture and background information (Wang, 2002). Many studies have discussed the relationships of pictures to cognition and attention, emphasized the importance of picture information (Saunders, 1994; Micklos, 1982), (Rieber, 1994), and used the inverted U-shaped function to explain the relationship between pictures and learners (Wang & Hsu, 2009; Dwyer, 1978), as shown in Figure 2.

METHOD

Research Method & Procedure

Initially, this study conducted a questionnaire survey, and collected data from subjects of various age groups. Next, data were analyzed by statistical operations and modeled by neural networks. Finally, the discussion and interpretation about learners' preference for complexity is given. This study utilized the neural network to model learners' preference for visual complexity on small screens of mobile computers. Wang (2002) found that the gender factor would not influence the preference for visual complexity. Therefore, this study only considered the age factor. The subjects of this study were 10-64 years old, and were divided into 11 age groups in units of 5 years. They were chosen by using the stratified random sampling method, including 10-14 years old, 15-19 years old, 20-24 years old, 25-29 years old, 30-34 years old, 35-39 years old, 40-44 years old, 45-49 years old, 50-54 years old, 55-59 years old, and 60-64 years old. Each age group consisted of thirty subjects, and thus there were totally 330 subjects surveyed by questionnaires. Pictures with five different levels of complexity were utilized to test the subjects. Each subject was asked to answer a questionnaire and chose his favorite picture among the five testing pictures. The goal is to obtain the percentages (%) of preferences of various age groups for mobile computer pictures with different levels of complexity. These investigation results are further modeled by neural networks. In the learning phase of neural networks, investigated data of the 6 odd age groups (Groups #1, #3, #5, #7, #9, and #11) were selected from the 11 age groups to serve as the training samples. After the neural network is trained, results of all the 11 age groups were predicted by the neural-network model. Neural networks may have many types of architectures. The neural-network architecture utilized in this study is the RBF-NN (radial basis function neural network) model, which is composed of weighted Gaussian function bases (Christodoulous & Georgiopoulos, 2001). This type of neural-network architecture can model strongly nonlinear problems through only simple algebraic operations. Since the learners' preference for a picture is inherently strongly nonlinear behavior, the RBF-NN model becomes a good candidate for modeling such a problem.





Figure 2. Te inverted U-shaped function for visual complexity.



Figure 3. Architectures for the RBF-NN Model.

Figure 3 shows architectures for the RBF-NN model. In Figure 3, the *K* nodes (chosen as K=1 in this study) of the input layer represent age, which is normalized into the range of 0 to 1. The hidden layer has *J* nodes, which serve as the thinking process of a neural network. The *J* is chosen as J=10 in this study. The output layer has *I* nodes (chosen as I=5 in this study) representing the output functions, which are percentages (%) of preferences of various age groups for testing pictures with five different levels of complexity. According to Christodoulous & Georgiopoulos (2001), the output of the RBF-NN can be expressed as

$$y_{i} = w_{i0} + \sum_{j=1}^{J} w_{ij} g_{j}(\bar{x}), \, i = 1, 2, ..., I,$$
⁽¹⁾

where

$$g_{j}(\bar{x}) = e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\bar{x}-\bar{v}_{j})^{T}\sum_{j}^{-1}(\bar{x}-\bar{v}_{j})}, j = 1, 2, \dots, J,$$
(2)

represents the nonlinear transform relation between input-layer and hidden-layer variables. In Eq. (2), v_j denotes the mean vector for Gaussian functions in the hidden layer, and $\overline{\Sigma}_j$ denotes the auto-covariance matrix. The training procedures of the RBF-NN are described in the following (Christodoulous & Georgiopoulos, 2001). * Step 1: Select initial values for the weights (w_{ij}) from hidden to output layers. These weights are chosen to be

small random values. Select initial values for the centers of the Gaussians in the hidden layers. These centers are randomly chosen from the training data. Select initial values for the diagonal elements of the covariances of the Gaussian functions. These variances are all chosen to be equal to some constant.

- * Step 2: Present the p^{th} input pattern at the input layer of the RBF-NN.
- * Step 3: Utilize Eq.(1) and Eq.(2) to calculate values for nodes in hidden and output layers of the RBF-NN.
- * Step 4: Compare the actual output $y_i(p)$ at the output layer and the described output $d_i(p)$ for i = 1, 2, ...,

I. If $y_i(p) = d_i(p)$ for 1 *i I*, go to step 5. If $y_i(p) \neq d_i(p)$ for some *i*, proceed to change the weight or parameter values as follows


TOJET: The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology - April 2014, volume 13 issue 2

$$\Delta w_{ij} = \eta [d_i(p) - y_i(p)] g_j [\overline{x}(p)], \qquad (3)$$

$$\Delta \overline{v}_{j} = \eta g_{j} [\overline{x}(p)] \sum_{i=1}^{I} [d_{i}(p) - y_{i}(p)] \cdot w_{ij} (\overline{x}(p) - \overline{v}_{j}) \cdot$$

$$\tag{4}$$

* Step5: If $p=P_T$ and the cumulative error is smaller than a pre-specified threshold, we consider the training completed. If $p=P_T$ and the cumulative error is larger than a pre-specified threshold, then we return to Step 2 starting with the first input pattern of index p=1. If $p\neq P_T$, we return to Step 2, by increasing the pattern index p by one.

After the neural network is trained by some learning samples of $\overline{x} \rightarrow \overline{y}$ according to the above procedures, all the weights W_{ii} (i = 1, 2, ..., I; j = 0, 1, ..., J) will be determined. Therefore, the prediction of $\overline{x} \rightarrow \overline{y}$ will be given by Eq.(1). That is, the trained RBF-NN can model the mapping of $\overline{x} \rightarrow \overline{y}$. In particular, the trained neural network can predict data of $\overline{x} \rightarrow \overline{y}$ that do not belong to the training data sets.

Research Samples

The samples in this study are drawings with black and white outlines, of single scenario without text, as shown in Table 1. There are five testing pictures with different levels of complexity in Table 1, as described in the following.

- (1) Picture A: Very high complexity image, with detailed descriptions of figures, objects, scenarios, and backgrounds.
- (2) Picture B: Slightly high complexity image, with detailed descriptions of figures, objects and scenarios, but background is slightly simplified.
- (3) Picture C: Medium complexity image, with detailed descriptions of figures, objects, and scenarios, but only the most important background information is maintained.
- (4) Picture D: Slightly low complexity image, with only descriptions of character details.
- (5) Picture E: Very low complexity image, only outlines of characters are retained.

The above five testing pictures are entered into a mobile computer with a small screen (Figure 4). The experimental screen size is 102mm \times 62mm (Figure 5). Figure 6 shows the experiment for a subject.

	Table 1. The five testing	pictures with different	levels of complexity.	
Picture A	Picture B	Picture C	Picture D	Picture E
Very high	Slightly high	Medium complexity	Slightly low	Very low
complexity	complexity		complexity	complexity

Table 1 The five testing nictures with different levels of complexity



Figure 4. The sample picture is entered into a mobile computer with a small screen.



Figure 5. The experimental screen Figure 6. The experiment for a size.



subject.



Limitations

There are some limitations in this study, as shown in the following.

- (1) The sample pictures of this study are homemade and are simple. Practically, pictures on a mobile computer are complex and have many styles. For simplicity, this study focuses on pictures of only one style.
- (2) For simplicity, pictures of this study are monochrome. Practically, pictures on a mobile computer are colored.
- (3) For simplicity, pictures of this study are static. Practically, pictures on a mobile computer are moving.
- (4) For simplicity, pictures of this study contain only icons. Practically, pictures on a mobile computer contain both icons and text.
- (5) For simplicity, surveys are made on only 330 subjects form the Southern Taiwan. To improve the accuracy, much more subjects should be tested in the future.

EXPERIMENTAL RESULTS

Following the above investigation procedures, experimental data are recorded and statistically analyzed. Table 2 shows the percentages (%) of preferences of various age groups for mobile computer pictures with different levels of complexity. For clear illustration, the data in Table 2 are further plotted in Figure 7.

Table 2. Percentages (%) of preferences of various age groups for mobile computer pictures with different levels of complexity.

Group	Group #1	Group #2	Group #3	Group #4	Group #5	Group #6	Group #7	Group #8	Group #9	Group #10	Group #11
Ages	10-14 years old	15-19 years old	20-24 years old	25-29 years old	30-34 years old	35-39 years old	40-44 years old	45-49 years old	50-54 years old	55-59 years old	60-64 years old
Preference for Picture A (%)	19.79	18.18	17.03	14.60	17.69	16.44	13.34	12.88	14.01	17.03	21.67
Preference for Picture B (%)	22.24	24.10	25.10	25.25	24.05	23.20	24.83	23.36	23.56	23.34	20.31
Preference for Picture C (%)	24.80	26.38	27.95	26.88	24.92	25.33	25.36	26.82	24.33	25.13	25.22
Preference for Picture D (%)	21.64	19.07	16.59	17.27	16.84	18.24	19.30	19.09	20.19	18.88	20.00
Preference for Picture E (%)	11.98	12.16	13.63	15.79	16.23	16.42	17.38	17.51	18.02	16.10	12.79





Figure 7. Tendency chart for percentages (%) of preferences of various age groups for mobile computer pictures with different levels of complexity.

Next, the RBF-NN is utilized to model and then predict the results of Table 2 or Figure 7. During the learning phase of RBF-NN, data of Groups #1, #3, #5, #7, #9, and #11 from Table 2 are chosen as training samples, as shown in Table 3. The detailed learning procedures have been mentioned above. After the RBF-NN is trained, it can predict the overall investigation data.

Group	Group #1	Group #3	Group #5	Group #7	Group #9	Group #11
A 222	10-14	20-24	30-34	40-44	50-54	60-64
Ages	years old	years old	years old	years old	years old	years old
Preference for Picture A (%)	19.79	17.03	17.69	13.34	14.01	21.67
Preference for Picture B (%)	22.24	25.10	24.05	24.83	23.56	20.31
Preference for Picture C (%)	24.80	27.95	24.92	25.36	24.33	25.22
Preference for Picture D (%)	21.64	16.59	16.84	19.30	20.19	20.00
Preference for Picture E (%)	11.98	13.63	16.23	17.38	18.02	12.79

|--|

Table 4 shows the comparison between RBF-NN predictions and questionnaire survey results. The absolute error in Table 4 means the absolute value for difference between the RBF-NN prediction and questionnaire survey. It is defined as "Absolute error (%) = | RBF-NN prediction (%) - questionnaire survey (%) |". From Table 4, it reports that the maximum error value is 3.64%, the minimum is 0.06%, and the average error value is 1.627%. These results are very accurate and reasonable. Comparisons between RBF-NN predictions and questionnaire survey results for individual testing pictures are plotted in Figure 8 to Figure 12.

		1			1		1					
G	roup	Group #1	Group #2	Group #3	Group #4	Group #5	Group #6	Group #7	Group #8	Group #9	Group #10	Group #11
Ages		10-14	15-19	20-24	25-29	30-34	35-39	40-44	45-49	50-54	55-59	60-64
Preference	Questionnaire survey (%)	19.79	18.18	17.03	14.60	17.69	16.44	13.34	12.88	14.01	17.03	21.67
for Picture A (Very high	RBF-NN prediction (%)	16.89	17.57	14.78	15.22	16.08	16.18	14.88	12.16	14.08	14.94	22.40
complexity)	Absolute error (%)	2.90	0.61	2.25	0.63	1.61	0.25	1.54	0.72	0.06*	2.09	0.73

Table 4. Comparison between RBF-NN predictions and questionnaire survey results.



Preference	Questionnaire survey (%)	22.24	24.10	25.10	25.25	24.05	23.20	24.83	23.36	23.56	23.34	20.31
for Picture B (Slightly high	RBF-NN prediction (%)	24.89	25.57	23.70	23.62	22.01	25.36	27.34	21.82	22.38	20.19	21.81
complexity)	Absolute error (%)	1.16	1.47	1.40	1.63	2.04	2.16	2.51	1.54	1.18	3.15	1.50
Preference	Questionnaire survey (%)	24.80	26.38	27.95	26.88	24.92	25.33	25.36	26.82	24.33	25.13	25.22
for Picture C (Medium	RBF-NN prediction (%)	25.96	24.87	28.89	28.54	21.80	21.94	27.91	27.99	27.96	22.85	27.31
complexity)	Absolute error (%)	1.16	1.50	0.93	1.66	3.13	3.38	2.55	1.17	3.64*	2.27	2.10
Preference for Picture D (Slightly low complexity)	Questionnaire survey (%)	21.64	19.07	16.59	17.27	16.84	18.24	19.30	19.09	20.19	18.88	20.00
	RBF-NN prediction (%)	18.61	18.29	18.45	17.58	17.47	20.73	16.91	21.68	23.00	17.20	19.75
	Absolute error (%)	3.03	0.78	1.86	0.31	0.64	2.49	2.39	2.59	2.81	1.68	0.25
Preference for Picture E (Very low	Questionnaire survey (%)	11.98	12.16	13.63	15.79	16.23	16.42	17.38	17.51	18.02	16.10	12.79
	RBF-NN prediction (%)	13.70	13.10	13.10	18.06	16.64	16.92	19.34	18.24	15.40	16.62	14.66
complexity)	Absolute error (%)	1.72	0.94	0.53	2.27	0.41	0.49	1.96	0.73	2.62	0.51	1.87
	X Absolute	error (%	(b) =	RBF-NI	N predic	tion (%)) - Qi	uestionn	aire sur	vey (%)		

DISCUSSION

Image is generated by a computer to blend with the environment to enhance the visual experience. Visual complexity is a multiple concept that combines picture attributes with picture variables. Thus, it does not merely refer to the density of picture composition, but is also influenced by many different factors, such as picture size, line, style, form, and color. This study discussed the amount of interior details inside a picture and its background information. The learners' preference affected by age factor is discussed. Table 5 shows the results from Table 4 sorted by total subjects' preference for testing pictures. From Table 5, it indicates that learners most prefer the picture with medium complexity (Picture C, survey: 25.74%), followed by the picture of slightly high complexity (Picture B, survey: 23.58%). The possible reasons are as bellows. First, the two testing pictures (C & B) contain moderate amount of vision elements and appropriate amount of information communication. They conform to an acceptable degree of visual capacity without increasing visual and cerebral loads. Second, the two testing pictures (C & B) are not too crowded so that the picture subject is clear at a glance. That is, they have the most comfortable density degree for visual elements. Third, the two testing pictures (C & B) have proper guiding functions and strong communication and transmission abilities.

The data in Table 5 also indicate that learners most dislike the picture of very low complexity (Picture E, survey: 15.27%), followed by the picture of very high complexity (Picture A, survey: 16.61%). This implies that the picture with too much or too little information is disadvantageous to visual communication in learning. The possible reasons why learners dislike the picture of very low complexity (Picture E) are as bellows. First, the picture of very low complexity is plain with tedious and empty senses so that it is not interesting to the learners. Second, learners feel that the picture of very low complexity is incomplete with no visual strength or feeling of quantity. Third, the picture subject is unclear, and provides insufficient stimulation for the learning. The possible reasons why learners dislike the picture of very high complexity (Picture A) are as bellows. First, the picture of very high complexity contains too many details unrelated to the subject and thus the normal learning is influenced. Second, the subject content cannot be highlighted in a short time due to too much information. This is disadvantageous to visual communication and learning. Third, learners can process only a part of the information when they are presented with a very complex picture. Thus the remaining information will be neglected and meaningless.









Figure 9. Comparison between RBF-NN predictions and questionnaire survey results --- Picture B (Slightly high complexity).





Figure 10. Comparison between RBF-NN predictions and questionnaire survey results --- Picture C (Medium complexity).



Figure 11. Comparison between RBF-NN predictions and questionnaire survey results --- Picture D (Slightly low complexity).





Figure 12. Comparison between RBF-NN predictions and questionnaire survey results --- Picture E (Very low complexity).

Testing Picture					
Sorted by	1	2			_
Preference	1	2	3	4	5
Visual complexity	Medium	Slightly high	Slightly low	Very high	Very low
visual complexity	complexity	complexity	complexity	complexity	complexity
Picture number	Picture C	Picture B	Picture D	Picture A	Picture E
Questionnaire survey (%)	25.74	23.58	18.83	16.61	15.27
RBF-NN prediction (%)	26.00	23.52	19.06	15.93	15.98
Absolute error (%)	2.14	1.80	1.71	1.22	1.28

Table 5. Results from Table 4 sorted by total subjects' preference for testing pictures.

The complexity of a picture has significant influences on cognitive learning and these influences are tightly related to age (Micklos, 1982). Although most subjects disliked the picture of very high complexity, there were special groups of learners preferring this picture. According to Figure 8, the learners in younger and older age groups most liked the picture of very high complexity, and the preference curve is slightly U-shaped. The learners of the group "60-64 years old" (group #11) and the group "10-14 years old" (group #1) specially prefer the picture of very high complexity. The possible reasons for this phenomenon are as follows. First, the picture of very high complexity has visual integrity, and is then vivid, lively, entertaining, and vital. Second, learners sometimes selected a picture according to their psychological perceptions for different psychological conditions. Thus the learners of older and younger age groups may psychologically select their preference without basing on visual factors. Third, the learners in younger and older age groups did not like comfortlessness, loneliness or emptiness. This will influence the choice of preference for pictures. This finding is consistent with the Realism Theories, which assert that the learning effect of pictures increases with visual complexity. Only a few researchers, e.g., McDougall & Reppa (2008) think that viewers prefer simple pictures. Figure 12 shows that neither the older nor the younger learners like the picture of very low complexity. The curves of Figure 12 are slightly inverted U-shaped. The older and younger learners may have some similarities in psychology (Siegler & Alibali, 2005; Peng, 2008). In general, they are mentally empty, afraid, dependent, and short of a sense of security. Detailed pictures provide viewers more entertainment (Tsai, Chang, Chuang & Wang, 2008), and hence



they preferred the picture of very high complexity.

Figure 13 shows the tendency chart for Table 5, which is plotted with respect to levels of complexity for testing pictures. Note that the curve in Figure 13 is approximately inverted U-shaped. This is consistent with Figure 2, which is the viewpoint of numerous scholars studying visual complexity (Berlyne, 1974; Chang & Wei, 2002; Hsu & Wang, 2010; Tucha et al., 2009; Hurt & Kirk, 1988; Angert, 1980). Taking a general view of Figure 13, the final finding of this study is similar to the viewpoint of Relevant Cue Hypotheses, but different from the viewpoint of Realism Theories. From the curve of Figure 13, the maximum value occurs at the medium level of complexity (Picture C, survey: 25.74 %). In addition, the learners preferring pictures of medium complexity and slightly high complexity are about half of total subjects. Wang (2002) found that the subjects thought that the optimum computer screen picture only needed to emphasize the important part of the picture, and thus excessive detail description was unnecessary. For learning, pictures of medium complexity generally have better learning effects, and higher relative learning efficiency (Antes & Metzger, 1980).

After comprehensive discussion, it was found that the influencing factors in the preference of learners for visual complexity could be divided into objective and subjective factors. The objective factors for complexity depend on the structure of a picture. They include the picture line thickness, style, manifestation, shape, size, information content, and elements' distribution. While the subjective factors for complexity depend on individual differences of learners. They include learners' psychology, life background, personal preference, visual system difference, learning background, and age. In particular, the age has the most significant influence (Travers & Alvarado, 1970). The objective factors shall be observed using the subjective factors. Thus different learners will have different cognition results. Existing studies reported that the objective factors and the subject factors for complexity are correlated (Attneave, 1957; Chipman & Mendelson, 1979) and interactive (Strother & Kubovy, 2003). The above factors are listed in Table 6.

Table 6. Factors affecting learners' preference for visual complexity.

Structure of a picture	Individual differences of learners
(objective factors)	(subjective factors)
 * line thickness of a picture * style of a picture * manifestation of a picture * shape of a picture * size of a picture * information content of a picture 	 * psychology of learners * life background of learners * personal preference of learners * learning background of learners * age of learners * visual system of learners
 * size of a picture * information content of a picture * elements' distribution of a picture 	* age of learners * visual system of learners



Copyright © The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology



Figure 13. Tendency chart for Table 5, which is plotted with respect to levels of complexity for testing pictures.

CONCLUSIONS

The neural network has been widely used in engineering science, and its nonlinear modeling and predicting abilities have been proven. In this study, the RBF-NN has been successfully applied to visual communication of educational technologies. The average absolute error of prediction is only 1.627%, which is very accurate. With the use of RBF-NN model, only about half of investigation data are required to predict the overall investigation results. This will greatly reduce the investigation efforts. The important problems in this study are age, human vision acuity, and visual information processing capacity, which will affect learners' preference. Thus the learners will have logical decisions and different preference. This study found that learners' preference for pictures has differences and obviously varies with age. This is because learners have their favorite perception modes with differences in psychological cognition, and thus preference occurs in different age groups. The visual complexity of this study is the visual evaluation of integrity composed of many internal elements. Discussions regarding the visual complexity of mobile computers have been given in this study. Learners in different age groups will have different visual acuities and visual information processing capacities. Under the influences of both objective and subjective factors for complexity, learners will select their preferences for picture compositions by personal perception. This study found that only the learners of the younger and older age groups have special preference for pictures of very high complexity. Most learners prefer pictures of medium complexity, followed by pictures of slightly high complexity. This finding is consistent with the results of Dwyer (1978) and Berlyne (1974). In addition, our results are consistent with the viewpoints of Relevant Cue Hypotheses, which present the picture preference distribution as an inverted U-shaped curve. The vision is very important in educational technologies. It produces quite important functions and has already become indispensable arts of teaching materials. When educators choose and determine the type of vision for teaching materials, they should not base choices on their own aesthetic conceptions. To enhance learning effects, educators should choose the suitable vision according to learners' preference. This study will be helpful in vision problems of educational technologies.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors would like to thank the Ministry of Science and Technology, Taiwan, Republic of China, for financially supporting this research under Contract No. NSC 102-2221-E-006-134-MY3. The authors would also like to thank Professor Chang-Frank Lee, Graduate School of Design, National Yunlin University of Science and Technology, Yunlin, Taiwan, for his helpful discussion.

REFERENCES

- Alesandrini, K. L. (1984). Pictures and adult learning. Instructional Science, 13, 63-77.
- Angert, J. F. (1980). An integration of research findings from investigations of pictorial stimulus complexity. *ERIC Document Reproduction Service*, No. ED 187339.
- Antes, J. R. & Metzger, R. L. (1980). Influences of picture context on object recognition. *Acta Psychologica*, 44, 21-30.
- Attneave, F. (1957). Physical determinants of the judged complexity of shapes. *Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 53, 221-227.
- Bailey, D. & Thompson, D. (1990). Developing neural-network applications. AI Expert, 5(6), 34-47.
- Berlyne, D. E. (1974). Studies in the new experimental aesthetics: Steps toward and objective psychology of aesthetic appreciation, DC: Hemisphere.
- Chang, C. Y. & Lee, G. (2010). A major e-learning project to renovate science leaning environment in Taiwan. *Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology*, 9(1), 7-12.
- Chang, W. C. & Wei, W. L. (2002). The application of conjoint analysis in optimum logo design --- a design project as an example research in arts education. *Journal of Design*, 10(4), 55-70.
- Chipman, S. F. & Mendelson, M. J. (1979). Influence of six types of visual structure on complexity judgments in children and adults. *Journal of Experimental Psychology & Marketing: Human Perception and Performance*, 5, 365-378.
- Christodoulous, C. & Georgiopoulos, M. (2001). *Applications of Neural Networks in Electromagnetics*, Boston: Artech House.
- Dale, E. (1946). Audio-Visual Methods in Teaching, NY: The Dryden Press.
- Dwyer, F. M. (1978). Strategies for Improving Visual Learning, PA: State College, Learning Services.
- Franklin, T. (2011). Mobile learning: at the tipping point. *Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology*, 10(4), 262-275.
- Ham, F. M. & Kostanic, I. (2001). Principles of Neurocomputing for Science and Engineering, NY: McGraw-Hill.
- Haykin, S. S. (2009). Neural Networks and Learning Machines, NJ: Prentice Hall.



- Hsu, C. C. & Wang, R. (2010). The relationship between shape features and degrees of graphic simplification, *Journal of Design*, 15(3), 87-105.
- Hurt, J. A & Kirk, R. F. (1988). How do young children interpret computer-generated pictures? Computers in the Schools, 5(1-2), 99 – 111.

Isman, A., & Celikli, G. E. (2009). How does student ability and self-efficacy affect the usage of computer technology? *Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology*, 8(1), 33-38.

Karan, O., Bayraktar, C., Gümüskaya, H. & Karlik, B. (2012). Diagnosing diabetes using neural networks on small mobile devices. *Expert Systems with Applications*, 39, 54-60.

Kawabata, H. & Zeki, S. (2004). Neural correlates of beauty. Journal of Neurophysiology, 91, 1699-1705.

Keskin, N. O. & Metcalf, D. (2011). The current perspectives, theories and practices of mobile learning. *Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology*, 10(2), 202-208.

- Kumar, S. (2005). Neural Networks: A Classroom Approach, NY: McGraw-Hill.
- Lin, C. C. (1994). The effects of visual complexity in motion visuals on children's learning. *The Journal of Chiayi Teachers College*, 8, 171-208.

Mcconatha, D. (2008). Mobile learning in higher education: an empirical assessment of a new educational tool. *Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology*, 7(3), 15-21.

McDougall, S. & Reppa, I. (2008). Why do I like it ? The relationships between icon characteristics, user performance and aesthetic appeal. *Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomic Society 52nd Meeting Proceedings*, 52(18), 1257-1261.

Micklos, D. (1982). Visual complexity and the function of graphics in scientific American and science. *ERIC* Document Reproduction Service, No. ED 222897.

- Nelson, T. O., Metzler, J. & Reed, D. (1974). Role of details in the long-term recognition of pictures and verbal descriptions. *Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 102(1), 184-186.
- Peng, J. X., (2008). The Psychology of aging, Taipai: Weishiman publishers.
- Pezdek, K. & Maki, R. (1988). Picture Memory: Recognizing added and deleted details. *Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 14 (3), 468-476.
- Rieber, L. P. (1994). Computers, Graphics & Learning, Wisconsin: Brown & Benchmark.
- Saunders, S. J. (1994). Graphics and how they communication. In Moore, D. M. & Dwyer, F. M. (Ed.), *Visual Literacy*, NJ: Educational Technology Publication, 183-208.
- Siegler, R. S. & Alibali, M. W. (2005). *Children's Thinking* (4th Ed.). NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Solso, R. L. (2000). Cognitive Psychology (6th Ed.), Boston: Allyn & Bacon.
- Specht, D. F. (1991). A general regression neural network. IEEE Transactions on Neural Networks, 2, 568-576.
- Strother, L. & Kubovy, M. (2003). Perceived complexity and the grouping effect in band patterns. *Acta Psychologica*, 114, 229-244.
- Travers, R. M. & Alvarado, V. (1970). The design of pictures for teching children in elementary school. AV Communication Review, 18(1), 47-64.
- Tsai, T. W., Chang, T. C., Chuang, M. C. & Wang, D. M. (2008). Exploration in emotion and visual information uncertainty of websites in culture relations. *International Journal of Design*, 2(2), 55-66.
- Tucha, A. N., Bargas-Avilaa, J. A., Opwisa, K. & Wilhelmb, F. H. (2009). Visual complexity of websites: Effects on users' experience physiology performance and memory. *International Journal of Human-Computer Studies*, 67, 703–715.
- Vartanian, O. & Goel, V. (2004). Emotion pathways in the brain mediate aesthetic preference. *Bulletin of Psychology and Arts*, 5(1), 37-42.

Wang, L. T. (2002). The Application of Neural Networks in the Visual Communication and Cognition of Icons on Screens, Taiwan: Han-Jia Publisher.

Wang, R. & Hsu, C. C. (2009). Study on the relationship between background and preference of simplified graphics. *Research in Arts Education*, 17, 109-132.

Zhang, Z. F. & Zhang, L. Q. (2006). Artificial Neural Network, Taiwan: Tung-Hua Publisher.



USAGE OF THIN-CLIENT / SERVER ARCHITECTURE IN COMPUTER AIDED EDUCATION

Caghan Cimen, Yusuf Kavurucu, Halit Aydin Turkish Public College, Tuzla, Istanbul, 34940, Turkey halitaydin81@dho.edu.tr

ABSTRACT

With the advances of technology, thin-client / server architecture has become popular in multi-user / singlenetwork environments. Thin-client is a user terminal in which the user can login to a domain and run programs by connecting to a remote server. Recent developments in network and hardware technologies (cloud computing, virtualization, etc.) have made the thin-client / server architecture more efficient with respect to total cost of ownership, administration, maintenance, security and power consumption. Therefore, the usage of thin-client / server architecture in computer-aided education has scaled up exponentially since 2010. In this study, we present our architecture in a Public College with 270 user terminals and 9 servers. We describe the planning, design, testing and implementation phases of the new architecture and analyze the outcomes of this implementation in regard to students and staff.

Keywords: Computer Aided Education; Thin-Client / Server Architecture

INTRODUCTION

Thin Client / Server Architecture, which has been one of the hot topics in the information systems literature for the last decade, nowadays, becomes a powerful, secure and cost-efficient solution for Health, Finance, Education and other industrial sectors (Energy Calculator for PC Equipment). For instance, several public/private companies/institutions have tendency for cloud computing, virtualization, etc. to keep up with the speed of hardware/software technology development, and this improves the preference of thin client / server architecture. In addition to this, thin client / server architecture has different characteristics according to classical personal computer usage, which are described below in detail.

Thin clients improve information system efficiency at several institutions. In thin client / server architecture, software and data are stored in the remote servers on the network. However, it is possible to communicate and exchange data with other clients on the network. As there is no local disk or portable media drive on the thin client, user data is stored on the remote file servers on the network. Software upgrade is done remotely on the network. Thin clients have more lifetimes according to personal computers as they have less vulnerable hardware parts. Moreover, it is easier to use thin clients as they have standard software and user interface all over the related institution. In addition to this, ease of thin client installation makes recovery in case of system crash faster and lessens the need for technical assistance.

The information and data security can be improved with the usage of thin clients. As they do not have local disks or portable media drives, they are less vulnerable to anti-viruses and spy wares. Users can only store data on remote file servers and cannot copy or move critical data to a portable media. The usage of thin clients in a domain on the network makes system administration easier and safer with respect to the remote user control and system policy checking in the domain that lessens the system internal threats.

Thin client / server architecture is a cost-efficient information system infrastructure. Thin clients are cheaper, have less hardware parts and more lifetimes. At the same time, system management and maintenance is easier as software upgrade and data storage/backup are done on remote servers. Finally, thin clients have less power consumption than personal computers. According to above-mentioned characteristics, a detailed comparison of thin clients and personal computers with respect to several criteria is summarized in Table 1.

Criteria	P C	THIN CLIENT
Operating System	Manual installation on local disk	Installed on flash memory (DOM). No need for manual installation.
Anti-Virus Protection	Needs anti-virus protection software	No need for anti-virus protection for portable media
Software Upgrade	Needs for manual software upgrade periodically.	No need for manual software upgrade. Only remote software upgrade.
System	Risk for system crash according to user	Remote system recovery in case of system

Table 1: Comparison of PC and Thin Client with respect to several criteria



TOJET: The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology – April 2014, volume 13 issue 2

Recovery	faults.	crash.
Local Drive	Risk for local drive crash (bad sector,	No local drive and no data loss.
Crash	etc.)	
Hardware	Needs for hardware upgrade	No need for hardware upgrade.
Upgrade	periodically.	
Data Backup /	Needs for data backup periodically in	Usage of remote file server. No local
Recovery	case of recovery after system crash.	backup.
Power	300 - 350 watt. (avg)	8 - 20 watt. (avg)
Consumption	-	
Technical	Needs allocated technical staff for	Less hardware/software problems and less
Assistance	frequent hardware/software problems	allocated technical staff with respect to
	with respect to more portable hardware	lower risk for system crash.
	parts and software on local drive.	
Emulation	Needs emulation software for	Pre-installed emulation software for
	connection to servers such as AS/400.	connection to several server types.
Cost of	600 – 1000 \$ (avg)	250 – 400 \$ (avg)
Purchase		
Noise and	Works more noisy according to several	Works quieter and needs less space.
Physical	hardware parts. Needs more space.	
Appearance		

An example total cost of ownership analysis is presented in Table 2 with respect to purchase costs, software license costs, network support costs, desktop support costs, upgrade costs, security costs, power consumption, heat generation and office real estate.

|--|

Criteria	PC	Thin Client	Saving (\$)
Purchase Cost	650	350	300
Hardware Upgrade (CPU, Memory, Disk etc.)	320	-	320
Software Upgrade (OS, User Programs, etc.)	250	-	250
Virus Protection	30	-	30
Upgrade Labour Cost	250	-	250
Technical Staff Cost. (Per 100 users)	3 staff = 180.000 (annual) 1800 (per user)	1 staff = 60.000 (annual) 600 (per user)	1200
Data Backup and Storage Maintenance	200	-	200
Power Consumption (watt/h) Total savings per client after 5 years: 3000	350 \$	20	450

In the light of above analysis, we conclude that:

* Using thin client instead of PC saves 3000\$ after 5 years (50\$ monthly). In other words, thin client redeems itself after 7 months.

* In a middle-sized unit, using 100 thin client instead of 100 PC saves 300000\$ in total. Besides, the fact that hardware is an imported product and has foreign currency, the cost analysis shows the contribution of usage of thin client to country's economy.

Thin client / server architecture has a prominent advantage in terms of power consumption (Energy Calculator for PC Equipment). Forrester Research Inc. in 2008 shows that thin clients reduce power usage by 24% and carbon dioxide emission by 23% and increases the life span by five to ten years. By replacing desktops by thin clients, nearly two-thirds of the power consumption can be reduced (Davis, 2008).



Thin client / server architecture is used by educational institutions as they allow students to analyze real data in their research without modifying or removing data either deliberately or unconsciously (Hatakeyama, Kataoka, Nakajima, Watabe, Okuhara, Sagara, 2011, p.494-497). Also, this architecture disallows unauthorized access to critical data from outside the institution. Moreover, computer-aided education has overlapping characteristics with thin client / server architecture in terms of multiple usage of digital resources and cost-effectiveness (Reynolds, 2006, p.73-78).

There are a lot of benefits of cloud computing in education, (e.g. providing educational resource storage and databases, e-mails, educational applications and tools for students and teachers and clients located all over the world involving in an educational program) and advantages in cost for improving the quality of system in terms of Total Cost of Ownership (Anwar Hossain Masud, Xiaodi Huang, 2012). This encourages the use of thin clients in several implementation areas and has renewed people's interest in the thin client concept (Deboosere, 2012, p.60-67).

IMPLEMENTATION

To make use of thin client / server architecture in our public college having approximately 1000 students and 500 staff, we install 270 thin clients in total (222 for students and 48 for staff) at the moment. We also install 7 terminal servers and 2 file servers. The network diagram of this architecture is represented in Figure 1.



Figure 1: Thin client / server architecture in our college

We use thin clients having model as ASTC TA-1381 and terminal/file servers having model as IBM X3650-M3. We utilize VMware ESXi 4.5 software on terminal servers for the purpose of virtualization. We install Windows 2008 R2 Enterprise operating system on the servers. Also, we install Libre Office, Foxit Reader, 7zip, IrfanView, Mozilla Firefox, Thunderbird, Notepad++, VLC player, Eclipse and Dev C++ software programs on the terminal servers for users through thin clients.

We reserve one-gigabyte data storage on the file server for each student and the owner student can only access his/her corresponding data storage. In addition to this, we define roaming profiles for each student so that each



student can define and use personal settings (shortcuts, program settings, etc.) on different thin clients without any loss of information.



Figure 2: Usage of bandwidth before Thin Client / Server Architecture



Figure 3: Usage of bandwidth on Thin Client / Server Architecture

We define two different server profiles on each terminal server with the usage of VMvare ESXi virtualization software. The first one is defined for students and the other one is defined for staff use. There are different settings and software programs on two virtual terminal server types. We define different hardware (SPU, RAM, etc.) usage settings on two servers at different times during the day. For instance, we reserve most of the hardware capacity for staff during working hours as the students are taking classes. And, we reserve most of the hardware capacity for students after working hours as students mostly use thin clients on those times.

After the implementation, 10 hours labour force per daily is needed for maintenance problems. A survey about the new architecture is applied on the users and 91% of them express their satisfaction about the usage of thin clients. In addition to this, we analyze that the usage of bandwidth has increased after the implementation of the new architecture. At the moment, we have 30 Mbit/s Internet connection bandwidth in our college. The usage of bandwidth before this implementation is plotted in Figure 2, whereas, Figure 3 represents the usage of bandwidth on the new architecture.

Consequently, we make cost-effectiveness analysis of the new architecture by using several tools implemented in the literature and web. The overall analysis is described in Table 3. Although the results vary because of the different parameters of tools, we conclude that we get a significant amount of saving by using this new architecture in our college.

	-8		
Tool	Total saving	Period	Parameter
www.xiteb.net	107154 £	Annual	270 PC
www.netvoyager.co.uk	9,614,000 \$	Five year	1000 Users
		period	
www.2x.com	312660 \$	Annual	270 PC

Table 3: Cost saving analysis of our architecture according to several tools



www.eu-energystar.org	79595 €	For six year	270 Thin Client instead of 270 PC
-----------------------	---------	--------------	-----------------------------------

CONCLUSION

The usage of thin client / server architecture for the purpose of computer-aided education scales up with respect to developments in the information systems technology. In this study, we present our architecture in a public college in which we install 270 thin clients for students and staff. The increase of bandwidth usage represents the effectiveness of this new architecture on the education in our college.

Students and staff can access to their data from several units (dormitory, lab, library, etc.) by using the same settings and interface (which is more user-friendly) as a result of roaming profile definitions. The need for new software in education can be met easily by installing them on a small number of terminal servers. In addition to this, we adjust the usage of resources by students and staff by using virtualization technologies so that, all users can use thin clients more effectively.

We also apply a survey on the users about the performance of new system and most of the users show their satisfaction through the survey. We also need less maintenance labour for hardware/software problems on the client side.

We analyze the cost of new architecture according to several tools exist on the web. One of the important results is the less power consumption of thin clients, which is approximately 10% of personal computers. This has a big contribution not only to the total cost of ownership but also to reduce environmental impact. This can be seen as a social responsibility. After getting a primary saving and social responsibility contributions by implementing new computer architecture in education, we conclude that, the usage of thin client / server architecture will become widespread on educational institutions.

REFERENCE

- Davis, E. (2008). "Green Benefits Put Thin-Client Computing Back on the Desktop Hardware Agenda," White Paper, Forrester Research Inc. http://www.hp.com/canada/products/landing/thin_clients/files/Forrestor-Green_and_TCs.pdf
- Deboosere, L. (2012). "Cloud-Based Desktop Services for Thin Clients" Internet Computing, IEEE, Page(s): 60 67.
- Energy Calculator for PC Equipment, "http://www.eu-energystar.org/en/en_008.shtml".
- Ghose, T.; Namboodiri, V.; Pendse, R. (2011). "An Analytical Study of Power Consumption in Portable Thin Clients" Global Telecommunications Conference (GLOBECOM 2011), 2011 IEEE, Page(s): 1 5.
- Hatakeyama, Y.; Kataoka, H.; Nakajima, N.; Watabe, T.; Okuhara, Y.; Sagara, Y., (2011). "An Education Support System with Anonymized Medical Data Based on Thin Client System"Internet of Things (iThings/CPSCom), 2011 International Conference on and 4th International Conference on Cyber, Physical and Social Computing, Page(s): 494 – 497.
- Md. Anwar Hossain Masud, Xiaodi Huang (2012). "An E-learning System Architecture based on Cloud Computing" World Academy of Science, Engineering and Technology.
- Reynolds, G. (2006). "Reducing IT Costs through the Design and Implementation of a Thin Client Infrastructure in Educational Environments", Irish Signals and Systems Conference, 2006. IET, Page(s): 73 78, 2006
- Vereecken, W., L. Deboorsere, P. Simoens, B. Vermeulen, D. Colle, C.Develder, M.Pickavet, B. Dhoedt & P. Demeester, (2010). "Energy Efficiency in Thin Client Solutions," Institute for Computer Sciences, Social-Informatics and Telecommunication Engineering, pp.109-116.



USE OF ICT TECHNOLOGIES AND FACTORS AFFECTING PRE-SERVICE ELT TEACHERS' PERCEIVED ICT SELF-EFFICACY

Derya Bozdoğan

Abant İzzet Baysal University, Faculty of Education, English Language Teaching Program, Bolu - Turkey deryaerice@gmail.com

Raşit Özen

Abant İzzet Baysal University, Faculty of Education, Department of Educational Sciences, Bolu -Turkey rasitozen@yahoo.com

ABSTRACT

This study aims to identify both level and frequency of ICT technology use and factors affecting perceived selfefficacy levels of pre-service English Language Teaching (ELT) teachers' (n=241) ICT self-efficacy. The data were collected through a survey (Çuhadar & Yücel, 2010) during the 2011-2012 academic year that includes items on the use and frequency of ICT technologies along with three open-ended questions. The responses were analyzed in frequency and percentages using descriptive statistics within the framework of Technology Acceptance Model (TAM) based on Social Cognitive Theory and the content analysis technique. It could be concluded that majority of the pre-service ELT teachers find themselves self-efficacious in the use of ICT. Results further suggest that the perceived use of computers, experience and confidence play significant role while lack of knowledge and skills, technical problems and lack of confidence negatively influence ICT selfefficacy.

INTRODUCTION

The need, nowadays sometimes *the pressure*, to prioritize teaching with technology considering teachers' level of preparedness has become more demanding due to the rapid advancements in the educational use of technology. This need has been extensively emphasized in a variety of contexts (Albion, 1999; Chen, 2008). Nonetheless, numerous teachers' use of technology still has not extended over emails and search engines (Chen, 2008; Ertmer & Ottenbreit-Leftwich, 2010; Jimoyiannis & Komis, 2007; Markauskaite, 2007; Tezci, 2009; Tondeur, van Braak, Sang, Voogt, Fisser & Ottenbreit-Leftwich, 2012) albeit the excessive number and variety of Web 2.0 tools.

First, and most importantly, Bandura's (1999:2) definition of self-efficacy (SE) as "beliefs in one's capabilities to organize and execute the courses of action required managing prospective situations." sketches the effects of one's actions for the time being and later. Thus, within the context of social cognitive theory, as Bandura later (2006:4) stated SE is an asset to "self-development, successful adaptation and change" that influences either directly or indirectly goals, motivation and determination to cope with difficulties. In the educational settings, along with the recent changes in the roles of actors in education, students have become stronger in the way they control their learning process by self-directed learning including through the Internet. Essentially, teachers' level of SE directly influences the pedagogical outcomes. Friedman and Kass (2002) updated the teacher self-efficacy definition by combining classroom and organizational efficacy in that:

"teacher's perception of his or her ability to (a) perform required professional tasks and to regulate relations involved in the process of teaching and educating students and (b) perform organizational tasks, become part of the organization and its political and social processes." (p. 684).

Research on SE has explicitly addressed its impact on technology use such as Albion (1999) considered teachers' SE beliefs as one of the leading factors affecting the success of technology integration. Perceived beliefs of teachers regarding technology are significant; they are likely to determine the use of technology and related decisions and teacher behavior in the classroom (Sang, Valcke, van Braak & Tondeur, 2010).

In the Turkish context, a plethora of research (Akkoyunlu & Kurbanoğlu, 2003; Çelik & Yeşilyurt, 2013; Demiralay & Karadeniz 2010; Deryakulu, Buyukozturk, Karadeniz & Olkun, 2008; Korkut & Akkoyunlu, 2008; Tezci, 2009; Topkaya, 2010; Usluel, 2007) in relation to ICT attitudes and self-efficacy are available; mostly, the studies reveal similar findings such in Çelik and Yeşilyurt (2013) featuring attitudes to technology, perceived computer SE and computer anxiety as predicators of effective computer-assisted education. In a more general sense, Deryakulu, Buyukozturk, Karadeniz and Olkun (2008) outlined the positive and negative factors during the ICT implementation process. Furthermore, Tezci (2009) analyzed the effect of teachers on ICT use in education and concluded that ICT use among teachers in Turkey is low and limited to the Internet, email, word processing and some educational CDs. Teachers with previous experience and higher levels of knowledge and



attitude are likely to exert the ICT tools. Similarly, Demiralay and Karadeniz (2010) analyzed the effect of ICT on elementary pre-service teachers' perceived literacy SE and pre-service teachers' computer experience, skills and frequency of computer and internet use, access opportunities to computer and internet were found to be leading influencing factors. With pre-service primary education teachers, Usluel (2007) identified the level and duration of ICT usage as primary factors having an impact on the information literacy SE. Besides, Akkoyunlu and Kurbanoğlu (2003) explored the relation between pre-service teachers' perceived information literacy SE and perceived computer SE and found a positive correlation with varying degrees of change over the years. Korkut and Akkoyunlu (2008) investigating the foreign language pre-service teachers' information and computer literacy perceived SE, announced a high level of abovementioned SE types and a positive inter-relation. Correspondingly, Topkaya (2010) revealed a positive correlation between computer and general SE focusing on the pre-service English language teachers.

Theoretical background to this study is based on Social Cognitive Theory as outlined by Bandura (2001:10) in relation to perceived self-efficacy placing it as the major key agent in the adaptation and change, positive or negative inclination of thought and "self-regulation of motivation through goal challenges and outcome expectations". By this means, SE not only influences types of activities to be engaged in but also selection of behaviors that leads to a direction in personal development. A complementary model to refer is Technology Acceptance Model (TAM) developed by Davis (1986) that guides in explaining and predicating behaviors of ICT users as an extended version of the Theory of Reasoned Action (TRA) (Ajzen & Fishbein, 1980, as cited in Park, 2009: 151). TAM with its dimensions of perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, attitude towards, behavioral intention to use, external variable and actual use, has been referred and confirmed by numerous research (Dillon & Morris, 1996; Park, 2009; Silva & Dias, 2007; Yuen & Ma, 2008). In line with the model, this study intends to deduce a blend of perceived usefulness of ICT technologies, attitudes to technology use for education, affecting variables and further intentions of use by eliciting responses from the participants through analysis of their statements.

What is commonly stated in the aforementioned studies puts the teachers in the center for the successful integration of technology. Therefore, teachers needed to be instructed and trained during their pre-service training and regarding this fact this study highly values the pre-service teachers' insights about ICT. All in all, this study considers the factors affecting pre-service teachers ICT SE to frame their preparedness for ICT integration to their own teaching context.

THE STUDY

Self-efficacy levels of teachers play a significant role on the effectiveness of teaching pedagogy; as for the SE for the educational use of information and communication technologies (ICT), technology integration to education can be traced at the very least from the teacher perspective. Given its place in language teaching, this study aims to identify self-efficacy levels of pre-service English Language Teaching (ELT) students for educational use of ICT. According to Jimoyiannis and Komis (2007), among the secondary teachers of different subject, English teachers did not effectively integrated ICT and resisted to a great extent to accept ICT as a pedagogical tool. Bearing in mind these findings, the focus is the self-perception of participants' ICT use self-efficacy, besides the positively and negatively perceived factors affecting ICT integration to education. Within this framework, this study seeks answers to the following questions:

- 1. What are the ELT students' ICT technology frequency and use levels?
- 2. How do ELT students perceive themselves about their ICT SE?
- 3. What are the positive factors affecting perceived ICT SE levels of ELT students?
- 4. What are the negative factors affecting perceived ICT SE levels of ELT students?

The findings of this study need to be interpreted regarding its limitations; the research is limited to the number of students in a program of Faculty of Education, properties of the location (geographical as well as educational) and single location (one state university) and timing of the application. One final restriction is the blistering and non-stop technological developments in that the list of ICT technologies could have included some social network websites and tools used for educational purposes.

In the present study survey method was used (Karasar, 1991:77) as the pre-service ELT teachers' selfperceptions' of ICT use efficacy and the positive and negative perceived factors affecting ICT integration to education were examined.

PARTICIPANTS

Pre-service ELT students (n=241) formed the study group which consisted of 195 female and 46 male



participants during the 2011-2012 academic year. Age range of the students is between 19 and 26. The number of students according to their year of study is as follows: 74 first year, 91 second year, 51 third year and 25 fourth year students. The study group is composed of the students available at the time of survey implementation in the classroom; thus, the whole group was treated as the study group. The survey was administered in Turkish for better comprehension of the items and expression to the responses despite the presumably high English proficiency level of students. The ICT background of the participants, though could vary in a wide range, includes the ICT course offered starting from fourth grade of primary education. Nonetheless, as of 2007-2008 school year, Board of Education (Talim Terbiye Kurulu Başkanlığı - TTKB) in Turkey extended the duration of ICT course to the first eight years of compulsory education (TTKB, 2006). Moreover, students during secondary education most probably have used computers at least for personal uses. When the current undergraduate preservice ELT program is examined, it is seen that during the training of pre-service ELT teachers at Educational Faculties in Turkey, Computer I and II(1st grade), Instructional Technologies and Materials Design (ITMD)) (2nd grade), Language Teaching Materials Adaptation and Development (4th grade) courses are offered as compulsory courses and Computer-Assisted Language Learning (CALL) course is offered during the last year of study as an optional course as stated by the Council of Higher Education (Yüksek Öğretim Kurulu Başkanlığı - YÖK, 2007). When the previous undergraduate education faculty programme is examined, it is seen that Instructional Technologies and Materials Development (ITMD) course was offered to pre-service ELT teachers instead of Instructional Technologies and Materials Design (ITMD) in their second year at their training (YÖK, 1998).

DATA COLLECTION INSTRUMENT AND ANALYSIS

Within this context, the study followed mixed approach using both quantitative and qualitative research design by administering a survey originally developed by Çuhadar and Yücel (2010) that is composed of three parts. Part I with six questions aims to identify basic information about the participants (i.e. age, gender, internet access and frequency of use), Part II includes a list of computer and hardware products (15 items) along with software and communication services (13 items) to uncover the participants' level and frequency of ICT technologies use. In Part III, three open-ended questions directed to gather detailed reflection are as follows:

- 1. As a prospective foreign language teacher, do you think you have ICT self-efficacy?
- 2. What factors have positively influenced your ICT self-efficacy beliefs during your undergraduate studies?
- 3. What factors have negatively influenced your ICT self-efficacy beliefs during your undergraduate studies?

Responses for each grade were collected, typed, listed and categorized following the content analysis technique (Yıldırım & Şimşek, 2008) as was carried out by Çuhadar and Yücel (2010). For a reliable categorization process, the two researchers were both worked on grouping the statements and naming the categories. On the other hand, the use level and frequency of ICT technologies were analyzed through descriptive statistics; in other words, calculating percentage and frequency values. Furthermore, the participants have been listed and coded in numbers; for instance, referring to the student numbered 22 as S22 in short as Çuhadar and Yücel (2010) did.

FINDINGS

Responses to the survey and open-ended questions are organized and displayed in tables to underpin participants' ICT technology frequency and level of use as well as to uncover the underlying the reasons. To begin with, Table 1 demonstrates participants' ICT technology frequency and level of use concentrating on computer and hardware products in frequency and percentages.

=,				in the second second									_
	Freq	uency of u	ise				Level	of use					
Computer and Hardware Products	Often		Sometimes		Never		Can use		Can use with the helm of others		Cannot use		
	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%	
PC	94	42	111	50	19	8	206 9	99	1	1	1	0	
PDA (pocket PC)	21	10	43	20	149	70	140 6	59	27	13	35	18	
Notebook	200	86	28	12	4	2	209 1	100	0	0	0	0	
Mobile phone	225	97	5	2	3	1	206	100	0	0	0	0	
CD/DVD writer	97	43	110	48	21	9	183	88	23	11	3	1	

 Table 1. ELT students' frequency and level of computer and hardware products use



TOJET: The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology - April 2014, volume 13 issue 2

Flash drive	219	92	18	8	1	0	203	98	4	2	0	0	
Printer	58	26	119	52	50	22	157	76	37	18	14	6	
Scanner	25	11	98	44	99	45	100	48	74	35	37	17	
Webcam	79	34	127	56	23	10	191	93	10	5	4	2	
DVD player	119	52	91	40	20	8	192	92	15	7	2	1	
Digital camera	138	59	79	34	16	7	201	95	8	4	2	1	
MP3 player	167	71	44	19	23	10	206	99	2	1	0	0	
Voice recorder	34	15	118	53	71	32	183	87	20	10	7	3	
Video camera	82	37	115	51	27	12	188	90	20	9	2	1	
E-dictionary	87	38	77	34	63	28	193	92	80	5	92	3	

It is clearly understood that mobile phones (97%) are the foremost device to be used while flash drive (92%) and notebook (86%) use is quite at the high frequencies. Additionally, the level of use for mobile phones and notebook is 100% and 98% for the flash drive. The least frequently and commonly used technologies are PDA (10%), scanner (11%) and voice recorder (15%) among which scanner (48%) has the lowest level of use. It is interesting to note that the frequency of notebook (86%) use doubles that of PCs (42%); on the other hand, as a language learning tool, e-dictionary is used frequently only by the 38 percent of the participants.

Table 2 lists software and services of communication used by the participants outlining their frequency and level of use. This table aims to display ICT technologies that are also commonly practiced for educational purposes.

			Frequenc	y of ı	ıse		Level of use					
Software and Services of Communication	Often		Sometimes		Never		Can use		Can use with the help of	others	Cannot use	
	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%
Educational programs	106	48	102	46	13	6	177	86	23	11	5	3
Word processing programs (Eg. Word)	191	82	42	18	2	0	198	97	8	3	0	0
Spreadsheets (Eg. Excel)	33	14	138	61	57	25	137	66	59	28	12	6
Presentation program (Eg. PowerPoint)	184	78	48	20	3	2	196	95	9	4	1	1
Music programs (Eg. Winamp)	203	88	24	10	5	2	203	98	3	1	1	1
Video player program (Eg. Windows Media Player)	213	91	21	9	1	0	205	100	0	0	0	0
Web browser (Eg. Internet Explorer)	214	92	14	6	6	2	201	96	6	3	2	1
E-mail program (Eg. Outlook)	74	33	76	34	73	33	148	72	34	16	25	12
Chat program (Eg. MSN)	168	72	58	25	8	3	204	98	3	2	0	0
E-mail groups (Eg. Yahoo Groups)	72	32	68	30	85	38	158	79	29	14	14	7
Web-based forum	48	21	99	44	77	35	136	68	39	19	25	13
Blog (Weblog)	41	18	106	47	79	35	140	70	44	22	15	8
SMS	217	92	18	8	2	0	201	99	3	1	0	0

|--|

The most commonly used ICT technologies displayed in Table 2 are web browsers (92%), SMS (92%), video player programs (91%) and music programs (88%). Spreadsheets (14%), blogs (18%) and forums (21%), respectively, are listed as the least frequently used ones; at the same time, the level of use for these technologies are high with blogs (70%) as the least self-used one. Nevertheless, frequent use of emails has been expressed only by the 33% of the participants.

The following tables will report the responses to the three open ended questions. Pre-service ELT student responses to the first question "As a prospective foreign language teacher, do you think you have self-efficacy



for using ICT for educational purposes?" were analyzed in two categories: Competence and Incompetence. For competency, seven; conversely, for incompetency five main reasons emerged as illustrated in Table 3.

T-LL 2 FIT -t-d-ut-? ICT OF -ud-th-in-

	Table 3. ELT students		SE allu		2450115				
	Reasons	1^{st}	(n=74)	2 nd	(n=91)	3 rd	(n=51)	4 ^t	^h (n=25)
		f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%
	I can use ICT for educational purposes	14	40	10	13.70	14	56	4	
	(research, assignments, presentations).								21.05
	ELT requires me to use ICT.	5	14.29	11	15.07	1	4	-	-
nce	I know how to use ICT successfully.	6	17.14	19	26.03	4	16	3	15.79
etei	I am eager to use ICT and keep myself updated.	3	8.57	10	13.70	4	16	5	26.32
ub	I can use ICT for personal use	7	20	11	15.07	2	8	-	
<u>C</u> 01	(videos, communication).								-
Ũ	I enrolled in the ICT course last year.	-	-	12	16.44	-	-	-	-
	CALL course has improved my ICT skills.	-	-	-	-	-	-	7	36.84
	Total	35	100	73	100	25	100	19	100
	Teachers do not provide enough guidance	2	10	3	12.5	1	10	-	-
ce	(eg. website addresses).								
ten	I do not have enough information and skills.	10	50	14	58.33	3	30	4	100
ıpe	I do not use it for educational purposes.	6	30	-	-	2	20	-	-
noc	I have limited Internet access.	2	10	3	12.5	3	30	-	-
Inc	I cannot keep myself updated.	-	-	4	16.67	1	10	-	-
	Total	20	100	24	100	10	100	4	100

<u>Total 20 100 24 100 10 10 0 4 100</u> Students seem to have an awareness of using ICT in language teaching and learning. In general, students of all grades expressed their competence in ICT use while fewer voiced some concerns and insufficiencies as their incompetence. Given the frequency of reasons per grade, it is observed that first graders believe they "can use" ICT for both educational and personal uses while they know to conduct the ICT operations successfully. Second graders reported knowing how to use ICT successfully; additionally emphasized the significant role of the compulsory ICT course they had enrolled the previous year. On the other hand, third graders ranked "educational use of ICT" top among the reasons followed by knowing how to use it. What is thought-provoking in the fourth graders' statements is the effect of CALL course and the distinctive increase in their eagerness to use ICT as opposed to other grades.

More specifically, some second year students (S102, S146) linked their self-confidence in their use of ICT to their interest in the newest and up-to-date tools. As for the educational use, integrating visual aids was emphasized in addition to using ICT to practice pronunciation and to aid as an e-dictionary. Nonetheless, third grade students (S171, S 188 and S192) attributed access to and use of online databases and material development as the educational uses of ICT in practice. Lastly, to fourth graders CALL course has created a feeling that they would be confident in their future profession in integrating ICT to their classes. Here, neither ICT course offered in the first year nor the personal use of ICT was mentioned. Instead, students about to graduate started showing more eagerness to ICT use. Moreover, several (S222, S234) conveyed how they could manage to succeed using ICT by trial and error attempts.

Answers to the second question "What factors have positively influenced your self-efficacy beliefs about the educational use of ICT during your undergraduate studies?" were listed and ranked that included 17 reasons identified as positive contributors (see Table 4).

Table 4. Positive factors inf	luenci	ng ELT s	tuden	ts' ICT S	E			
Positive factors		1 st		2 nd		3 rd		4 th
	(n	=74)	(n=91)		(n=51)		(1	n=25)
	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%
I can manage to use ICT on my own.	4	8.89	1	0.93	-	-	-	-
I get positive feedback and support from my teachers.	3	6.67	-	-	2	2.90	-	-
I can use ICT for my courses.	13	28.89	34	31.78	22	31.88	11	31.43
I am/get experienced in the use of ICT.	6	13.33	21	19.63	9	13.04	1	2.86
I can access information instantly & save time.	5	11.11	4	3.74	5	7.25	1	2.86
Computer Literacy course	5	11.11	4	3.74	2	2.90	5	14.29



Total	45	100	107	100	69	100	35	100
CALL course	-	-	-	-	-	-	5	14.29
ICT enables communication among students.	-	-	-	-	1	1.45	-	-
ICT enables individualized learning.	-	-	-	-	1	1.45	-	-
I get more motivated.	-	-	-	-	3	4.35	1	2.86
ICT change the learning environment (visuality, rich sources, meaningful learning)	-	-	8	7.48	10	14.49	-	_
My interest and enjoyment increase.	-	-	7	6.54	4	5.80	2	5.71
Awareness for the importance of ICT use in teaching	2	4.44	1	0.93	2	2.90	4	11.43
Availability of ICT facilities/tools	1	2.22	1	0.93	1	1.45	1	2.86
My language skills (listening) improve.	1	2.22	2	1.87	1	1.45	-	-
My self-confidence increases.	5	11.11	12	11.21	6	8.70	3	8.57
ITMD course	-	0.00	12	11.21	-	-	1	2.86

The most commonly stated leading reason is determined as "I can use ICT for my courses." for all grades. The ranking for the initial three reasons "I can use ICT for my courses.", "I am/get experienced in the use of ICT." and "My self-confidence increases." is the same for the first and second year students. Accordingly, a first grader wrote down "I am aware of my skills in technology use." Several students mentioned that "knowing that I will be a teacher, I am aware of the need to use technology for my profession." First year students see "Computer Literacy" course as a contributor while second year students consider ITMD (Instructional Technology and Material Development) course a positive factor. As an example, S3, a first year student listed "happiness of completing the assignments on her own, encouraging herself to perform by reminding herself that she can do and she did it, and positive feedback from the teachers" as positive contributors. Besides, CALL (Computer Assisted Language Learning) course was perceived to have positive influence for the course participant fourth year students. To name a few more of the positive factors, students believe that their language skills, specifically, listening skills will improve with the help of ICT tools; in the meantime, they will be more confident, motivated and interested.

Students (S22, S45) identified an overall positive impact on their learning process. One of the first year students (S3) expressed his/her confidence that shows the courage needed to make the utmost use of ICT by stating "I can do it, I did it." In line with their undergraduate courses, first graders (S14) indicate the benefit of ICT in the form of online dictionaries that help get prepared for the "Composition" course.

Though the leading reasons are similar to those of first graders, second year students differentiated themselves by pointing out the impact of ITMD course. Moreover, properties such as time-saving and instantly accessible have been merged into practical use of ICT. Increase is not only observed in self-confidence but also in interest and enjoyment. What has been meant by "experience" was clarified as the Computer Literacy course, private ICT courses, and being computer literate since childhood. Positive factors of "effective presentation skills through ICT" and "positive ICT-related peer feedback" stated by a second year student (S85). Third year students explained how they could use ICT for my courses including way of doing research and preparing for courses. Another popular issue was the teachers' guidance and feedback indicated by first and third graders and not to be mentioned by the rest. Only third and fourth year students seem to have realized the importance of speed of developments in the internet and felt somehow left behind.

Last of all, there were not as many responses to the third question as in the previous ones. The question posed was: "What factors have negatively influenced your self-efficacy beliefs about the educational use of ICT during your undergraduate studies? Majority of students left this question blank and only 12 general statements could be listed (see Table 5).

Table 5. Negative facto	Table 5. Negative factors influencing pre-service EL1 students' IC1 SE											
Negative factors	1 st			2^{nd}		3 rd		4^{th}				
	((n=74)		(n=91)		(n=51)		(n=25)				
	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%				
Insufficient guidance	3	12.5	-	-	-	-	-	-				
Lack of technological tools	5	20.83	3	6.67	3	8.57	3	21.43				
Time consuming	3	12.5	2	4.44	2	5.71	-	-				



Technical problems		3	12.5	10	22.22	7	20	2	14.29
Lack of knowledge & skills		9	37.5	9	20.00	12	34.29	5	35.71
Reluctance		1	4.17	-	-	-	-	-	-
Information access problems		-	-	8	17.78	1	2.86	-	-
Excessive use of ICT in courses		-	-	1	2.22	1	2.86	-	-
Lack of interest		-	-	1	2.22	4	11.43	-	-
Insufficient access to ICT in class		-	-	-	-	2	5.71	-	-
Insufficient access to Internet		-	-	-	-	-	-	1	7.14
Lack of confidence		-	-	11	24.44	3	8.57	3	21.43
	Total	24	100	45	100	35	100	14	100

Negative factors could be grouped as insufficiencies and challenges. Precisely, insufficiencies are of guidance, technological tools, knowledge and skills, interest, confidence, access to ICT and Internet. Likewise, challenges are of technical or accessibility origin. Most commonly stated negative point is "lack of knowledge and skills" with a lessening degree among grades; nevertheless, it peaked during the third year. Furthermore, majority of the respondents reported "having difficulty in using Microsoft Excel program" which is described as "Fear of Excel" by a third year student. It is necessary to remind here that spreadsheets were reported to have been used least (14%) with a level of use of 66 percent. One of the first year students (S12) voiced the complaint about teachers' constant criticism. Another student (third grade, S202) stated the Internet problems as coming across unrelated and untrusted resources. This factor is followed by the technical problems some of which were stated as hardware (lack of) and software problems, breakdowns during presentations and issues regarding Internet connection. An interesting statement is "There are no problems at present." signaling the probability of any such incident.

Table 3 displays that first year students have not stated any lack of confidence and interest or access. Main trouble for them seems to be their inexperience and availability of technological tools. Besides, second grade students peaked in lack of confidence and technical problems. Several of them (S82, S107, and S149) explicitly correlated lack of confidence to anxiety and fear of making mistakes that would cause either technical problems or data loss. Another identified technical problem is the websites that do not work properly. It is the third grade students who felt the lack of knowledge and skills most. Apart from this, since the classes are crowded, there is not sufficient access of ICT that is closely linked to access to information. Last but not the least, fourth grade students seem to be the least negative group and they are the only group pointing out the access problems to Internet.

DISCUSSION

Outnumbering reasons for competence and positive factors could suggest that majority of pre-service ELT students have high levels of ICT self-efficacy. It could be explained with reference to the related literature. First of all, the study by Demiralay and Karadeniz (2010) resulted in the positive effect of computer use experience, level of computer use skills, frequency of use and access (both computers and Internet) on the student teachers' perceived information literacy SE. Accordingly, the participants in this study indicated the place of experience, knowledge of skills and access while singling out educational need to use ICT skills. The study by Deryakulu et al., (2008) might help to visualize how perceptions might mis/match to the practice.

Findings in this study support the aforementioned literature. In general terms, both positive and negative factors are likely to be observed for pre-service teachers. For instance, "dynamic nature of ICT" from the ICT teachers' perceptive (Deryakulu et al., 2008) and affirmative influence of ICT on the nature of teaching and learning (Jimoyiannis & Komis, 2007) seem to match one of the positive remarks in this study about ICT integration spicing up the environment with visuals and variety of sources as well as "student interest" reported in both studies.

For the first three positive factors influencing the ICT SE, the leading is "I can use ICT for my courses" displaying the awareness of pre-servicers about the practical use of ICT in language classes. "Perceived usefulness and ease of use" (Davis, 1989) are strong determinants to envisage one's intention of computer use (Ma, Andersson & Streith, 2005: 388). Furthermore, Martinovic and Zhang (2012: 467) pointed out the importance of "perceived importance of ICT" as a motivational factor. Unlike the findings of the study Jimoyiannis and Komis (2007) in which teachers feel more reasons and real experiences to be convinced about the educational use of ICT tools, participants in this study ranked the capacity to use ICT for educational purposes at the top. This could be explained as in five years, ICT might have become more pivotal and essential



even for pre-service teachers. Another difference between pre and in-service teachers that could be inferred from the aforementioned studies is in addition to awareness, in-service teachers are skeptical about the benefits of ICT.

Secondly, "I am/get experienced in the use of ICT." Though personal use of ICT does not always lead to its transfer to professional setting as contrary to the hypothesis of So, Choi, Lim and Xiong (2012) that inferred no direct effect of personal computer use on the prospective use, computer use experience could be a strong determinant of its application. Previous experience has been seen to increase the levels of computer use (Tezci, 2009); teachers with computer use experience are considered to have positive attitude and higher levels of knowledge those in line with enhanced ICT SE. For instance, to Goktas and Demirel, (2012) using ICT tools for either personal or professional purposes contributes to ICT skills as in the form of keeping blogs during which you need to use stay online and practice using ICT. Thirdly, "My self-confidence increases." has also been reported in numerous research (Goktas & Demirel, 2012; Martinovic & Zhang, 2012; Papastergiou, 2010). A supporting evidence for the increase in self-confidence regarding ICT is demonstrated by Martinovic and Zhang (2012); in their study, self-confidence as well as ICT skills of pre-service teachers improved having used ICT in the teacher education program. According to Goktas and Demirel (2012) blogs as a commonly used ICT tool helps increase the self-confidence levels of prospective teachers.

Teacher-training technology components have been found to be a strong factor in affecting and even changing ICT SE levels of pre-service teachers (Abbitt & Klett, 2007; Tondeur et al., 2012) and it is reflected here as the provision of ITMD and CALL courses labeled as positive factors. The former course covers areas of ICT based materials development and the latter offers fourth year students hands-on teaching activities blended into theory and most recent updates in the field.

On the other hand, for the negative factors the most commonly experienced "Lack of knowledge and skills". Ertmer and Ottenbreit-Leftwich (2010: 259) expressed the significance of teacher knowledge that directly influences the decision-making processes. Additional knowledge and skills required in today's context includes "pedagogical technology integration content knowledge". Teachers are expected to know about the technology, new methods enhancing student learning in the ICT settings and how to select appropriate resources to reach the learning goals. Therefore, as this study suggests "knowledge and skills" of teachers that are transferred or transformed to student learning are key indicators of success in technology, observations of best practices of technology use, related readings and discussions as well as reflection, opportunities to practice technology use to facilitate learning (ibid, p. 266)". Using blogs experimented by Goktas and Demirel (2012) applies here. Prospective teachers' perceptions of the effects of blogs on ICT competencies display that students believe "blogging helped improve my knowledge and skills regarding how to use ICTs in my future profession (ibid, p. 913)"

This factor is followed by "Technical problems". Some minor similar problems such as software or hardware related pitfalls have been reported by Martinovic and Zhang (2012) and teachers solved problems by bringing their personal laptops to the classroom as a backup plan. Several further complaints were collected from the students regarding the opportunities in the laboratory and Internet connection (Papastergiou, 2010).

Third negative factor listed "Lack of confidence" have been extensively encountered in relation to SE (Albion, 1999; Ertmer & Ottenbreit-Leftwich, 2010; Goktas & Demirel, 2012; Markauskaite, 2007). To start with, Ertmer and Ottenbreit-Leftwich (2010) further adds that, in addition to the knowledge and skills required, self-efficacy referred to as feeling self-confidence is necessary particularly for the inexperienced and prospective teachers. Hence, opportunities to practice technology use in the form of presentations or field experiences and accessing a variety of models and examples (ibid, p. 266) are some suggestions to enhance SE during the pre-service teacher education. In a similar fashion, Markauskaite (2007) reported that while trainee teachers were "quite confident" with their basic ICT skills, they were not as confident as with their advanced technical skills. A significant increase of self-confidence in this study of 2007 was regarding the use of email to communicate. Another suggestion is the use of blogging during pre-service teacher education to improve self-confidence regarding ICT (Goktas & Demirel, 2012). As an additional point, pre-service and in-service teachers (Chen, 2008) have been complaining about the time consuming character of ICT tools that is also reflected in the participant responses in this study.

As a final and comprehensive point, the findings of this study reveals correspondence to the Prospective Computer Use (PCU) domain and scale of Sang et al. (2010) applied to pre-service teachers in China. PCU, the adapted version of Computer Use Scale by van Braak (2004, as cited in Sang et al., 2010: 105) covers using



computers for future teaching practice such as making presentations using Powerpoint, doing online research, getting help from computers to shape individualized learning and communicating to teachers and classmates through emails.

CONCLUSIONS

Technology has been transformed to *teachnology* as an integral part of teaching programs requiring some essentials for the set up and implementation. As Prensky (2001:1) proposed the dichotomy of digital natives and immigrants; today's learners "think and process information differently" as natives to the digital world; therefore their interests, expectations, beliefs and practices should be evaluated within the digital context. In this direction, natives seem to be ICT self-efficacious and positive factors outnumber and outweigh the negative ones influencing their ICT use.

To sum up, believing the difference technology creates on the information processing, "the Net Generation" student teachers are expected to create that difference when it is their turn (So et al., 2012: 1234). Pre-service teachers' preparation for technology use should cover areas of systematic change efforts such as aligning theory and practice, access to resources, cooperation with/between institutions, leadership, teachers as role models, feedback, collaboration, reflection and finally authentic experiences (Tondeur et al., 2012). Additionally, these programs need to consider teacher beliefs, SE and attitude to ICT that directly influence their in-class behaviors and practices (Chen, 2008).

The answer to the question "Are the teachers with low levels of SE likely to experience more stress and early burnout?" signals the role and importance of SE for teachers of all levels and subject areas. The significance of this study lies in the fact that if the changes either at the curriculum or subject level take place following a bottom-up approach regarding what teachers are able, willing and motivated to do, there is an increased chance of success.

REFERENCES

- Abbitt, J. & Klett, M. (2007). Identifying influences on attitudes and self-efficacy beliefs towards technology integration among pre-service educators. *Electronic Journal for the Integration of Technology in Education*, 6, 28-42. Retrieved May 4, 2012 from http://ejite.isu.edu/volume6/abbitt.pdf
- Akkoyunlu, B. & Kurbanoğlu, S. (2003). Öğretmen adaylarının bilgi okuryazarlığı ve bilgisayar öz yeterlik algıları üzerine bir çalışma. [A study on teacher candidates' perceived information literacy self-efficacy and perceived computer self-efficacy] *Hacettepe Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi (HU Journal of Education), 24*, 1-10.
- Albion, P.R. (1999). *Self-efficacy beliefs as an indicator of teachers' preparedness for teaching with technology*. Retrieved August 10, 2012 from http://eprints.usq.edu.au/6973/1/Albion_SITE_1999_AV.pdf .
- Bandura, A. (1999). Exercise of personal and collective efficacy in changing societies. In Bandura, A. (Ed.) *Self-*
- *Efficacy in Changing Societies.* [Google Books version]. Retrieved August 18, 2012 from http://books. google. com.tr/books?id=JbJnOAoLMNEC &printsec=frontcover&dq=bandura+self efficacy&source= bl&ots= mU7a

7zHOcV&sig=rq1CaFkMonEPwRKuXJH8FIKnmE8&hl=tr&sa=X&ei=y64qUIaAIo6O4gT8_IAo&safe =active&redir_esc=y#v=onepage&q=bandura%20self-efficacy&f=false

Bandura, A. (2001). Social cognitive theory: An agentic perspective. Annual Review of Psychology, 52, 1-26.

Bandura, A. (2006). Adolescent development from an agentic perspective. In Pajares, F., & Urdan, T. C. (Eds). Self-efficacy beliefs of adolescents [Google Books version]. Retrieved July 22, 2012 from http://books.google.

com.tr/books?hl=en&lr=&id=KMzuu9aTdY0C&oi=fnd&pg=PA1&dq=pajares+overview+of+cognitive+ theory+self+efficacy&ots=zcj7y4ASY5&sig=4-0NxSp3ss1 YKcGbaYY4j9jn62I&safe =active#v=onepage&q=pajares%20 overview%20

of%20cognitive%20theory%20self%20efficacy&f=false_

Chen, Y. (2008). A mixed-method study of EFL teachers' internet use in language instruction. *Teaching and Teacher*

Education, 24, 1015-1028.

- Çelik, V. &Yeşilyurt, E. (2013). Attitudes to technology, perceived computer self-efficacy and computer anxiety as predictors of computer supported education. *Computers & Education*, 60 (1), 148-158.
- Çuhadar, C. & Yücel, M. (2010). Yabancı dil öğretmeni adaylarının bilgi ve iletişim teknolojilerinin öğretim amaçlı kullanımına yönelik özyeterlilik algıları [Perceptions of foreign language education pre-service teachers on educational use of information and communication technologies]. *Pamukkale Üniversitesi* Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi, 27, 199-210.



- Davis, F.D. (1986). A technology acceptance model for empirically testing new end-user information systems: Theory and results. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, MIT Sloan School of Management, Cambridge, MA.
- Davis, F. D. (1989). Perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, and user acceptance of information technology. MIS Quarterly, 13, 319-340.
- Demiralay, R. & Karadeniz, S. (2010). The effect of use of information and communication technologies on elementary student teachers' perceived information literacy self-efficacy. *Kuram ve Uygulamada Eğitim Bilimleri / Educational Sciences: Theory & Practice, 10* (2), 841-851.
- Deryakulu, D., Buyukozturk, S., Karadeniz, Ş. & Olkun, S. (2008). Satisfying and frustrating aspects of ICT teaching: A comparison based on self-efficacy. *Proceedings of World Academy of Science, Engineering* and Technology, 36, 481-484. Retrieved July 22, 2012 from https://www.waset.org/journals/waset/v22/v22-81.pdf
- Dillon, A. & Morris, M. (1996). User acceptance of new information technology: Theories and models. In M. Williams (ed.) Annual Review of Information Science and Technology, 31, Medford NJ: Information Today, 3-32. Retrieved July 20, 2012 from

http://www.ischool.utexas.edu/~adillon/BookChapters/User%20acceptance.htm

- Ertmer, P.A. & Ottenbreit-Leftwich, A.T. (2010). Teacher technology change: How knowledge, confidence, beliefs and culture intersect. *Journal of Research on Technology in Education*, 42 (3).
- Friedman, I. A & Kass, E. (2002). Teacher self-efficacy: A classroom-organization conceptualization. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 18, 675-686.
- Goktas, Y. & Demirel, T. (2012). Blog-enhanced ICT courses: Examining their effects on prospective teachers' ICT competencies and perceptions. *Computers & Education*, 58, 908-917.
- Jimoyiannis, A. & Komis, V. (2007). Examining teachers' beliefs about ICT in education: Implications of a teacher preparation programme. *Teacher Development: An International Journal of Teachers' Professional development*, 11 (2), 149-173.
- Karasar, N. (1991). Bilimsel araştırma yöntemi: Kavramlar, ilkeler, teknikler [Scientific research method: Concepts, principles, techniques]. Ankara.
- Korkut, E. & Akkoyunlu, B. (2008). Yabancı dil öğretmen adaylarının bilgi ve bilgisayar okuryazarlık özyeterlikleri [Foreign language teacher candidates' information and computer literacy perceived selfefficacy] Hacettepe Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi (HU Journal of Education), 34, 178-188.
- Ma, W. W., Andersson, R. & Streith K. (2005). Examining user acceptance of computer technology: An empirical study of student teachers. *Journal of Computer Assisted learning*, 21, 387-395.
- Markauskaite, L. (2007). Exploring the structure of trainee teachers' ICT literacy: The main components of and relationships between general and technical capabilities. *Educational Technology Research and Development*, *55*, 547-572.
- Martinovic, D. & Zhang, Z. (2012). Situating ICT in the teacher education program: Overcoming challenges, fulfilling expectations. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 28, 461-469.
- Papastergiou, M. (2010). Enhancing physical education and sport science students' self-efficacy and attitudes regarding information and communication technologies through a computer literacy course. *Computers & Education*, 54, 298-308.
- Park, S. Y. (2009). An analysis of the technology acceptance model in understanding university students' behavioral intention to use e-learning. *Educational Technology & Society*, 12 (3), 150-162.
- Prensky, M. (2001). *Digital natives, digital immigrants*. Retrieved August 12, 2012 from www.marcprensky.com/writing/prensky-digital natives, digital immigrants-part1.pdf
- Sang, G., Valcke, M., van Braak, J. & Tondeur, J. (2010). Student teachers' thinking processes and ICT integration: Predictors of prospective teaching behaviors with educational technology. *Computers & Education*, 54, 103-112.
- Silva, P. M. & Dias, G. D. (2007). Theories about technology acceptance: Why the users accept or reject the information technology? *Brazilian Journal of Information Science*, 1(2), 69-86. Retrieved August 18, 2012 from <u>http://www.bjis.unesp.br</u>
- So, H., Choi, H., Lim, W.Y. & Xiong, Y. (2012). Little experience with ICT: Are they really the Net Generation student teachers? *Computers & Education*, *59*, 1234-1245.
- Talim Terbiye Kurulu Başkanlığı–TTKB (2006). *Öğretim Programları* [Curricula]. Retrieved August 12, 2012 from http://ttkb.meb.gov.tr/program.aspx.
- Tezci, E. (2009). Teachers' effect on ICT use in education: The Turkey sample. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 1, 1285-1294.
- Tondeur, J., van Braak, J., Sang, G., Voogt, J., Fisser, P. & Ottenbreit-Leftwich, A. T. (2012). Preparing preservice teachers to integrate technology in education: A synthesis of qualitative evidence. *Computers & Education*, 59, 134-144.
- Topkaya, E. Z. (2010). Pre-service English language teachers' perceptions of computer self-efficacy and general



self-efficacy. *TOJET: The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology*, 9 (1), 143-156.

- Usluel, Y. K. (2007). Can ICT usage make a difference on student teachers' information literacy self-efficacy. *Library & Information Science Research, 29*, 92-102.
- Yıldırım, A. & Şimşek, H. (2008). Sosyal bilimlerde nitel araştırma yöntemleri [Qualitative research methods in social sciences] (6. Güncelleştirilmiş ve geliştirilmiş baskı -7. baskı tıpkı basım). Ankara: Seçkin Yayıncılık.
- Yuen, A. H. K. & Ma, W. W. K. (2008). Exploring teacher accepting of e-learning technology. Asia-Pacific Journal of Teacher Education, 36 (3), 229-243.

Yüksek Öğretim Kurulu Başkanlığı – YÖK (Mart, 1998). Eğitim fakültesi öğretmen yetiştirme lisans programları [Undergraduate teacher education programs of education faculties]. Ankara: YÖK.

Yüksek Öğretim Kurulu Başkanlığı – YÖK (Haziran, 2007). *Eğitim fakültesi öğretmen yetiştirme lisans programları* [Undergraduate teacher education programs of education faculties]. Ankara: YÖK.



USE OF INSTRUCTIONAL TECHNOLOGIES IN SCIENCE CLASSROOMS: TEACHERS' PERSPECTIVES

Funda SAVAŞCI AÇIKALIN Istanbul University Hasan Ali Yücel Faculty of Education fsavasci@gmail.com

ABSTRACT

The purpose of this study was to investigate how science teachers use instructional technologies in science classrooms. Participants were 63 teachers who have just completed an alternative teaching certificate program in one of the largest universities in Turkey. They were asked to make a lesson plan based on any topic by assuming that they had an ideal school environment. Based on analysis of all lesson plans, participants were asked to explain their reasons for using those technologies. Findings revealed that PowerPoint was the most widely used instructional technology in their lesson plans. Textbooks and blackboards were other instructional technologies used by participants. Animations were the least used instructional technology by all participants. None of the participants used internet, interactive smart boards, spreadsheets, computer simulations, and educational software in their lesson plans even though they were told to assume that they had an ideal environment in terms of time, resources, and students.

Keywords: Instructional technologies, Science teachers, Information and communication technologies (ICT), High schools

INTRODUCTION

Use of instructional technologies in education has been widely discussed with advancement of new technologies (Koç & Bakır, 2010; Lavonen, Juuti, Aksela, & Meisalo, 2006; Linn, 2003; Lumpe, & Chanbers, 2001; Mumtaz, 2010; Serin, 2011; Spector, Merrill, Merrienboer, & Driscoll, 2008; Umay, 2004). Governments all over the world have made investment in order to integrate information and communication technologies in schools. For example, in the United States, more than 95% of schools and 72% of classrooms were connected to the internet by 2000 (Quality Education Data, 2000, as cited in Hogarty, Lang, & Kromrey, 2003) and the total spending cost \$5.2 billion in 2001 (Reed et al., 2001, as cited in Hogarty, Lang, & Kromrey, 2003). Turkey also started projects related to integration information and communication technology in educational system as early as 1984 (Göktaş, 2006). The recent project was the FATIH Project initiated by the Ministry of National Education ([MNE], 2012) with the purpose of improving use of information and communication technologies in schools during the teaching and learning process. In this project, each classroom in schools will have computers with high speed internet connections, interactive smart boards, printers, and projections in order to reach information and communication technology based instruction by 2013 (MNE, 2012).

On the other hand, many scholars have discussed concerns about teacher beliefs, proficiency, and preparation about use of technology in their instruction (Al-Fuadil, & Mellar, 2008; Hogarty, Lang, & Kromrey, 2003; İşman, 2002; Mumtaz, 2000; Ottenbreit-Leftwich, Glazewski, Newby, & Ertmer, 2010; Tezci, 2009). The main purpose of this study was to investigate how science teachers use instructional technologies in science classrooms. Therefore, the paper may have contribution to the literature by providing some information for especially teacher educators about what instructional technologies science teachers tended to use and why or why not they use those technologies in their classrooms.

METHODOLOGY

Qualitative research methodology was adopted in the current study in order to response the following research questions: The first research question is what kind of instructional technologies that teachers are more likely to use in science classrooms. The second research question is why they prefer those instructional technologies.

Participants

Participants were 63 teachers (46 female, 17 male) who have just completed an alternative teaching certificate in one of the largest universities in Turkey. All participants completed educational technology and material design, teaching science methods courses as well as other educational courses classroom management, educational psychology, field experience and teaching practice by the time of the data collected. All participants have Bachelor of Science (B.Sc.) degree in physics, chemistry, and biology. Thirty eight percent (24) of the participants graduated from physics, 27% of them (17) from chemistry and 35% of the participants (22) from biology departments. More than 76% of the participants were serving as teachers in public or private schools by the time of the study conducted.



Data Collection

Data from lesson plans and an open-ended questionnaire were collected at the end of spring 2012. Participants were asked to make a lesson plan based on any topic they selected by assuming that they had an ideal school environment. They were not directed to use any kind of instructional technologies but they were told that they would imagine that they had an ideal school environment in terms of student, administration and resources. All lesson plans were analyzed in terms of instructional technologies they used. In an open-ended questionnaire, participants were asked to explain why or why not they use those technologies.

Data Analysis

Data were analyzed by using an inductive approach at two main steps. At the first step, all lesson plans were numbered and analyzed in terms of instructional technologies used. Instructional technologies used in the plans were categorized as PowerPoint presentations, textbooks, blackboards, laboratory work, videos, worksheets, supplementary books, and animations. Frequency analysis was conducted for each category. At the second step, participants' responses to an open-ended question why or why not they selected those instructional technologies were listed and analyzed. Then, students' responses were compared by department. All findings will be discussed in the next section by providing key quotations given by participants.

RESULTS

Table 1 shows that instructional technologies indicated by participants in the lesson plans based on their majors physics, chemistry and biology. The overall findings of the study reveal that PowerPoint was the most widely used instructional technology in the lesson plans. Sixty three percent of the participants (40) used PowerPoint presentation in their lesson plans. The second widely used instructional technology was textbooks indicated by 46% of the participants in their lesson plans. The third widely used instructional technology was blackboards stated by 41% of the participants. Laboratory work including demonstration and experiments is stated by 37% of the participants. Thirty percent of the participants planned to use videos while only 10% of the participants tended to use animations in their class. Twenty four percent of the participants tended to use worksheets in order to help students prepare for standard-based tests while 21% of the participants planned to use supplementary books for the same purpose.

As compared instructional technologies used in the lesson plans in terms of majors, PowerPoint presentation was instructional technology still widely used by chemistry and biology teachers (82% each) while only 33% of physics teachers in the study tended to use PowerPoint presentation in their class. The instructional technology most widely used by physics teachers (63%) was blackboards. The instructional technology second widely used by physics teachers (58%) in the study was textbooks. Laboratory work, worksheets, and supplementary books were other widely used by physics teachers (38%) in the study. Videos (17%) and animations (13%) were less widely used instructional technologies by physics teachers in the study.

	Phys	ics	Chem	istry	Biolo	ogy	Total	
	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%
PowerPoint slides	8	33	14	82	18	82	40	63
Textbooks	14	58	6	35	9	41	29	46
Blackboards	15	63	3	18	8	36	26	41
Laboratory work	9	38	9	53	5	23	23	37
Videos	4	17	4	24	11	50	19	30
Worksheets	9	38	3	18	3	14	15	24
Supplementary books	9	38	1	6	3	14	13	21
Animations	3	13	0	0	3	14	6	10

Table 1: Instructional technologies used by participants based on their majors

Both chemistry teachers (82%) and biology teachers (82%) in the study tended to most widely use PowerPoint presentation as instructional technology. However, the second widely used instructional technology by chemistry teachers (53%) was laboratory work while the second most widely used instructional technology by biology teachers (50%) was videos. The third widely used instructional technologies by chemistry (35%) and biology (41%) teachers in the study were textbooks. Blackboards were used by biology teachers (36%) while used by chemistry teachers (18%). Twenty four percent of chemistry teachers in the study used videos while 23% of the biology teachers used laboratory work. Fourteen percent of the biology teachers tended to equally use worksheets, supplementary books, and animations. However, 18% of the chemistry teachers tended to use worksheets while 6% of them used supplementary books. None of the chemistry teachers in the study indicated that they would use animation in their class. It is noteworthy since animations have a significant role in teaching and learning chemistry. Many scholars agree that students have difficulty in understanding chemistry concepts



because they do not see directly phenomena at the submicroscopic level and do not have the ability to move between macroscopic, submicroscopic and symbolic representations in chemistry (Gabel, 1999; Johnstone, 1999; Talanquer, 2011). Animations may help students to understand chemistry concepts by showing the phenomena at different representation levels (Chang, Quintana, & Krajcik, 2010). Another significant finding of the study was that internet, interactive smart boards, spreadsheets, computer simulations, and educational software were not found in participants' lesson plans.

The second research question was why teachers prefer to use those instructional technologies in their lesson plans. The instructional technology most widely used by participants (63%) was PowerPoint presentations. Participants indicated their reasons why they chose PowerPoint presentations in their class as providing visuals (15), saving time (13), getting students' attention (10), knowledge retention (10), active participation (4), easily used and prepared (3). For example, participant #34 emphasized saving time by saying that "I preferred to use PowerPoint presentations during lecturing. I provide students with copies of slides. My purpose of doing this was to do more practice by saving more time." Similarly, participant #41 said that "I planned to use PowerPoint slides because I believe that they are attractive and easy to understand for students. I also believe that PowerPoint slides have more visuals so I can give more knowledge stick in their mind." On the other hand, two participants indicated that PowerPoint presentations should not be necessarily used if the topic is easy or time is limited. For example, participant #19 stated that "PowerPoint slides might be prepared for this lesson, but since the topic is very easy and time is limited, it is not necessary."

Only two participants indicated their reasons for using textbooks as being economic and helping students understand the content. Two participants stated that they used blackboards for solving problems. One participant expressed that she might want to use interactive smart boards and tablet PCs but she thought that she was not able to use them due to lack of training for using those technologies.

Laboratory work was widely used by participants for several reasons. Some of the reasons stated by participants were providing visual learning (4), developing positive attitude towards science and scientists (2), making abstract concepts to more concrete (1), making scientific inquiry (1), having students' active participation (1), and gaining scientific process skills (1). For instance, participant #17 stated that "by using simple materials (wood, water, oil, cup), students have opportunity to observe liquid pressure." Three participants indicated that they did not use laboratory. Their reasons for not using laboratory work were limited class time, inappropriate with some topic, and preventing instruction. One participant stated that "this topic [shooting and force] is not appropriate for laboratory" (P#10).

Videos were used by participants (30%) in their lesson plans for several reasons: providing visual and auditory learning (8), getting attention (5), making connection with daily life and giving examples from everyday life (2), knowledge retention (2), having fun (1). One participant stated that "I chose video demonstration because I think that students can learn better by both visual and auditory ways" (P#42). One participant stated that she did not prefer to use videos since they might make students lose their attention. Participant #44 stated that "I think that students would lose their attention and time would not be enough if I used videos. Instead, watching videos can be given as homework outside of the classroom"

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

The findings of the study offer important insights related to the literature about use of instructional technologies in science classrooms. The main findings of the study and a discussion of each finding with related literature are presented.

- a. One of the major findings of the study was that a majority of the participants used PowerPoint presentations in their lesson plans. Chemistry and biology teachers most widely used PowerPoint slides in their instruction while physics teachers most widely used blackboards. The reason for this discrepancy probably may come from their beliefs that PowerPoint is more appropriate depending on the content taught.
- b. In the current study, physics teachers were more likely to use textbooks, worksheets, and supplementary books rather than PowerPoint presentations, videos, and animations.
- c. In the current study, chemistry teachers were more likely to use PowerPoint presentations, laboratory work, and textbooks rather than videos, blackboards, worksheets, and supplementary books. It is noteworthy that none of the participants having chemistry major used animations in their lesson plans although animations can be helpful for students to connect the relationship between macro, sub-micro and symbolic representation levels.
- d. Biology teachers in the study were more likely to use PowerPoint presentations, videos, textbooks rather than blackboards, laboratory work, worksheets, supplementary books, and animations.



- e. Animations were the least used instructional technology by all participants.
- f. None of the participants used internet, interactive smart boards, spreadsheets, computer simulations, and educational software in their lesson plans even though they were told to assume that they had an ideal environment in terms of time, resources, and students. Therefore, resources and institutions as barriers for using information and communication technologies stated by Hew & Brush (2007) should not be concern for teachers. The reason for this finding may be due to the fact that they may be unfamiliar with those technologies or they may not know how to use those technologies in their lesson. As Hew & Brush (2007) stated, teachers' knowledge, skills, beliefs and attitudes can be barriers for making instructional decisions.
- g. There may be some limitations of the current study. Findings of the study cannot be generalized to all science teachers in schools. The findings are limited with this group of participants. However, the findings may be applied to similar context. Moreover, participants in this study were asked to assume that they would have an ideal classroom environment in fact they did not have such an environment in real life. If they had had an ideal (high tech) classroom environment, they would have more responses in favor of using more high tech instructional technology tools and materials. Not having an ideal environment in real life, participants may have tended to use more traditional instructional tools in their lesson plans.
- h. There is a need to increase teachers' knowledge and skills about how to use those instructional technologies and help them develop positive attitudes toward information and communication technologies. Teacher education programs play a key role in preparing well-informed teachers with positive attitudes toward using ICT. Further research can be conducted in order to develop content-based workshops where teachers learn enough knowledge and skills about ICT in science classrooms and have positive attitudes toward using them and investigate effects of these programs on teachers' knowledge, skills, and attitudes toward ICT.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

The author would like to acknowledge the financial support provided by Istanbul University Scientific Research Projects Fund with the project number 24791.

REFERENCES

- Al-Fudail, M., & Mellar, H. (2008). Investigating teacher stress when using technology. Computers & Education, 51, 1103-1110.
- Chang, H. Y., Quintana, C., & Krajcik, J. S. (2010). The impact of designing and evaluating molecular animations on how well middle school students understand the particulate nature of matter. *Science Education*, 94, 73-94.
- Gabel, D.L. (1999). Improving teaching and learning through chemistry education research: A look to the future. *Journal of Chemical Education*, 76, 548–554.
- Göktaş, Y. (2006). The current status of information and communication technologies integration into schools of teacher education and K-12 in Turkey. Unpublished doctoral dissertation Middle East Technical University
- Hew, K. F., & Brush, T. (2007). Integratin technology into K-12 teaching and learning: current knowledge gaps and recommendations for future research. *Educational Technology Research and Development*, 55(3), 223-252.
- Hogarty, K. Y., Lang, T. R., & Kromkey, J. D. (2003). Another look at technology use in classrooms: The development and validation of an instrument to measure teachers' perceptions. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 63(1), 139-162.
- İşman, A. (2002). Sakarya ili öğretmenlerinin eğitim teknolojileri yönündeki yeterlilikleri. *The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology*, 1(1), Article 10.
- Johnstone, A.H. (1999). The nature of chemistry. Education in Chemistry, 36(2), 45-47.
- Koç, M., & Bakır, N. (2010). A needs assessment survey to investigate pre-service teachers' knowledge, experiences and perceptions about preparation to using educational technologies. *The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology*, 9(1), 13-22.
- Lavonen, J., Juuti, K., Aksela, M., & Meisalo, V. (2006). A professional development project for improving the use of information and communication technologies in science teaching. *Technology, Pedagogy, & Education, 15*(2), 159-174.
- Linn, M. C. (2003). Technology and science education: Starting points, research programs, and trends. International Journal of Science Education, 25(6), 727-758.
- Lumpe, A. T., & Chanbers, E. (2001). Assessing teachers' context beliefs about technology use. Journal of Research on Technology in Education, 34(1), 93-107.



- Ministry of National Education (2012). *FATIH Project*. Retrieved on July 20, 2012 from http://fatihprojesi.meb.gov.tr/tr/duyuruincele.php?id=17
- Mumtaz, S. (2000). Factors affecting teachers' use of information and communications technology: A review of the literature. *Journal of Information Technology for Teacher Education*, 9(3), 319-342.
- Ottenbreit-Leftwich, A., Glazewski, K. D., Newby, T. J. & Ertmer, P. A. (2010). Teacher value beliefs associated with using technology: Addressing professional and student needs. *Computers & Education*, 55, 1321-1335.
- Paraskeva, F., Bouta, H., & Papagianni, A. (2008). Individual characteristics and computer self-efficacy in secondary education teachers to integrate technology in educational practice. *Computers & Education*, 50, 1084-1091.
- Pedretti, E., Mayer-Smith, J., & Woodrow, J. (1999). Technology, text, and talk: Students' perspectives on teaching and learning in a technology-enhanced secondary science classroom. *Science Education*, 82, 569-589.
- Serin, O. (2011). The effects of the computer-based instruction on the achievement and problem solving skills of the science and technology students. *The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology*, 10(1), 183-201.
- Spector, J. M., Merrill, M. D., Merrienboer, J. V., & Driscoll, M. P. (2008). *Handbook of research on educational communications and technology* (3rd ed.). New York: Rooutledge.
- Talanquer, V. (2011). Macro, sub-micro, and symbolic: The many faces of the chemistry 'triplet'. *International Journal of Science Education*, 33(2), 179–195.
- Tezci, E. (2009). Teachers' effect on ICT use in education: the Turkish sample. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 1, 1285-1294.
- Umay, A. (2004). İlköğretim matematik öğretmenleri ve öğretmen adaylarının öğretimde bilişim teknolojilerinin kullanımına ilişkin görüşleri. *Hacettepe Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi*, 26, 176-181.



USING FACEBOOK AS A LMS?

Taner Arabacioglu Department of Computer Education and Instructional Technology, Adnan Menderes University, Aydin 09010, Turkey

tarabacioglu@adu.edu.tr

Ruken AKAR-VURAL

Department of Curriculum and Instruction, Adnan Menderes University, Aydin 09010, Turkey

ABSTRACT

The main purpose of this research was to compare the communication media according to effective teaching. For this purpose, in the research, the mixed method, including quantitative and qualitative data collecting techniques, was applied. For the quantitative part of the research, the static group comparison design was implemented as one of the quasi- experimental designs. The population of the research consisted of all pre-service teachers attending Adnan Menderes University Faculty of Education during the fall term of 2011- 2012 academic year. The study group composed of junior class students attending the Primary Education Program. One of the classes was divided into two. While Information Technology classes were conducted via Facebook in one group, the other group studied Information Technology via Adobe Connect. As a result of the research, there is no statistically significant difference between the academic success posttest scores of pre-service teacher groups, which were obtained from the whole sub-dimensions of Effective Teaching Scale. According to the pre-service teachers' views, Facebook needs to have a 3rd Party Software in the teaching and learning process. In addition, the study groups should consist of fewer students.

Keywords: Prospective primary education teacher, e-learning, scenario - based learning, facebook.

1. INTRODUCTION

With the increasing use of information technologies in the industrial field and daily life, computer literacy and related skills education has become extremely important. For the last 25 years, computer technologies have also been an effective concept in the field of learning-teaching (Cuban, 2001). Mouza (2002) stated that the use of computer technologies in the classroom creates an attractive communication setting due to the inexpensive, easily accessible and remarkable media features and therefore, it has become more common in the last 10 years. As Jonassen (1995) emphasizes, the use of technology supported materials in the learning-teaching process has the quality of being an extensive tool that increases student success.

Technological developments change not only teaching approaches and methods but also the typical features of learners with the same pace. According to the New Millenium Learners Project published by OECD in 2006, the learners of the new generation are defined by concepts such as millennials, digital natives, net generation and cyberkids (Pedro, 2006).

In this respect, it is not possible fir today's teachers to keep technological devices such as the internet, computers or CD-ROM etc. away from the classroom setting (Angers and Machtmes, 2005). In addition to the devices mentioned, social network sites, which can reach large crowds today, are also striking. When the history of social network sites are examined, according to Boyd and Ellison (2008), the beginning of social network sites, which are also known as social network software in the relevant literature, was the sixdegrees.com web site, where profiles could be formed and friends were added. Facebook, which is now one of the most common social network sites, was initiated in 2004 as a site that was only accessed by the students of Harvard University by using their school e-mail addresses. Later, it was used as a site open to all universities and then, in 2005, everyone was able access the site.

When expressed in numbers, a remarkable picture is seen. According to the statistics of the website Socialbakers, in the first month of 2013 there were 963,812,360 Facebook users in total. The USA is on the first rank in the list with 163,071,460 users while Turkey is the sixth with 32,438,200 users. The ratio of current users to population in our country is 41.69%. Other striking ratios are as follow: 64% of the users are male, and the user group between the ages of 18 and 24 constitutes the biggest group with a ratio of 34% (socialbakers.com). It is foreseen that ensuring the integration of social network sites with such a user potential in a short time will have positive contributions to the education process both qualitatively and quantitatively.

2. PURPOSE OF THE STUDY

The main purpose of this study was to determine the effect of scenario based curriculum offered via two different communication settings on the pre-service teachers' basic information technologies course to compare



the communication settings in terms of effective teaching. In line with this purpose, we attempted to answer the following questions:

1. Is there a significant difference between total scores of pre-service students, who use different communication settings, regarding sub scales of the effective teaching scale?

a) Do total scores of pre-service students, who use different communication settings, regarding sub scales of the effective teaching scale differ significantly in terms of group and gender variables?

b) Do total scores of pre-service students, who use different communication settings, regarding sub scales of the effective teaching scale differ significantly in terms of group and use of internet frequency variables?

2. How do pre-service teachers assess the learner characteristics, the learning-teaching process and the communication setting that they use based on the individual interviews and focus group interviews?

3. LIMITATIONS OF THE RESEARCH

1. The present research is limited with students who are enrolled to the must course of titled as "Basic Information Technologies" in Adnan Menderes University, Faculty of Education.

2. This research is also limited with the fall semester in 2011-2012.

4. METHOD

This is a Mixed Method study, where both qualitative and quantitative research methods are used. "The static group comparison model", which is one of the Quasi-Experimental research models, was used.

3.1. Respondents

The study group was composed of first grade students who were studying at the Faculty of Education Primary School Teaching Program of a public university in Turkey in the fall semester of 2011 - 2012 academic years. Within the experimental process, the Basic Information Technologies compulsory course was taught over Facebook with one group and over Adobe Connect virtual class application with another. Twenty-six of the preservice teachers that made up the study group were female and 16 were males. Twenty-four of the pre-service teachers had their own computers and 19 of them attended the computer course prior to undergraduate program. When individuals' internet use frequency is examined, it is seen that pre-service teachers that made up the 88% of the sample were using the internet regularly. Regarding the access to online courses, it is seen that 83% of the participants were using internet cafes.

3.2. Data collection

3.2.1. Effective teaching scale

In the study, in order to analyze the opinions of pre-service teachers, who use different communication settings, regarding the quality of teaching, "Evaluating the quality of e-learning at the degree level in the student experience of blended learning", which was developed by Ginns and Ellis (2009), was used by making the adaptation study with the required permissions. The scale is composed of a total of twenty-eight items and six sub scales. The subscales are as follow, respectively: good teaching, Clear Goals and Standards, appropriate assessment, appropriate workload, e-learning and generic skills.

3.2.2. Exploratory factor analysis

In examining the structural validity of the scale, exploratory factor analysis and confirmatory factor analysis were made. Whether the data obtained from the pilot application were appropriate to the exploratory factor analysis was examined with KMO (Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin) coefficient and Barlett Sphericty test. The KMO value of the data obtained was 0.80 so it is appropriate for the analysis. The Barlett test of data obtained from the adapted scale (χ^2 =1256.97, df= 378, p= 0.00) was found to be significant.

3.2.3. Findings regarding structural validity

In order to determine the significant factor number, instead of a line graph, eigenvalue coefficient was taken as a base. According to Gorsuch (1983. cited. Tabachnick and Fidell, 1996); line graph gives reliable results when sample size is large. As a result of the analysis, it was seen that the scale had a 7-factor structure. When item distributions and the results of confirmatory factor analysis were examined, it was seen that the 7-factor structure did not form a suitable structure. At this point, the scale was limited to 6 min factors appropriate to its original.

In order to separate scale items from one another to unrelated factors, various rotation techniques were tried and easily interpretable conclusion was reached through Equamax rotation technique. Following the Equamax rotation, common variance of items was between 0.42 and 0.86; item load values were between 0.42 and 0.81. The amount of variance that was explained by six factors was 63 percent. Fifteen percent of this was on the first factor while 13 percent was on the second, 11 percent was on the third, 9 percent was on the fourth, 8 percent



was on the fifth and 7 percent was on the sixth factor. Nine of the items were on the first factor while 6 were on the second 4 were on the third, 3 were on the fourth, 4 were on the fifth and 2 were on the sixth factor. Factor values of the scale are shown in Table 1.

Item	Factor 1 Good teaching	Factor 2 Generic skills	Factor 3 E-learning	Factor 4 Clear goals and standards	Factor 5 Appropriate assessment	Factor 6 Appropriate workload	Ratio of Explaining Total Variance
2	.60						8.29
4	.52						4.96
6	.76						4.31
13	.62						2.18
15	.72						1.67
17	.64						1.44
20	.51						1.11
21	.56						1.05
23	.65						.71
5		.47					4.85
7		.70					4.13
8		.76					3.53
14		.74					1.90
18		.43					1.37
19		.69					1.20
25			.63				.58
26			.81				.49
27			.69				.41
28			.80				.24
9				.52			3.34
11				.42			2.82
12				.70			2.43
10				.77			3.10
16					.53		1.53
22					.60		.77
24					.50		.65
1						.61	34.33
3						.79	6.60

Table 1: Factor Values of the Factors of effective teaching scale following the equamax rotation

3.2.4. Findings regarding reliability

For the reliability study of the Effective Teaching Scale, Cronbach alpha coefficient was calculated. When internal consistency analysis of the whole scale as well as six sub scales was examined separately, the Cronbach alpha coefficients were found as .91 for the whole scale and .91 for the good teaching subscale, .85 for generic skills, .78 for e-learning, .68 for clear goals and standards, .51 for assessment and .50 for appropriate workload subscale. These findings are shown in Table 2.

Table 2: Findings regarding effective teaching scale reliability study

Tuble 2. I mangs regulating effecti	ve teaching search remaining stud
	r
1. Sub Scale (Good teaching)	.91
2. Sub Scale (Generic Skills)	.85
3. Sub Scale (E-learning)	.78
4. Sub Scale (Clear goals and standards)	.68
5. Sub Scale (Assessment)	.51
6. Sub Scale (Appropriate workload)	.50
Total	

3.2.5. Confirmatory factor analysis

Confirmatory Factor Analysis was performed in order to determine whether factor structure of the original scale would be confirmed in target sample or not. Analysis was performed over the same data set for the six-factor structure. The fit indexes obtained were listed in Table 3.



Table 3: Findings regarding confirmatory factor analysis							
	Fit						
χ^2	432.90 (p=.000)						
χ^2/df	1.29						
RMSEA	.06						
Standardize RMR	.08						
GFI	.72						
AGFI	.67						
NFI	.86						
NNFI	.94						
CFI	.95						
IFI	.95						
RFI	.85						

According to Tabachnick and Fidell (1996), when χ^2/df ratio is smaller than 3, it shows that .08 is an acceptable fit value for RMSEA and .05 is perfect fit while the acceptable fit value is considered .90 and above for GFI, AGFI, CFI, NFI, NNFI, RFI, IFI and AGFI indexes. For the SRMR value, .05 and smaller values show perfect fit. Current fit indexes are examined as a whole and it can be said that the six-factor structure of the effective teaching scale is confirmed as a model.

3.2.2. Individual interview and focus group interview

A semi-structured interview form including nine questions was used for individual interviews. In determining the students to be interviewed, criterion sampling technique, which is one of the purposeful sampling methods, was used. Six students were interviewed; two people from each group arranged as low, middle and high groups based on students' mid-term scores. Also gender and volunteerism are the other criteria considered at the process of determining the students to be interviewed. Data were recorded with a voice recorder throughout the interviews. Electronic data of the interviews which approximately lasted for 17 minutes were transferred into a 43 –page word document with 2.5 cm margin, single spaced and 12 font size in Times New Roman characters and codes as C_S1, C_S2, F_S1, F_S2 were used to indicate the participants.

In order to maintain the reliability and validity of the research, questions posed by Miles and Huberman (1994) were selected as the baseline. In line with this, in order to ensure internal validity it is seen that 1) considering the setting where data were obtained, research findings are significant, 2) findings are consistent and significant, concepts make up a meaningful whole 3) findings were confirmed by using different data collection methods and different analysis strategies, 4) findings were examined by the participants and were found to be realistic, 5) estimations and generalizations made based on the findings are consistent with the findings. In order to maintain external validity, it is thought that 1) every effort was made to thoroughly demonstrate the research method, 2) necessary explanations were made in order to test findings with other studies, 3) research findings can easily be tested in similar settings.

There are seven questions regarding external reliability and nine about internal reliability. In order to ensure external reliability, 1) research findings were supported with direct quotations from the interviews, 2) research duration was clearly defined, 3) different views and alternative explanations were included in the findings, 4) raw data with regards to the study were saved in a way that they could be examined by others. In order to ensure internal reliability, 1) Research questions were clearly expressed 2) research findings are in conformity with the data 3) Data were tried to be collected elaborately and suitable for the purpose as required by the research questions, 4) Data that are not valid were removed in data analysis. Also, in order to increase internal reliability, a randomly selected interview form was coded by the researcher and the advisor professor and consistency between the analyses was examined. With the "(agreement/agreement + disagreement) x 100" formula, the agreement coefficient between two coders was found as .77.

Focus group interviews were performed by forming student groups of six from each group. The criterion sampling technique, which is one of the purposeful sampling methods, was used while determining the students to be interviewed. Six participants were interviewed; two people from each group arranged as low, middle and high groups based on students' mid-term scores. Interviews were recorded with a video camera. Electronic data of the interviews, which lasted approximately 40 minutes, were transferred into a 20 –page word document with 2.5 cm margin, single spaced and 12 font size in Times New Roman characters, and codes as C_S1, C_S2, F_S1, F_S2 were used to indicate the participants.



3.2.3. Course design and implementation

Implementation lasted for one semester (15 weeks) in the fall term of 2011-2012. While conducting e-courses, Facebook was used in one of the groups and "Adobe Connect" virtual classroom application was used for the other.

5. FINDINGS

4.1. Findings regarding the total scores of pre-service teachers using different communication settings on the sub scales of effective teaching scale

The Effective Teaching Scale factor scores of pre-service teachers, who use two different communication settings and group variables, were tested with multi-variable variance analysis (MANOVA). The equality of covariance matrixes, which is the main assumption of MANOVA (Leech, Barrett and Morgan, 2008), was maintained with the Box M test and the variance equality of each independent variable according to grouped in independent variables was maintained with the Levene F test (p>.05). Descriptive statistics obtained as a result of analysis are summarized in Table 4.

Table 4: Descriptive statistics related with sub scale total scores according to group variable													
Group	Good teaching		Generi Skills	Generic E-learning Skills		ning	Clear goals and		Appropriate assessment		Appropriate workload		
								standa	ds				
	n	\overline{X}	S	\overline{X}	S	\overline{X}	S	\overline{X}	S	\overline{X}	S	\overline{X}	S
Connect	21	33.67	4.88	21.09	4.47	14.67	3.17	11.43	1.94	13.28	2.87	4.90	2.12
Facebook	21	35.48	4.31	22.05	3.48	14.48	3.57	12.05	1.66	14.00	2.93	4.90	1.70

The results of MANOVA, conducted on the factor scores of effective teaching scale of pre-service teachers, show that the effect of group variable [λ =.91, F(6,35)=.55, p>.05, η^2 =.08] on the scale in general is not significant. Data regarding on which subscales differentiation occurs can be seen in Table 5. When data in Table 4.2.1 and 4.2.2 are examined together, it is seen that there is no significant difference with regards to the sub factors of effective teaching scale.

	Table 5: The effect of group variable on sub scale total scores											
Source	Dependent Variable	df	F	η^2	р							
Group	Good teaching	1	1.226	.039	.210							
	Generic Skills	1	.593	.015	.446							
	E-Learning	1	.033	.001	.856							
	Clear goals and standards	1	1.237	.030	.273							
	Appropriate assessment	1	.637	.016	.429							
	Appropriate workload	1	.000	.000	1.000							

4.2. Findings regarding the analysis of total scores of pre-service teachers using different communication settings on the sub scales of effective teaching scale according to groups and gender

Effective teaching scale factor scores of pre-service teachers using two different communication settings, group and gender variables and group-gender interaction were tested with multi variable variance analysis (MANOVA). Descriptive statistics with regards to the aforesaid variables are summarized in Table 6.

Table 6: Descriptive statistics with regards to sub scale total scor	pres according to group and gender variables
--	--

Group	Good teaching		Generi Skills	ric E-learning		Clear goals and standards		Appropriate assessment		Appropriate workload			
	n	\overline{X}	S	\overline{X}	S	\overline{X}	S	\overline{X}	S	\overline{X}	S	\overline{X}	S
Connect													
Female	13	33.00	5.55	20.38	4.57	14.46	3.62	10.85	1.86	13.77	2.98	4.92	1.75
Male	8	34.75	3.62	22.25	4.33	15.00	2.45	12.38	1.77	12.50	2.67	4.88	2.75

Facebook
TOJET: The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology – April 2014, volume 12	3 issue 2
---	-----------

Female	13	34.46	4.65	21.08	3.73	12.93	3.33	12.00	1.35	13.85	3.13	4.92	1.60
Male	8	37.13	3.31	23.63	2.50	17.00	2.39	12.31	2.17	14.25	2.76	4.88	1.96

The equality of covariance matrices, which is the main assumption of MANOVA (Leech, Barrett and Morgan, 2008), was maintained with Box M test and the variance equality of each independent variable according to groups in independent variables were maintained with Levene F test (p>.05). MANOVA results on pre-service teachers' effective teaching scale factor scores show that the effect of group [λ =.93, F(6,33)=.40, p>.05, η^2 =.07], gender [λ =.82, F(6,33)=1.22, p>.05, η^2 =.18] and group x gender [λ =.75, F(6,33)=1.85, p>.05, η^2 =.25] interaction on the scale in general is not significant. Data regarding which sub scales have the differentiation according to group, gender and group x gender interaction are shown in Table 7, and mean and standard deviation data of the aforesaid variables are shown in Table 6. When data in Table 6 and 7 are examined in terms of gender, it is seen that there is a significant difference in favor of male students among mean values regarding "e-learning" sub scale.

Source		Dependent Variable	df	F	η^2	р
Group		Good teaching	1	1.736	.044	.195
		Generic Skills	1	.678	.018	.416
		E-Learning	1	.054	.001	.818
		Clear goals and standards	1	.649	.017	.425
		Appropriate assessment	1	.959	.025	.334
		Appropriate workload	1	.000	.000	1.000
Gender		Good teaching	1	2.298	.057	.138
		Generic Skills	1	3.089	.075	.087
		E-Learning	1	5.386	.124	.026*
		Clear goals and standards	1	2.173	.054	.149
		Appropriate assessment	1	.215	.006	.645
		Appropriate workload	1	.006	.000	.939
Group	х	Good teaching	1	.098	.003	.755
Gender		Generic Skills	1	.074	.002	.787
		E-Learning	1	.3.166	.077	.083
		Clear goals and standards	1	1.566	.040	.218
		Appropriate assessment	1	.804	.021	.375
		Appropriate workload	1	.000	.000	1.000

Table 7: The Effect of group and gender variables on subscale total scores

4.3. Findings regarding the analysis of total scores of pre-service teachers using different communication settings on the sub scales of effective teaching scale according to the variables of group and the frequency of internet use.

Effective teaching scale factor scores of pre-service teachers using two different communication settings, group and frequency of internet use variables and group- frequency of internet use interaction were tested with multi variable variance analysis (MANOVA). Descriptive statistics with regards to the aforesaid variables are summarized in Table 8.



Group		Good		Generic E-learning		Clear goals		Appropriate		Appropriate			
	teaching		Skills			and standards		assessment		workload			
	n	\overline{X}	S	\overline{X}	S	\overline{X}	S	\overline{X}	S	\overline{X}	S	\overline{X}	S
Connect													
Every													
day/	7	35.00	3.16	21.57	3.69	15.28	3.04	11.86	2.12	12.71	3.68	5.43	2.70
Almost													
At least													
once a	11	34.18	5.15	22.27	3.90	14.82	3.34	11.45	2.07	13.54	2.73	4.73	1.85
week													
At least													
once a	3	28.66	5.51	15.66	5.51	12.66	3.05	10.33	.58	13.66	1.53	4.33	2.08
month													
Facebook													
Every													
day/	9	36.11	4.19	23.00	3.87	15.89	3.10	12.33	1.41	15.44	2.01	5.55	1.66
Almost													
At least													
once a	10	36.20	3.42	22.20	2.48	14.60	2.36	12.10	1.91	13.80	2.48	4.70	1.57
week													
At least													
once a	2	29.00	5.65	17.00	2.83	7.50	3.53	10.50	.71	8.50	2.12	3.00	1.41
month													

 Table 8: Descriptive statistics regarding sub scale total scores according to group and frequency of internet use

 Group
 Generic
 F-learning
 Clear goals
 Appropriate

The equality of covariance matrices, which is the main assumption of MANOVA (Leech, Barrett and Morgan, 2008), and the variance equality of each independent variable according to groups in independent variables were maintained (p>.05). MANOVA results on pre-service teachers' effective teaching scale factor scores show that the effect of group [λ =.85, F(6,33)=.95, p>.05, η^2 =.16], frequency of internet use [λ =.54, F(6,33)=1.90, p>.05, η^2 =.27], group x frequency of internet use interaction [λ =.65, F(6,33)=1.24, p>.05, η^2 =.19] are not significant on the scale in general. However, frequency of internet use variable factor scores are not significant yet quite interesting with the p=.052 value.

As a result of the analysis of sub scales, when data in Table 8 and 9 are examined together in terms of the frequency of internet use, it is seen that there are significant differences in group x frequency of internet use interaction and "good teaching", "generic skills" and "e-learning" subscales.

The results of Scheffe multiple comparisons test, which is done in order to find out among which groups the differences among units are present, are summarized in Table 10. According to multiple comparisons test, for the good teaching dependent variable, it was found that the difference among the means between everyday/almost every day and at least once a month is 6.825 and the difference among the means between at least once a week and at least once a month is 6.343 and in favor of frequency of internet use every day/almost every day and at least once a week. For generic skills dependent variable, it was found that the mean difference between everyday/almost every day and at least once a month is 6.175 in favor of frequency of internet use every day/almost every day and at least once a month is 6.038 in favor of frequency of internet use at least once a week. For e-learning dependent variable, it was found that the mean difference between everyday/almost every day and at least once a week. For e-learning dependent variable, it was found that the mean difference between everyday/almost every day and at least once a week. For e-learning dependent variable, it was found that the mean difference between everyday and at least once a month is 5.025 in favor of frequency of internet use every day and the mean difference between at least once a week and at least once a month is 4.114 in favor of frequency of internet use at least once a week.

Source	Dependent	df	F	n ²	р
	variable			•	*
Group	Good teaching	1	.508	.014	.481
	Generic Skills	1	.426	.012	.518
	E-Learning	1	1.978	.052	.168
	Clear goals and standards	1	.391	.011	.536
	Appropriate	1	.530	.015	.471

Copyright © The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology



	assessment				
	Appropriate workload	1	.323	.009	.574
Frequency of	Good teaching	1	4.909	.214	.013*
Internet Use	Generic Skills	1	5.609	.238	.008*
	E-Learning	1	6.258	.258	.005*
	Clear goals and standards	1	1.568	.080	.222
	Appropriate assessment	1	2.411	.118	.104
	Appropriate workload	1	1.835	.092	.174
Group x	Good teaching	1	.098	.005	.907
Frequency of	Generic Skills	1	.214	.012	.808
Internet Use	E-Learning	1	1.733	.088	.191
	Clear goals and standards	1	.036	.002	.965
	Appropriate assessment	1	4.152	.187	.024*
	Appropriate workload	1	.278	.015	.759

Table 10: Scheffe multiple comparisons test results										
Independe nt Variable	U	se of Internet	Difference between means	Standard Error	р					
Good	Every day/Almost	At least once a week	,4821	1,42601	,945					
teaching	Everyday	At least once a month	6,8250(*)	2,20169	,014					
	At least once a week	Every day/Almost everyday	-,4821	1,42601	,945					
		At least once a month	6,3429(*)	2,13837	,020					
	At least once a month	Every day/Almost everyday	-6,8250(*)	2,20169	,014					
		At least once a week	-6,3429(*)	2,13837	,020					
Generic Skills	Every day/Almost Everyday	At least once a week	,1369	1,20939	,994					
		At least once a month	6,1750(*)	1,86724	,008					
	At least once a week	Every day/Almost everyday	-,1369	1,20939	,994					
		At least once a month	6,0381(*)	1,81355	,008					
	At least once a month	Every day/Almost everyday	-6,1750(*)	1,86724	,008					
		At least once a week	-6,0381(*)	1,81355	,008					
E-learning	Every day/Almost	At least once a week	,9107	,99786	,662					
	Everyday	At least once a month	5,0250(*)	1,54064	,009					
	At least once a week	Every day/Almost everyday	-,9107	,99786	,662					
		At least once a month	4,1143(*)	1,49634	,032					
	At least once a month	Every day/Almost everyday	-5,0250(*)	1,54064	,009					
		At least once a week	-4,1143(*)	1,49634	,032					

6. DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

In this section, findings regarding the effect of scenario based curriculum administered in different communication settings on the access of basic information technologies course are discussed.

6.1. Comparing two different communication setting in terms of "effective teaching" Analyses were made over the total scores of twenty eight items in total and six sub scales as good teaching, clear goals and standards, appropriate assessment, appropriate workload e-learning and generic skills.

As a result of one-way MANOVA analysis, which was made in order to test whether there was a statistically significant difference among effective teaching scale subscale total scores of pre-service teachers using different communication settings, it was seen that there was no significant difference between post-test scores of Connect



and Facebook groups. In other words, it can be said that using whether Facebook or Connect as the communication setting has no effect on sub scale scores. Despite the gains obtained at the end of the learning-teaching process, the views that a traditional classroom setting is better and both communication settings are similar support the result of the analysis.

Effective teaching scale sub scale total scores of pre-service teachers, who used two different communication settings, group and gender variables and group x gender interaction, were tested with two-way MANOVA. According to the results of the analysis, the effects of group, gender and group x gender interaction on the scale in general are not significant. When data regarding on which scales differentiations according to group, gender and group x gender interaction exist are examined, it is seen that there is a significant difference in favor of male students between the means with regards to "e-learning" scale. When averages of two groups are examined, it is seen that they are close in the Connect group with 14.46 and 15.00. On the other hand, in the Facebook group, the average scores of female students are 12.93 while the average scores of male students are 17.00, which generated the reason of difference. The fact that the pre-service teacher who formed and managed the Facebook group stated that male pre-service teachers in the class made the request at the stage of forming the group supports the quantitative data. Also, it is another point supporting this finding that 64% of Facebook users in our country are men (socialbakers.com). Further, according to Cetin, Caliskan and Menzi (2012) male pre-service teachers, who deals with technology in daily life more than females, consider themselves more competent in technology and similarly, in literature it is emphasized that female teachers are more hesitant and have less confidence in terms of their skills of using technology.

Effective teaching scale sub scale total scores of pre-service teachers, who used two different communication settings, group and type of high school variables and group x type of high school interaction, were tested with two-way MANOVA. According to the results of the analysis, the effects of group, type of high school and group x type of high school interaction on the scale in general are not significant. When data regarding on which scales differentiations according to group, type of high school and group x type of high school interaction exist are examined, it is seen that there is a significant difference in favor of pre-service teachers graduated from general/academic high school between the means with regards to "good teaching" and "generic skills" factor scores. There is an approximately 3-point difference in both sub scale and both groups in favor of general/academic high school. The reason why there is such a difference might be that pre-service teachers graduated from Anatolian High School have higher expectations from learning-teaching process and their expectations are not met.

Effective teaching scale sub scale total scores of pre-service teachers, who used two different communication settings, group and frequency of internet use variables and group x frequency of internet use interaction were tested with two-way MANOVA. According to the results of the analysis, the effects of group, the frequency of internet use and group x the frequency of internet use interaction on the scale in general are not significant.

As a result of analyzing sub scales, data were examined together in terms of the frequency of internet use and it was seen that there are significant differences with low level of effect in group x the frequency of internet use and "good teaching", "generic skills" and "e-learning" sub scales.

According to the Scheffe multiple comparisons test, which is administered in order to find out among which groups differences between units exist, significant differences were found in each one of the good teaching, generic skills and e-learning sub scales between everyday/almost every day and at least once a month and also between at least once a week and at least once a month. It is seen that the aforesaid difference is in favor of every day/almost everyday frequency of use and at least once a week frequency of use. When average scores were examined, it was concluded that there are significant differences for both groups. However, no significant difference was observed between every day/almost every day and at least once a week frequency of internet use

According to Kutluca and Ekici (2010); pre-service teachers' self-efficacy perceptions about computer assisted education differ depending on their frequency of computer use and year of computer use. A significant difference was found between pre-service teachers' self-efficacy perceptions regarding computer assisted education and their frequency of computer use in favor of the ones who use computers more often. According to Cetin, Caliskan and Menzi (2012), the fact that pre-service teachers' frequency of internet use has increased creates a positive effect in terms of both technological competencies and attitudes towards technology. The technology competencies of pre-service teachers who deal with technology more in their daily lives increase while their attitudes towards technology change in a positive way.



When mean values were examined in order to interpret the significant difference seen in the appropriate assessment sub scale of group x 'frequency of internet use interaction', it was seen that in the Connect group, the values are 12.71, 13.54 and 13.66 in terms of all three frequency of uses, which indicate a small difference. On the other hand, in the Facebook group, the average scores, 15.44 for every day/almost every day, 13.80 for at least once a week, decrease to 8.50 at the at least once a month frequency of use. This difference can be explained with the fact that in the individual and focus group interviews, Connect was assessed as a more suitable application for academic purposes. Also, as a result of the analysis of their interviews with 20 university students and lecturers in the UK, who use social tools in their learning activities such as social network sites, blogs wiki, podcast, Schroder, Minocha and Schneidert (2010) stated that the weak aspect of social software is the assessment of cooperative learning activities. In the study by Ozcinar and Ozturk (2008), the students interviewed stated that they believe online discussions should be assessed. However, there was no agreement in terms of whether the criterion in assessment should be participation or the quality of the content because students think that deciding on what the criteria should be while assessing online discussions is a very challenging task.

6.2. Views regarding learner characteristics, learning-teaching process and communication settings

6.2.1 Views about learner characteristics

Academic readiness, learner effort and access to information technologies are noteworthy among views towards learner characteristics that are collected under two themes as academic and generic skills. At this point, having a certain amount of knowledge about computers and their applications positively affects learning-teaching processes. This is stated in a different way by Ozcinar and Ozturk (2008). In the interviews, students explained why different approaches did not arise in discussions as "they have nothing new to say". When literature is reviewed, it is seen that one of the main obstacles to students entering into discussions is lack of knowledge. With a broader perspective, Erturgut (2008) claims that the fact that students and teachers do not have enough level of knowledge in terms of computers and internet is a risk factor in internet based education. Hung, Chou, Chen and Own (2010) emphasized the importance of individuals' computer and internet use self-efficacy following the use of networks within the online learning-teaching processes. In a similar approach, Wu, Tennyson and Hsia (2010), as a result of their experimental study with a purpose of identifying student satisfaction in the mixed e-learning process, concluded that the two important factors affecting student success were performance expectation and learning atmosphere. They stressed computer self-efficacy as one of the factors indirectly affecting learning success by contributing in the two factors mentioned.

It is reflected in pre-service teachers' views that there are still some problems experienced, although quite important progress has been made in our country in terms of computer and internet access. According to Erturgut (2008), the insufficiency of technological infrastructure is the most important limitation of internet based distance education, because technical problems in computers and the internet would negatively affect both student and teacher motivation and the continuity of education.

With the generic skills theme, pre-service teachers consider the presence of a researcher as an obstacle in online communication. This finding is in parallel with the study results of Wise, Skues and Williams (2011). According to Ozcinar and Ozturk (2008), students could not agree on teacher participation. However, expert participation supported by the constructivist approach (experienced teachers' participation in discussions when considered within the context of teacher training) would give pre-service teachers the opportunity to assess the problems and classroom setting from the perspective of a teacher who knows this environment better and thus it can be used to find effective solutions in online discussions.

Masoumi and Lindström (2011) qualify student-student or teacher-student interactions in e-learning processes as the main activity of learning. However, in the implementation process, it is understood from student views that pre-service teachers prefer one-to-one dialogues in academic focused communication rather than groups. This may be a result of the fact that the group was composed of first grade undergraduate students. Also, according to Jones and Healing (2010), while the students of formal education use communication technologies in order to organize face to face meetings, students of distance education use it in order to form relationships with others and create a group, which can be a factor in not providing the expected interaction in our study. The positive result of ensuring communication is stated by Ractham, Kaewkitipong and Firpo (2012). In their socialconstructivist learning setting which they designed to support learning inside and outside the classroom through Facebook, each student was found to post about two messages weekly. They stated that this provided the live communication between student – student and student – teacher. Thanks to this communication mentioned, students presented positive opinions about their learning experiences with Facebook. In providing the interaction, according to Hung, Chou, Chen and Own (2010), learners' online communication self-efficacy is another important aspect in e-learning. With a similar perspective, Ozcinar and Ozturk (2008) stated the factors that prevent students from joining online discussions as whether students have online experiences and problems



in expressing their opinions well. The fact that students did not know how to discuss in online settings caused them to get bored with online discussions and criticize others' online statements in terms of both style and content properties (length – shortness, clarity of the language used...etc.). It was also shown that students with a high level of online communication experience felt more comfortable in their learning experiences in an online setting and were able to gain more satisfaction.

6.2.2. Views about learning – teaching process

In this section the views of participants, who were arranged into groups according to the themes of effectiveness of instruction, e-learning and scenarios, about the learning – teaching process, were discussed. The results of experimental studies regarding Facebook's contribution to student achievement as an online learning environment (Keles and Demirel, 2011, Kayri and Cakir, 2010, Kabilan, Ahmad and Abidin, 2010) show that it makes a positive contribution to cooperative learning and improving online communication skills (Schroder, Minocha and Schneidert, 2010) as well as having a great potential as an informal learning environment (Ractham, Kaewkitipong and Firpo, 2012).

Pre-service teachers stated that with the effectiveness of instruction theme, they first learnt to complete the tasks given on their own. Further, a negative point expressed by many participants was related to the size of both groups. It was seen in many pre-service teachers' opinions that the large number of learners in both groups prevented the learning process. It was seen that problems such as not getting feedback for their posts, repetition of the same words all the time and being faced with questions irrelevant to the task were experienced. Kuo, Shadiev, Hwang and Chen (2012) stated that giving feedback immediately at e-learning settings have a positive effect on students' academic success. According to Ozcinar and Ozturk (2008), when the number of participants increase in a nonsynchronous communication setting, the number of messages that students have to read in order to follow up the discussion increase as well. They stated that in synchronized communication the abundance of participants in the group increases message transfer rate; thus there may be problems in following up the issue discussed and it might be better to discuss in small groups. In line with the finding of the present study as well as the above mentioned opinions, micro learning communities suggested to be formed with Facebook, which was proposed by Bosch (2009) draws attention.

Under the theme e-learning, almost all pre-service teachers emphasized the flexibility of access from home. Opinions regarding the fact that courses can be attended without the need to go to school as well as the opportunity for long weekend holidays reveal this situation clearly. Based on pre-service teachers' opinions, the biggest problem in e-learning process is the focusing on things other than the task. Student opinions showed that the warner effect of teacher at the traditional classroom decreases in e-learning processes. Hung, Chou, Chen and Own (2010) stated that traditional learning settings are much different than web-based learning settings. While there is a linear order in traditional learning settings, web-based settings offer freedom and flexibility in working with the materials. It gives learners the control of their own learning. Moreover, the fact that participants in both groups showed Facebook regarding the negativity mentioned is significant. According to Jones and Healing (2010); this is because of the nature of social network sites. The off-duty interaction, which was stated as a hazard by Schroder, Minocha and Schneidert (2010) affects learning and teaching activities in a negative way.

The most important factor emphasized under the scenarios heading is the positive outcome of learning through assignments. Participants agree on the point that learning is more permanent. Despite this, the fact that there is an expectation for a traditional classroom setting and direct instruction was explained by Ozcinar and Ozturk (2008) as follows: "Pre-service teachers currently studying at the universities have always been educated based on programs designed with a traditional educational approach. This has supported pre-service teachers' established educational habits to look for the correct information by listening from the teacher and trying to tell the correct answer. Thus, the effort to perform constructivist activities with a traditional learning perspective made students reluctant to give their own opinions and test their assumptions in these settings. However, this should not be thought of as a limitation; instead it should be perceived as a stage in realizing the radical transformation of constructivist approach in education."

Another positive view that should be presented with the scenarios theme is that scenarios prepared on different issues were reflected in students' opinions in an interesting way.

6.2.3. Views about communication setting

According to the participant views on communications setting, which is thought to be among the most important data of the study, Connect provides teacher-student interaction in the classroom setting better than Facebook.



It can be said that the views of a pre-service teacher in the Connect group who compared both settings was formed due to the habit of Facebook use and the sound, image and desktop share properties of Connect. The need for third party software for the use of Facebook in learning-teaching activities overlaps with the studies of Lim (2010) and Wang (2012). Despite the superiorities of Connect over Facebook, according to Senkal and Dincer (2012), software that provides synchronic virtual classroom applications such as Wiziq and Adobe Connect generally helps teachers show students the documents on a computer through video images. However, the board used in traditional classrooms cannot show course material etc. Although through these kinds of software the image of the classroom or the course material is shown with video stream, due to internet speed the image quality may be at quite low levels. Therefore, while student interface interaction can be provided in digital materials such as presentations or etc. that can be sent over computer, the desired interaction cannot be maintained in transferring the traditional classrooms into the e-learning system.

According to the views of pre-service teachers, the only academic advantage that Facebook provides is that it can be accessed regardless of time. In addition to this view, it is an important progress in terms of ensuring independence from location that social network sites can be accessed through mobile phones. Also, Ractham, Kaewkitipong and Firpo (2012) think that social network sites like Facebook, which are well-known, easy to use and quite popular, can be convenient for both teachers and students as a learning setting due to these properties, and students' personal use can easily be adapted towards academic purposes.

Although it has no direct effect on the expectation of academic achievement, according to Yu, Tian, Vogel and Kwok (2010) social network sites help students to be socially accepted and adopt university culture. The important effect of those two factors on learning outputs is in parallel with the views of a pre-service teacher who is in the Facebook group.

One of the key concepts of e-learning activities is communication and the other is motivation. Research shows that motivation affects learning both in traditional teaching and in the process of e-learning (Martens, Bastiaens and Kirschner, 2007; Lim, 2004). For this purpose, teachers should spend time in getting to know their students better (Chen and Jang, 2010)

One of the motivation theories that can be used at this point is the ARCS model of Keller. Keller and Suzuki (2004) propose participative analysis in order to be able to develop suitable motivation tactics. Thus, desired outcomes can be reached as a result of motivational activities that would be performed. In case analysis cannot be made, they suggest that more motivational tactics should be implemented. The adaptation of Keller's ARCS model in –learning processes is effective on learner motivation, achievement and self-learning skills (Miltiadou and Savanye, 2003; Chang and Lehman, 2002). Kim and Keller (2008) stated that they had obtained quite successful results with the motivation tactic that they realized with personal messages.

Another variable in e-learning settings, which is as important as communication and learner motivation is the "management of e-learning process". Unlike the traditional classroom management concept, this is quite important in maintaining the "effective instruction" at learning-teaching processes where there is less or no classroom instruction or an exact concept of traditional classroom. In this study, it was seen that learners formed an alternative Facebook group without the knowledge of lecturers. This shows that variables which are outside the control of lecturers play an effective role in the learning-teaching process. Therefore, it is necessary for lecturers to closely monitor each learner's learning process in terms of the management of e-learning process.

In conclusion, social network sites have the potential to be important teaching devices in offering economic and effective solutions in order to meet the ever increasing education need in the globalized world.

REFERENCES

- Angers, J. & Machtmes, K. (2005). An ethnographic-case study of beliefs, context factors, and practices of teachers integrating technology. *The Qualitative Repor.*, 10 (4), 771-794.
- Bosch, T. (2009). Using online social networking for teaching and learning: Facebook use at the University of Capr Town. *Communicatio.* 35 (2), 185-200.
- Boyd, D. M. & Ellison, N. B. (2008). Social network sites: Definition, history, and scholarship. Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication. 13 (1), 210-230.
- Chang, M. M. & Lehman, J. (2002). Learning foreign language through an interactive multimedia program: An experimental study on the effects of the relevance component of the ARCS model. CALICO Journal. 20(1), 81–98.
- Chen, K., C, & Jang, S. J. (2010). Motivation in online learning:Testing a model of self-determination theory. *Computers in Human Behavior.* 26, 741-752.



- Cuban, L. (2001). Over sold and under used: computers in the classroom. Cambridge MA: Harvard University Press.
- Cetin, O., Caliskan, E. & Menzi, N. (2012). Öğretmen Adaylarının teknoloji Yeterlilikleri ile Teknolojiye Yönelik Tutumları Arasındaki İlişki. *İlköğretim Online*. 11(2), 273-291.
- Erturgut, R. (2008). İnternet Temelli Uzaktan Eğitimin Örgütsel, Sosyal, Pedagojik ve Teknolojik Bleşenleri. *Bilişim Teknolojileri Dergisi*. 1 (2), 79-85.
- Ginns, P. & Ellis, R. A. (2009). Evaluating the quality of e-learning at the degree level in the student experience of blended learning. *British Journal of Educational Technolog.* 40 (4), 652-663.
- Hung, M. L., Chou, C., Chen, C. H. & Own, Z. Y. (2010). Learner readiness for online learning: Scale development and student perceptions. *Computers & Education*. 55, 1080-1090.
- Jonassen, D. (1995). Supporting communities of learners with technology: A vision for Integrating technology with learning in schools. *Educational Technology*. 35 (4), 60-63.
- Jones, C. & Healing, G. (2010). Net generation students: agency and choice and the new technologies. Journal of Computer Assisted Learning. 26, 344-356.
- Kabilan, M.K., Ahmad, N. & Abidin, M. J. Z. (2010). Facebook: An online environment for learning of English in institutions of higher education. *Internet and Higher Education*. 13, 179–187.
- Kayri, M. & Cakir, Ö. (2010). An Applied Study On Educational Use Of Facebook As A Web 2.0 Tool: The Sample Lesson Of Computer Networks And Communication. *International Journal of Computer Science* & Information Technology. 2 (4), 48-58.
- Keller, J. M. & Suzuki, K. (2004). Learner motivation and E-learning design: a multinationally validated process. *Journal of educational Media*. 29 (3), 229-239.
- Keles, E. & Demirel, P. (2011, Eylül). Bir Sosyal Ağ Olarak Facebook'un Formal Eğitimde Kullanımı. 5th International Computer & Instructional Technologies Symposium. Fırat Üniversitesi, Elazığ.
- Kim, C. M. & Keller, J. M. (2008). Effects of motivational and volitional e-mail messages (MVEM) with personal messages on undergraduate students' motivation, study habits and achievement. *British Journal* of Educational technology. 39 (1), 36-51.
- Kuo, T. C. T., Shadiev, R., Hwang, W. Y. & Chen N. S. (2012). Effects of applying STR for group learning activities on learning performance in a synchronous cyber classroom. *Computers & Education*. 58(1), 600-608.
- Kutluca, T. & Ekici, G. (2010). Öğretmen Adaylarının Bilgisayar Destekli Eğitime İlişkin Tutum ve Öz-yeterlik Algılarının İncelenmesi. *Hacettepe Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi*. 38, 177-188.
- Leech, N. L., Barrett, K. C. & Morgan, G. A. (2008). SPSS for Intermediate Statistics: Use and Interpretation. (Third Edition). NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates. Inc.
- Lim, D. H. (2004). Cross cultural differences in online learning motivation. *Educational Media International*. 41 (2), 163–173.
- Lim, T. (2010). The Use of Facebook for Online Discussions Among Distance Learners. *Turkish Online Journal* of Distance Education-TOJDE. 11 (4).
- Martens, R., Bastiaens, T. & Kirschner, P. (2007). New Learning Design in Distance Education: The impact on student perception and motivation. *Distance Education*. 28 (1), 81–93.
- Masoumi, D. & Lindström., B. (2012). Quality in e-learning: A framework for promoting and assuring quality in virtual institutions. *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*. 28, 27-41.
- Miltiadou, M. & Savenye, W.C. (2003). Applying Social Cognitive Constructs of Motivation to Enhance Student Success in Online Distance Education. AACE Journal. 11 (1), 78-95.
- Miles, M.B, and Huberman, A.M. (1994). Qualitative Data Analysis. (2nd Ed). Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- Mouza, C. (2002). Learning to teach with new technology: Implications for professional development. *Journal* of Research on Technology in Education, 35(2), 272–289.
- Ozcinar, H. & Ozturk, E. (2008). Çevrimiçi Tartışmalara İlişkin Öğrenci Görüşleri. Yüzüncü Yıl Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi. 5 (2), 154-178.
- Pedro, F. (2006). The New Millennium Learners: Challenging our Views on Digital Technologies and Learning. URL http://www.idunn.no/ts/dk/2007/04/
- Ractham, P., Kaewkitipong, L. & Firpo, D. (2012). The Use of Facebook in an Introductory MIS Course: Social Constructivist Learning Environment. *Decision Sciences Journal of Innovative Education*. 10 (2), 165-188.
- Schroder, A., Minocha, S. & Schneidert, C. (2010). The strenghts, weakness, opportunities and threats of using social software in higher and further education teaching and learning. *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*. 26, 159-174.
- Senkal, O. & Dincer S. (2012). Geleneksel Sınıfların Uzaktan Eğitim Platformuna Dönüştürülmesi: Bir Model Çalışması. *Bilişim Teknolojileri Dergisi*. 5 (1), 13-17.
- Yu, A, Y., Tian, S., W, Vogel, D. & Kwok, R. (2010). Can lerning be virtually boosted? An investigation of online social networking impacts. *Computers & Education*. 55, 1494-1503.



- Tabachnick, B, G. & Fidell, L, S. (1996). Using Multivariate statistics. HarperCollins College Publishers: New York.
- Wang, C-M. (2012). Using Facebook for cross-cultural collaboration: the experience of students from Taiwan. Educational Media International. 49 (1), 63-76.
- Wise, L. Z., Skues, J. & Williams, B. (2011). Facebook in higher education promotes social but not academic engagement. In Changing demands, changing directions. Proceedings ascilite Hobart 2011 www.ascilite.org.au/conferences/hobart11/downloads/papers/Wise-full.pdf.
- Wu, J. H., Tennyson, R. D. & Hsia, T, L. (2010). A study of student satisfaction in a blended e-learning system environment. *Computers & Education*. 55, 155-164.